The Use Of Conspicuity Aids By Cyclists And The Risk Of Crashes Involving Other Road Users:

A Population Based Case-Control Study.

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By Phil Miller RGN MA, September 2012

Table of Contents

1. Introduction and Background
1.1 Introduction
1.2 The Benefits of Cycling21
1.3 Policies To Increase Cycling 22
1.4 Bicycle Use
1.5 The Relationship Between Bicycle Crash Risk And Bicycle Use 25
1.6 The Incidence of Cycle Crashes
1.6.1 Sources of Data
1.6.2 Fatal Bicycle Crashes
1.6.3 Collision Crashes
1.7 Trends In Bicycle Crash Incidence And Bicycle Use
1.8 Factors Associated With Risk Of Bicycle Crashes
1.8.1 Age
1.8.2 Gender
1.8.3 Cycle Helmet Use 43
1.8.4 Safety Equipment Use
1.8.5 Type Of Bicycle
1.8.6 Driver Training
1.8.7 Cycle Training
1.8.8 Experience Of Cycling
1.8.9 Alcohol Use
1.8.10 The Bicycle Culture At Participant Destinations And Employing Organisations
1.8.11 Socioeconomic Status Of Cyclists
1.8.12 Psycho-Social Correlates Of Bicycle Crash Risk

1.8.13 Ethnicity 50
1.8.14 Familiarity With Chosen Route
1.8.15 Road Environment, Infrastructure and Traffic Factors
1.8.16 History Of Previous Bicycle Crash Involvement
1.9 Crash Prevention
1.10 Conspicuity
1.10.1 Visibility and Conspicuity55
1.10.2 Conspicuity And Bicycle Crashes
1.10.3 Stopping, Detection And Recognition Distances
1.10.4 Light Levels And Conspicuity
1.10.5 Weather Conditions And Conspicuity
1.10.6 Crashes In Daylight64
1.11 Interventions To Enhance Conspicuity 64
1.11.1 Fluorescent Materials
1.11.2 Retro-Reflective Materials
1.11.3 Performance of Conspicuity Aids
1.11.4 Conspicuity Aid Recommendations And Standards
1.12 Current Use of Conspicuity Aids By Cyclists70
1.13 The Effect Of Conspicuity Aid Use On Road Crash Risk
1.14 Conclusion75
2. Methodology Chapter
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Study Design And Rationale76
2.2.1 Intervention Studies
2.2.2 Observation Studies
2.2.3 Case-Control Studies
2.3 Participants And Recruitment Methods
2.3.1 Cases
2.3.2 Case Recruitment

2.3.3 Controls	32
2.3.4 Control Recruitment	32
2.3.5 Multiple Participation	35
2.4 Sample Size And Study Power8	35
2.4.1 Estimated Participant Accrual 8	36
2.5 Matching	36
2.5.1 Geographical Variation In Crash Risk8	36
2.5.2 Day Of The Week, Time Of The Day And Season Of Travel	37
2.6 Recruitment Sites	38
2.7 Questionnaire Development	39
2.8 Map Development) 0
2.9 Exposures Of Interest) 0
2.10 Validation Of Self-Reported Exposure Measurements9	92
2.11 Recording Of Confounding Variables9) 3
	ר⊿
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data9	94
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data2.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data	94 95
 2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data	94 95 96
 2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data	94 95 96 96
 2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data	94 95 96 96 98
 2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data	94 95 96 96 98 99
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics9	 94 95 96 96 98 99 99 99
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age10	94 95 96 96 98 99 99 99
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age102.11.9 Gender10	 94 95 96 96 96 98 99 99 99 90 00 00
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age102.11.9 Gender102.11.10 Possession of a Driving License10	 94 95 96 96 96 98 99 99 99 90 00 00 00 00
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age102.11.9 Gender102.11.10 Possession of a Driving License102.11.11 Ethnic group10	 94 95 96 96 96 98 99 99 90 00 00 00 00 00
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age102.11.9 Gender102.11.10 Possession of a Driving License102.11.11 Ethnic group102.11.12 Use of Safety Equipment10	 34 35 36 <
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age102.11.9 Gender102.11.11 Ethnic group102.11.12 Use of Safety Equipment102.11.13 Use Of A Cycle Helmet10	 34 35 36 <
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.9 Gender102.11.10 Possession of a Driving License102.11.11 Ethnic group102.11.12 Use of Safety Equipment102.11.14 Type of Bicycle10	 34 35 36 <
2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data92.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data92.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations92.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation92.11.5 Cycling Exposure92.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels92.11.7 Participant Characteristics92.11.8 Age102.11.9 Gender102.11.11 Ethnic group102.11.12 Use of Safety Equipment102.11.13 Use Of A Cycle Helmet102.11.14 Type of Bicycle102.11.15 Risk Taking Attitude Scales10	94 95 96 96 98 99 90 00 00 00 00 01 01 02 02

March 2012 4

2.11.16 Familiarity with the route 102
2.11.17 Recent Alcohol use 103
2.11.18 Cycling Experience 103
2.11.19 Cycle Training 103
2.11.20 History of Cycle-Related Injury Collision 103
2.11.21 Socio-Economic Status 104
2.11.22 The Cycling 'Culture' of Organisations 104
2.12 Secondary Data 105
2.12.1 Safety Equipment Use 105
2.12.2 Collision Data From Cases 105
2.12.3 Injury Data From Cases 105
2.12.4 Use Of Conspicuity Aids In The Base Population 106
2.13 Data Storage 106
2.14 Analysis 107
2.14.1 Descriptive Analysis 107
2.14.2 Univariate Analysis 107
2.14.3 Linearity 108
2.14.4 Multivariate Analysis 108
2.14.5 Interactions 109
2.14.6 Model Diagnostics 109
2.14.7 Diagnostic Variables 110
2.14.8 Missing Data 111
2.14.9 Sensitivity Analyses 111
3. Results 113
3.1 Recruitment 113
3.2 Recruitment of Cases 115
3.2.1 Cases Not Suitable For Approach By The Researcher 115
3.2.2 Cases Approached In Person By The Researcher 115
3.2.3 Cases Approached By Post 116

3.2.4 Excluded Case Responders	116
3.3 Recruitment of Controls	117
3.4 Factors Associated With Response	
3.4.1 Case Non-Response	118
3.4.2 Case Response Comparisons	118
3.4.3 Control Response Comparisons	119
3.5 Details of the Case Crashes	120
3.5.1 Injuries Sustained By Cases	121
3.6 Characteristics Of The Study Participants By Case-Co	ontrol Status 123
3.6.1 Bicycle Use By Case-Control Status	126
3.6.2 Route and Journey Characteristics By Case-Contro	Status 128
3.7 Univariate Matched Associations Of Confounders W Evasion Crash	/ith Risk Of Collision Or
3.8 The Use of Conspicuity Aids By Case-Control Status	136
3.8.1 Bicycle-Mounted Conspicuity Aid Use By Case-Cont	rol Status 138
3.8.2 Habitual Safety and Conspicuity Equipment Use By	Case-Control Status139
3.9 Unmatched Univariate Associations Of Confounders Aids	With Use Of Conspicuity
3.10 Unmatched Univariate Associations Of Use Of Cons Other Safety Equipment	picuity Aids With Use Of
3.11 Univariate Matched Relationships Between Conspi Control Status	cuity Aid Use and Case-
3.12 The Modelling Process	
3.12.1 Forwards Stepwise With A Priori Confounders For	ced Into The Model . 145
3.12.2 Backwards Stepwise Elimination From A "Saturate	ed" Model 145
3.13 Adjusted Associations Of Conspicuity Aid Use A Evasion Crash	nd Risk Of Collision Or 146
3.13.1 The Effect Of Each Confounder On The Odds Exposure Estimated Using A Matched Analysis	Ratio For The Primary
3.14 Interactions	
3.15 Model Fit and Post-Estimation Diagnostic Plots	
3.15.1 Model One	150
PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller	March 2012 6

3.15.2 Model Two 150
3.15.3 Multicollinearity 151
3.15.4 R-Squared 151
3.16 Modelling Of Secondary Exposure Variables 152
3.16.1 Fluorescent Clothing Above The Waist 152
3.16.2 Ordinal Measure Of Conspicuity Aid Use 153
3.17 Conspicuity Aid Use Of The Cycling Population Observed Within The Study Catchment Area
3.18 Exposure-Related Selection Bias 158
3.19 Stratification Of Crash Risk And Conspicuity Aid Exposures By Light Levels, Weather Conditions And Injury Severity
3.19.1 Light Levels 159
3.19.2 Weather Conditions 161
3.19.3 The Use Of Conspicuity Aids And Their Effect On Injury Severity Scores
3.20 The Effect of Missing Data 163
3.21 Independent Observations of Conspicuity Aid Use 164
3.22 Sensitivity, Specificity And Inter-Rater Reliability Of Self-Reported Conspicuity Aid Use
3.23 Inter-Rater Reliability Of Researcher Observations
3.24 Results Summary 167
4. Discussion Chapter 170
4.1 Principal Findings 170
4.2 Strengths Of The Study 171
4.2.1 Matching And Incidence-Density Recruitment Of Cases And Controls 171
4.2.2 Adjustment For A Large Number Of Potential Confounders 172
4.2.3 Restriction of Recruitment To Relevant Crash Configurations And Severities
4.2.4 Restriction Of Recruitment To A Defined Catchment Area 173
4.2.5 Validation Of Self-Reported Exposures 173
4.2.6 Population Level Exposure Measurement In The Study Catchment Area 174

4.2.7 Adjustment For Geographical Variations In Bicycle Crash Risk For Differ Participants' Routes 1	ent 174
4.3 Limitations Of The Study 1	175
4.4 Biases In The Study 1	176
4.4.1 Selection Bias 1	177
4.4.2 Response Bias 1	180
4.4.3 Information Bias 1	186
4.5 Validity Of Exposure Data 1	190
4.6 Sources Of Confounding 1	194
4.6.1 The Effect Of Matching To Reduce Confounding	195
4.6.2 Traffic Risk Measurements: "Route Risk" 1	198
4.6.3 Previous Cycle Crash Involvement 2	202
4.6.4 Index Of Multiple Deprivation 2	203
4.6.5 Age	204
4.6.6 Gender	204
4.6.7 Use Of A Cycle Helmet	204
4.6.8 Cycling Experience 2	205
4.7 Residual Confounding 2	206
4.7.1 Risk Homeostasis Theory And Risk "Compensation" 2	207
4.8 Lack Of Precision And Type I And II Error 2	215
4.9 Comparisons With Previous Work 2	218
4.10 Implications Of These Results For Road Safety Policy And Future Resea	rch 219
4.10.1 Implications For Future Research	225
4.11 Conclusion	229
4.12 Recommendations 2	232
5. Appendices 2	234
5.1 Appendix 1 – Historical Crash Data 2	234
5.2 Appendix 2 - Coding Structure And Variable Definitions	235
5.3 Appendix 3 - Crash Characteristics And Injuries 2	241
PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller March 2012	8

5.3.1 Further Information Regarding The Case Crashes
5.3.2 Injury Details 242
5.4 Appendix 4 - Recruitment Pilot 244
5.5 Appendix 5 - Habitual Safety Equipment Use 245
5.6 Appendix 6 - Tests Of Linearity Of Continuous Variables 246
5.6.1 Weekly Distance Cycled 246
5.6.2 Age
5.6.3 Route Risk
5.6.4 Index Of Multiple Deprivation 249
5.6.5 Sensation Seeking Score 249
5.6.6 Normlessness Score 250
5.7 Appendix 7 - Reliability Of Researcher Field Observations 252
5.8 Appendix 8 - Double Data Entry 254
5.9 Appendix 9 - Post-Estimation Diagnostic Tests 255
5.10 Appendix 10 – Study Questionnaire 260
5.11 Appendix 11 - Lay Summary Of The Study For Participants 279
5.12 Appendix 12 - Performance Standards For Conspicuity Enhancing Clothing
5.13 Appendix 13 – Example Of Completed Map Showing Participant Representation Of Chosen Route
5.14 Appendix 14 – Independent Exposure Validation Data Record Sheet 285
5.15 Appendix 15 – Study Catchment Area And Control Recruitment Sites 286
6. References & Bibliography

Acknowledgments

The author wishes to thank the following people and organisations for their support during the completion of this work:

My Wife - for her endless patience and encouragement

For **my Father** – who knew cycling was a practical, convenient and efficient mode of transport long after most others had forgotten

My supervisors - Professor Denise Kendrick and **Dr Carol Coupland** – for the original idea and for their endless support for the study and the completion of this document

The **staff in the Emergency Department** of the Queens Medical Centre Nottingham and Research Lead **Frank Coffey**

The **Cyclists of Nottingham** – for their calm acceptance of an eccentric figure with a clipboard, who haunted them for a couple of years, studying their plumage and behaviour in the wild

Tom Taylor for his work in converting grid references into a usable GIS format and making these publically available

Members of **PEDALS**, the Nottingham cycle campaign for their time spent commenting on and suggesting improvements to the study

Neal Hughes at the Queens Medical Centre Audio Visual Department for producing the logo from an idea by the author

The following companies and organisations assisted the study by authorising approaches to their staff at their premises:

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust University of Nottingham Nottingham Trent University Nottingham Express Transit St John's Theological College **Experian PLC East Midland Trains East Midlands Development Agency** Tee Gee Signs Courtaulds Ltd The Open University **Bells Fruit Machines Ltd ITT Waste Water Ltd Nottingham City Council** Nottinghamshire Constabulary Nottinghamshire County Council **Bridgeway Consulting Sycamore Business Centre** East Midlands Ambulance Service **Roko Health Clubs** Chris Variava Ltd **British Geological Survey**



Abstract

Introduction

Regular cycling has been shown to improve health and well-being and has a role in tackling obesity and inactivity. Cycle collisions, particularly those involving motorised vehicles, can lead to significant mortality and morbidity and are currently a barrier to wider uptake of cycling. There is evidence that the conspicuity of cyclists may be a factor in some injury collisions. Low-cost, easy to use retro-reflective and fluorescent clothing and accessories ('conspicuity aids') are widely available. Their effectiveness in reducing the risk of cycling collisions is currently unknown. This study was designed to investigate the relationship between the use of conspicuity aids and risk of collision or evasion crashes for utility and commuter cyclists in an urban setting in the UK.

Methods

A matched case-control study was undertaken. Cases were adult commuter and utility cyclists who were involved in a crash resulting from a collision or attempted evasion of a collision with another road user. Cases were recruited at a large UK emergency department. Controls were commuter and utility cyclists matched by time and day of travel, season and geographical area of cycling. Controls were recruited at public and private cycle parking sites. Data on the use of conspicuity aids, crash circumstances, participant demographics, cycling experience, safety equipment use and journey characteristics including an estimate of the bicycle crash risk for each chosen route (the number of previous crashes per 100 million kilometres travelled by bicycle calculated for each participant route) were collected using self-completed questionnaires and maps. Conditional logistic regression was used to calculate crude and adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals of the risk of a crash involving a collision or evasion of a collision with another road user when cyclists reported they were using any item of fluorescent or retro-reflective clothing or equipment vs. none. Unconditional logistic regression was used to analyse associations between

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

participant characteristics and conspicuity aid use. Continuous variables were dichotomised where there was a non-linear relationship to the bicycle crash outcome variable or the primary exposure variable.

The sensitivity of the study models to selection, recall and information biases and the effect of missing data was assessed using independent records of conspicuity aid use by potential participants during recruitment. Observations of conspicuity aid use within the study source population at sites across the study catchment area were also conducted by the researcher during the recruitment phase.

Results

There were 76 cases and 272 controls cyclists who were eligible for inclusion in the primary analysis (response rate of 13% and 54% respectively). The proportion of cases who reported using any item of fluorescent or reflective materials on their clothing or equipment (excluding bicycle mounted reflectors) was higher than for matched controls (cases users 69.7%; 95% CI 58.1% to 79.8% vs. control users 65.4%; 95% CI 59.5% to 79.1%). The unadjusted odds ratio for a collision or evasion crash when using conspicuity aids, was 1.2 (95% CI 0.66 to 2.17). Two alternative modelling strategies were employed. After adjustment for confounding from age, gender, socio-economic deprivation, number of years of cycling experience, bicycle crash risk along each route and cycle helmet use the odds ratio was 1.77 (95% CI 0.74 to 4.25). After adjustment for confounding from age, gender, socio-economic deprivation, bicycle crash risk along each route and history of previous cycle crash involvement the odds ratio was 2.4 (95% CI 1.06 to 5.7). The odds ratio was not significantly affected by adjustment for possession of a driving licence, reported bicycle safety training in childhood, psychometric associates of risk taking behaviour, cycle helmet wearing, years of experience of cycling, distance or number of trips cycled in the previous seven days, type of bicycle, the use of bike-mounted lights or reflectors, weather or lighting conditions, familiarity with the route or alcohol consumption within 8 hours prior to the recorded journey.

There was a significant difference between the measure of bicycle crash risk along each route for cases and controls with controls reporting travelling on routes with lower objective bicycle crash risk (median (IQR); cases 378.5 (232.4

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

to 548.3) vs. controls 268.5 (192.6 to 464.5); p= 0.006). There were no significant differences in route risk for users vs. non-users of conspicuity aids (route risk median (IQR) for conspicuity aid users vs. non-users; 308.1 (198.0 to 504.3) vs. 272.3 (203.7 to 413.4; p= 0.22). Conspicuity aid use was associated with increased length of participant route (unadjusted OR 3.25 for reported route greater than median; 95% CI 2.04 to 5.17 p<0.001), higher numbers of police-recorded bicycle crashes (unadjusted OR 2.26 for greater than median; 95% CI 1.43 to 3.55; p<0.001) and lower numbers of observed cyclists on each route (unadjusted OR 0.999; 95% CI 0.998 to 1.000 p=0.015). Route risk data were missing for 50 participants (15 cases and 35 controls).

Validation of the primary exposure showed that there was moderate agreement between participants' self-reports and independently collected data (kappa 0.42; 95% CI 0.32 to 0.51) but independent data were collected on only 4 eligible cases. Self-reported use of conspicuity aids was higher amongst cases and controls in this study than that observed for cyclists in the study area during the recruitment period (23%; 95% CI 22% to 24%).

Discussion

The results of this study show a non-significant increase in the odds of a crash for users compared to non-users of conspicuity aids whilst cycling. This association was increased after adjustment for confounders but most models generated to adjust for confounding remained insignificant. No reduction in crash risk could be demonstrated. This is not consistent with the large body of evidence suggesting that conspicuity aids increase the distances from which wearers can be detected and recognised by drivers in a variety of settings.

There was evidence that cases were cycling along routes with greater exposure to traffic danger than controls although there were many participants with missing data for this variable potentially introducing a further source of bias. The route risk estimates did not vary significantly between conspicuity aid users and non-users. Residual confounding may have occurred if conspicuity aid users were taking more risks when encountering similar traffic conditions to non-users. This could not be measured but may go some way to explaining these results. If cyclists over-estimate the likely effect of their conspicuity aid use this could result in over compensation and a net increase in crash risk. Adjustment for

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

route risk may have introduced bias by the loss of some participants from the analysis or by acting as a positive suppressor variable increasing the influence of uncontrolled confounding if conspicuity aid use were leading to risky riding over and above the objective risk arising from differing road and traffic conditions. The association between the odds of crash and travelling on roads with higher incidences of previous cycle crashes and fewer cyclists provides support for the "safety in numbers" effect reported in other studies.

Differential selection and misclassification biases may also have resulted in over representation of conspicuity aid users amongst cases compared to controls. Social expectation from involvement in a collision crash may have resulted in cases who were not using conspicuity aids being less likely to participate than controls who were non-users. For similar reasons cases may have been more inclined to over-estimate their conspicuity aid use than controls. Validation data were available for only a small number of cases preventing quantification of exposure-related selection or outcome related misclassification biases and meaning that presence or otherwise of differential bias could not be confirmed. The study was also not able to accurately measure relative conspicuity arising from differences in performance of the conspicuity aids chosen.

The differences observed in traffic danger estimates may also be the result of selection bias as recruitment was restricted to public and private cycle parking which may have led to over-representation of controls from areas with greater numbers of cyclists and better infrastructure which are both thought to reduce crash risk. Failure to recruit the required sample size led to low precision in the estimates of odds ratios and an increase in the risk of incorrectly accepting the null hypothesis.

Conclusion

This study was designed to assess the effect of conspicuity aid use on the risk of crash for commuter and utility cyclists. A slightly greater proportion of cases than controls reported using conspicuity aids. There was therefore a raised odds ratio of collision crash involvement for those using conspicuity aids even after adjustment for a large number of important confounders. The study results do not demonstrate a protective effect as expected given previous work testing the

effects of such aids on drivers' awareness of cyclists and pedestrians. This study demonstrates the importance of understanding why many cyclists remain at risk of collision crash resulting in injury despite the use of conspicuity aids.

Dissemination

P Miller, D Kendrick, C Coupland. 2010. The Use of Conspicuity Aids By Cyclists and Risk of Crashes Involving Other Road Users. 2010, *Safety 2010: 10th World Conference On Injury Prevention and Safety Promotion*, Oral Presentation, Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre, London.

P D Miller, Denise Kendrick, Carol Coupland, Frank Coffey. The Use of Conspicuity Aids By Cyclists and Risk of Crashes Involving Other Road Users: A Protocol For A Population-Based Case-Control Study. 2010, *BMC Public Health*;10:39.

The author presented the results of this study orally at the 2011 Post Graduate Research Conference at the University of Nottingham winning first prize.

A lay summary of the study methods and results was produced and sent to all participants who requested a copy. The text is reproduced in Appendix 11.

A copy of the thesis has been published as a e-Thesis and copied to the British Library Electronic Theses On-Line System (EthOS).

Contributors

This thesis is the report of a piece of research carried out within the School of Community Health Sciences, Division of Primary Care funded by a scholarship from the School Annual PhD Award Scheme.

The original idea and outline design of the research project were the work of Prof. Denise Kendrick Asst. Prof. Carol Coupland and Dr. Caroline Mulvaney. PM was responsible for the writing of the protocol, gaining Research Ethics Committee and NHS Research and Development department authorisations along with permissions for recruitment and data collection in both NHS and non-NHS organisations. Mr. Frank Coffey (Consultant – Emergency Medicine - Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust) authorised the collection of data from NHS systems and made the first written approach to potential participants. PM designed the questionnaire instruments and developed the methods for collecting participant route and traffic risk data. PM piloted and conducted all recruitment and data collection and data validation activities for the duration of the study. Dr. Tania May (wife of PM) assisted with the collection of data to validate the traffic and community exposure data. PM was responsible for creation, analysis and modelling of the final dataset and was the main author for subsequent publications and presentations. All of the above were carried out under the close supervision and guidance of the PhD supervisors Prof. Denise Kendrick and Asst. Prof. Carol Coupland.

Glossary and Abbreviations

Table 1

AADCT	Annual Average Daily Cycle Traffic
AIS	Abbreviated Injury Score
Collision Crash	Crash involving physical contact with another road user resulting in injury to the cyclist. In the text "collision crash" is used to include "evasion crashes" owing to their similar aetiology.
Conspicuity	Collins Dictionary: 'conspicuous' 1. Clearly visible 2. Attracting attention because of a striking quality or feature.
	Note on current use: Conspicuity is used in the current document to refer to a property of visual targets (cyclists) which describes the degree to which they can be "picked out" or identified by other road users who were unaware of their presence
ED	Emergency Department
EDIS	Emergency Department Information System
Evasion Crash	Crash resulting from attempt by a cyclist to avoid a collision with another road user resulting in injury to the cyclist
HES	Hospital Episode Statistics
ISS	Injury Severity Score
Visibility	Note on current use: Visibility is used in the current document to refer to the circumstances e.g. various environmental conditions, which affect the visual performance of road users in discerning cyclists in their visual field

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 Introduction

The evidence for a net health benefit from regular cycling is strong ¹. In the UK and many other developed nations, the numbers of people cycling regularly is too low to realise these benefits at the population level ². The risk of collision crashes and the resulting burden of injury remains too high and this acts as a barrier to increased take-up ^{3 4-8}. The achievement of the potential public health benefits of cycling requires a reduction in the risk of cycle crashes particularly those involving motorised vehicles. Increasing the conspicuity of cyclists may reduce the risk of collision crashes but currently there is no direct evidence that this approach is effective ⁹.

The following chapter reviews the current epidemiological evidence regarding the potential health benefits of increased cycling and how the current injury burden of cycling and the perception of risk this causes acts as a potent barrier to cycling achieving its potential for improving public health. Current levels of cycling participation in other countries are compared with that seen in the UK and the recent role of cycle promotion in the context of crash prevention is considered. Later sections focus on the incidence and possible causes of collision crashes and the potential role of enhanced cyclist conspicuity in preventing them. The final sections discuss the types of interventions available to increase cyclists' conspicuity and patterns of such conspicuity aid use. The current lack of evidence for a protective effect of conspicuity aids on the risk of bicycle collision crashes is discussed. Where applicable some research into pedestrian conspicuity is also included, in particular where such evidence is relevant to but not available for, cyclists. The aim of the chapter is to examine the potential role of attempts by cyclists to increase their conspicuity in reducing the number of crashes involving other road users in urban and highly motorised environments.

1.2 The Benefits of Cycling

Reducing cycling crashes is an important aim in itself. Considerable mortality and morbidity are caused during cycle crashes. In addition cycle crash injury entails a further, hidden public health cost. This is because the full benefits of regular cycling, as an important component of an active life, are denied to many people owing to their fear of injury. This fear is primarily concerned with collisions with motorised traffic.

Physical activity is known to be protective of health and reduce the incidence of a number of diseases associated with increasingly sedentary life-styles in high income countries ¹⁰⁻¹⁴ ¹⁵. A recent World Health Organisation strategy document suggests that physical inactivity is the fourth largest risk factor for excess mortality globally (6%) after hypertension (13%), smoking (9%) and high blood glucose (6%) ¹⁶. Transport choices are now considered to be a leading determinant of the amount of non-leisure activity undertaken by people in high income countries ¹⁷⁻¹⁹.

Cycling has an important role to play in increasing physical activity. There are many potential health benefits from increased cycle use and their impacts are increasingly well understood ⁸ ²⁰⁻²². A recent review of the evidence related to cycling and health ¹ identified a number of studies examining the relationship between cycling and a variety of health outcomes in adults. Cycling was associated with lower obesity and overweight ²³ and improved general health in the over 50s especially in women ²⁴. The review also uncovered evidence of a consistent dose response for cycling with increasing levels associated with reductions in all-cause mortality ¹², colon cancer ²⁵ and some cardio vascular fitness markers ²⁶. Many of these effects are more pronounced amongst the less active suggesting a larger benefit is available for new cyclists which argues strongly for promotion of cycling within the general population. A further review which included harms resulting from cycling found that the overall health impact remained positive, outweighing the effects of increased exposure to pollution and risk of injury ²⁷.

The combination of health and non-health benefits from cycling has been subjected to some limited but promising economic analysis. A recent evaluation has demonstrated large net benefits in the UK even at the relatively low current levels of cycling. These accrue not only from reduced healthcare costs because

of reductions in the diseases of sendentarism but from reductions in other important economic cost factors such as congestion and transport-related pollution ²⁸. The report suggests that a 20% increase in cycling could have a net economic value of £523m given evidence-based projections of reductions in health service costs, work absence, premature death, pollution and congestion. A doubling of current cycling would be worth £1.3bn to the UK economy as a whole (p6) with benefit to cost ratios for existing promotional activities ranging from 1.4 to 1 (for "Bike It", a school-based cycle promotion scheme) to 7.4 to1 (for cycle training programmes). Health benefits were shown to increase with the age of participants and the environmental benefits to increase with the level of urbanization. Other research suggests that increases in cycling could deliver other, less easily measured benefits, such as increased "well-being" and social interaction, and increased mobility for marginalised groups such as the young and the elderly ^{21 29}.

All these elements combined clearly demonstrate that transport policy is of importance across traditionally distinct areas of government such as the economy and public health ^{18 30 31}.

1.3 Policies To Increase Cycling

Given the over-whelming evidence of benefits from increasing bicycle use it is disconcerting that cycling remains low in the UK. The continued threat from cycle crashes, perceived by many people to be too great to contemplate cycling, may undermine policies designed to increase cycling. The following section examines briefly the evidence for interventions to promote cycling and recent progress to increase cycle use in the UK in the light of the current risk of collision crashes.

Various strategies have been employed to increase cycling levels in countries other than the UK ³². There has however, been little evaluation of these efforts to promote cycling in any jurisdiction. A recent evaluation paper of a Spanish cycle-sharing scheme reported considerable benefits in terms of increased activity levels and projected reductions in pollution ³³ but was criticised for making optimistic assumptions about the likely proportion of car journey substitutions ³⁴. In a less urbanised environment, a multi-faceted intervention in a Finnish town demonstrated that regular moderate-intensity cycling enhances

health, that there is often latent capacity in many populations to adopt or increase cycling and that targeted low-cost interventions can be successful in boosting participation rates ³⁵.

As a result of the weight of evidence for benefits from cycling, UK government policy began to shift towards explicit promotion of bicycle transport in the early 1990s. In 1996 the government launched a National Cycling Strategy which set a target to increase cycling trips per person per year by 400% by 2012 ^{36 2}. Over a decade after the initial target was set progress towards it has been slow ³⁶. This was despite the creation of a national body, 'Cycle England', to implement government policies on cycling and the targeting of considerable resources towards increasing bicycle use in "cycling demonstration towns" using investment in both infrastructure and promotional campaigns ². In 2004 the explicit target for an expansion in cycling was abandoned ³⁷. In 2011 the government announced that Cycle England was to be wound up although funding for cycling towns continues and the schemes have yet to be fully evaluated ³⁸.

1.4 Bicycle Use

It was recently estimated that there were 800 million bicycles world-wide; two for every car ³⁹. In Asia bicycles carry more people per year than the entire global passenger car fleet and the bicycle is an economically important mode of transport ⁴⁰. The position in high income countries is quite different with motor vehicle use dominating modal share in most European and all US, cities ⁴¹. Bicycle travel in high income nations has steadily declined since the second world war ⁴⁰ as private car use has increased although there are notable exceptions such as in the Netherlands ⁴².

Figure 1 below illustrates cycle use in the EU 15 as a whole and by component country, expressed as kilometres travelled by bicycle per person per year. The distance travelled per person by bicycle in the UK (75 kilometres) is less than half the average for the EU as a whole (198 kilometres). Bicycle use has not always been low in the UK. Travel by bicycle declined from a post war peak of approximately 24 billion kilometres per year in 1949⁴³ to around 5 billion kms/yr or one percent of all distance travelled in 2009⁴⁴.

Cycling in the European Union Member States in 2000 EU-15 198 Spain 20 Luxembourg 23 Portugal 29 UK 75 France 75 Greece 76 Austria 136 Kms Cycled per Person per Year Italy 154 Ireland 184 Finland 251 Sweden 271 Germany 291 Belgium 322 The Netherlands 848 Denmark 936

Figure 1 Variation In Kilometres Per Person Cycled Per Year Across The EU Member States And Mean Of EU 15. Source: EU Energy & Transport in Figures, 2003 (data for 2000), Eurostat reproduced in ⁴⁵

Available methods of estimating cycle use differ between countries and other measures of participation, such as cycle ownership, are unreliable proxies for the amount of cycling actually undertaken ⁴¹. Currently, methods for directly measuring traffic levels and composition on the road network such as automated traffic counters, give inaccurate counts for two wheeled vehicles, especially bicycles ⁴³. However the decline in commuter and utility cycling in the UK over the past 20 years is confirmed by interview data from the ongoing data series the National Travel Surveys ⁴⁶. From 1995-97 to 2006 the average annual number of trips per person by bicycle fell from 22 to 19 whilst the distance travelled per annum fell from 43 to 39 miles ⁴⁶. More recently it appears that the steady post-war decline in cycling may have ended but no large scale recovery is yet discernible. The most recent figures for the UK show a slight

increase in the distance travelled by bicycle nationally ⁴⁷ although larger increases have been recorded in Central London ⁴⁸.

Promotion of cycling and the realisation of the predicted health benefits are most likely hampered by fear of injury in those considering taking up cycling. Countering this perception as well as delivering increases in cycling without proportionate rises in injuries and deaths, both require greater understanding of the causes of cycle crashes and how they may be prevented.

1.5 The Relationship Between Bicycle Crash Risk And Bicycle Use

It has been suggested that increasing active travel (cycling and walking) is associated with reductions in the risk of injury to individual cyclists and walkers ⁴⁹. Jacobsen examined five sources of injury data covering pedestrians and cyclists which included exposure measures for walking and cycling. Despite variations in the composition of these figures from different settings, over time a pattern of decreasing risk of injury was observed when cycling and walking increased (The Netherlands) and injury risk was seen to increase where these modes declined (UK). Jacobsen suggests that a vicious circle is created where high levels of motorised transport use deters cyclists and walkers and this leads to increased risks leading to further declines in active travel ⁵⁰.

The deterrent effect of high volumes of motorised traffic may prevent large shifts to travel by bicycle ⁵¹ and appears particularly discouraging for women ⁵². Crash risk, primarily the threat from motorised traffic on the road network, is frequently cited by politicians, healthcare practitioners, researchers and transport policy makers as the major barrier to mode-switching to cycling ^{4 8 53-59}. The baseline data from UK cycle demonstration towns appears to support this, with non-cyclists reporting the greatest degree of concern for traffic danger to cyclists in the UK ³⁸.

In addition to physical injuries there may be important psychological consequences of cycle crashes although there is little evidence available specifically concerning injured cyclists. A one year follow-up study examined the physical and psychological effects of road crash injury amongst different road user groups ⁶⁰. The mean injury severity of cyclists was 2.12 (SD 1.9), higher than that of drivers and passengers (1.63; SD 2.2 and 1.50; SD 2.2 respectively)

but lower than that of pedestrians and motorcyclists (2.9; SD 3.2 and 2.97; SD 3.6). The psychological consequences of cyclist crashes were found to be comparable in severity to the other road user groups with 19% reporting symptoms of post traumatic stress disorder and 7% travel-related anxiety.

A similar cohort study recruited people who were injured in road traffic crashes including a small number of cyclists ⁶¹. Injury severity was found to be a poor predictor of post traumatic stress disorder and other psychological problems in the early stages of recovery. Attitudes and fears reported by participants at the time of the crash were found to be important predictors of psychological trauma at three months following the crash. Participants who reported high "perceived threat to life" and high "expectation of injury" were more likely to experience psychological morbidity. The numbers of cyclists studied were small and the results were not disaggregated by road user type. However both of these reactions to the initial crash may arguably affect cyclists more than vehicle occupants owing to their greater apparent vulnerability to injury. Given the health benefits of regular cycling, avoidance of cycling after a crash may constitute a considerable reduction overall activity levels. This could represent a hidden consequence of bicycle crashes and warrants further investigation.

1.6 The Incidence of Cycle Crashes

The following sections discuss the various sources of published data and then examine the burden of injury and death for adult cyclists involved in fatal crashes and crashes involving collisions with other road users.

1.6.1 Sources of Data

Establishing the current incidence of cycling accidents and collisions even those involving relatively severe injuries is difficult. Under-reporting by those involved in crashes and under-recording by police in many jurisdictions appear to affect crashes involving cyclists disproportionately when compared to other groups of crash-involved road users ⁶⁹⁻⁷³.

The main source of casualty figures for cyclists in the UK is the Police service using a data collection template known as 'STATS 19'. These records are thought to under-record incidents on the road network involving cyclists and misclassification of injury severity by police officers may be common and dynamic as the divergent trends in casualty numbers and severities from alternative data sources suggest ^{69 72 74-78}. Errors in the estimation of cyclist injury numbers in police records may be particularly serious in the case of single vehicle cyclist crashes ⁷⁹.

Alternative sources of data do exist. The use of hospital data to investigate transport collisions has long been advocated ⁸⁰. Recent work for the Department for Transport has suggested that hospital derived injury data could complement, if not replace, established sources such as police records ⁶⁹. Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data are available for patients admitted for longer than 24 hours to NHS hospitals in England. External cause codes conforming to the ICD-10 classification system are recorded for all age groups.

There appears to be considerable under reporting of cycling morbidity from crashes recorded by police officers. A comparison of police and hospital data by Ward ⁶⁹ found a ratio of 1:1.45 for STATS19 vs HES recorded serious injuries amongst pedal cyclists for the years 1999-2003. The ratio of all injured pedal cyclists recorded in STATS 19 data to that reported in HES was 1:2.3 (excluding fatalities; data from 2001-2002) ⁶⁹. HES data demonstrates a missed injury burden but is unlikely to provide a good estimate of all bicycle crashes.

It is likely that there are considerable margins for error when estimating the numbers of collisions occurring in the community using these sources of data. Many crashes may occur which do not result in a police report or hospital admission. This might occur if the police are not informed or resulting injuries are treated in emergency departments, primary care or outpatient clinics, and are therefore not included in published data sources. This leads to underreporting of the absolute numbers of cycling collisions and means that more serious injuries are over represented in available data. The loss of those crashes from available data sources may underestimate their deterrent effect on cycling participation although by definition it is not know whether a significant burden of injury is also thus concealed. A further weakness of with HES data is its inclusion of outcomes such as 'bed-days' and 'finished consultant episodes' are sensitive to local variations in resources and admission practice. This may affect the validity of cross-sectional comparisons of hospitals or regions and

distort or mask trends over time. Hospital data may also include incidents occurring away from the road network making direct comparison with police data unreliable ⁸¹. Finally, there exist significant misclassification problems in data derived from hospital records particularly in distinguishing pedal cyclists from motorised two wheelers and from inaccurate recording of external causes e.g. 'collision with a motor vehicle'. A large proportion of records for cyclists are recorded as having an 'unspecified' external cause ⁶⁹. Police records provide a far longer series of data which enables analysis of trends over time although there is some evidence that recording practices have not remained constant ⁷⁵.

Other sources of data have been used to assess the burden of cycling injury. Some studies have used self-reports of cycle crashes recorded by cohorts of cyclists. A retrospective self-report approach was used by Kiburz & Jacobs et al in the US in a sample of cycling club members and organized ride participants 82 . Of 492 cyclists taking part, 46% of 'active adult cyclists' had been involved in a crash, although less than 10% needed a hospital visit. The numbers injured in collisions with motor vehicles were relatively low at 21% although examining a sample of cycle enthusiasts rather than utility riders mean that the data may not be generalisable to other regular cyclists. In a study of the 'Taupo cohort' (cyclists volunteering to be included in the study whilst registering for a large organised non-competitive cycle event in New Zealand) the incidence of selfreported crashes leading to "at least 24hrs disruption of normal activities" was 0.5 per cyclist per year, with about one third of these episodes leading to a consultation with a healthcare professional ⁸³. This relatively high level may reflect a significant selection bias owing to the nature of the source population and the relatively low participation rate (44%). Injury reports will be validated by comparison to health data in subsequent publications according to the authors⁸³.

Emergency Department data on cyclists has been used in a number of the studies discussed below and will form the basis of the sample used in the current study. For example the incidence of bicycle crash injury has been estimated at 163 per 100 000 members of an health maintenance organisation population in Seattle in the US. Data were collected from all bicycle injury emergency department attendees over a period of one year ⁸⁴. The problems of incomparable denominators, lack of validated reporting measures, inaccurate causal coding and lack of exposure data hamper comparisons of these various sources when estimating the true burden of injury from cycling in different settings.

1.6.2 Fatal Bicycle Crashes

Fatalities after bicycle crashes are thought to be accurately recorded in highincome countries ⁸¹ and so can be used to compare bicycle safety across different settings and jurisdictions. However, whilst population denominators or per capita rates of bicycle related injuries are frequently cited the lack of cycling exposure data, whether the proportion of road traffic made up of cyclists or the actual distance travelled by bicycle in each jurisdiction, make comparisons difficult to interpret.

The numbers of cyclists involved in fatal crashes varies greatly between high and low income countries. The absolute burden of mortality and morbidity for cyclists is greatest in low income countries ⁸⁵. The percentage share of all road deaths accounted for by cyclists varies by WHO sub-region from 1% in the Arab Middle East to 15% in east Asia ⁸⁶. Cyclists account for less than 2% of road fatalities in the US and 4% in the UK both countries where cycling is uncommon. By contrast around 10% of road deaths in China and India and 24% in the Netherlands are of cyclists presumably because of far greater bicycle use but exposure data are not reported in many sources ⁸⁷. Data from the EU "CARE" database (Community database on Accidents on the Roads in Europe) for 2009 shows that cyclist fatalities made up 6.7% of all road deaths in contributing countries when lower income eastern European recent entrants are included and 4.7% in the established EU-15 ⁸⁸.

The available data for the US, New Zealand and the UK suggest that the fatality rate per km travelled remains higher for the bicycle than the private car ⁸⁷ ⁴⁴ ⁸⁵ ⁸⁹ ⁹⁰. Pucher examined fatality and injury rates in the US, Germany and The Netherlands using distance and number of trips as denominators (Figure 2 below). In areas where cycling exposure is low such as the US, the rate of injuries and fatalities is higher than for countries with greater bicycle use. Overall, US fatality data show a decline from 814 fatalities in 1997 to 698 in 2007 with the vast majority resulting from collisions with motor vehicles but the absence of exposure data mean that a reduction in cycling could account for this apparent progress ⁹¹. Across Europe a similar dramatic inverse relationship is seen between rates of bicycle fatalities and levels of cycling although interesting variations occur within this general association (figure 3 below). The UK appears to have lower fatality rates than might be expected given the low relative level of cycle use but this may merely represent confounding factors such as

concentration of cycling in the UK with congested urban areas with relatively low traffic speeds and greater proximity to hospital facilities.

These graphical representations illustrate the potential pitfalls of comparing absolute numbers of incidents or of using population denominators instead of exposure measures, to assess relative safety. Reliance on these measures makes it difficult to justify promotion of cycling when the threat of injury can appear higher in some settings than others when no reference is made to the volume of bicycle traffic. The use of rate-based measures facilitates international and regional comparisons and could help target safety initiatives.

Figure 2 Pedestrian And Bicycling Fatality Rates And Nonfatal Injury Rates In The United States, Germany, And The Netherlands, 2000. ⁴²



Figure 3 EU 10 Bicycle Use and Fatality Rates*. Source: European Cyclists Federation ³³⁵.



Safety in numbers: European comparison

*The time periods covered by this data are not given in the source document and Germany is notably absent.

In the UK where cycle use is relatively low, the risk of injury per hour travelling is roughly four times that for the private car (table 2). The fatality rate per distance for cycling is over twelve times that for car travel.

Mode of Travel	Per 100m Passenger	Per 100m Passenger	Per 100m Passenger
	kilometres	journeys	hours
Car	0.25	3.3	9.8
Van	0.06	1.3	2.8
Motorcycle	11	190	430
Pedal Cycle	3.1	12	38
Pedestrians	3.6	3.7	15
Bus or Coach	0.03	0.26	0.63
Rail	0.03	0.75	1.5
Water	0.02	1.1	0.61
Air	-	0.09	0.02

 Table 2 Fatality Rate Per 100 Million Passenger Kilometres, Journeys

 And Hours.⁹²

*Rates for some modes are based on 5 or 10 year averages

Comparisons of relative risk of crash, injury or death for different transport modes may also be misleading if the influence of variations in environmental factors are ignored. In a recent analysis of the health impact of a cycling scheme in Barcelona traffic death data from a variety of sources is compared 33 . The authors point out that for the urban area of Barcelona death rates from cycling are comparable to those for car drivers. They report the ratios of fatalities of cyclists compared to car drivers are 7.8 for the UK, 4.3 for the Netherlands but only 1.2 for the urban area covered by the Barcelona scheme (authors' response 93 . These apparent anomalies arise because of the inclusion of relatively safe long-distance and motorway travel by car. Such journeys could not be undertaken by bicycle and so comparisons which include them tend to exaggerate the relative risk of bicycle travel expressed in this way. Comparisons between modes are always dependent on the denominator selected. Death rates for cyclists, expressed using a per trip or per hour denominator, tend to be lower than when expressed per unit of distance. These alternatives are not widely employed but may give a more useful comparison for the public to understand the difference in risks their transport choices might entail.

Many bicycle fatality and injury studies lack valid measures of cycling exposure. In addition there is little understanding of the variations in crash risk in different settings. Where exposure is estimated, comparisons are unreliable owing to the

absence of uniform exposure measures across jurisdictions. In addition fatalities, although reliably recorded, may be only a small proportion of total bicycle crash numbers and not give a realistic picture of the true burden of injury resulting from cycling.

1.6.3 Collision Crashes

Collision crashes require different prevention strategies to crashes involving a loss of control by the cyclist. The following section examines cycle crashes involving collisions with other roads users, primarily motor vehicles, and their relative contribution to cyclist casualties and deaths. The quality and comparability of data from a variety of sources is examined in an attempt to assess the distinct contribution of collision crashes to overall morbidity and mortality in cyclists.

In a study of coroner's reports in London in the early 1990s 87% of cyclist fatalities involved a collision with a motorised vehicle ¹²⁵. In a large US study including all pedal cycle fatalities for the year 1991 the proportion of fatalities involving a motor vehicle was 90% ¹³⁶. Other data from the US for 1991 to 1994 report that 62 267 people (21.5 per 100 000 population; 95% CI 14.3 to 28.7) were injured in crashes involving a motor vehicle and treated in emergency departments for their injuries ¹³⁷.

In a Swedish study, 19% of adult bicycle injuries were sustained in collision crashes with 45% of these involving a motor vehicle ¹³⁸. Another study of all cycle crashes in Sweden between 1987 and 1994 reported lower survival rates for cyclists involved in collisions than those involved in single vehicle crashes ¹³⁹. A study of bicycle crashes in Victoria, Australia between 1981 and 1984 reported that collision crashes accounted for just under 80% of all cyclists fatalities and around half of all injuries ¹⁴⁰. A later study also in Victoria, Australia included cyclists with injuries of all severities from 2001-2006 abstracted from Hospital emergency department and coroner's datasets ¹⁴¹. The later study reported a 37% rise in deaths of cyclists (comparison of 2011 to 2006 IRR = 1.58; 95% CI, 0.57–4.34; *P* = 0.375).

In North Carolina in the US between 1997 and 2002, there were 2394 bicycle casualties injured in collision crashes and 104 fatalities of which 85% involved a collision with a car or pickup truck ¹⁴². Numbers of non-collision injuries were not

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

given for comparison but injury severity was associated with vehicle speed. In a study of vulnerable road users in Perth, Western Australia, cyclists comprised the majority of the injured (53%) with 36% of their crashes involving a motor vehicle ¹⁴³. Richter analysed the crash circumstances of 4264 cyclists injured in Germany between 1985 and 2003 and found that 66% of collisions involved a car ⁹⁵.

Rates of death per distance travelled were higher for bicycles than cars in both areas. Another Canadian study in Ontario conducted between 1986 and 1991 found that 91% of cyclists' deaths were the result of a collision with a motor vehicle ¹⁴⁵. In New Zealand, Langley et al ¹⁴⁶ found that 35% of cyclists injured on the roads between 1995 and 1999 were involved in a collision with a motor vehicle. This is higher than the rate of 26% reported by Tin Tin et al for the following decade in the same area although this latter study found an increasing per distance rate of injuries sustained in non-collision crashes. The authors conclude that the rise is primarily due to reductions in cycling over the study period ⁸⁹.

A recent Study in the Rhone, France found that only 21% of cyclists included in the trauma registry for the region had been injured in collision with a motor vehicle ¹¹⁸. In Seattle, US, Rivara studied 3390 injured cyclists attending an emergency department over a 3 year period ¹⁴⁷. Collision with a motor vehicle increased the risk of serious injury four times by comparison to cyclist-only crashes (multivariate odds ratio 4.6; 95% CI 3.3 to 6.3) and the risk of death was 14 times higher (odds ratio and CI not given) ¹⁴⁷. In Boston, U.S. Rosenkrantz found that 35% of injured cyclists were involved in a collision with a motor vehicle (excluding a small number of bicycle-bicycle collisions) ¹⁴⁸. All the recorded fatalities involved a collision with a motor vehicle although the relationship between injury severity and collision involvement for non-fatalities is not reported.

The differences in collision rates reported here may reflect differences in reporting particularly where estimations of severity are derived from police records without confirmatory medical findings. Inaccurate recording of crash circumstances may also reduce the validity of the reported proportions involved in collisions as few studies involved verification of crash circumstances from other sources. Fatalities are likely to be accurately recorded in most countries. The vast majority of fatalities are caused by a collision with a motor vehicle and injury rates are generally higher in these incidents when compared to single vehicle bicycle crashes ^{140 145 149-152}.

Hospital Episode Statistics data for the UK in 2010/2011 record 14836 admissions of pedal cyclists. Of these 2826 were admitted to hospital as a result of a collision cycle crash (excluding collisions with pedestrians and animals (105), fixed objects (674) and trains (1)) compared to 11131 recorded as being injured in non-collision crashes. Collision crashes accounted for 19% of all cyclist admissions in the period but 27.5% of all "bed days" for cyclists suggesting that collision crashes result in greater severity of injury compared to other bicycle crashes. Variations in admission policies as a result of knowledge of the mechanism of injury may account for some of this difference. It may be that cyclists involved in collisions may be regarded as at greater potential risk of deterioration from occult injury by emergency department medical staff leading to more admissions relative to other mechanisms.

Figures for emergency department attendances are not available for different road user groups in Hospital Episode Statistics in publically available datasets for England. Two studies have used emergency department data to examine factors related to injury severity and outcomes. One study reported outcomes, helmet wearing and head injury rates for collision vs loss of control bicycle crashes resulting in attendance at a single Emergency Department in Cambridge, England. The study found that 37.2% of injured cyclists were injured in collision with a motor vehicle or another pedal cyclist. The rate of head injuries in this group was three times that recorded in those who were injured in non-collision crashes ¹⁵³. The proportion of cyclists who were subsequently admitted to hospital is not reported but the study demonstrates that a considerable burden of injury occurs in those who are not admitted to hospital and thus do not appear in hospital admissions data.

Recently a study of multiply injured cyclists treated at a level 1 trauma centre in London between 2004 and 2007 has shown that collisions with heavy goods vehicles give rise to the most severe injuries with mortality rates of 21% compared to 6% for cars (p<0.001) ¹⁵⁴.

1.7 Trends In Bicycle Crash Incidence And Bicycle Use

The following section uses Hospital Episode Statistics and Police casualty reports along with bicycle travel data to assess recent trends in bicycle safety rates in England and Wales. HES data for 2001/2010 show that emergency admissions have been rising for pedal cyclists involved in collision crashes. At the same time the length of stay associated with these injuries appears to be declining (Figure 4 below). This latter trend may merely reflect changes in admission and discharge patterns over time and so may not reflect a real decline in the burden of injury.

Overall these data suggest that cyclists have not seen the same continuous decline in crash injuries seen for other road users such as car drivers over recent years ⁹⁴. Travel by bicycle appears to have risen slightly over the decade but appears to be accompanied by a rise in injuries suggesting no detectable improvement in safety as suggested by studies describing a "safety in numbers" effect. The latest figures suggest that there was a further 4% increase in cyclist casualties in 2011 compared to 2010 ¹⁵⁵ a first quarter estimates for 2012 show that increases are continuing with 4160 cyclists injured in the first quarter of 2012 a 10% increase on the same period in 2011 ³³⁸.
Figure 4 Total Bed Days And Emergency Admissions For Pedal Cyclist Collision Crashes 2001 - 2010 And Pedal Cycle Travel. Sources; HES Online 2011 And The National Travel Survey 2010 ⁴⁷.



Another way of visualising recent figures is shown in Figure 5 below. This graph shows cyclist injury, fatality data from police records and cycling exposure data from the National Travel Survey (2009) standardised by comparison to a reference period (1994-1998). Deaths amongst cyclists have declined over the decade but the small numbers each year mean that comparisons are unreliable due to chance variations. It appears that as above, injury numbers have followed a similar pattern to cycle exposure with recent increases in both cycle participation and injuries after initial declines from the reference period. This further suggests that progress towards the target reduction in injury rate per distance travelled has not occurred and that even declines in absolute numbers may have stalled.

Police recorded 16195 cyclist casualties on the roads in England and Wales in 2007 with 2564 (16%) killed or seriously injured. This amounts to around 5% of all deaths on the country's roads despite cycling accounting for only 1% to 3% of all travel ^{68 156}. In the year to October 2010 the number of killed or seriously

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 37

injured rose slightly to 2770. The numbers killed or seriously injured has declined by 26% on the 1994-98 average but the past two years have seen small rises ¹⁵⁷. Cycling injuries are accounting for a steadily increasing proportion of all road injuries owing to continued improvements in the safety of other modes ¹⁵⁸.

Figure 5 Changes In Cyclist Numbers Killed, Killed And Seriously Injured, All Severities Of Injury* And In Distance Cycled Per Person Per Year** Compared To Baseline (1994-98 Means).¹⁵⁹



A possible "safety in numbers" effect, with more cycling and walking leading to less than proportional increases in casualty numbers, has been demonstrated by a study using data giving distanced travelled by cycling and walking and collision crash injuries ¹⁶⁰. The study used a variety of datasets from the US Europe and the UK (1950 to 1999) to compare the rates of injuries amongst vulnerable road users with contemporary survey data estimating cycling exposure. The data suggest that increasing numbers of people cycling does not lead to proportionate rises in injuries. Areas where more cycling and walking occurs have relatively lower rates of injuries suggesting that the risk for each individual goes down the more fellow cyclists there are who take to the same

roads. Recently a similar effect has been found for non-collision crashes in the Netherlands ¹⁶¹.

An analysis of trends in cyclist deaths in London between 1992 and 2006 demonstrated no increase in fatalities during a period which saw a significant rise in estimates of bicycle travel, both in absolute terms and relative to motor vehicle mileage ¹⁶². These findings are consistent with a protective effect for individual cyclists from increases in overall bicycle use but the fact remains that in the absence of good quality exposure data and with many non-fatal injuries going unreported, the overall burden of injury from bicycle collisions with other road users remains too high.

Such studies as those discussed above have been cited by some authors as reason for rejecting legislation to mandate helmet wearing on the assumption that compulsion may reduce participation and thus drive up risk to individual cyclists ¹⁶³ ¹⁶⁴. The impression of a reduction in head injuries as a result of increasing use of cycle helmets may merely reflect reducing exposure as cyclists give up or reduce the amount they cycle, in some cases as a result of legislation ⁶⁴. Curnow points to similar declining rates in head injury that have been observed in pedestrians (who don't use helmets) over the similar time periods. Self-imposed or parentally-enforced reductions in exposure to road danger, if similar for cyclists and pedestrians, may confound these apparent improvements in safety. Moreover, it has been suggested that relatively large shifts away from motor vehicle use towards cycling may be required before measurable improvements in safety rates can be achieved ¹⁶⁵. Absolute reductions in injuries would also presumably occur were cyclists to reduce their cycling in response to collision risk and outside of London, cycling continues to decline in many areas as a proportion of all travel ⁴⁷.

Overall, bicycle travel in the UK remains more dangerous per unit of distance than other modes, crash rates relative to exposure do not appear to be declining as they are for other modes of travel and collision crashes appear responsible for greater severity of injury than loss of control crashes and may result in longer hospital stays.

1.8 Factors Associated With Risk Of Bicycle Crashes

The following sections examine the current evidence regarding the associations between various factors and the risk of cycle crashes. The heterogeneity of the source data (e.g. hospital vs police), the inclusion of different injury severities across studies and the likely under-recording of less severe injuries all urge caution in choosing factors of probable importance for the proposed study.

1.8.1 Age

Age has been shown to have significant relationships with many factors such as self-reported risk-taking behaviours and attitudes using a novel psychometric scale ¹⁰¹ and "reckless" behaviours such as smoking and drug use in young adults ¹⁰². In a study of trauma patients those under 40 years of age differed significantly from older participants in displaying greater levels of impulsiveness and indulgence in dangerous behaviours ¹⁰⁴ with younger people more likely to report indulging in risk-taking behaviours and reduced risk perception compared to older people. Age is an independent predictor of collision and injury risk and is correlated with risk-taking behaviours for car drivers ¹⁰⁵.

There is more limited evidence with regard to the risk-taking and perception of cyclists and studies of cyclists have sometimes included children and young people making comparisons unreliable. The existing epidemiological evidence suggests that younger and older age groups are over-represented in injury statistics for cycling compared to adults (<6 years OR 2.1; 95% CI 1.2 to 3.8; >39 years OR 2.2; 95% CI 1.4 to 3.5; compared to 20-39 year olds) ¹⁴⁷ but risk of death is significantly greater for the over 40s compared to those less than 16 years of age ¹⁹⁷. The relationship between age and bicycle crash risk is therefore complex with some studies suggesting that the relationship is not important ¹⁰⁶. Many studies only include a specific age group, the most studied group being adolescents (see ^{107 108 109 110}). The age to crash-involvement relationship is significant ¹¹¹ but confounded in studies of fatalities or those restricted to more severe injuries because of well known physiological vulnerabilities to traumatic injury with increasing age.

The association between age and crash involvement is also unlikely to be straightforward. One study comparing driver behaviour in three age groups found the relationship not to be linear with middle-aged drivers more likely to overestimate their relative ability and safety compared to younger and older drivers ¹¹².

Age has been found to be negatively associated with crash risk in cyclists in the US ¹¹³. A more complex picture emerges in research by Maring and Von Schagen who found that children under 15 and the elderly lacked knowledge regarding road priorities and rated themselves as very safe despite observational evidence to the contrary ¹¹⁴. Of the little available research dealing specifically with cyclists, adjustment for exposure when measuring associations between crash risk and age is generally absent. In a small sample of fatal bicycle crashes in Indiana between 1984 and 1993, Hawley found age differences in cyclist fatalities with nearly half of all deaths occurring in children under 16 years of age (46%) ¹¹⁵.

Risk perception, the ability of an operator to attribute crash risk correctly in a given context, is associated with crash risk in drivers ^{107, 112} and increases with age. Moller studied adult cyclists' perception of risk at roundabouts which are known to present a greater risk of crash to cyclist than other road layouts ¹¹⁶. Age was not associated with perceived risk of crash although the sample was restricted to those over the age of 18 and cyclists travelling too fast to be safely stopped were excluded potentially leading to bias. Research examining risk perception in adults between 18 and 85 years of age for a variety of different transport modes has suggested that risk-perception declines with age when respondents were asked to consider the risks of car travel which may lead to increases in risk-taking behaviour and increase risk of crashes but not such relationship was found when asked about the risks of cycling ⁵³. Perceptions of the risk of each mode was related to the amount of time travelling by that means suggesting that regular cyclists do not perceive that it entails great risk which may place them at greater risk of injury.

1.8.2 Gender

Gender has been shown to be related to crash involvement for cyclists in terms of both absolute numbers and per unit of travel with crash risk higher for males

than females in one US study ¹²⁰. Gender is also related to bicycle use with females cycling less than males whether expressed a numbers of trips or distance travelled ^{94 121-123} and expressing less desire to increase their bicycle travel in future ⁵¹ giving rise to difficulty in interpreting the effect of gender on crash risk. A study of US cyclists approached by the use of random-digit dialling suggested that the proportion of US cyclists and hours per year of cycling were similar for male and females ¹²¹. In a small single site study of poly-trauma patients in the US there was a 1:1 ratio of male to female cyclists ¹²⁴ and females have been found to be at increased risk for certain crash types in the UK ¹²⁵ which the authors hypothesise is related to inappropriately cautious behaviour in certain traffic situations.

This evidence conflicts with other observational data suggesting the proportion of the proportions of injured male and female cyclists more closely reflects the proportions in the cycling population and that males are the majority group amongst adult cyclists. Males make up the vast majority of crash involved cyclists although robust exposure adjustment is often lacking ^{120 147 89}. In a study using data from a French trauma registry the largest proportion of injured female cyclists was amongst children (32%) with adult females cycling in urban and rural settings lower still (23% and 15% respectively) ¹¹⁸. In a study of US fatal road injuries by road user type the largest gender difference in injury rates was for cyclists with 27.6 male fatalities per 100 million person trips compared to 7.2 for females ¹¹¹.

A large review of studies examining gender differences in self-reported "risktaking" showed that female respondents reported lower rates of risk taking in a variety of domains including road safety behaviours although the differences became less pronounced in older age-groups ¹¹⁹. A study of self-reported lifestyle and road traffic risk behaviours in Italian adolescents also demonstrated significant gender differences with males reporting more frequent speeding, drug use and traffic violations whilst driving compared to females ¹⁰⁶. Gender differences were identified in risk behaviours self-reported by trauma patients in a US study with males reporting greater tendency to speed for fun (OR 3.26; 95% CI 1.75 to 6.60), not use a seatbelt (OR 1.71; 95% CI 1.19 to 2.48) and drive having consumed alcohol (OR 2.34; 95% CI 1.40 to 4.05) ¹⁰⁴. No such detailed evidence is available for cycling risk behaviours.

One study of cycling and attitudes in children found girls reported more safety consciousness ¹²⁶ but such differences may not persist into adulthood. The

current study assesses the degree of confounding attributable to this characteristic.

1.8.3 Cycle Helmet Use

There is some evidence that helmet wearing may reduce the likelihood and severity of head injury should an collision occur ²³⁵⁻²³⁹ and this may lead to confounding from under-representation of exposures associated with helmet use in crash-involved samples. However helmet use may also be a proxy for risk-taking or risk-avoidance behaviour given the plausible association between cautious cycling and the use of protective head gear. In line with this it has been found that use of a cycle helmet is associated with reduced severity of injuries cyclists without head injuries (mean Injury Severity Score helmet wearers vs non-helmet wearers (3.6 vs. 12.9, p < 0.001) and proportion of cyclists with Injury Severity Score > 15 (4.4% vs. 32.1%, p < 0.0001) ²⁴⁰. This suggests that helmet use is negatively associated with some unmeasured factor which reduces injury severity such as speed or other risk-taking behaviours. In addition there is some evidence that helmet use is associated with compliance with traffic regulations which itself is sometimes construed as a proxy for risk-taking behaviour ²⁴¹.

1.8.4 Safety Equipment Use

The use of other safety equipment and in particular fixed reflectors or lights may confound the relationship between conspicuity aid use and crash risk in two ways. The use of such equipment may directly reduce crash involvement by increasing the conspicuity of such cyclists over and above increases directly attributable to the exposures of interest. Confounding effect may arise from a further association between use of such equipment and risk-averse or "defensive" cycling behaviours. There is no research examining safety equipment and the risk of bicycle crash other than that dealing with helmet wearing which is discussed separately above.

1.8.5 Type Of Bicycle

The type of bicycle ridden may act as a direct confounder of the association of the exposure and crash outcome. Type of bicycle might also be considered as a proxy for levels of risk-taking which may be related to both safety equipment use and risk-taking in traffic. A study of US cycle collision victims found that the type of bicycle ridden was a risk factor for collisions ¹¹³. The use of racing bicycles and "mountain" bicycles was associated with raised risk of crash involvement by comparison to "general purpose" bicycles (odds ratio (95%) Confidence Interval) 1.91 (1.24-2.96) and 1.77 (1.28-2.49) respectively). Choice of bike may be associated with altered crash risk because of factors such as speed of travel, riding position (influencing visual field of the rider as well as visual profile seen by other road users) and conspicuity aid use (specialist sports riding gear may be more or less likely to incorporate conspicuity aid materials than "normal" bicycle clothing). Other factors may also be differ by bike type such as the performance of brakes, shock absorbers and tyres where they are used in contexts for which they are not designed e.g. studded "off road" tyres on tarmac road surfaces and disc brakes on certain high-value mountain bikes. The use of cleats (clips to secure the foot to the pedal uses on some sports models) may also affect the rider's ability to release their foot from the pedal to stabilise themselves in an emergency. Examination of such individual factors is beyond the scope of the current study.

1.8.6 Driver Training

The relationship between possession of a driving licence as a proxy for road experience and training as a motor vehicle driver and collision risk in cyclists not known and is unlikely to be straightforward. Possession of a full license has been shown to increase risk of bicycle accident involvement at junctions ¹²⁷. Drivers who cycled appeared to overestimate the likelihood of vehicle drivers yielding when required to by traffic regulations. Drivers and cyclists have been shown to have differing perceptions of the safety benefits and conspicuity of cyclists using conspicuity aids ¹²⁸.

The author could find no literature comparing the attitudes and behaviours of driving and non-driving bicycle users. This is an interesting lacuna in the cycle

safety literature. The relationship between possession of a driving licence and other variables will be examined.

1.8.7 Cycle Training

Provision of cycle proficiency training has been highly variable over time and location in the UK and therefore unlikely to be uniform amongst the study participants ¹²⁹. There are no studies linking childhood cycle safety training to collision risk for adult cyclists. A small number of studies of children reach conflicting conclusions about the protective effect of training. Carlin found exposure to training was associated with increased risk of emergency department attendance for injuries sustained whilst cycling ¹³⁰. Colwell found no significant relationship between cycle training at school and self-reported crash involvement ¹²⁶. A hospital-based study of cycling collisions suggested that trained cyclists were three times less likely to be injured whilst cycling than untrained ones ⁷⁰. There is evidence that training aimed at increasing pedestrian safety may raise children's level of knowledge of safety issues but this knowledge is subject to decay ¹³¹ and actual traffic injury rates were not examined.

Despite the lack of clear evidence for an effect of cycle training on crash risk it is an important potential confounder as having undergone training even during childhood may lead to changes in riding behaviour and use of safety equipment including conspicuity aids which may persist into adulthood.

1.8.8 Experience Of Cycling

Greater experience of cycling is likely to increase the degree of skill and ability to perceive risks and threats in the road environment. This will therefore confound the outcome of interest by independently reducing the risk of crashes for those with greater experience. There is no evidence in the current literature that data on experience levels and crash risk have been collected and analysed for cyclists. Some evidence for drivers does exist showing that increasing levels of experience correlate with some factors associated with crash involvement. For example a review of the literature regarding the hazard and risk perceptions of novice vs. experienced drivers suggests that there is evidence that novice drivers are, amongst other things, slower to perceive hazards, likely to check mirrors less frequently and interpret given situations as involving lower levels of crash risk, than their more experienced counterparts ³³⁷. These effects may be confounded by age owing to the early and permanent adoption of driving in a large majority of the populations studied in high income countries meaning fewer inexperienced older drivers available for comparisons.

Unlike for driving, age may not serve as a reliable proxy for cycling experience given that cycle use may vary at different times of life. In addition it is not known whether increasing experience reaches a threshold level where no further reduction in crash risk occurs.

1.8.9 Alcohol Use

Driving a motor vehicle whilst under the influence of alcohol is associated with high-risk driving behaviour ²⁴⁹ and has been shown to raise injury risk and fatality rates in drivers ^{39 250} particularly in the young ²⁵¹⁻²⁵³.

Cycling whilst intoxicated has been found to result in significant risk of loss of control collisions amongst cyclists in The Netherlands ²⁵⁴, an increased risk of cyclist fatality in the US ²⁵⁵ and increased severity of cranio-facial injury in Japanese cyclists ²⁵⁶. Cyclists who have been involved in a crash whilst intoxicated were found to be less experienced than sober crash injured cyclists and less likely to use a helmet whilst being more likely to have a crash after dark or at weekends ²⁵⁷.

1.8.10 The Bicycle Culture At Participant Destinations And Employing Organisations

The cycling 'culture' of an organisation may influence the behaviour of cyclists commuting to and from it. This could have been a source of confounding for the effect of the primary exposure. The final report on the Nottingham Cycle Friendly Employers Project demonstrated increases in the number of commuter trips made by employees after new facilities were completed but did not investigate other factors such a safety equipment use ²⁶¹. The presence of other organisational characteristics such as having a transport strategy or facilitating bicycle user groups amongst employees may also have important effects on the propensity to cycle within the workforce although there is currently no evidence of these developments having any effect on employees cycling behaviour.

1.8.11 Socioeconomic Status Of Cyclists

The relationship between deprivation and road injury incidence is may act as a confounder of the study aims in two distinct ways. First, socio-economic status is related to their risk of injury. Deprivation is known to be a risk factor for unintentional injuries in general and traffic injury in particular ¹³²⁻¹³⁴. Second, geospatial analysis of road injuries in the UK has revealed variations in risk. In a study of traffic injury risk and deprivation, relatively deprived areas saw higher numbers of serious and slight road injuries although fatalities were not significantly greater than in less deprived areas possibly reflecting degree of urbanisation and therefore differences in the predominant road types with rural areas having greater proportions of class A roads known to be associated with fatalities ¹³⁵. The association between deprivation and road injury was not found when motor vehicle injuries were analysed separately suggesting a disproportionate risk for vulnerable road users such as pedestrians and cyclists. In similar work Jones found significant increased risk of road fatalities, and serious and slight injuries in deprived areas but did not disaggregate vulnerable road users ⁹⁶.

Cyclist casualty rates in the UK vary positively with deprivation score with "29 per 100,000 people in the most deprived 10 per cent of areas in England, compared with just 20 per 100,000 in the least deprived areas" ⁹⁴. This is not

related directly to cycle use as less deprived areas see marginally greater cycle use but relatively lower injury rates ⁹⁴.

1.8.12 Psycho-Social Correlates Of Bicycle Crash Risk

Risk-taking behaviour is an important confounding factor in road crash research and is positively correlated with childhood cycling accident rates ¹²⁶ crash involvement in Norwegian drivers ²⁴². The culture-specific and individual attitudinal determinants of risk-taking behaviour and accident risk have also received increasing attention. An extensive review of studies of safety interventions (to increase seat belt use or reduce home accidents for example), and their effects on a variety of accident outcomes, which included some control of confounding from individual, organisational and cultural factors, has been conducted ²⁴³. The review concluded that combinations of measures targeting social and cultural determinants of behaviour may be more effective that those targeted at individual attitude modification alone. A structural model is presented to illustrate the strengths of various presumed casual pathways which challenges the validity of some previously accepted strategies. For example the "KAP" model which assumes attitudinal change is followed by behaviour modification and subsequent improvement in accident outcomes is only weakly supported by current evidence. There is little doubt however, that attitudes and resulting risk-taking behaviours are directly associated with increases in accidental injury. Targeting of single risk-behaviours was likely to be more effective. The risk-behaviours governing bicycle crash risk is unlikely to be simple and evidence of the rates of traffic infringements in bicycle-car crashes demonstrates that currently, risk-taking by cyclists, if identified with such violations is unlikely to predict more than a minority of crashes ¹⁹⁹.

However defined, it is likely that confounding of the outcome of interest occurs as a result of variations in risk-taking behaviour by participant cyclists along with propensity to use conspicuity aids. Risk-taking outcome data are often restricted to self-reports ²⁴⁴. Actual risk-taking is difficult to operationalise and observe directly and is beyond the scope of the present study. Some possible methods are considered in the section on future research but validated psychometric scales have been developed which predict crash involvement although none have been developed for use with cyclists specifically.

Sensation seeking has been proffered as a stable psychological construct which is characterised by the desire to increase levels of stimulation whether by directly adopting behaviours such as drug use or deriving greater stimulation from routine daily situations such as driving. A four-item Sensation Seeking scale to measure tendency towards such "impulsivity" and risk-taking for entertainment has been developed by Zuckerman ²⁴⁶ and has been validated in a large group of adolescents in the US high-school system ²⁴⁷. The scale was found to be negatively correlated with measures of "law abiding" (r = 0.41, p< 0.01) and positively with "deviance" (r = 0.34, p<0.01) ²⁴⁷. No study has used such a scale to compare the behaviour or crash involvement of cyclists. A small study compared 42 male volunteer drivers half of whom were defined from their score on the Zuckerman scale as "sensation seekers" and half "sensation avoiders" on their performance in a driving simulation ³³⁹. As predicted by the authors "seekers" tolerated closer following positions to the simulated car in front and reported higher rates of actual prior crash involvement than "avoiders".

Normlessness has been defined as A four-item "Normlessness" scale has been used to predict risk-taking behaviour and crash involvement in drivers ¹⁰⁷. Ulleberg found Normlessness to be positively correlated to "risk taking behaviours in traffic" such as speeding and rule violations (r = 0.47, p<0.01) ²⁴⁸ and Iversen found associations with self-reported "risky driving" (r=0.26) and "accident involvement" (r = 0.13) ²⁴².

The relationships between risk-taking, sensation seeking and collision risk are far from straightforward as in high skill sports such as down-hill skiing ²⁴⁴ where "sensation seekers" are involved in fewer crashes than those reporting more cautious approaches. This may be as a result of confounding from higher levels of skill in those taking greater risks or seeking to excel in their sport.

Risk-taking behaviours amongst cyclists has received little research attention with the notable exception of the presumptive risk-taking correlate of helmet wearing. A study of adolescents in the Netherlands revealed that respondents who scored more highly on measures of sensation seeking and normlessness were more likely to report risky cycling behaviours and self-identify as risk takers in traffic whether or not they had been involved in a near-miss in the previous 2 years ¹⁰⁸.

The author found a proposed risk measurement tool which used knowledge of traffic rules and self-reported traffic law violations to estimate risk-taking in cyclists ²⁴⁵. This was not included in the current study owing to its length, the

considerable risk of bias in the methods used to validate it and because of the lack of direct evidence that traffic violations, which for the majority of data used to calculate the scale, make a significant and stable contribution to cycle crash causation.

1.8.13 Ethnicity

Little is known about the ethnicity of cyclists involved in crashes. The Taupo cycle study in New Zealand did not find any association between Maori vs. White (referent) participants' relative risk of crashes or injuries (RR of crash 0.77; 95% CI 0.48 to 1.23 and RR of injury 0.96; 95% CI 0.51 to 1.79)⁸³. A study of bicycle users in London in the past decade found that approximately 25% of those cycling self-identified as being from black and minority ethnic groups⁷.

1.8.14 Familiarity With Chosen Route

There is no literature which examines the role of familiarity with the route chosen and the risk of subsequent crash. This component has been included to explore the possibility that awareness of the risks posed may reduce crash risk for those who have travelled along the same route multiple times.

1.8.15 Road Environment, Infrastructure and Traffic Factors

The road environment in which cyclists travel and in particular elements such as traffic speed, volume and composition, may have significant effects on the likelihood of being involved in a collision crash. Given these factors the availability and quality of dedicated cycle infrastructure may influence bicycle crash risk.

The vast majority (82%) of UK cycling accidents occur in an urban setting ⁹⁴ although the proportion of fatalities occurring there is lower (65%) than for rural roads ⁸⁸. Richter reports a figure of 95.7% of cycling accidents occurring in urban areas in Germany ⁹⁵ but variations are likely to occur between different

speed roads and levels of enforcement and adherence to speed restrictions making direct comparisons between countries difficult.

Jones analysed variations in road mortality and morbidity across different counties in England and Wales using data from 1995 to 2000 ⁹⁶. After adjustment for a large number of confounding factors there remained significant differences in injury rates between different counties. The burden of road injury at county level was significantly positively associated with total length of road system, relative deprivation, per capita car ownership and average daily traffic levels. A higher proportion of roads classed as "minor" and greater total curvature of roads were associated with lower casualty rates. Nottinghamshire was located in the top ten of counties with higher than expected road casualty rates in the adjusted models. Cycling was not disaggregated in this analysis owing to the relatively small numbers of incidents involved.

Other work has examined variations in the numbers of traffic injuries by mode and by comparing urban vs rural locations ⁹⁷. This analysis suggests that cycling injury rates are likely to vary to a greater extent because of greater differences in exposure between different local authority areas and that therefore injury rates per head of population were misleading. Cyclist casualty rates have also been shown to vary with land use with retail areas giving rise to more accidents in working hours ⁹⁸ than residential areas.

Roundabouts have been shown to present raised risks of crashes for cyclists. Daniels compared before and after bicycle crash rates for junctions replaced by roundabouts by comparison to nearby unchanged junctions to account for secular trends in safety and regression to the mean from the effect of high crash rates leading to junction reconfigurations ³³⁴. The odds ratio for an injury crash at roundabouts compared to other junction types were 1.27 and 1.48 for roundabout in non-urban and urban settings respectively. A study in Denmark found a marked association between traffic volume and speed, and risk of cyclists crashes at roundabouts in Odense ⁹⁹.

A Canadian study of commuter cyclists which reported collision rates per unit of distance, found that there were 3.26 collisions per million kms travelled in the Ottawa-Carlton area with collisions more likely on the road than on segregated cycle facilities but much more likely when cycling on sidewalks ¹⁴⁴. The same authors found a much higher rate for commuter cyclists in central Toronto (82 per million kms) a much more urbanised and motorised area but similar differences depending on infrastructure type used.

A study in the US calculated a "relative danger index" for different road types and cycle lanes by calculating the proportion of reported crashes per distance travelled ³³³. Cyclists using major or minor roads with or without cycle lanes were at lower risk of crashes than those using mixed use "trails", cycling offroad or on "sidewalks" ("major" street without bike facilities = 0.66; "minor" street without bike facilities= 0.94; on-road bike routes = 0.51; on-road bike lanes =0.41 vs. "multi-use trails" = 1.39; off-road routes =4.49; "other (mostly sidewalks)" = 16.3. However these studies were of self-reported crashes and locations and the purposes for which journeys were undertaken are likely to have been very different across the location types.

Street lighting is widely assumed to reduce crash risk. A systematic review of randomised controlled trials, non-randomised controlled trials and controlled before-after studies compared the effects of new installations or improvements in street lighting on all road traffic crashes ¹⁹⁶. The pooled relative risk of the effect of street lighting compared to day-time control periods showed a reductions in risk of all road crashes (RR 0.68; 95% CI 0.57 to 0.82), injury crashes (RR 0.68; 95% CI 0.61 to 0.77 and fatal crashes (RR 0.34; 95% CI 0.17 to 0.68) although the methodological quality was rated as "generally poor".

In a study of adult cyclists injured in collisions with cars in the Czech Republic between 1995 and 2007 ¹⁹² a multivariate regression analysis compared the ratio of fatal to all severities of cycle crash under different conditions compared to daylight. There was no significant difference in odds of fatal vs. non-fatal crashes on streets with lighting after dark although areas with no street lighting were found to be significantly more likely to result in fatal injuries (odds of fatal crash under street lighting vs daylight 1.07; 95% CI 0.83 to 1.37 and no street lighting in darkness vs daylight 2.16; 95% CI 1.75 to 2.67).

In the US data for 1991 showed that the deaths of cyclists in collisions with motor vehicles occurring after dark were equally prevalent in street lighted vs. unlit areas ¹⁹⁷. In a large study of Dutch collision records the effect of street lighting in improving safety of road users was highest for cyclists and pedestrians ¹⁹⁸. Crash risk for all cyclists was increased after dark but on lit roads this increase was 81% (95% CI 61-105%) whereas for unlit roads it was 429% (95% CI 303-596%). The same study demonstrated a reduction in this beneficial effect during rain (-44%), fog (-26%) and snow (-26%).

The quality of road surface may affect the risk of bicycle crashes but is unlikely to have a significant impact on collision crashes although this has not been

studies directly. An American study failed to find a significant association between injury severity of cyclists and riding on paved vs. unpaved surfaces ¹⁴⁷. The odds ratio for bicycle crash within the previous year was found to be lower for bike paths and far higher for off-road trails by comparison to roadways in anther US study (OR 0.6 and 7.17 respectively) ¹³⁶.

There is currently no evidence regarding the contribution of actual measured traffic speeds and composition to bicycle crash risk. The available evidence from studies of infrastructure and land use cumulatively suggest that environmental factors such as road type have an important influence on the numbers of injuries that occur and that these variations may be more pronounced for cycling crashes than for other modes of travel.

Recently a more detailed study of the geographical variation in crash risks for cyclists has been proposed ¹⁰⁰. This study seeks to examine and compare the environmental characteristics of cycle crash and non-crash sites using a case-crossover design. A blinded comparison of each cyclist's crash site with two other randomly selected controls sites along the route to assess the possible influence of infrastructure, cyclist traffic volume and motor vehicle volumes and speeds. This marks a move away from a sole focus on cyclist characteristics towards a greater understanding of the effects of environmental factors such as infrastructure and traffic volumes on crash risk for cyclists.

1.8.16 History Of Previous Bicycle Crash Involvement

A history of collision crash has been found to be associated with increased risktaking behaviour in drivers ²⁴² although the self-reported life-time number of crashes used as a predictor variable was not validated against crash reports or other independent data and may have been unreliable.

There is no existing literature which explores a possible relationship between previous crash involvement and in further crash incidents. This item has been included as a potential confounder as it may have some effect on subsequent bicycle use e.g. route selection and may also influence subsequent use of conspicuity aids.

1.9 Crash Prevention

From the evidence reviewed above it is clear that reductions in cycle crashes might not only reduce mortality and morbidity but also deliver public health gains by reducing barriers to participation and maintaining or increasing existing cycling levels. Recent research initiatives such as the European Union funded "PROMISING" research Project have focussed attention on 'vulnerable road users' and the potential for interventions to reduce road injuries in these road users whilst also increasing participation ⁴¹. Cyclists form a distinct subgroup of vulnerable road users and face a unique set of threats in the road environment as a consequence of their low relative speed and direct exposure to motorised traffic ⁶².

The focus of efforts to address the problem of cycling injuries has shifted from reducing injuries by protective measures which may have the effect of reducing participation to reducing crash injury rates which can be achieved by combining safety interventions with increases in levels of participation. For example the Department for Transport in the UK now express safety targets for cyclists and pedestrians in terms of a rate of injuries and fatalities per unit of distance travelled rather than in absolute numbers of casualties. The latest government target is to "reduce by at least 50% by 2020 the rate of [killed and seriously injured] per km travelled by pedestrians and cyclists, compared with the 2004-08 average" ⁶³. An absolute reduction is hard to achieve when participation rates are rising and appears to conflict with efforts to promote cycling as a transport mode. Rate-based targets by contrast can be met by a combination of increased cycling and reduced crashes and crash prevention is therefore key.

It has been suggested that reliance on injury prevention measures such as mandatory helmet legislation have been counter-productive when increased cycle use is also a policy aim ⁶⁴. This may be because of the likelihood of 'incorrectly linking cycling and danger' ⁶⁵. The European Road Safety Observatory recently highlighted a trend away from traditional concerns such as low cycle helmet use towards the promotion of cycle crash prevention measures such as reducing urban traffic danger and increasing cycle training ⁶⁶. There may be limits to the degree to which protective equipment in the form of cycle helmets, the most studied intervention, can prevent deaths and injuries in cyclists. Hospital studies and fatality reviews tend to indicate protective effects

(e.g. a 10% to 16% reduction in fatalities if helmets had been worn) whereas population level analyses generally show small or negligible effects ⁶⁷.

The Department of Transport calculate that the cost of each fatality, serious and slight injury that occurs on British roads the costs are respectively £1 683 800, £189 200 and £14 600 (⁶⁸. A full analysis of the economic cost of cycle crashes is beyond the scope of this project. However, reductions in cycling mortality and morbidity are clearly important and may depend on crash prevention measures such as those that form the subject of the current study rather than the traditional focus on the prevention of injuries alone.

1.10 Conspicuity

It is possible that the cause of many collision crashes is the failure of one or more parties to be aware of the presence of the other until it is too late to take evasive action. As described above the danger from collision with other road occupants, primarily motor vehicles, is commonly assumed by both cyclists and non-cyclists, to be the main risk faced by cyclists in the road environment. The central factor underlying this concern is the potential for drivers to fail to see and take appropriate action to avoid, cyclists they encounter. The following sections discuss some of the factors thought to be related to the adequate and timely recognition of cyclists by motor vehicle drivers and other road users.

1.10.1 Visibility and Conspicuity

'Visibility' has been used to describe the attribute of an object's being detectable when an observer is already aware of its presence and location ¹⁶⁶. Visibility is also commonly used to refer to aspects of a setting such as weather and available light, which can affect an observer's ability to see objects within their visual field, whether or not they were aware of the presence of the object initially. 'Conspicuity' by contrast has be defined as the property of an object's 'catching the eye' or of standing out from a given background ¹⁶⁷. In this sense a conspicuous object is one that 'draws attention to itself' even when there is no awareness on the part of the viewer of the object's existence in her field of view. In what follows the term 'conspicuity' will be used to denote the property of an

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 55

object which allows it to attract the attention of an observer in a situation where they may or may not have been primed to expect and object within their visual field. 'Conspicuity aids' is used to refer to clothing or accessories that are designed to enhance this property in the context of road safety.

1.10.2 Conspicuity And Bicycle Crashes

In road safety contexts relative conspicuity may be an important factor in determining the outcome of an encounter between two road users on conflicting trajectories requiring one or more participants to act to avoid a collision. The concept of conspicuity includes considerations of potentially competing calls on the attention of road users from distractions, driving tasks and elements of the setting which serve to masks the presence of an obstruction in their path. Masking does not require that an object be obscured completely or even at all, only that the observer is not aware of its presence.

In recent work developing equipment to measure relative conspicuity in laboratory conditions, Wertheim has emphasised that conspicuity is not purely a feature of an object but a statement about its 'embedding in its background' and the degree to which it is 'masked' from an observer by this relationship ¹⁶⁷. Both Wertheim and Kooi and Toet (in ¹⁶⁸ have used the maximum visual angle at which an object can be distinguished from its background as a measure of conspicuity. They have shown this measure to be independent of viewing distance and this has implications for cyclists' conspicuity. Cyclists occupy the edges of the road and thus often first enter the driver's field of vision at the margins where visual acuity and relative awareness are both at their lowest.

Langham and Moberley ¹⁶⁹, in a review of pedestrian conspicuity research, note that conspicuity is 'situation-specific and depends on many interacting factors in the road environment'. One such factor suggested by the "masking" effect of different backgrounds as relevant to road safety is the potential effects of visual 'clutter' in modern urban environments. Some experiments testing relative conspicuity have sought to include relative visual clutter to assess its impact on the performance of observers ¹⁷⁰ ¹⁷¹. Scene complexity has been underresearched in the road accident literature related to cyclists specifically. There is evidence that for pedestrians, scene complexity is inversely proportional to recognition distances and that bio-motion arrays of conspicuity aids can improve

performance perhaps by supplying more useful visual information for processing ¹⁷². Pedestrians and cyclists share many characteristics which in the context of road safety mean that such findings are of relevance to both groups.

A further constraint on relative conspicuity is driver distraction and visual scanning or "search" behaviours. Again there is limited research evidence regarding the effects of these features on bicycle crashes directly but it has been suggested that distracting elements such as advertising hoardings, road signs and the presence of other vehicles can cause reduced attention on driving tasks ¹⁷³. Cole and Jenkins have tried to give an operational definition of conspicuity which makes clear its importance for road safety research. They define a conspicuous object as one that "will be seen with certainty within a short observation time (i.e. without search) regardless of the location of the object in relation to the line of sight." ¹⁷⁴. This is important as search behaviour is related to other factors such as expectation of seeing an object in a given context and this may vary between different road classes, times of day and in different countries depending on the prevalence of cyclists that drivers are accustomed to encounter.

Late detection of other road users leading to collisions has been highlighted as the most 'basic driver error' ¹⁷⁵. "Looked-but-failed-to-see" accidents are those in which a driver visually scans the appropriate areas of a road prior to and during a manoeuvre but does not become aware of other roads users and potential conflicts. This type of driver failure is common in vehicle-bicycle collisions ¹⁷⁶ and has been suggested as the likely cause of more than 50% of crashes in one study (^{Nakayama 1978 in 176}). In this latter study two separate "lookedbut-failed-to-see" causes for crashes were distinguished: failure "at the perceptual stage" occurs when the driver does not perceive the other road user at all. Failure "at the processing stage" occurs when the driver is able to detect the other road user but no appropriate action is initiated in time to avoid a collision. The conspicuity of cyclists may have relevance for both types of "looked-but-failed-to-see" mechanisms. It has been suggested that bicycles and other two-wheeled vehicles have atypical properties e.g. size and speed compared to the majority of traffic ¹⁷⁷. Summala has suggested that this failure is linked to a visual scanning strategy that filters out infrequently encountered objects ¹⁷⁸. This author suggests that reducing motor vehicle speeds would increase the available scan time and therefore make detection of cyclists more likely despite their atypicality. Increasing the conspicuity of cyclists and reducing the time taken in detection and recognition of cyclists could have a similar effect

on crash risk to reductions in vehicle speeds and may be easier to achieve in the short term. In addition it seems likely that the low relative speed of cyclists should allow drivers further time to avoid many collisions once they become aware of a cyclist's presence further increasing the potential benefits of conspicuity aids.

Another aspect of the effect of cyclists' conspicuity in traffic is related to the motivations and behaviours of drivers. Fuller has characterised driver behaviour as primarily characterised by 'threat avoidance' ¹⁷⁹. If true this suggests that cyclists and pedestrians, who pose no danger to motor vehicle drivers may need to take extra measures to be noticed given that they pose little risk to vehicle occupants. Conspicuity aids do not raise the 'threat' level but may compensate for its relative absence. Other authors have also high-lighted the low level of threat presented by cyclists to vehicle drivers as a reason for lower visual detection success ¹⁷⁸.

Such threat avoidance may explain drivers' reactions to cyclists compared to other motor vehicles. Herslund and Jorgensen ¹⁷⁷ used a method called "gap acceptance" to study driver's behaviour when entering a roundabout. Gap acceptance is defined as the median time-gap between passing vehicles (or from arriving at a stop line) and an estimated potential collision point that is judged acceptable to 50% of observed drivers. 'Acceptance' of the gap is defined as the driver in fact completing the planned manoeuvre and entering a traffic flow. The study found that drivers accepted shorter gaps (3.33 secs; SD 0.14) before an approaching bicycle than before a car (4.26 secs; SD 0.17). This suggests that drivers estimate bicycles to present less of a threat or under estimated their speed relative to motor vehicles and could result in increased risk of collision with cyclists because of errors in these judgments. The author could find no published gap acceptance studies which examined the effect of conspicuity aids worn by cyclists on drivers waiting to make a manoeuvre which would result in a potential conflict.

Another factor related to conspicuity may be partial restrictions on the field of view of drivers in some vehicles and situations. The very size and design of some motor vehicles may make detection of cyclists in the immediate vicinity unreliable owing to the placement of bulkheads and from different windscreen shapes. In the case of large vehicles such as buses and Heavy Goods Vehicles it is the proximity of cyclists to large vehicles that reduces driver's awareness. Where the line of sight is totally obscured there can be no role for conspicuity

enhancement. However conspicuous cyclists may maximise the potential to be seen immediately before and after entering the driver's blind spot. As stated above, cyclists tend to occupy the edges of roads which puts them at the periphery of drivers' visual fields and in areas with reduced sight lines in many conventional vehicles. Other factors such as complex junctions and multiple lane roads could have the effect of decreasing the available time that a driver has to detect a cyclist which may make relatively high conspicuity more valuable in reducing crashes.

There is evidence that drivers often report not being aware of cyclists they collide with. An in-depth study of bicycle–car accidents reported that only 51% of car drivers had noticed the cyclist prior to the collision ¹²⁷. Detection of cyclists seems particularly poor when motor vehicles are pulling alongside the cyclist or approaching them from behind ^{180 95 140}. Given that the cyclist is within the visual field of the driver in such configurations, their lack of conspicuity is likely to be a factor.

A study of coroner's records for fatal cycling accidents in London found that in collisions resulting from a motorist overtaking a cyclist 44% of drivers were unaware of the presence of the cyclist prior to the collision ¹²⁵. This was the commonest crash configuration leading to fatalities. The study also high lights the over-representation of heavy goods vehicles in collision where cyclists are killed. Of the 108 vehicles involved 45 were large buses or lorries a greater proportion than their relative contribution to traffic on the roads. Morgan has repeated the analysis of fatal collisions on more recent data for cyclists and the threat to cyclists from large vehicles especially articulated heavy goods vehicles remains clear ¹⁶².

An similar study in London found that lorries were up to 30 times more likely to cause the death of a cyclist than cars and 5 times more likely than buses ¹⁵¹. A detailed study of the factors involved in 'restricted view' accidents involving pedestrians and cyclists with large goods vehicles has been reported by the German Federal Highways Research Institute ¹⁸¹. No consideration was given to the relative conspicuity of vulnerable road users in this work and so the potential for conspicuity aids to increase safety in these types of encounters is not well understood.

Though most of these studies necessarily rely on self-reports from drivers themselves, they appear to indicate that other road users are not always aware of the presence of cyclists prior to colliding with them. The role of conspicuity

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 59

aids has not been examined in the studies reported here but could clearly have an impact on such crashes by increasing the chance that cyclists are detected.

1.10.3 Stopping, Detection And Recognition Distances

The total time taken to stop a moving vehicle is commonly thought of as a combination of the delays caused by the operator's perceptual, cognitive and motor responses and the mechanical properties of the vehicle and its environment ¹⁸². Increased conspicuity may be important in allowing extra time for the chain of events that is involved in completing an evasive or braking manoeuvre to be completed, all other factors such as speed being equal. In one study the presence of a dark clad pedestrian was not detected by drivers until two-thirds of the distance needed to stop a car at 55mph has already been traversed leaving little time to alter trajectory, reduce speed or stop safely ¹⁸³.

A strong relationship between vehicle speed and injury severity has been demonstrated in bicycle-motor vehicle crashes with fatalities over 3 times as likely at an impact speed of >80.5 kilometres per hour compared to <50 kilometres per hour (¹⁸⁴ and a similar relationship between impact speed and mortality has been described in pedestrian-car collisions ¹⁸⁵. It is possible that increasing cyclists' conspicuity may reduce impact speeds so that even where a collision still occurs, injury severity may be reduced.

The slow relative low speed of bicycles compared to motorised traffic will often necessitate braking or steering adjustments by drivers seeking to overtake safely. The high rates of collisions from the rear of cyclists suggests that more conspicuous cyclists may be easier to avoid by increasing the distance at which drivers becomes aware of them and can begin to plan a safe overtaking or other evasion manoeuvre.

1.10.4 Light Levels And Conspicuity

The following section discusses the evidence regarding the effect of varying light levels, street lighting and darkness on road crash risk. There is little direct evaluation of the effect of light levels on crash risk for cyclists as a distinct group.

Factors associated with increased risks for pedestrians are assumed to be applicable to cyclists and are therefore included.

A number of studies have attempted to demonstrate the effect of darkness on road crash incidence. Plainis et al ¹⁸⁶ analysed all road collisions in the UK for the period 1995-2004 and calculated the ratio of fatal collisions to all collisions. The rate of fatal crashes per 100 crashes after dark was 2.1 compared to 1.1 in daylight in the UK. The authors suggest that the longer reaction times caused by reduced human visual efficiency in low light conditions, was likely to be an important factor in many of the collisions.

Other attempts have been made to assess the contribution of light levels to crash incidence. A study of crash fatality rates on the US roads in the weeks before and after daylight saving time clock changes was made during the years 1987 to 1991. The relative increase in risk posed by the seasonal variation in light levels and hour by hour changes in the proportion of darkness, twilight and daylight, were calculated. Weekly fatality rates were presented for vehicle occupants and pedestrians separately ¹⁸⁷. Changes towards lower light levels were associated with increased crash risk regardless of whether from an abrupt clock change or from natural seasonal progression. The effect was strongest for pedestrians. It was estimated that the transition from light to twilight led to a 326% increase in fatal pedestrian accidents compared to a 15% increase for vehicle occupants (the figures from the transition from twilight to darkness were 23% and 2% respectively).

The finding of a vulnerability effect for pedestrians is replicated in work using US traffic data by Sullivan and Flannagan ¹⁸⁸. The study analysed a limited set of accident scenarios and the effect of lighting conditions, again using the transition to and from daylight saving time as a natural experimental grouping variable. They found a fivefold difference in fatality risk for pedestrians in darkness versus daylight and that a step change occurred during the abrupt transition caused by the clock changes. A similar effect was measured in the UK during adjustment of the standard clock time ¹⁸⁹ and again pedestrian casualty numbers were affected to a greater extent than other road user groups.

Some studies have focussed on the effects of ambient light on bicycle crashes specifically. In an analysis of bicycle accidents in six US states in 1995 Tan found that 'motorist overtaking – failed to detect accidents' comprised only 1.3% of all bicycle accidents but 60% occurred at low-light levels or darkness and more than half resulted in the cyclists being killed or seriously injured ¹⁹⁰. Use of

conspicuity enhancing equipment was not reported in this study. In the UK in 2006 28% of bicycle fatalities occurred during twilight or darkness against a EU-19 average of 30.8% ⁸⁸. The authors note that it is "remarkable that countries that have more darkness like Sweden and Finland, tend to have less (sic) fatalities in darkness". This observation is not underpinned by exposure data and other significant differences across jurisdictions could furnish partial explanations. These could include the role of expectation of drivers of encountering cyclists in countries with differing levels of bicycle use, differences infrastructure or variations in the use of conspicuity aids or lights by cyclists. In Germany Richter et al ⁹⁵ found that 17.5% of cycling collisions occurred during dawn, dusk or at night as recorded in a crash registry by specialist accident investigators (1985-1993). In a study of bicycle fatalities in Ontario (Canada) Rowe & Rowe found that 15% occurred between "midnight and 8am" although incidents are not further broken down by light levels or the presence of street lighting and no details of the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists are reported ¹⁴⁵.

Blomberg, writing in the 1980s, cited data from the US National Highway Traffic Safety Administration's Fatal Accident Reporting System showing a 27% increase in fatal night-time cycling crashes between 1975 and 1982 from 259 to 329 ¹⁶⁶. US Data for 1991 showed that 35.2% of deaths of cyclists in collisions with motor vehicles occurred after dark with a further 5.5% classified as occurring during twilight and 4.6% at dusk ¹³⁶. In a cohort of cyclists attending a Level 1 trauma centre in Boston, US it was found that 12.3% of accidents occurred between the hours of 20:00 and 08:00 ¹⁴⁸. As with the Ontarian study above, it was not reported how these time categories correlated with twilight or darkness.

Despite the lower numbers of cycling crashes after dark (consistent with lower exposures), a higher proportion of night time crashes result in severe or fatal injury. In the US in 1991, 40.7% of cyclist fatalities occurred in twilight or darkness but only 12.5% of cyclists reported ever travelling by bicycle after dark ¹¹³.

In a study of fatal cycle accidents reported to the police occurring in 1981-1984 in Victoria, Australia Hoque found that 23% of fatalities occurred "at night" (figures for twilight are not reported). Of these, 90% were the result of a motor vehicle hitting a cyclist from behind compared to 40% in daylight suggesting that they were unaware of the cyclist's presence until it was too late for them to take evasive action ¹⁴⁰. All of these accidents occurred on arterial roads with

higher speed restrictions and so may not be generalisable to cycle crashes in urban areas with lower speed limits and vehicle speeds. Fatality risk has been shown to rise four-fold for accidents occurring after dark compared to daylight in the Netherlands (¹⁵⁰ in ¹⁹¹). A study of cyclist deaths in Ontario (Canada) found that 43% of adult fatalities were caused by drivers' failure to detect the cyclist and this type of error was more common 'during times of sub-optimal lighting' ¹⁴⁵ p. 48.

In the UK between 1990 and 1999 Stone and Broughton report that the highest fatality rate (i.e. fatalities as a proportion of all bicycle crashes) occurred from 9pm to midnight (7.4%) and midnight to 6am (7.8%) compared to daytime percentages of between 3.3% and 6.5% ⁷⁷. They also report a higher fatality rate associated with a motor vehicle impacting the rear of the cyclist (17% of all fatalities and 21% of those occurring after dark) which echoes the findings from the US and Germany and suggests a plausible role for low conspicuity in bicycle collision crashes at least in reduced light conditions.

1.10.5 Weather Conditions And Conspicuity

Weather conditions could have a considerable effect on conspicuity of vulnerable road users and so may affect collision crash rates. Poor weather reduces the ambient light. Precipitation may also reduce direct visibility for motor vehicle drivers by, for example, obscuring the view through vehicle windscreens especially towards the peripheries of windscreens and through side windows. A study of cycling crashes involving collisions with a motor vehicle in the Czech Republic between 1995 and 2007 found an odds ratio of 1.4 (95% CI 1.08 – 1.8) for fatal compared to non-fatal collisions in daytime with "poor visibility" vs. "good visibility" ¹⁹². Weather conditions have been shown to affect the numbers of cycle commuters in a population of students studied in Melbourne Australia¹⁹³. This shows that poor weather could confound associations with crash risk without adjustment by exposure data. Reductions in cycling were less pronounced for commuter trips than discretionary ones. Conspicuity studies have most often been performed in "fair weather conditions" e.g. 194 195. Although a detailed analysis of contributory factors recorded by police for cycle crashes in the UK found that the weather did not play a significant role ¹⁵⁸ no studies account for confounding of the relationship between weather conditions and crash risk arising from changes in the numbers cycling in poor conditions.

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 6

1.10.6 Crashes In Daylight

Despite the obvious plausibility of darkness as a causal factor in crashes involving vulnerable road users such as cyclists the great majority of crashes occur in daylight.

In Queensland, Australia 80.4% of bicycle accidents analysed in one study occurred in daylight ¹⁹⁹. In the UK for the years 1990-1999 the proportion of bicycle crashes occurring in daylight was 71.8% ⁷⁷. The authors note that this was the proportion derived from crash times recorded by Police officers attending the crash scene. The figure estimated when using a definition of darkness and twilight calculated from the angle of the sun to the horizon at the specific location and time of the crash suggested that the true proportion was 81.6% ⁷⁷. A detailed analysis of recent data for the UK ¹⁵⁸ found a similar proportion of daytime crashes with 78% of 'killed and seriously injured' crashes occurring in daylight. The lack of cycling exposure data for different times of the day and night makes comparison of the differences in crash rates difficult to interpret. The higher proportion of crashes occurring in daylight probably reflects the far greater numbers of cyclists using the roads at these times. The Taupo study of cyclists at a cycling event conducted in New Zealand, found that less than 10% of cycling was undertaken after dark and only 56% of responders claimed ever to cycle after dark⁸³. Leisure and occasional cyclists may be overrepresented in this sample. Nonetheless, the fact that such large numbers of crashes occur in daylight conditions in a variety of settings suggests that conspicuity aids, primarily fluorescent materials, may have a role in preventing such collisions if not widely used in these conditions.

1.11 Interventions To Enhance Conspicuity

There are two potential strategies for a cyclist to enhance their conspicuity: "active" lighting (Light Emitting Diode or conventional bulb lights mounted on the bicycle or person) and "passive" treatments (fluorescent and retro-reflective materials) which utilize available light in different ways. The following discussion concerns the performance of passive conspicuity aids. Many items of clothing and other equipment can be purchased which are constructed from conspicuity enhancing materials colloquially referred to as "Hi-Viz". Such materials fall into two groups: 'fluorescent' and 'retro-reflective'.

1.11.1 Fluorescent Materials

Fluorescent materials reflect some ultraviolet light at a longer wavelength making it visible to the human eye ²⁰⁰. These materials are suitable for use in daylight when ultraviolet light is available. They aid human perception by increasing the contrast between the treated object and its background. This effect is a relative one and is therefore may be more pronounced as light levels fall ²⁰¹.

Fluorescent materials are less effective under certain types of artificial light with low ultraviolet output. Fluorescent materials may have little if any effect under sodium street lighting although the author could find no information on the ultraviolet output of street lighting sources used in the UK or road safety literature reporting the performance of fluorescent materials in such circumstances. One study found increased observer detection of pedestrians in a simulated "work zone" illuminated by "two 1000 watt metal halide" gantry mounted lights ¹⁸³. However this study tested combination garments including retro-reflective materials and so cannot be assumed to represent an effect from fluorescent materials used in isolation as in many cycling garments. Adding an ultra violet component to vehicle head-light output has been proposed but remains untested and would doubtless be controversial and potentially expensive ¹⁷⁵. The author could find no literature reporting the ultraviolet output of common motor vehicle lighting systems.

1.11.2 Retro-Reflective Materials

Retro-reflective materials are engineered to reflect available light backwards in the direction of its source and reduce scatter and thereby increase the apparent brightness of a treated object. They are designed to work in darkness in the presence of a source of artificial light e.g. motor vehicle headlights. The performance of these materials results in enhanced conspicuity against the background. Rumar has estimated that the degree of contrast to a dark

background achieved by such materials is "several hundred times" that of white cloth ¹⁷⁵.

1.11.3 Performance of Conspicuity Aids

Fluorescent and retro-reflective materials are widely used in various contexts to highlight objects and people and reduce accidents. Their use by cyclists has been advocated by road safety campaigners and is recommended in the Highway Code ²⁰². Information on the standards governing the performance of conspicuity aids on sale to the public is included in Appendix 12.

The following section examines the evidence for the performance of passive conspicuity aids including pedestrian and cyclist garments and equipment. Conspicuity aids have been tested by measuring their effects in two ways. Measurements are made of the distance at which an observer approaching a treated target, reports becoming aware of the presence of the target in an unknown location within their visual field. This is termed the "detection" distance. Measurements can also be made of the distance from which an observer reports that they can distinguish the nature of a target. This is termed the "recognition" distance. Forbes argues that neither criterion should be neglected in the context of road safety ²⁰³. This is because of the need for road users to react appropriately to an object after it has been detected and that this may rely on their correctly identifying an object in order to infer other relevant properties such as its size and likely relative speed. This is particularly important in the case of cyclists of small size where information to interpret speed from parallax effects (changes is apparent size owing to motion towards or away from the observer) are lacking.

Conspicuity aids have frequently been tested using both the detection and recognition reports of human observers. Bloom developed and used a 'Conspicuity Index' to undertake comparative studies of objects with differing conspicuity enhancing properties ²⁰⁴. The index was calculated by taking the square root of the product of the detection and recognition distances. These distances were measured under variable conditions and for a variety of treatments of both pedestrian and cyclist subjects using the index to provide a comparison scale. The index has not been universally adopted however and

many studies report their findings for detection and recognition separately making direct comparisons of results difficult ⁹.

Blomberg conducted experiments to test the performance of conspicuity aids for pedestrian and bicycle collision scenarios ²⁰⁰. The bicycle crash scenario was described as 'Motorist overtaking – bicyclist not observed'. The experiments were conducted on a straight stretch of non-public roadway at night under controlled conditions. The "baseline" pedestrian treatment was a figure wearing a large white t-shirt over their outer clothing and walking on the spot. The "baseline" cyclist was riding a stationary bicycle supported on a frame therefore preventing relative motion but preserving the pedalling action and height relative to the roadway. The bicycle was fitted with the array of reflectors mandated by US Consumer Product Safety Commission (Front and Rear Reflectors and Spoke Reflectors which appear to conform broadly to standard reflector array mandated for UK bicycles ²⁰²).

The increase in detection distance achieved for a pedestrian wearing a fluorescent and reflective jogging vest by comparison to the baseline treatment was 334% from 68 metres to 227 metres (standard deviation 35 and 93 metres respectively). The increase in detection distance achieved for a cyclist equipped with a "fanny bumper" (a 30cm fluorescent triangle with a retro-reflective border) was only 15% from 257 metres to 292 metres (standard deviation 84 and 102 respectively). All of these distances comfortably exceed the estimated stopping distance of a motorcar travelling at 70 miles per hour of 96 metres ¹⁶⁶.

The "baseline pedestrian" condition could be considered as comparable to a cyclist not employing the required minimum array of fixed reflectors. Despite wearing a large white t-shirt, the pedestrian targets were often not recognised sufficiently early to ensure their safety at night. It is clear that some conspicuity aids tested in this study delivered considerable enhancement of the conspicuity of the subjects sufficient in theory, to increase their safety. The findings for pedestrians are broadly applicable to cyclists although the potential for conflict with traffic is clearly greater for cyclists.

Other work has demonstrated an increase in recognition distance obtained by using conspicuity aids by comparison to a "black clothing" baseline treatment. Wood examined the effect of black, white and retro-reflective outlining on clothing by recording the proportions of drivers of different ages who able to recognize pedestrians at night in a simulated road environment averaged over a number of separate circuits of a test track ²⁰⁵. The pedestrians in the black

clothing were recognised by between 0% and 10% of all drivers using low-beam headlights. The highest proportion of correct identifications was 50% for the younger drivers when using high-beam headlights. The most effective material in this study was white clothing (a large white lab coat of "68% reflectance" compared to 2% for the black clothing) which outperformed the retro-reflective materials in all comparisons. When retro-reflective materials were arranged in a "bio-motion" pattern around the arms and legs they gave a "100%" detection rate similar to the white clothing. Older drivers performed less well than younger ones on all comparisons. Fluorescent materials were not included in this study.

Kwan and Mapstone's conducted a systematic review of pedestrian and cyclist conspicuity enhancement ⁹. They found 42 randomised or controlled before and after trials that reported a positive effect of conspicuity aid use on driver detection and recognition distances and times under a variety of test conditions. Different amounts and types of fluorescent and non-fluorescent materials were compared and the outcomes used were driver reaction times, detection and recognition distances of the above. The heterogeneity of the studies found prevented pooling of outcomes and makes interpretation of the study results difficult.

The authors concluded that there was considerable laboratory and driving simulation evidence for increased detection and recognition distances for most of the wide variety of conspicuity aids tested. In daylight, fluorescent colours outperformed non-fluorescent ones. For example in Turner's 1997 study of pedestrians in daylight (²⁰⁶ in ²⁰⁷) the worst performing fluorescent colours still outperformed the best non-fluorescent ones (detection distance 242ms vs. 214ms) in daylight.

A further factor complicating interpretation is the use of "bio-motion" configurations. For example Balk has demonstrated a dramatic improvement in conspicuity performance from retro-reflective attachments to accent the normal motion of arms and legs ²⁰⁸. A pedestrian walking with retro-reflective ankle and wrist conspicuity aids was detected at a mean distance of 99.5ms compared to 40.2 ms when standing still. These findings echo reported by Sayers and Wood discussed above and suggest that bio-motion is an independent predictor of increased conspicuity in such circumstances.

As discussed above the conspicuity of an object is most correctly defined in relation to its background ¹⁶⁷. Some studies of conspicuity aids have examined the effect of background on material performance. Wood above found that

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 68

placing a light behind the pedestrian target to create glare reduced the performance of all the treatments ²⁰⁵. The Sayer study of pedestrian conspicuity in "work zones" discussed above found that detection distances where increased when the pedestrian was in the illuminated work area rather than opposite it suggesting an interaction with the scene illumination possibly drawing attention away from the pedestrian situated outside it ¹⁸³. This finding clearly has possible implications for the performance of conspicuity aids in busy illuminated urban road environments where "competition" from illuminated signs and even day-time running lights on motorbikes and some cars are increasingly employed. Driver age was also found to be inversely related to detection distances which could have increasing consequences for cyclists conspicuity given the increasing average age of the driving population.

A study of conspicuity aids in daylight ¹⁷² and a similar study by the same authors in twilight conditions ²⁰⁹ suggest that conspicuity aids perform well in terms of increased detection distances under these conditions. Background complexity and driver age were still significant effect modifiers reducing the effect of the conspicuity aids. Older drivers detected pedestrians at a mean of 253 metres compared to 327 metres for younger participants.

Recently published research for the Department of Transport by TRL Ltd, a contract research organisation specialising in transport studies, suggests that combination conspicuity garments conforming to EU471 (Class 3 i.e. long-sleeved with two reflective bands on the arms and three on the trunk) do give considerable increases in detection distances even under conditions of "attention conspicuity" i.e. where test observers were not primed to expect objects in the test roadway.

Many studies do not attempt to reduce the bias arising from test subject expectations in this way. Helman and Palmer note that "almost all" previous research into conspicuity involved test subjects being given "search instructions" which inevitably improved their performance compared to "real driving conditions" where attention and expectation are not primed in this way ²¹⁰. Overall previous work demonstrates an increase in both recognition and detection distances and shows that conspicuity aids are effective in many simulated settings.

1.11.4 Conspicuity Aid Recommendations And Standards

Low-cost conspicuity enhancing accessories are readily available. Some are designed specifically for cyclists but many are designed for industrial, construction industry and emergency service use. The UK Highway code recommends the use of "light-coloured or fluorescent" clothing in daylight and "reflective" clothing in darkness. In the UK front and rear lights should be used after dark (Road Vehicles Lighting Regulations 1989 ²⁰²). Red rear reflectors and orange pedal reflectors must be fitted to all bikes sold in the UK which were manufactured after the 1st of October 1985 ²⁰².

There are three sets of safety standards for different types of Personal Protective Equipment designed to increase the conspicuity of the wearer that are directly applicable to or could be adopted by cyclists. BS EN 1150:1999 defines standards for "Visibility" clothing for non-professional use such as for sport and leisure use and sets standards for the performance of materials. BS EN 471 specifies definitions and testing regimes for "High Visibility Warning" clothing for workplace use. The standard includes specifications for the minimum total area of materials used, their combination and arrangement and factors such a durability and performance in poor weather. A third category of standards BS EN 13356:2001 specifies standards for size and material properties for "visibility accessories for non-professional use" such a bicycle reflectors etc. There is no observational research examining the different patterns of use of non-mandatory conspicuity aids by cyclists or pedestrians.

1.12 Current Use of Conspicuity Aids By Cyclists

There are few published studies which report current use of fluorescent or retroreflective clothing by cyclists. The following section examines the evidence regarding the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists.

A study conducted in Oxford, UK collected data by the roadside for cyclists travelling past a single location in the period from dusk to darkness in a busy city centre location with street-lighting. ²¹¹. Of 392 cyclists observed only 9.9% were found to be using "high visibility clothing" and that this was significantly more likely amongst cyclists using a helmet than not (27.9% vs. 3.5%; p<0.01).

34.9% of cyclists observed were using no lights or conspicuity aids at all. The city of Oxford is known to have an above-average cycling modal share and therefore may not be representative of the picture for cyclists in other urban areas. The study was completed on a single day and in the absence of comparable studies is not known if the choice of day or site was representative of cycling at other times and in other locations.

An observational study of cyclists' and pedestrians' conspicuity was carried out in daylight hours in Edmonton, Canada in 2004 ²¹². A four category scale from "invisible" to "easy to see" under the prevailing environmental conditions was developed and validated as part of the study. There were 273 observations of cyclists for analysis. Less than 5% of the cyclists were judged to be in the highest category of conspicuity. The main colour of clothing and helmet is recorded rather than fluorescence. Less than 20% of cyclists were recorded as using any orange, red, yellow or white colours on their trunk or helmet and less than 1% were recorded as having "reflective strips" on their trunk by either observer.

The inter-observer agreement (assessed using Kappa) for garment and helmet colouring appeared to be good (e.g. major trunk colour kappa 0.88 (0.79–0.97)). Agreement over the visibility assessment scale was only "fair" (kappa = 0.37; 95% CI 0.29 - 0.45). The authors assessed the relationship between recorded garment colour and subjective visibility rating using ordered (sic) logistic regression. Cyclists wearing orange red or yellow colours on their trunk were more likely to be rated higher on the visibility scale than those wearing either white or dark colours (adjusted odds ratio for orange, red or yellow 1.9 (95% CI 0.8–4.6) and white 1.3 (95% CI 0.7–2.7). This study suggests that bright garment colour was a good predictor of a higher visibility rating compared to darker colours. There was a considerable risk of bias as the same observers recorded colour and visibility ratings. Blinding to the study hypothesis was not reported.

In the UK a recent addition to the literature has come in the form of a retrospective analysis of police injury crash records over a 13 year period from 1994 to 2007. The study is the first to the 'contributory factors' recorded by police officers attending injury crash scenes. This data has only been collected nationally from 2005 and rigorous assessment of it validity is lacking ¹⁵⁸. Contributory factors "represent [the investigating officer's] view of the key factors leading to the collisions" (p 3) and are therefore potentially partial and

subjective. The results reported regarding cyclists' conspicuity are given in the tables 3 and 4.

Contributory Factor	Severity of Cyclists' Injuries			
	Killed	Serious	Slight	
"cyclist wearing dark clothing at night"	10%	5%	4%	
"cyclist not displaying lights at night or in poor visibility"	5%	4% 3%		

Table 3 Contributory Factors in Bicycle Crashes Stratified By Severity

Table 4 Contributory Factors in Bicycle Crashes Stratified By Age

Contributory Factor	Age Group					
	0-15	16-24	25-39	40-54	55-99	
"cyclist wearing dark clothing at night"	2%	9%	6%	9%	4%	
"cyclist not displaying lights at night or in poor visibility"*	2%	8%	4%	6%	3%	

The presence of street lighting was associated with increased attribution of the contributory factors "dark clothing" and "failure to display lights" to cyclists (28% and 19% vs 10% and 8% respectively) suggesting that some cyclists rely on street-lighting and assume they are detectable to other road users. The use of conspicuity aids by cyclists is not recorded by police. It is assumed that "dark clothing" excludes the use of conspicuity aids.

1.13 The Effect Of Conspicuity Aid Use On Road Crash Risk

Despite randomised controlled trial evidence that conspicuity aids can increase the detection and recognition distances for observers of cyclists and pedestrians in road environments, the effect of their use on the risk of traffic collisions involving pedestrians or cyclists has not been tested with a rigorous randomised intervention trial ⁹ (updated 2009).
There is some observational study evidence regarding the use and efficacy of conspicuity aids by cyclists. In a recent study from New Zealand researchers examined the relationship between self-reported injury crash and fluorescent clothing use by collecting data from volunteers using a web-based questionnaire in a cohort of cyclists registered for a 100 kilometre leisure ride around lake Taupo⁸³. The study found that 29.8% of respondents reported always wearing fluorescent colours when riding. The adjusted incident rate ratio for all crashes if respondents recorded that they "always wear fluorescent colours" was 0.73 (95% CI 0.57 to 0.93). The incidence rate ratios for all crashes for "always use a front light [or back light] after dark" "yes" vs. "no" were 0.83 (95% CI 0.55 to 1.27) and 1.59 (95% CI 1.09 to 2.31) respectively. The results suggest that the adjusted incident rate ratio of having a crash resulting in any days off work (interpreted as a more severe incident than "all crashes") was 8.33 (95% CI 2.6 to 26.7) for never wearing fluorescent clothing vs. always wearing them. Lower, but still significant rate ratios, were found for crashes resulting in inability to complete daily activities for >24 hours using the same exposure comparisons.

Retro-reflective materials were not found to be linked to reduced crash involvement in this study. Whether crashes involved other road users or were the result of a loss of control was not reported. It is therefore impossible to assess to what extent the findings are actually attributable to the protective effect of fluorescent colours or other conspicuity measures and not merely evidence of confounding from other crash predictors such as cautious riding style by those choosing fluorescent garments to increase their conspicuity.

There is a considerable risk of bias in the study owing to attrition at various stages of the recruitment and data collection process. The survey was webbased and therefore excluded those without email addresses (>50%). Of those approached 1612 (29%) refused to take part and a further 1519 (27%) failed to complete the study instrument having started it possibly owing to its length and complexity.

The authors acknowledge the possibility of residual confounding from risky behaviour and reduced propensity to use conspicuous attire. The study did attempt to control for confounding from this source by calculating a measure of average speed of travel. They found that higher average speeds were associated with reduction in injuries (incidence rate ratio 0.20; 95% CI 0.06 to 0.67) but not crashes (incidence rate ratio 0.81 (064 to 1.04) but lower speeds were associated with greater numbers of crashes and injuries (incidence rate ratios

2.09; 95% CI 1.71 to 2.55) and 3.52; 95% CI 1.30 to 9.48) respectively). Greater speed may be associated with greater skill although there was no apparent dose response from greater levels of experience.

Further evidence for a protective effect of conspicuity aids for vulnerable road users has been reported. A large population level case-control study of motorcyclists was undertaken in New Zealand which attempted to measure the direct effect of conspicuity aid use on crash risk ²¹³. The study was able to demonstrate a protective effect; multivariate-adjusted odds ratio of motorcycle injury crash when wearing any item of reflective or fluorescent clothing was 0.63 (95% CI 0.42 to 0.94). The authors go on to estimate a population attributable risk of 33% for motorcycle injury from not using conspicuity aids assuming complete adoption of the exposure and no confounding of the main outcome. The authors managed to follow-up a large proportion of the motorcyclists involved in crashes, recruited suitable community controls and considered a range of confounders thought to be important. This study provided a model for how such research could be conducted in cyclists.

It was not reported in the original paper whether motorcycle drivers had been involved in collisions or single-vehicle crashes i.e. where there could be no plausible protective role for conspicuity aids. The authors did subsequently report that they had recorded collision crash involvement but had included all configurations in the analysis they published ²¹⁴. They report that "over 70%" of crashes were multi-vehicle and that subgroup analyses showed "very similar" findings. However the inclusion of these cases is difficult to justify given that relative conspicuity is irrelevant to these types of crashes. It is likely that this apparent effect is evidence of uncontrolled confounding from lower levels of risk-taking behaviour by conspicuity aid users.

No randomised studies were indentified which attempted to demonstrate any association between conspicuity aids use and crash risk for cyclists or pedestrians. Kwan and Mapstone caution that the measurable benefits of conspicuity aid use, though unambiguous, may not translate into reductions in crashes and injuries in real traffic situations. Many other factors could reduce the protective effect below its theoretical potential such as how, when and where such aids are used. Further influential factors, such as the interrelation of conspicuity aid performance and the degree of "field dependence" i.e. the variable ability of an observer to extract relevant information about an object against a given background, have not been adequately investigated in the case

of motorcycles ²¹⁵ and may be of relevance to cyclists. Some interactions between conspicuity aid performance and factors such as observer age have been studied ^{205 216}. These studies suggest that the protective effect of conspicuity aids may depend to an unknown extent, on various characteristics of the driving population and environmental conditions such a scene complexity in which cyclists and motor-vehicles interact.

1.14 Conclusion

There is a complex and fragmentary literature associated with bicycle crashes. Concern over the risk of collisions with motor vehicles is one of the main barriers to increased participation and reduces participation in highly motorised countries which in turn increases the risk to individual cyclists.

There is little literature which examines the likely causes and the possible effects of safety interventions to reduce risks. The role of relative conspicuity and conspicuity enhancement in crash aetiology and prevention is not well understood. Crashes after dark are more severe but less frequent and the injury rate is greater than that for other road users groups except pedestrians and motorcyclists. There is no reliable exposure data to better quantify the relative risk of collision crashes at different times, locations or estimate the effects of seasonal variations in light levels or weather conditions.

Collision crashes appear to cause greater injury than single-vehicle crashes. Fatal crashes are almost always the result of collisions with motor vehicles in high-income countries. Motor vehicle drivers are often unaware of the presence of the cyclists they collide with suggesting a potential role for increased conspicuity in crash prevention.

An actual reduction in crash risk for cyclists using conspicuity aids has not been demonstrated although other studies provide evidence that such an effect could exist. The current study will use a matched case-control design and self-reported data from cyclists (validated by independent observation) to estimate the effect of the use of any combination of fluorescent or retro-reflective conspicuity enhancing materials on the risk of collision crash for urban and suburban utility cycling in a UK city.

2. Methodology Chapter

The following chapter gives a detailed description of the case-control method used in this study, the rationale for using such as design to study bicycle collision crashes and the techniques employed to reduce errors, biases and improve validity. Some elements of the design are novel owing to the lack of previous comparable research into bicycle crashes at the population level and threats to external validity and the likelihood of residual confounding seen in previous research.

2.1 Introduction

The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between the use of conspicuity aids by adult commuter and utility cyclists and their risk of being involved in a collision resulting in an injury requiring hospital assessment and/or treatment. Eligible incidents are defined as those reported by participants as involving a collision with another road user or resulting from a manoeuvre to evade such a collision. This inclusion criterion is adopted to ensure that only incidents where the cyclist's relative conspicuity to another road user could have been a contributory factor in causing the crash.

This chapter begins with a description of the recruitment methods, a discussion of sources of bias and how the design was adapted to minimise these and finally introduces and describes the data collected and the methods of analysis employed to understand it.

2.2 Study Design And Rationale

The following section examines the reasons for choosing a case-control design to understand the effect of conspicuity aids on bicycle crash risk and how the setting, participants, variables, sample size and statistical methods were

selected to increase the accuracy of the recording exposure and confounding variables and increase the validity of the results.

2.2.1 Intervention Studies

Cycling collisions are rare but can lead to significant morbidity and mortality. This rarity creates a considerable challenge for the empirical investigation of factors that may increase or decrease crash risk.

The "gold standard" for testing interventions in health research is widely considered to be the randomised controlled trial ²¹⁷. A randomised controlled trial of the effect of conspicuity aids could be conducted to assess their effect on risk of collision. Such a study would have the advantage of allowing for the standardisation and unbiased allocation of the conspicuity intervention whilst ensuring a random distribution of potential confounding participant characteristics between the comparison groups. The large sample size, length of follow-up required, potentially high drop-out rates and the problem of ensuring compliance with the randomisation schedule mean that the resources and time required would be prohibitive.

Ethical considerations also restrict the applicability of randomised designs even in such 'non-medical' contexts as crash prevention research. The central ethical principle underlying the rationale for randomised controlled trials is that of clinical equipoise or the collective opinion of relevant professional groups, ethical committee members and others that there is insufficient evidence for the superiority of one intervention over another ²¹⁸ ^{p124}. Conspicuity aids are mandatory in many industrial and transport settings. In the context of bicycle safety there is widespread advocacy of the use of conspicuity aids for cyclists and increasingly other vulnerable road users such as pedestrians amongst road safety and injury prevention professionals ²⁰². This consensus view is based on a significant body of experimental research evidence of enhanced conspicuity if not of efficacy in preventing crashes ²¹⁹. Randomly withholding a potentially beneficial intervention from a group of controls by randomisation is unlikely to be acceptable in ethical terms.

An alternative to random allocation are patient preference trials. Participants choose to adopt a given intervention but the assumption of equipoise remains at the level of the investigators who could be blinded for example. Such trials have

been suggested as a partial remedy to some ethical and practical difficulties with randomised designs as they can improve compliance and remove the ethical problems associated with random allocation ²²⁰. Despite addressing the issue of involuntary withholding of a potentially protective intervention, a preference trial would still need a large sample owing to the rarity of the crash outcome. Contamination of the intervention across groups might still occur further increasing the sample required. Any confounding association between conspicuity aid use and different safety behaviours would continue to threaten the validity of the results given that voluntary adopters are likely to differ in risk-taking behaviours leading to confounding of crash risk.

2.2.2 Observation Studies

Conspicuity aids are already used by some cyclists. Therefore the opportunity exists for an observational study of their efficacy. Observational studies have been conducted to investigate many injury prevention problems in an attempt to examine and quantify the potential causal or preventative role of various exposures on injury outcomes.

Prospective cohort study designs can provide an estimate of the incidence of a given outcome in a group of people observed over a period of time. They enable the calculation of relative risks or hazard ratios for comparison groups defined by exposure to a possible causal factor ²²¹. The rarity of cycling crashes means that a cohort study of the effect of conspicuity aids would require a lengthy follow-up phase or large sample to deliver precise estimates of relative risk in a reasonable time period.

For example, assuming that there are 5000 regular cycle commuters in an available base population and a yearly rate of 150 adult cyclists injured in collision crashes a cohort study would need to recruit 3859 cyclists to detect a relative risk of 0.63 of a collision over a year for those using conspicuity aids (alpha = 0.05, beta 80%, 20% dropout rate; Stata Version 10). This is around 75% of the estimated number of regular commuter cyclists in Nottingham (National Transport Survey data). Contacting and recruiting such a large cohort would be prohibitive. Recent web-based designs have been reported but carry their own methodological problems despite the efficiency of online data collection tools $^{83 \ 100}$.

2.2.3 Case-Control Studies

A more efficient observational design is that of the case-control study. The casecontrol design has often been used to investigate exposures in relatively rare events such as injury ²²² and the techniques and analysis are now very refined ²²³ and widely applied ²²⁴. The method is resource efficient as cases are identified prospectively which drastically reduces the number of individuals who need to be followed-up to achieve sufficient statistical power. Controls are then identified from the same population which gave rise the cases. In the present study the outcome of interest is cycle crashes and cases are identified when they seek emergency department assessment and/or treatment. Controls are drawn from cyclists travelling in the same urban area at a similar time and for a similar purpose i.e. represent the same "base" population from which cases are derived.

There are a number of potential limitations in the case-control method. Despite careful design, such studies cannot establish a causal link between the exposure and outcome of interest with any certainty ²²¹. Rather, what is identified is an apparent association between an exposure variable and the outcome of interest.

Once a case-control study has identified a potential effect of an exposure, further evidence is then required to confirm the findings. Even in the presence of a plausible causal mechanism other components are required such as a doseresponse where increasing exposure is shown to be associated with greater risk of the disease. Study validity also requires the identification and minimisation of potential sources of confounding and bias.

The following section describes the methods adopted to examine the relationship between cyclists' risk of collision crash and their use of conspicuity aids using a case-control design.

2.3 Participants And Recruitment Methods

The following section describes the inclusion and exclusion criteria for cases and controls separately and how each group was identified and recruited into the study.

2.3.1 Cases

Cases were defined as cyclists aged 16 years or above, cycling within the study catchment area for commuting or other utility purposes, to or from a workplace, public transport facility (if using as a stage of a commute journey) or college or university, who are involved in a crash resulting from a collision or attempt to evade a collision with another road user and who attend the emergency department of the study site for assessment and/ or treatment.

1.3.2.1 Case Exclusion Criteria

- Cyclists less than 16 years of age.
- Cyclists who lack the capacity to give informed consent or who are unwilling to give informed consent.
- Cyclists whose crash resulted in their death.
- Cyclists whose crash occurred outside the catchment area.
- Cyclists whose injuries were as a result of a loss of control or mechanical failure not involving another road user.
- Cyclists involved in an accident who were travelling exclusively for leisure, competition or training purposes.
- Cyclists whose crash journey was undertaken for the most part outside the catchment area.
- Cyclists making journeys to and from private addresses.
- Cyclists travelling between the hours of 23:00 and 05:00

Leisure, training, competitive and other sports cyclists were excluded from the study. This was because of the risk of bias from failure to recruit sufficient control cyclists travelling for these purposes from cycle parking facilities as they were more likely to travel to and from private addresses. Cyclists travelling for leisure and sport purposes may travel further, be more (or less) experienced, be more (or less) likely to use safety equipment and have more control over their route and time of travel and so their relative under-representation in the comparison group would have undermined the validity of the study.

2.3.2 Case Recruitment

Potential cases were identified using the Emergency Department Information System (EDIS). This computer database is used by emergency department staff to record patient administrative and clinical data on all attendees seeking assessment or treatment. Cyclists attending the emergency department after a cycle crash were assigned an external cause code of "RTA [Road Traffic Accident] - Pedal Cyclist" (sic) by reception staff. These attendees were then identified using the "live" EDIS system or a query of the replica database written by the researcher. A recruitment log was generated daily by the researcher using the Crystal Reports database reporting programme (Version 10, DS Callards, Devon UK). This report included demographic and address details of all cyclists attending the department in the preceding period and whether they had been admitted to hospital. The age exclusion criterion was applied and study packs were individualised and posted to potential participants as soon as possible after their attendance at the emergency department. In the case of admitted cyclists, the clinical staff caring for them were approached and asked to allow a face to face approach. The researcher then discussed the study with the patient and collected exposure and some safety equipment use data independently when possible. The potential participant was given the study pack and allowed time to decide if they wished to participate.

The researcher outlined the study to emergency department nursing staff. The EDIS system was then used to prompt the nursing staff in the emergency department to mention the study to cyclists during their initial assessment on arrival in the ED. An automated alert was programmed into EDIS by the researcher to generate an onscreen prompt when the record of a potentially eligible cyclist was first accessed. Staff were asked to discuss briefly the study with the patient during their initial assessment and ask if they are willing to be contacted regarding participation in the study. ED staff were regularly updated on the progress of recruitment and their role in the study was reiterated using emails and formal and informal staff meetings.

If a patient objected to being approached for inclusion this was recorded directly into an onscreen dialogue box on EDIS or communicated to the researcher verbally or via email. The researcher checked the log of these initial contacts on EDIS prior to sending out study packs. Cyclists were only contacted if no objection had been recorded.

Posters were displayed in the emergency department giving an outline of the study and prompting patients with cycling injuries to tell a member of staff if they did or did not wish to be contacted by the researcher. The process of identification of and approach to participants, combined opportunities for participants to 'opt out' by alerting staff or 'opt in' by returning a questionnaire and enabled efficient and reliable identification of all potential participants.

Cyclists attending the study site ED were given as study pack containing a covering letter, questionnaire and maps of the catchment area to illustrate their journey. A stamped addressed envelope was included for return of the study questionnaire and maps. Covering letters were personalised with the title and surname of potential cases. The study invitation letters carried the logos of both the University of Nottingham and the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust to encourage responses. The initial approach letter was written by the emergency department physician overseeing the conduct of the study within the hospital (FC). This element was thought likely to increase the authority of the request and boost participation. Cases were sent a shopping voucher for £5 on receipt of a completed questionnaire to increase the likelihood of response.

2.3.3 Controls

Controls were defined as cyclists aged 16 years or over cycling within the catchment area for commuting or other utility purposes, to or from a workplace, public transport facility (if using as a stage of a commute journey), college or university, who were approached at cycle parking facilities in the catchment area of the Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust.

2.3.4 Control Recruitment

Controls were recruited when dismounted at the beginning or end of their journeys. Sites for approaching and recruiting controls were identified within the study catchment area. Control recruitment sites were selected purposively to maximise the availability of cyclists and heterogeneity of sites. The control recruitment sites included cycle parking at public transport facilities (e.g. train stations, 'park and ride' sites) and cycle parking at colleges, universities

companies and organisations. Random selection of sites had initially been planned but was abandoned to maximise control recruitment efficiency.

Control cyclists were recruited within six weeks of the date of the case crash. This "incidence-density sampling ensured that cases and controlled were cycling at similar times of the year and reduced potential differences due to seasonal variations in bicycle use.

A pragmatic approach was adopted based on the researcher's knowledge of cycle use across the various sites gained during the design and pilot phases. Where there was a risk of case loss due to inability to identify matched controls within the allowed time period, more 'reliable' sites with higher densities of cycle use were selected. Where time permitted multiple control recruitment visits initial sites were selected from those with smaller numbers of cyclists to increase the heterogeneity of the sites used.

Controls were identified at recruitment sites when they were still with their bicycle to ensure that they had just completed or were about to commence a bicycle journey. After a brief explanation of the study the cyclists were asked if they had any questions. If a cyclist agreed they were given a pre-prepared study pack. The contents of control packs could not be personalised as with case packs.

Controls were offered a study pack with the same contents as for cases as described above. Controls completed the questionnaire at a time of their convenience after recruitment. The covering letter and explanation from the researcher emphasised the desirability of early completion to increase the accuracy of the data collected. Controls were not offered a financial reward for a completed response owing to resource constraints.

A flowchart is included to illustrate sequentially the stages in recruitment of cases and controls to the study (figure 6).

Figure 6 Case and Control Recruitment And Data Collection Summary Flowchart

Case Crash:

- Cyclist injured in crash and attends the Emergency Department (ED) for assessment and treatment

Case Recruitment:

- List of all cyclists > 15 years of age generated

- Invitation letter, questionnaire and map given to cyclist in person or posted to home address if discharged.

- Independent data collected by researcher on conspicuity aid and helmet use if approached in person

Primary Data Collection:

- Reminder including duplicate map and questionnaire sent if no response within two weeks

- Eligibility confirmed - missing or ambiguous data confirmed by phonecall or post.

- Questionnaire data entered into study database

- Route information transcribed from selfcompleted maps. Google Earth used to measure route and record number and grid reference of previous bicycle crashes sites along the route obtained from Police records in the public domain

Secondary Data Collection:

- Previous crash site selected at random
- Bicycle traffic observation conducted

- Data collected on number of cyclists through crash site at peak and off-peak times and numbers using conspicuity aids and helmets

Sequential Control Recruitment:

- Organsiation or company contacted to arrange recruitment visits at same time (+/- 1 hour) and day of week and within six weeks of case crash

- Cyclists approached and given study pack in person

- Independent conspicuity aid exposure data collected by researcher as for cases

2.3.5 Multiple Participation

Case and control cyclists were included more than once if they had another includable crash or were willing to accept a second control pack. Cases could be recruited subsequently as controls and vice versa. There was no theoretical reason to exclude multiple responses where incidence-density sampling is applied as potential controls remain within the "base" population and continue to represent "person-time at risk" and as such are valid comparators for multiple controls ²²⁵. A maximum of two questionnaires were offered or accepted from any one individual. Controls were not matched to the same case to reduce the risk of non-informative sets being excluded from the analysis.

2.4 Sample Size And Study Power

A small amount of pilot data was collected by the author (PM) and supervisor (DK) to establish the exposure levels for conspicuity aid use at a selection of known bicycle collision sites. The crash site (defined by a grid reference and description), day and time of five bicycle collisions in the catchment area were supplied by the Vehicle Safety Research Centre at Loughborough University from their existing road collision investigation database ²²⁶. The conspicuity aid use of all cyclists passing each crash site was recorded for the hour including the time of day of each collision. The numbers using reflective garments, fluorescent garments, lights, reflectors and reflective or fluorescent equipment such as pannier bags were recorded.

The exposure rate for observations of the use of any fluorescent or reflective clothing or item, excluding reflectors mandated by law was 44% during peak hours (07:30-09:30 and 16:30-18:30 n=64). It is assumed that the majority of cyclists at this time are commuters. To estimate an odds ratio of 0.63 for CEC ²¹³, based on a prevalence of wearing or using reflective or fluorescent clothing or items (excluding reflectors mandated by law) of 44%, a case-control correlation of 0.2 and a ratio of 1:4 cases to controls, 218 cases are required to give the study 80% power (2-sided α = 0.05) with 872 controls (Stats Direct, Stats Direct Ltd, Cheshire, England).

2.4.1 Estimated Participant Accrual

Data on cyclist attendance at the study site ED was used to examine the feasibility of the study. There were an average of 250 adult cyclists recorded as attending the ED after involvement in a bicycle crash in the years prior to the start of recruitment for which complete data were available (2005 to 2007 inclusive). Assuming a 40% response rate the required recruitment period was projected to be 26 months.

A pilot recruitment exercise was undertaken, details of which are given in Appendix 4.

2.5 Matching

Matching of case and control groups is used when it is suspected that immeasurable or otherwise uncontrollable sources of confounding may exist within a specific population. The aim of matching is to try to ensure that any unknown or immeasurable confounding variables are evenly distributed across case and control groups. Factors chosen for matching cannot be adjusted for in subsequent modelling ²²⁷.

Matching factors were selected prior to the start of the study. Matching criteria were selected on the basis of known or plausible associations with the outcome of interest and crash risk. Controls were matched to cases by day of week of travel and time of travel (+/- one hour of the case collision time) and season of travel (up to six weeks after the case collision). A pragmatic approach to matching was intended to minimise the impact on recruitment efficiency. The reasons for adopting these matching criteria and abandoning others after the recruitment piloting are discussed below.

2.5.1 Geographical Variation In Crash Risk

Case and control recruitment was restricted by geographical area resulting in a degree of matching between cases and controls. The control population was

drawn from non-crash involved cyclists who were at risk of a cycling collision crash whilst travelling in the same catchment area as cases. This restriction was intended to reduce confounding from exposure to differing traffic and road environments. The catchment area was chosen to provide a mixed urban and sub-urban setting which was expected to give rise to the largest number of eligible crash incidents and so improve the efficiency of recruitment. The catchment area is illustrated on a map of Nottinghamshire included in Appendix 15.

The catchment area was defined as follows. An analysis of the numbers of admissions to the study site emergency department in the three years prior to the study period was undertaken using anonymised postcode data from the study site emergency department information system. The home postcode was taken as a proxy for the geographical distribution of bicycle use. The majority of cycle journeys were estimated to be less than 8kms in length in research published prior to the study recruitment period ⁴³. Total numbers of attendances were calculated for each postal sector (i.e. the first five characters; "NGxx x"). Areas giving rise to small numbers of bicycle injury attendances and which were on the outskirts of the greater Nottingham conurbation were excluded.

During recruitment case and control journey details were checked against this list and excluded if approximately 50% or more of the journey or both start and finish points were outside the designated area. Cases were included if their crash occurred within the catchment area after arriving by public transport e.g. train. This trip stage was then used as the study route for analysis.

The use of formal geographical information analysis of these factors such as land use data to validate the catchment area definitions or control for these variations was beyond the scope of the current study.

2.5.2 Day Of The Week, Time Of The Day And Season Of Travel

Controls were recruited from cyclists travelling within one hour before or after the time of the case crash on the same day of the week for up to six weeks after the crash date. Traffic density, speed and composition can be seen to vary greatly with hour, day and season and may be related to bicycle crash risk and the adoption of conspicuity measures by cyclists. This source of confounding is complex and little understood. The use of detailed traffic density data was prevented by the cost of acquiring suitable data.

It is likely that the approximately doubling of cyclist numbers in summer months represents additional cyclists who do not ride in winter as opposed to merely the same cyclists cycling more often ⁵⁴. This variation could not be easily accounted for by adjusting for years of experience alone.

2.6 Recruitment Sites

Control recruitment sites were identified and the owners of the sites were approached for permission to allow the researcher to recruit there. The purchase of company contact details was beyond the resources of the study. Suitable companies were identified in the Financial Analysis Made Easy (FAME) of UK company database, one of the largest sources records (http://www.bvdinfo.com) available. The database contained the details of 822 active companies with a Nottinghamshire (NG) post code recorded as their primary trading address. Companies were excluded where no postal or email address or telephone number was available in the FAME database or after cross checking with the **Business** Yellow Pages (http://www.yell.com/ucs/HomePageAction.do?sem=g&cam=sem_directory03_0 8). Companies were also excluded if they were recorded as a 'holding company' i.e. a legal vehicle for controlling assets but with no physical trading site or if they had an 'NG' postcode which lay outside the proposed study catchment area as defined below.

Each company was sent a letter explaining the study and asking for permission to recruit control cyclists at their premises. A reply slip was included asking for the details of the person giving permission including contact details to facilitate the arrangement of visits and any instructions or restrictions. All higher education establishments, train and tram stations with cycle parking and Park and Ride facilities were identified within the catchment area and those organisations were also contacted for permission to recruit controls. Other local authority cycle parking sites were also identified from detailed information publishes on websites and using locally available maps. Six hundred and forty one companies and organisations were approached by letter, email or telephone or a combination of these, to request access to approach cyclists. Some companies offered to distribute questionnaires but would not permit direct recruitment and these were excluded. The location of control recruitment sites is shown in a map in Appendix 15.

2.7 Questionnaire Development

The questionnaire was distributed for comment amongst a group of cycling and non-cycling colleagues, friends and family. Drafts were sent to representatives of a local cycling campaign group (Pedals) and others with a research interest in bicycle transport. This initial work suggested that most respondents could understand the various items included. The large number of potential confounders and the lack of available previous research on their effect on bicycle crash risk were important factors in the decision to collect data on a large number of variables concerning the characteristics of the cyclists and their choice of equipment. Despite the length of the questionnaire the tick box format meant that the time required to complete it was not large. Conspicuity aid exposure items were broken down by body region to aid recall. The questionnaire was divided into sections to aid comprehension and separate clothing and equipment for journey characteristics.

The questionnaire was reviewed by the study site NHS research and development department and an NHS research ethics committee. A consent form was included as part of the case questionnaire primarily because of the requirement to access health records relating to injuries. The consent form was adapted from a template designed by the study site research and development department and contained clauses for separate initialling to make plain various important elements of the study. No consent form was included in the control questionnaire as there was no requirement to collect data beyond that voluntarily recorded within the form itself. Suggestions arising from these sources were incorporated into the final version (Appendix 10).

2.8 Map Development

A schematic map of the catchment area was included to allow participants to illustrate their crash or control journey. The route data maps were simplified to aid completion from an initial detailed copy of a small scale map of the catchment area. The final version was enlarged and printed on two sheets of A3 paper to increase the accuracy of the illustration of each participant's route.

The map served a number of purposes, enabling cycling exposure data to be verified, confirming that the study cycle journey was undertaken within the catchment area and permitting the accurate linkage of historical pedal cycle crash information and cycle traffic data to each participant journey.

The map was designed to be user-friendly, low-cost, comprehensive and "Digimap" The Ordinance Survey accurate. collection (http://edina.ac.uk/digimap/) was used to create two companion schematic maps of the North and South portions of the study area. The maps showed the basic road system down to residential street level at a scale of 1:25000. Nontrunk roads were printed in outline only allowing the participants to ink in their route in a way that was readable regardless of the colour used (see detail of a completed map reproduced in Appendix 13). Additional explanatory labels and named landmarks were added by the researcher to increase comprehension. Initial piloting indicated that the maps could be completed with reasonable accuracy by most participants. Participants were requested to customise maps to illustrate other features such as sections of cycle paths used.

2.9 Exposures Of Interest

The study was designed to quantify the effect of cyclists' use of fluorescent and retro-reflective clothing. The primary exposure was the use of any fluorescent or retro-reflective items of clothing or equipment vs none. A questionnaire was developed to record component exposures broken down type of material and body area e.g. "Fluorescent [or reflective] materials on the lower body". The study questionnaire was designed to facilitate accurate collection of self-reported exposure and confounding factor data by participants. Exposure data was recorded as forced-choice dichotomous responses. A free text area was also

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 90

included to allow participants to describe their garments for each body area to assess the reliability of the individual items. A further free text section was included asking for details of any other safety equipment used which was not captured in other parts of the questionnaire. The questionnaire layout and contents are reproduced in Appendix 10.

The questionnaire included a number of questions regarding the participants' use of fluorescent materials. A short explanation of the likely appearance of such materials was included as a guide. Fluorescent material use was recorded as used by participants on areas such as a cycle helmet, on the outer clothing of the upper body, the outer clothing of the lower body or as ankle straps or bicycle clips. Similarly, retro-reflective material use and location was also recorded and a brief explanatory statement was included to increase the accuracy of classification.

The use of "light-coloured" materials was also recorded by participants. The inclusion of these exposures was intended to reduce the likelihood that such materials would be incorrectly recorded as fluorescent by emphasising the distinction and giving an alternative option for those wearing bright coloured but non fluorescent materials to increase the validity of the self-reports and reduce ambiguity for participants.

In addition respondents were asked to record whether they were using front or rear mounted reflectors, pedal reflectors and spoke or wheel reflectors fixed to their bicycle. Participants were asked to record the presence and use of lights, their location and whether they were lit or flashing during the journey.

The introductory statement at the beginning of the questionnaire deemphasised the study hypothesis stating only that the study was "an investigation of the factors which may affect the risk of having a bicycle accident". The aim was to reduce any influence that participants might be subject to from the explanation of the study by the researcher to a minimum.

Case and control questionnaires were identical in layout and text for all questions other than those relating directly to the crash incident. This was designed to illicit information in a similar fashion from both groups and minimise biases from this source. The questionnaire was intended to be filled in independently of the researcher and was as comprehensible and unambiguous as possible.

Cases and controls were asked to complete questionnaires as soon as possible after being given the study packs. Where possible, questionnaires were handed out in person as soon as practicable after the case crash to minimise postal delays and reduce errors in recall of events or exposures. The date of response was recorded so that differences in completion times could be assessed. The use of incidence-density recruitment reduced the delay before participants recorded exposures to a minimum. The study questionnaire asked participants to record the date and time of the journey they were recording exposure data for, to ensure that case data related to the collision crash journey and control data were accurately matched by time of exposure estimation.

2.10 Validation Of Self-Reported Exposure Measurements

There is no existing research regarding the validity of self-recorded conspicuity aid or safety equipment use by cyclists or the reliability or validity of measures of conspicuity itself. One study examined the inter-rater reliability of conspicuity assessments for walkers and cyclists observed by trained researchers in an urban setting ¹⁹⁵. The authors report good to poor reliability of the selected exposure classifications but no attempt was made to measure the validity of human observations of conspicuity by comparison to an objective standard. Although reliability places an upper bound on the validity of an exposure measure it is not itself a measure of validity ²²⁸. This section describes the methods used to validate the self-reported study exposures by comparison to data recorded independently by the researcher during recruitment of cases and controls.

Independent data collection was conducted as part of the initial approach to potential case and control participants by the researcher.

The validity of the participant self-reports was facilitated by the collection of data regarding ten of the component exposures of interest. These data were recorded by the researcher at recruitment where possible. The use of a cycle helmet and the use of fluorescent or reflective or light coloured materials on the upper body or lower body or helmet were recorded along with the gender of the participant and the date, time and location of recruitment. Identical case and control recruitment sheets were developed to allow the rapid recording of validation data during the first approach to each participant. This sheet is reproduced in

Appendix 14. Potential participants were not explicitly made aware of the recording of such information to avoid influencing the eventual responses and to prevent discussion of the study hypothesis and biasing of responses.

A Kappa coefficient statistic was calculated for each variable to test the level of chance-corrected inter-observer agreement between the independent observer and cases and controls. The sensitivity and specificity of the exposures was also calculated using the researcher exposure records as a reference standard.

2.11 Recording Of Confounding Variables

A confounder in a case-control study is a factor which varies both with the outcome of interest and with one or more predictor variables such as an exposure hypothesised as a direct or indirect casual factor. A confounder may be a characteristic of participants or another exposure. A confounder must be a risk factor for the outcome of interest and must itself be associated with the exposure of interest whilst not being a consequence of it i.e. not be on the "causal pathway" ²²¹. Confounding may be eliminated by restricting participation to those without the characteristic. Some confounders cannot be captured accurately as variables and thus an attempt must be made to ensure that case and control participants are similar with respect to such characteristics using a matched design as discussed above. Alternatively known confounders can be recorded and outcome estimates adjusted accordingly or stratified to demonstrate their effects ²²⁹.

Various potential confounders were identified as being suitable for inclusion in the study as a result of the literature reviewed above. Research using collision crash as an outcome is limited. Therefore previously unstudied but plausible sources of confounding were considered and included as variables where appropriate.

In addition, confounders that were thought likely to have an effect but which could not be measured directly, were controlled for using proxy measures as in previous related research. The following section describes the factors thought to be potential confounders in the current study and the measures taken to match cases and controls for them or to permit statistical adjustment for their presence in the data recorded.

2.11.1 Sources And Collection of Environmental Cycle Crash Risk Data

The causes of many bicycle crashes are complex being a conjunction of cyclist, driver and environmental conditions. Consequently control of confounding of the study outcome requires the collection of data regarding environment in which the cyclist travels or other "external" factors such as weather conditions. These factors may cause changes in risk of crash as well as changes in use of conspicuity aids. These effects may operate in addition to static personal characteristics of the cyclists and their equipment. The study questionnaire was designed to collect information about important elements of the route and prevailing conditions encountered by case and control cyclists travelling at similar times.

A recent study of bicycle crash risk and the use of mobile electronic devices such as smart phones or MP3 players controls for confounding from crash risk by asking for self-reports of cycling exposure and "bicycle use in demanding situations" estimated from Lickert responses to questions regarding frequency of cycling in heavy traffic and darkness ²³⁰. The measure was found to be a significant confounder of crash risk and use of such devices only in the 35-49 year old subgroup.

Previous studies of conspicuity aids and crash risk did not set out to control for confounding from environmental crash risk or incompletely addressed this source of confounding. The two studies examining crash risk and conspicuity ²¹³ and ⁸³) do not adjust for the risks posed to participants by the route length on the day of the crash or control recruitment or other relevant factors such as previous crash numbers or number of cyclists using the same route.

There is evidence that cyclists' perception of risk may affect their choice of route. This may lead to self-limiting of exposure to risk by choosing off-road paths or traffic calmed routes when they are available ²³¹. Choice of route may also related to cycling experience with experienced cyclists being more concerned with journey time and length than separation from traffic by contrast to the least experienced and some evidence of this has been reported²³². Route choice is therefore related both to cyclists' individual attitude to and response. The feasibility of collecting detailed route data from cyclists has been demonstrated by Nguyen and Williams who conducted a study in Nottingham in which participants recorded their route, cycle exposure and any 'incidents' which had occurred during their journey over a two week period using maps enclosed with

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 94

questionnaires. Only 20% of the cyclists invited to take part returned completed data collection forms but of these, all had successfully completed maps recording their routes to and from work. Other cycle research has used route data collected in a similar fashion e.g. ^{144 233}

The current study used self-completed maps returned by participants with their questionnaire. The route length was calculated using a geographical information system (Google Earth Version 6). Participants in the current study were asked to draw the route they had chosen on a map provided in the study pack. The use of maps was intended to reduce errors in route length estimation found in previous work ²³⁴.

Cases were asked to illustrate the complete route they had intended to travel had they not had the collision. They were asked to illustrate the location of the crash with a cross. Controls were asked to draw their complete route for the journey they had completed or were to start, on the day they were given a study pack to reduce recall errors given that exposures and other variable may alter with each journey and need to be directly comparable to cases travelling at the same time. Potential cases were asked to illustrate their collision journey as soon as possible after the event. Further maps were sent if the journey was incomplete e.g. ended at the collision point.

2.11.2 Three Year Cycle Crash Data

Crash location data was made publically available by the Department for Transport in 2008 for the three years prior to study period (2005-2007). The dataset gave the location of all bicycle crashes on the public highway resulting in injury to which the police are called to attend or which 'become known to them' within 30 days. Further details of the development of the bicycle crash dataset for the three years immediately prior to the study recruitment period are included in Appendix 1. This data was then displayed using Google Earth. The locations of all previous bicycle crashes along each participant's route were recorded by the researcher to give a total number of incidents. The grid reference of each cycle crash site along the route was entered into an Access database to enable linking to questionnaire and participant data.

2.11.3 Cycle Traffic Observations

Each crash site along each route was numbered from the start to finish of the route (1 to n). A single site was then selected at random from each participant route. Cycle traffic data and population level conspicuity aid use were then observed at the selected site.

A count of the number of cyclists passing each observation site in either direction was conducted as soon possible after the route data was entered. Observations were conducted on a week day for two hours during peak (07:30-09:30 or 16:30-18:30) and two hours during off-peak (12:00-14:00) periods. Monthly data were available year-round for 2008 for Nottinghamshire County Council. These data were used to derive season weightings to adjust the individual counts conducted by the researcher.

These data were then extrapolated to give an estimated Average Annual Daily Cycle Traffic (AADCT) value for each route i.e. representative of the total cycle traffic for a "typical" 24 hour period. The crash sites were linked by a primary key or "route ID" unique to each participant. This primary key was used to calculate total numbers of crash sites as well as summary measures of observations of cycle traffic for each participant route individually.

2.11.4 "Route Risk" Variable Estimation

Environmental traffic risk was considered an important source of potential external confounding and previous similar work did not appear to incorporate control of confounding from this source. Therefore an attempt was made to estimate a variable which might control for confounding from cycle crash risk presented by each cyclist's actual route choice. The author could find no published studies of cycle crash risk that examined the relative risk of cycling in specific locations or on certain types of roads or in areas with different levels of cycle use based on individual route data.

The route risk variable was calculated by combining the length of each participant's route in kilometres, the average level of cycling observed along the route and the number of cycle injury crashes recorded along the route by the police in the previous three years (table 5). The variable represents an estimate

of the observed injury rates per 100 million kilometres cycled along each participant's route.

Table 5 Route Risk Variable Calculation

Pedal cycle collisions rate	=	<u>(CIC₃)</u>	* 100 000 000	
per 100 000 000 kms cycling		(AADCT)*(RL)*1095		
for each route or "route risk"				

AADCT = mean of estimated Annual Average Daily Cycle Traffic at all monitored sites along the route

RL = Route Length in kilometres

 $CIC_3 =$ total number of Cycle Injury Crashes in the past three years for each participant route.

The measure was intended to represent a measure of "external" cycle crash risk i.e. that arising from factors other than the behaviour of the cyclist in traffic. The route risk variable was intended to capture confounding from traffic risk thought to be a stable characteristic of the chosen route and thus not adequately captured by matching of time and season of case and control journeys. The measure was intended to commonly cited rate estimates such as 'Killed and Serious Injury' (KSI) per 100 million vehicle kilometres used to report trends in cycle crash incidence relative to cycling exposure. Table 6 below gives an example of a route risk calculation.

Crash site Grid Reference	Number of Cycle crashes recorded at location over three previous years (DfT 2005-2007)	AADCT
543_400	1	14
544_391	2	122
545_388	1	Not observed
545_400	1	55
547_400	1	Not observed
Total Crashes along route = 6 p Mean of AADCT along route = 6 Route length 7.2 kms Estimated Cycle crashes per 10	er 3 years 3.6 cyclists per day 0m kms = <u>6</u> * 1 (63.6)*(7.2)*(1095)	100 000 000 = 1196

Table 6 Example Calculation Of Route Risk Score

A crude comparison with crash rates per distance can be made. In 2010 there were 17 185 pedal cyclists injured on British roads with cyclists travelling an estimated 5.1 billion kilometres ¹⁵⁹. This gives a rate of 337 reported crashes per 100m kilometres cycled. It is not possible to estimate such a rate for collision crashes alone although this does not differ between cases and controls but makes comparison of data from this study incomparable to other such estimates.

2.11.5 Cycling Exposure

Participants were asked how far and how many separate trips they had undertaken using a bicycle in the previous seven days. Respondents are also asked to say whether this amount of cycling is "typical" for them. This response was designed to reduce the likelihood that any atypical results on the day of recruitment were inaccurately recorded by respondents in an attempt by them, to give a "true" picture of normal behaviour by allowing them to indicate how representative the snapshot reported figure is of their normal behaviour.

2.11.6 Weather Conditions And Light Levels

Weather conditions and lights levels are both confounders for the outcome of interest and cannot be adequately dealt with by matching owing to short term variability and the frequent need to recruit controls over a number of subsequent weeks at each site. As discussed in the epidemiology chapter there is considerable evidence that reduced light levels make bicycle collision crashes more likely and more severe. There is some limited evidence that weather conditions affect crash risk. These factors may result in confounding as cyclists may alter their use of conspicuity aids in response to these factors.

Participants were asked to record the weather conditions and light levels during their journeys. Weather condition available responses were 'good weather', 'light rain', 'heavy rain', 'fog/mist', 'snow/hail'. Light level available responses were 'sunny', 'overcast', 'dawn/dusk', 'dark (with street lights)' or 'dark (without street lights)'). The effect of the exposure of interest was stratified by light level and weather conditions.

2.11.7 Participant Characteristics

In the current study a number of important sources of confounding are related to participant cyclists' characteristics such as age or gender and factors associated with propensity to use safety equipment or tolerate different levels of risk whilst cycling. These factors are likely to confound the results because of the interaction of participant's perceptions and attitudes and the outcome and exposures of interest.

Different levels of risk taking or ameliorating behaviour, awareness and perceptions of risks and other covariates of risk such as individual skill or experience are all possible contributory factors in crash aetiology. For example if a given cyclist is more likely to 'take' risks this may be a result of confidence in their own ability but may also lead to reduced propensity to use conspicuity equipment. Conversely cautious cyclists who dislike risk taking may be relatively more inclined to use conspicuity aids because they wish to take every possible 'defensive' precaution to avoid a collision or are consequently more tolerant of the inconvenience of using safety equipment. The study design has incorporated

a number of variables which shed light on these effects on the relationship between crash risk and conspicuity aid use.

2.11.8 Age

Participants were asked to record their age. Age is considered an a priori confounder for the risk of bicycle crash because of the likely association with risk-taking behaviour and cycling experience and possibly bicycle safety equipment use.

2.11.9 Gender

Participants were asked to record their gender. The study will estimate the potential confounding role of gender arising from associations with crash risk and conspicuity aid exposures.

2.11.10 Possession of a Driving License

Driver training and experience may confound the association of interest. Experience of driving may alter cyclists' use of conspicuity aids by giving insight into the relative conspicuity of other cyclists they encounter whilst driving. Driver training may directly reduce crash risk for cyclists by increasing their awareness and experience of hazard perception and road behaviours of other road users. Participants were asked to record whether they currently held a full driving licence. Possession of a driving licence is used as a proxy for otherwise uncontrolled confounding from this source.

2.11.11 Ethnic group

Participants were asked to record their ethnic group. A recent study of attitudes to cycling in London revealed a higher than average use of the bicycle in black

and minority ethnic groups but this is potentially entirely explicable in terms of the age demographic of this fraction of the population 7 .

2.11.12 Use of Safety Equipment

The use of other conspicuity aid equipment such as lights and fixed and wheelmounted reflectors on their bicycle was recorded by participants along with the use of conspicuity enhancing cycle clips made of fluorescent or reflective materials.

The use of such safety equipment is likely to confound the exposure outcome association. The use of lights and fixed reflectors is likely to reduce crash risk directly. The use of such equipment may also be associated with the use of conspicuity aids such as fluorescent clothing. The relationship may be complex as some cyclists may substitute lights or fixed reflectors for the use of conspicuity aids such as clothing. Light or reflector use may be related to road behaviour, route choice and therefore crash risk.

2.11.13 Use Of A Cycle Helmet

Participants were asked to record their use of cycle safety helmets. Cycle helmet use is discretionary in the UK.

In the context of the present study helmet use may be considered a proxy for cautious rising behaviour and therefore propensity to employ other protective measures such as choice of safer routes which also reduce crash risk. Helmet use may also lead to selection bias if it reduces injury and thus health seeking behaviour after crashes and confounding if in turn there is an association with conspicuity aid use leading to underrepresentation of users within the case group.

2.11.14 Type of Bicycle

The type of bicycle used for the study journey was recorded by participants. A free text response was allowed to allow recording of non-typical bicycles such as recliners and tricycles.

2.11.15 Risk Taking Attitude Scales

The study uses two psychometric scales which have previously been used to measure attitudes related to risk-taking identified in the road safety literature. The two scales selected relate to psychological constructs termed "Sensation Seeking" and "Normlessness". Higher scores on these scales indicate greater propensity to risk-taking behaviour and tolerance of risk in achieving objectives respectively.

The attitude scales are reproduced within the sample questionnaire in Appendix 10. Responses to each of the eight attitude statements were recorded on a 5 point "Likert" scale from "Strongly Agree" to "Strongly Disagree" (with one reverse coded element). A mean score for each scale was calculated following the methods used on the originating papers. Participants with any missing item score were excluded.

2.11.16 Familiarity with the route

Participants were asked to rate their familiarity with the self-reported route (">2 times per week", "2-8 times per month", "<once per month", "never before"). It was thought possible that those using unfamiliar routes may have been at greater risk of crashes and inclined towards greater safety equipment use as they may be unaware of the riskiness of the roads or likely levels of traffic on unfamiliar routes leading to confounding from this source.

2.11.17 Recent Alcohol use

Participants were asked whether they had consumed alcohol within 8 hours of the journey.

2.11.18 Cycling Experience

Cycling experience may be associated with crash risk and conspicuity aid use. Respondents were asked to estimate their level of cycling experience. The scale was defined as cycling one or more journeys per week as an adult for "less than 1 year", "1 to 3 years", "4 to 10 years" or "greater than 10 years". More detailed questions about short-term variations in cycle use such as periods of low use or an estimate of total years cycled were omitted to improve comprehension.

2.11.19 Cycle Training

Respondents were asked whether they had received formal cycle proficiency training either as a schoolchild or as an adult. Owing to the heterogeneity of available training no attempt was made to record the amount, recency or type of training undergone.

2.11.20 History of Cycle-Related Injury Collision

Respondents were asked if they had had a cycle collision or 'near miss' crash involving another road user resulting in them being injured in the previous three years. This variable was included to adjust for risk-taking behaviour and potential changes in risk-behaviours and conspicuity aid use as a consequence of previous crash involvement.

Recall bias is a significant concern for self-reported collision histories extending over years. A study of motor vehicle crash victims found a three year recall of crash involvement of 86% ²⁵⁸. Self-reports of motor vehicle crash injuries have

been validated using official crash reports. No significant differences in crash involvement per head of population were found in self-reported Health Survey data and police crash reports in Canada from 1994-1997 ²⁵⁹. A study of Australian football players against injury surveillance data found that up to one year, accuracy was about 80% for both numbers of injuries and body region ²⁶⁰.

The three-year time period was considered reasonable as cycle collisions resulting in injury are rare but potentially likely to be recalled as noted above. The restriction of crashes to those which involved injury was designed to increase the accuracy of recall and limit reports to crashes likely to result in some confounding by having sufficient impact to potentially alter behaviours and safety equipment use.

2.11.21 Socio-Economic Status

Respondents were asked to give their home postcode. Index of Multiple Deprivation scores or each postcode were obtained for all cases and controls using data from 2009 using the Geoconvert service (http://geoconvert.mimas.ac.uk/). These were used as a proxy for the socio-economic demographic of the sample. The relationship of deprivation scores, cycle crash risk and conspicuity aid use was examined for evidence of confounding on the association of conspicuity aid use and crash risk in the multivariate analysis.

2.11.22 The Cycling 'Culture' of Organisations

Participants were asked to record the presence of cycle parking, cycle changing facilities and whether they felt the organisation "encouraged" cycling (Appendix 10).

2.12 Secondary Data

2.12.1 Safety Equipment Use

The questionnaire included questions regarding the circumstances and regularity of use of various items of safety equipment. Participants were asked to rate their use of cycle helmets, fluorescent or retro-reflective clothing above and below the waist, ankle bands or clips and lights and to select the circumstances in which they used them. A further question was included to record whether they had used any other item of safety equipment not included in the main questionnaire. These questions were included to estimate if habitual use differed by outcome group and to see if different types of equipment were more reliably used than others.

2.12.2 Collision Data From Cases

Cases were asked to record the date and time of their collision to facilitate matching. All participants were asked to record the address and postcode of both the start and intended finish points of the journey and whether these were public places, workplaces, colleges or universities, private addresses or cycle parking at a transport facility. These were used to enhance the interpretation of the maps and exclude case cyclists who did not use any public or workplace cycle parking and thus for whom matched controls could not be recruited. Cases were asked to indicate the location of their crash on the map, whether it involved another road user, the class of road, speed limit and proximity to a junction.

2.12.3 Injury Data From Cases

Injury data were collected from the emergency department record of each case who gave written consent. Injuries were coded using the Abbreviated Injury Scoring System ²⁶². Additional data were recorded regarding the crash circumstances (ICD-10 external cause codes ²⁶³ and whether the cyclists were

recorded as wearing a helmet in the EDIS record ('wearing', 'not wearing', 'not recorded') and their destination or referral after discharge from the emergency.

The New Injury Severity Score was calculated using the methods described by Osler using the scores of three most severe injuries ²⁶⁴ in Stata Version 10. This has been show to correlate well with morbidity after bicycle injury ²⁶⁵.

2.12.4 Use Of Conspicuity Aids In The Base Population

The researcher recorded the proportion of cyclists observed using fluorescent and/or retro-reflective clothing for peak and off-peak periods during the cycle censuses at crash sites described above. The data proportions observed using conspicuity aids were compared between "summer" months (May to October) with higher than average bicycle use (⁴³ to "winter" months (November to April) to assess variation in levels of use by season. The observations were used to assess the use of conspicuity aids in the base population within the study area.

The population observations were validated by using data collected simultaneously by a second researcher. The observations compared were gender, use of conspicuity aids on the upper or lower body (yes / no) and an overall subjective dichotomous rating of relative conspicuity (high vs low).

2.13 Data Storage

The data from questionnaire was entered by the researcher into an Access data base and stored, encrypted on a secure network in compliance with the Data Protection Act 1988. The data were backed up automatically on a daily basis.

A random selection of 50 questionnaires was selected using Excel (Microsoft Office 2007). The data re-entered into a duplicate database. Stata was used to compare the resulting datasets and error rates per 10,000 fields were estimated. Errors identified in this way were corrected in the final dataset using the source data from the paper questionnaires. Variables calculated by combining component values e.g. the primary exposure variable "any item of fluorescent or reflective material" were cross-checked with the original questionnaires to detect coding or calculation errors. The results are presented in Appendix 8.

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 106

2.14 Analysis

The following sections describe the proposed analysis of the study data. All analysis was undertaken using Stata Version 10 (Stata Corps, Texas US). Definitions and coding details for all variables used in the analysis are given in Appendix 2.

2.14.1 Descriptive Analysis

The distributions of all variables and missing data were summarised and tabulated by outcome status. Categorical variables were described as frequencies and percentages and compared by outcome status using Pearson Chi Squared test. Continuous variables were described using means and standard deviations for normally distributed variables and medians and inter quartile ranges for non-parametric distributions. Comparisons by outcome status were made using a 't' test and equality of medians test for parametric and non-parametric data respectively. Response rates were compared for cases and controls. Responders and non-responders were compared using the variables available for case and control groups separately. The data including the details of the crash and injuries were described for cases.

2.14.2 Univariate Analysis

Matched data were analysed to examine univariate associations of each exposure and confounder by case-control status using conditional logistic regression to give odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals and Wald significance values. Unmatched (non-outcome) data were analysed to examine univariate associations between the exposure variable (conspicuity aid use) and demographic and other confounding variables using unconditional logistic regression to give odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals and Wald significance values.

2.14.3 Linearity

An assumption of logistic regression is that continuous variables have a linear relationship to the outcome of interest. This was assessed in two ways. First the linearity of continuous variables with the outcome was assessed visually using Lowess smoothed plots of the variable against the logit ²²⁷. Second, a squared term of each variable was generated and entered into the model. The model fit was then compared by conducting a likelihood ratio test.

If the Lowess plot suggested a non-linear relationship and the likelihood ratio test was significant the variable was re-categorised as appropriate. The logistic regression coefficient for each ordered level was estimated and examined for a linear trend through the categories. Likelihood ratio tests were then used to assess the improvement made by categorisation over the model with the linear variable. Where the likelihood ratio test indicated that the categorised variable was a significantly better fit it was retained. Where there was evidence of nonlinearity but ordered categories did not demonstrate an improved fit the variable was dichotomised around the median.

2.14.4 Multivariate Analysis

Multivariate models were developed to adjust for various sources of confounding. Potential confounders were selected if they were thought likely to be associated with the outcome and primary exposure based on an a priori assessment or from evidence in the existing literature or because they were a plausible confounder but had not been studied in previous published studies as described above.

Two strategies for modelling were used. First, models of the outcome were estimated using the primary exposure and the a priori confounders of age and gender. Modelling proceeded by introduction of confounders in turn. If the estimated odds ratio for the primary exposure was altered by more than 10% the confounding variable was retained in the model ²⁶⁶. The resulting model was then further tested by removing each covariate one at a time to see if they continued to alter the odds ratio by more than 10%.

Second, an initial "saturated model" was obtained containing all potential confounders. Confounders with a Wald p-value of less than 0.25 were retained in
a preliminary "main effects" model ²²⁷. This conservative threshold retains variables which may become influential on the odds ratio between the exposure and outcome in latter stages of the modelling process. Each remaining confounder was then removed and only returned to the model if the odds ratio for the exposure was altered by more than 10%. A further check was made by returning each rejected confounder to the final model again using a 10% change in odds ratio as a threshold. Finally age and gender were forced into the model as a priori confounders.

2.14.5 Interactions

Interactions or "effect modifiers" are found where the effect of an exposure differs at different levels of a covariate. If an interaction exists, reporting of a single odds ratio can be misleading as it is a true estimate of an effect only at the reference level or null value of the covariate ²²⁷. Interactions should have a plausible basis in the clinical or biological effect under investigation rather than be considered from a purely statistical standpoint ²²⁷.

Two-way interactions with the outcome variable were tested for each model generated. An interaction term was created and then models, with and without the term, were compared using a likelihood ratio test. An interaction term was retained if the likelihood ratio test was significant with a p-value of <0.05. Where interactions were identified, odds ratios were reported separately for each stratum of the confounder.

2.14.6 Model Diagnostics

There are a limited number of techniques available to estimate the adequacy of models derived by conditional logistic regression. Goodness of fit of the model estimates to the observed data have long been commonly used to assess the adequacy of the model ²⁶⁷ but the author could find no literature describing similar techniques applicable to matched datasets.

The confounder variables were assessed for the presence of multicollinearity. Multicollinearity inflates standard errors and widens confidence intervals ²⁶⁸.

Prior to modelling the variables in the dataset all variables were entered into a linear regression model. The correlation matrix can be examined to identify variables which are closely correlated. The Variance Inflation Factor was calculated for each predictor variable. Values of variance inflation factor greater than 10 are likely to indicate serious multicollinearity within the data although the use of this threshold has been criticised ²⁶⁹.

The adequacy of the link function (whether logistic regression is suitable for the analysis), the extent of uncontrolled confounding and the possibility that an interaction term is missing from the models was assessed. The Stata command "linktest" uses the linear predicted values to test for misspecification of the link function ²⁷⁰. If the model is mis-specified or significant predictors are missing then the square of the linear predicted value is a significant improvement on the linear value alone assessed by a likelihood ratio test.

2.14.7 Diagnostic Variables

Stata was used to calculate the group Pregibon influence statistic, leverage, lack of fit diagnostic statistic and standardised Pearson residuals for the observations in each model. These variables were used to assess the individual contributions of each member of the case-control sets to the model estimates. These were then plotted against the observation ID number and a visual assessment of outlying observations was undertaken.

The variables for each such observation were examined to look for data entry errors or implausible values. Where errors were detected, the values were replaced with the mean or median value for the relevant outcome group as a whole. Models were then re-estimated with and without the individual observations if the extreme values were for a control or without the entire group if for a case ²⁶⁸. The resulting odds ratios were examined for changes of greater than 10%.

The "Leverage" term gives an estimate of the degree of influence of given observations on the model. The expected leverage is given by (k + 1)/N where k is the number of predictors and N is the sample size (Field 2003). Observations with leverage values greater than 3 standard deviations from the expected value were examined and considered for exclusion as above.

The Maximum Likelihood R-Squared and Cragg and Uhler's R-squared were calculated to examine the amount of variation in the data explained by the models. Although there are a number of alternative measures these two measures are widely adopted as they are closely related to the value for Ordinary Least Squares- R^2 ²⁷¹.

2.14.8 Missing Data

Missing data constitute a potential source of bias in observational research where "complete-subject" methods such as conditional logistic regression modelling are employed entailing observations with a missing values for any included covariate are automatically dropped from a model ²⁷². All eligible cases and controls by definition had values for the outcome and primary exposure variables. To assess the effect of missing covariate in multivariate models a single step imputation procedure was used to generate a secondary dataset with missing values replaced by estimates calculated using a regression procedure to predict values based on the non-missing values for those covariates (Stata Version 10). Models were re-estimated using the "complete" dataset and the odds ratios compared to the original model to assess the effect of dropping observations with missing values.

2.14.9 Sensitivity Analyses

It has been suggested that there has been a lack of attention paid to sources of non-random or "systematic" biases in reports of observational research studies ²⁷³⁻²⁷⁵. Case and controls responders were compared to non-responders using the independent observations recorded during recruitment to assess the effect of selection bias from exposure-related non-response. Information bias from misclassification was assessed for cases and controls separately by comparing the sensitivity and specificity of responder self-reports of exposure using the independent observations as a "gold standard" and by indirect comparison to population level exposure observations at peak and off-peak periods.

The sensitivity of the study results to exposure-related response bias was assessed using a simple deterministic process 330 . The probability of cases and

controls responding if independently observed to be exposed or unexposed was calculated using independent exposure data collected at the time of recruitment from cases and controls. These values were used to estimate a corrected unadjusted odds ratio for the association between conspicuity aid use and collision crash for the source population prior to self-selection.

3. Results

3.1 Recruitment

Recruitment of cases began on the 12th of June 2008 and continued until the 1st of February 2010. Matched controls continued to be recruited until the 16th of February 2010. Secondary data collection including cycle traffic observations and injury data from case emergency department records was completed by the 30th of July 2010.

The application of the approach and exclusion criteria and the resulting accrual of participants are set out in figure 7 below. During the recruitment period 571 people over the age of 16 were identified after attending the study site emergency department having been injured in a crash whilst riding a bicycle. After initial screening, 561 were deemed suitable to be approached by the researcher. During the recruitment period 505 people identified as potential control cyclists were approached in person by the researcher. The final questionnaire was received on the 15th of March 2010.

The mean time taken to return questionnaires was 14.3 days (range 0 to 89 days; excluding 4 questionnaires retrieved from the University post office after 11 months). The mean time taken to return questionnaires for cases was 21.2 days (range 0 to 81 days) and for controls the mean time taken was 9.2 days (range 0 to 89 days). This difference reflects the delay in posting the questionnaires to cases after identifying them from the emergency department information system recruitment log as opposed to controls who were given questionnaires by hand.



Figure 7 Case And Control Accrual



3.2 Recruitment of Cases

3.2.1 Cases Not Suitable For Approach By The Researcher

All potential cases who were available for approach in person by the researcher were screened to ensure they were eligible for inclusion, capable of consenting and willing to speak to the researcher. The screening consisted of the researcher asking emergency department or ward staff for permission to approach each individual as required by the study protocol. The staff then consulted each potential case giving a brief explanation of the study. One cyclist (0.2%) died of their injuries whilst in the emergency department after a collision crash. In four instances (0.7%), injured cyclists were considered by the clinical staff responsible for their care as unlikely to be able to give informed consent due to the severity of their injuries.

All patients admitted to non-critical care wards were screened by the researcher after consultation with the responsible staff. All of these patients were considered to be suitable for an approach in person from the researcher.

3.2.2 Cases Approached In Person By The Researcher

In 31 instances (5.5%), potential cases were given the study pack in person. This occurred either whilst they were in the emergency department or during their inpatient stay on a hospital ward. In a small number of cases the researcher assisted the participant in completion of the questionnaire where their injury rendered this difficult. The researcher read out the question or allowed the respondent to read the question, and then recorded their responses. One person (0.2%) approached directly by the researcher refused to participate in the study or to accept information about the study.

3.2.3 Cases Approached By Post

In 530 instances (94.5%) potential cases were sent a study pack by post. This consisted of an invite letter, information sheet, study questionnaire and maps.

In four cases (0.7%) after the participant had left the hospital prior to a face to face contact being made, the contact details obtained at registration in the emergency department were found to be inaccurate (indicated by missing elements of the postal address). Where possible a postcode was found by using the Royal Mail online database (<u>http://postcode.royalmail.com</u>) and by searching of online maps (<u>http://maps.google.co.uk/</u>) to establish the existence of the address. A small number of study packs were returned with an indication that the address was wrong or out of date. Of those cases given a pack by hand 61% responded whereas only 35% responded to the postal invite (p=0.001).

3.2.4 Excluded Case Responders

Three potential cases were excluded from all analyses. One potential case (0.2%) was excluded as the questionnaire was returned uncompleted and the respondent indicated on the returned invite letter that they had in fact been riding a motor scooter. One potential case (0.2%) responded by letter to inform the researcher that their injury had occurred whilst standing next to a bicycle and was not the result of cycling. One potential case (0.2%) returned their questionnaire uncompleted with a covering letter explaining that they could not recall the crash.

Further cases were excluded by application of the following criteria. Many cases were subject to multiple exclusion criteria but for ease of comprehension this information is not presented. In 69 instances (12%), potential cases were excluded as their crash did not involve a collision or evasion of another road user. In 36 cases (6.4%) potential cases were excluded because their crash had occurred during a non-commuter or non-utility journey. In 7 instances (1.2%) the cyclists were involved in a crash which occurred outside the catchment area including two outside the UK. These cases were excluded as no geographically matched controls could be recruited. Two responders (0.4%) reported that their crashes had occurred during the night. These cases were excluded as no time-

matched controls could be recruited following the Research Ethics Committee decision that control recruitment should not be conducted after 10pm or before 6am in the interests of the researcher and participants. In four instances (0.7%) questionnaires were returned but were found to be illegible or otherwise unusable. In 7 instances (1.2%) time-matched and day-matched controls could not be recruited within the six week period from the case crash date specified in the protocol. In some instances this occurred because time-matched control recruitment fell within the final hour of permitted recruitment i.e. when small numbers of cyclists were available for approach. In four instances (0.8%) the case questionnaire was returned after the six week time limit had elapsed.

3.3 Recruitment of Controls

All potential controls were approached in person by the researcher. During the recruitment period 505 potential control cyclists were approached at public and private cycle parking and offered a study pack by the researcher. In a small number of instances the researcher was unable to get close enough to the control to politely introduce themselves to the target cyclist prior to them leaving the site. These cyclists were not allocated a contact ID or included in the recruitment log. In 27 instances (5.3%) potential controls refused to accept a study pack. In a further 15 instances (3%) the cyclist refused the questionnaire because they had already completed a pack given at an earlier time. No response was received from 170 (33.7%) of the controls approached during the recruitment period.

In 5 instances (1%), potential controls completed a questionnaire describing a journey but recording a different date to the relevant case crash. These were excluded as they could not be contacted to check whether this was an error. It was not possible to ascertain whether these controls did not understand that the journey was to be the one undertaken at the exact time of recruitment or whether this was simply an error in recalling the day they had been given the pack if completing it after a delay.

In a further 7 instances (1.3%), the journey time recorded was not matched to the relevant case crash time as required by the protocol. In all these instances the journey described was the journey to work whereas they had been approached prior to their return journey. In 9 instances (1.8%) the journey

recorded was undertaken for an ineligible purpose and these participants were excluded.

In 10 instances (2%), potential controls were approached on more than one occasion and returned a second questionnaire relating to separate case participants. These data were included in the analysis. It is not possible to ascertain the numbers of controls who were approached more than once but did not respond as personal details were not recorded when controls were approached. No controls were given more than 2 questionnaires.

3.4 Factors Associated With Response

Of those approached to participate in the study in person or by post a higher proportion of controls than cases responded prior to the application of exclusion criteria (Control 293/505, 58%, 95% CI 53.6 to 63.4 vs Case 205/561, 36.5% 95% CI 32.6 to 40.7). Some variables were recorded or available for both responders and non-responders. These variables were different for the case and control groups.

3.4.1 Case Non-Response

A large proportion of cases (62.9%) identified from emergency department records, did not respond to an initial postal approach and a reminder letter and duplicate questionnaire at two weeks.

3.4.2 Case Response Comparisons

Cases who responded were compared to those who did not respond using the data available for both groups collected during the screening and recruitment processes (Table 7). Case responders were on average 6.6 years older than non-responders. Case responders were from less deprived areas than non-responders and this difference was statistically significant. Female cases were significantly more likely to respond than males (p=0.01).

Characteristic	Response	No Response	Difference	P Value
			(95% CI)	
	n=205	n= 353		
Age (mean (95% CI))	38.3 (36.4 to	31.7 (30.3 to	6.6 (-8.9 to -	< 0.0001
	40.2)	33)	4.3)	
Index Of Multiple	23.7 (21.5 to	27.2 (25.4 to	3.5 (0.6 to 6.4)	0.02
Deprivation (mean (95%	25.9)	29)		
CI))				
Female	22.4 %	17.3 %	5.2% (-1.8 to	0.01
			12.6)	
			,	

Table 7 Response Comparisons For Cases

3.4.3 Control Response Comparisons

Controls who responded were compared to those who did not respond using the data available for both groups independently collected by the researcher for validation purposes during recruitment (table 8). There was a smaller difference between the proportions of females in the responder and non-responder groups than for cases and the difference was not significant. Control responders were significantly more likely than non-responders to be wearing fluorescent and light-coloured materials above the waist and to be observed using a cycle helmet and one of light colour. These differences remain significant for the primary exposure, helmet wearing and use of fluorescent materials above the waist after Bonferroni correction of the p values to account for multiple comparisons.

Characteristic	Response	No Response	Difference (95% CI)	Pearson Chi Square
	n=234	Response		oquare
		n= 135		
Female	35.3%	32.2%	3% (-6.4 to 12)	0.52
Any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing	35.5%	16.3%	19.2% (10.4 to 27.4)	<0.001
Fluorescent clothing above the waist	25.3%	9%	16.3% (9.8 to 22.4)	<0.001
Light-coloured clothing above the waist	17.8%	9.4%	8.4% (2.2 to 14.1)	0.008
Reflective clothing above the waist	13.3%	8.5%	4.8% (-0.1 to 10.2)	0.09
Wearing a helmet	49.8%	25%	24.8% (16.4 to 32.6)	<0.001
Helmet Fluorescent	0.7%	0.5%	0.2% (-2 to 2)	0.8
Helmet Light-coloured	14%	8%	6% (0.3 to 11.3)	0.04
Fluorescent clothing below the waist	2.1%	2.5%	0.3% (-2.4 to 3.6)	0.39
Light-coloured clothing below the waist	2.4%	0.5%	1.9% (-0.6 to 4.4)	0.09
Reflective clothing below the waist	2.1%	2.4%	0.3% (-2.5 to 3.6)	0.8

Table 8 Response Comparisons For Controls (n=369)

3.5 Details of the Case Crashes

The crash configuration was the primary inclusion criterion for cases. Only cases reporting that their crash occurred because of a collision with another road user or an evasive manoeuvre to avoid a collision were included. Where there was no reported involvement of another road user the case was excluded from the primary analysis but injury details and other data were included in sub-analyses.

The crash configuration by crash location is given below in table 9 below. Twice as many eligible collision or evasion crashes occurred on main roads than other locations. The proportion of loss of control crashes was significantly higher than collision or evasion crashes on segregated cycle paths, away from roads and on side roads.

Table 9 Crash configuration by crash location (all case responders with crash configuration data n=202, of these 195 gave a crash location)

Crash Configuration by Location	Main Road n (%)	Side Road n (%)	Segregated Cycle Path n (%)	Non- Carriagewa y n (%)	All Location s n (%)	Missi ng Locat ion
Loss of Control Crash	22 (31.4)	17 (24.3)	17 (24.3)	14 (20.0)	70 (100)	3
Collision or Evasion Crash	79 (63.2)	21 (16.8)	17 (13.6)	8 (6.4)	125 (100)	4
All Crashes	101	38	34	22	195	7

Missing Location = 7

Further information regarding the case crashes is given in Appendix 3.

3.5.1 Injuries Sustained By Cases

Table 10 below gives the injury severity scores for all case responders by eligibility for the case-control analysis. There was no significant difference in the injury severity for excluded vs. included cases with the great majority in both groups having sustained non-life threatening injuries. The majority of respondents sustained a single injury according to their emergency department records with an abbreviated injury score of 2 or less. The maximum abbreviated injury score (i.e. the most severe injury in any body-region) recorded for the cases was three (n=3; 1.5%) with the majority of injuries being of severity two or one. Two casualties (0.5%) were recorded as having "no abnormality detected" and were given an injury severity score of 0 accordingly.

Table 10Injury Severity Score For Eligible vs. Ineligible Cases (n=205(%))

Injury Severity Score	Eligible	Ineligible	Total
	n=76 (%)	n=126 (%)	n=202
0 - 3	52 (68.4)	81 (65.1)	133
4 – 9	24 (31.6)	43 (33.0)	67
> 9	0	2 (1.6)	2
Pearson Chi square p= 0.62			
Missing ISS = 3			

The distribution of injury severity scores for all cases with data is illustrated in figure 8. Injury severity scores were positively skewed with the mean injury severity of 2.5 and a median of 1. Application of the screening criteria discussed above resulted in a small number of more severely injured cyclists not being approached for inclusion. There were no cyclists included whose injury severity score exceeded 16 (a widely used definition for "multiple injury" ²⁷⁶). Of those attending the study site emergency department 20 injured cyclists (9.9%) were admitted to hospital.



Figure 8 Injury Severity Score (n=202)

Over half of the sample (53.6) were discharged from the emergency department on the day of their attendance with no follow-up recorded. This number may include patients who may have been advised to attend for follow-up to primary care but for whom this advise was not recorded. Nine patients (4.4%) were admitted into "short-stay" beds under the care of the emergency department consultants. At the study site this option is almost exclusively used after minor head injury (e.g. reported loss of consciousness or persistent mild confusion with negative Computed Tomography findings) to allow for a period of monitoring of vital signs and conscious level (private correspondence).

3.6 Characteristics Of The Study Participants By Case-Control Status

The characteristics of the participants who were included in the matched casecontrol analysis are described in the table 11 below. Cases were significantly younger than controls (mean age 36.2 vs. 40.9; 95% CI of the difference 1.5 to 7.9). The majority of the participants (67.5%) were aged between 25 and 50 years of age and cases were more than twice as likely to be under 25 years of age than controls.

Cases were significantly more likely to be male than controls. The ethnic group of both cases and controls was mainly "white British". The home addresses of cases were more likely to be situated in deprived areas than those of controls. The relative distribution of index of multiple deprivation scores is illustrated in figure 9 below which includes the 80th centile for England and Wales for comparison. The proportion of controls from the least deprived 20% of the total sample was twice that of cases. A larger proportion of cases than controls fell within the most deprived 20%.

Figure 9 Distribution Of Index Of Multiple Deprivation Scores By Case-Control Status Showing The Eightieth Centile For England And Wales



Cases were significantly less likely to hold a current driving licence than controls. Around half of the sample had received some cycle proficiency training whilst at school with cases and controls being equally likely to report having done so. Very few cases or controls reported having received any cycle training since leaving school although this has been available to the population of Nottingham City for a number of years (private correspondence with Ridewise, a local cycle training provider).

A quarter of the sample reported having been involved in a cycle crash which resulted in injury within the previous three years. There was no significant difference by outcome group.

Nearly all cases and controls completed the two brief psychometric instruments included in the questionnaire measuring propensities towards "Sensation Seeking" and "Normlessness". The data were not normally distributed for either scale and a comparison of the proportions in each group scoring above the median is reported. The proportion scoring above the median was similar in both outcome groups.

Table 11Characteristics Of The Study Participants By Case ControlStatus

	Control (%) n=272	Case (%) n=76	Total (%) n=348	P value
Age (years)				0.004
Mean (SD)	40.9 (12.7)	36.2 (12.2)	39.6 (12.7)	
Missing	2 (0.6)	0	2 (0.6)	
Gender	l			0.02
Female	99 (36.4)	17 (22.4)	116 (33.3)	
Male	172 (63.2)	59 (77.6)	231 (66.4)	
Missing	1	0		
Ethnicity				0.03
White British	228 (83.8)	57 (75)	285 (83.1)	
Other	39 (14.6)	19 (25)	58 (16.9)	
Missing	0	0		
Index of Multiple scores for Englan	Deprivation score d	(2007) using quint	iles of all IMD	0.04
< 8.32	60 (22.5)	9 (11.8)	69 (20.1)	
(Least deprived 20%)				
>8.32	77 (28.8)	21 (27.6)	98 (28.6)	
>13.74	47 (17.6)	11 (14.5)	58 (16.9)	
> 21.22	43 (16.1)	15 (19.7)	58 (16.9)	
>34.42 (Most deprived 20%)	40 (15)	20 (26.3)	60 (17.5)	
Missing	5	0	5	
Median (IQR)	12.7 (9.1 to 23.4)	20.2 (12.1 to 37.0)	14.3 (9.2 to 27.0)	
Driving License H	older			0.004
Yes	229 (84.2)	53 (69.7)	282 (81)	
Missing	0	0	0	
Cycle Training				
School	147 (54.2)	39 (52.7)	186 (53.9)	0.92
Missing	6	3	9	
Adult	6 (2.2)	3 (4)	9 (2.6)	0.11
Missing	1	2	3	

Previous bicycle o	Previous bicycle crash resulting in injury in the past 3 years				
Yes	75 (28)	15 (20.3)	90 (26.3)		
Missing	5 (1.5)	3 (0.9)	8 (2.3)		
Psychometric sco	res		•		
"Normlessness" (> median)	148 (55.6)	32 (43.2)	180 (52.9)		
Missing	6 (1.8)	2 (0.6)	8 (2.3)		
Median (IQR)	2.25 (2.0 to 2.8)	2 (1.8 to 2.5)	2.25 (1.8 to 2.5)	0.6	
"Sensation Seeking" (> median)	166 (61)	44 (57.9)	210 (60.3)		
Median (IQR)	2.9 (2.5 to 3.3)	2.8 (2.3 to 3.4)	2.8 (2.5 to 3.3)	0.1	
Missing	2 (0.6)	0	2 (0.6)		

3.6.1 Bicycle Use By Case-Control Status

The following section sets out the data collected regarding some aspects of bicycle use with comparisons of the case and control groups. Table 12 gives a comparison of bicycle use variables for cases and controls whilst figure 10 shows the distribution of distance cycled by participants in the week prior to recruitment showing a positive skew obtained because of a small number of participants with high bicycle use.

The number of years of "regular" cycling gives an indication of the relative experience of the participants and how this is distributed between the two outcome groups. Almost twice the proportion of cases had cycled regularly for less than a year compared to controls. The proportion of cases cycling regularly for more than 10 years was significantly lower than that for controls. Cases reported having cycled slightly more than controls in the seven days prior to their crash. Overall the distances reported were not normally distributed and there were a number of outliers cycling considerably further than the majority of the sample.

Figure 10 Distance Travelled By Bicycle In The Previous 7 Days (Cases And Controls Combined)



The median number of cycle trips taken in the seven days prior to the case crash was similar for both groups at between seven and nine. Controls were more likely to use a bicycle classified as a "commuter" bicycle or "folding" bicycle than cases although this difference was of borderline significance (p=0.05). Cycle helmet wearing rates did not differ significantly between groups. The proportions using helmets in both groups exceeded that observed in the population observations conducted as part of this study and those reported elsewhere in both the UK and abroad.

Characteristic	Control (%)	Case (%)	Total (%)	P value
Regular Cyclist (One or	more journeys per	week since age 16)	1	0.014
<1 year	31 (11.5)	16 (21.1)	47 (13.58)	
1-3 years	48 (17.8)	11 (14.5)	59 (17.1)	
4-10 years	29 (10.7)	15 (19.7)	44 (12.7)	
> 10 years	162 (60)	34 (44.7)	196 (56.7)	
Missing	2 (0.7)	0	2 (0.6)	
Distance cycled during	the previous week	(kms)	I	0.15
Median (IQR)	48.2 (24.2 to 72.5)	56.4 (24.2 to 96.6)	48.3 (24.2 to 80.5)	
Missing	7 (2.6)	3 (3.9)	10 (2.8)	
Number of Cycle Trips	During The Previous	s Week	I	0.76
Median (IQR)	7(4 to 10)	7 (5 to 11)	7(4 to 10)	
Missing	2 (1)	6 (7.9)	8 (2.9)	
Bicycle Type				0.05
Mountain or Racing	144 (53.9)	50 (66.7)	194 (56.7)	
Commuter or Folding	123 (46.1)	25 (33.3)	148 (43.3)	
Missing	5 (1.8)	1 (1)	6 (1.7)	
Wearing a cycle helmet				0.23
Yes	178 (65.3)	44 (57.9)	222 (63.8)	
Missing	0	0	0	

Table 12 Bicycle Use By Case-Control Status

3.6.2 Route and Journey Characteristics By Case-Control Status

The following section sets out the data collected regarding some aspects of the journeys recorded by participants in the study with comparisons of the case and control groups. Table 13 shows a comparison of the variables concerning the recorded journey by case and control group. For cases, the journey recorded was that during which their crash occurred. For controls, the journey recorded was that they had just completed or were about to commence, when they were approached by the researcher.

The predominant weather conditions recorded during the study journeys were similar for cases and controls. The majority of cyclists were travelling in good weather with the numbers of case and control journeys undertaken during poor weather being very low. The ambient light levels recorded during the study journeys differed significantly between cases and controls. Cases were more likely to have been travelling in daylight or in darkness without street lighting than at either dawn or dusk or under street lighting at night.

Characteristics of the chosen routes of cases and controls were estimated from observations carried out at randomly selected sites and by using published crash location data for the three years prior to the recruitment period (2005-2007). The amount of cycle traffic along case routes was lower although this is not significant. The number of reported crashes along the case or control study journeys differed significantly with cases tending to cycle along routes with significantly more bicycle crashes recorded by police. These elements were combined with the route length recorded by respondents to give an estimate of the number of cycle crashes per 100 million kilometres cycled along each route.

This variable was not normally distributed showing a large positive skew (figure 11 below). The comparison of medians for the two groups showed that case journeys had a significantly higher estimate of crash risk than control journeys.



Figure 11 Distribution Of Route Risk Variable For All Participants

Very few of the participants in either group were travelling on routes with which they were unfamiliar as would be expected for commuter and utility trips. The median route lengths did not differ significantly by group although both groups were travelling greater than the mean distance for trips estimated by the National Travel Survey ⁴⁷. Very low numbers of cases and controls reported having consumed alcohol within eight hours of their cycle journey with a non-significantly higher proportion of controls answering yes to this question. Similar proportions of cases and controls recorded their starting and finishing places in each of the available categories. The majority of reported journeys started or finished at a workplace or place of study.

Three questions were included in an attempt to assess the "culture" of cycling where the trip included an institution such as a workplace or college. A marginally significantly higher proportion of controls than cases reported that changing facilities were available. A significantly higher proportion of controls than cases reported that there was cycle parking available to them. There was no significant difference in the proportions of cases and controls reporting that they felt the organisation concerned "encouraged" cycling with around half of each group recording that they thought this was true. The proportions of respondents whose place of study or employer was "small", "medium" or "large" in terms of the numbers of employees at that site differed significantly between cases and controls with almost all controls recruited at large organisations employing more than 250 workers. Around a third of cases were travelling to or from small or medium sized organisations.

Characteristic	Control (n (% or 95% CI)	Case (% or 95% CI)	P value
Weather conditions			0.18
Good	212 (78.2)	57 (76)	
Moderate	36 (13.3)	15 (20)	
Poor	23 (8.5)	3 (4)	
Missing	1 (0.1)	1 (0.3)	
Light Levels		•	0.003
Sunshine	93 (34.3)	38 (50)	
Overcast	106 (39.1)	17 (22.4)	1

 Table 13 Route and Journey Characteristics By Case-Control Status

Dawn or Dusk	27 (10)	5 (6.6)	
Street Lighting	43 (15.9)	12 (15.8)	
Darkness	2 (0.7)	4 (5.3)	
Missing	1 (0.3)	0	
Annual Average Daily Cycle Traffic	Along Chosen Route		0.06*
Median (IQR)	746.8 (546.9 to 995.6)	659.4 (527.5 to 860.9)	
Missing	35 (12.9)	15 (19.7)	
Three Year Cycle Crash Reports Al	ong Chosen Route (Poli	ce Data 2005-2007)	0.002*
Median (IQR)	11 (8 to 15)	14 (8 to 19)	
Missing	11 (4)	5 (6.5)	
Route Risk Estimate			0.006*
Median (IQR)	268.5 (192.6 to 464.5)	378.5 (232.4 to 548.3)	
Missing	35 (12.9)	15 (19.7)	
Familiarity With Chosen Route			0.75
Familiar route (> once per month)	257 (95.2)	73 (96.1)	
Unfamiliar route (<once month)<="" per="" th=""><th>13 (4.8)</th><th>3 (4)</th><th></th></once>	13 (4.8)	3 (4)	
Missing	2 (0.7)	0	
Route length (Kms)			0.13*
Median (IQR)	4.9 (3.4 to 7.2)	6 (3.8 to 7.8)	
Missing	9 (3.3)	4 (5.3)	
Alcohol consumed within 8 hours	of the journey		0.2
Yes	12 (4.4)	1 (1.3)	
Missing	0	0	
Journey Starting Place			0.12
Train or Tram Station	10 (3.7)	0	
Private Address	148 (54.8)	37 (49.3)	
Public Place	10 (3.7)	6 (8)	
Workplace, College or University	102 (37.8)	32 (42.7)	
Missing	2 (0.7)	1 (1.3)	
Journey Finishing Place			0.01
Train or Tram Station	4 (1.5)	1 (1.3)	
Private Address	113 (41.5)	36 (47.4)	
Public Place	13 (4.8)	2 (2.6)	

Workplace, College or University	142 (52.2)	34 (44.7)	
Missing	0	3 (3.9)	
Cycle "culture" at non-private des	tinations		I
Changing Facilities	190 (73.1)	38 (51.4)	0.03
Missing	29 (10.7)	17 (22.4)	
Cycle Parking	234 (92.9)	49 (68.1)	<0.001
Missing	31 (11.4)	16 (22.2)	
Organisation Encourages Cycling	172 (66.9)	39 (52.7)	0.6
Missing	33 (12.1)	19 (25)	
Size of Employing Company If App	licable (Number of Em	ployees)	<0.001
Small (<50)	6 (2.55)	13 (21)	
Medium (50-250)	4 (1.7)	9 (14.5)	
Large (>250)	225 (95.7)	40 (64.5)	
Missing	37 (13.6)	14 (18.4)	

* Test for equality of medians – approximate significance for matched data

The journey length of respondents to the survey is comparable with that reported nationally although there is a positive skew with a small number of participants travelling far larger distances (figure 12). These longer journeys were self-recorded as commutes but they are outliers compared to the majority of respondents and an average trip length from national data and have been excluded in some analyses where indicated.

Figure 12 Distribution Of Bicycle Trip Length (All Eligible Respondents) With UK Average (National Travel Survey 2009)



3.7 Univariate Matched Associations Of Confounders With Risk Of Collision Or Evasion Crash

The following section describes the univariate associations of confounders with the risk of collision or evasion crash using conditional logistic regression of the data from matched cases and controls. The odds ratios, Wald probabilities and 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios are given in table 14.

Age was found to have a linear relationship to crash risk and was included as a continuous variable. The increasing age of participants was found to be associated with significantly reduced odds of crash in the unadjusted analysis. There was a 4% reduction in crash risk for each year increase in participant age. Gender was found to be significantly associated with crash risk. Female cyclists were found to have a 49% reduction in risk of crash compared to males in this sample. There was a significant positive association between increasing deprivation score for the participant's home address and risk of collision or evasion crash. For every one unit increase in deprivation score there was a 2.5% increase in the risk of crash.

There was a significant association between possession of a current driving licence and risk of collision crash. Participants with a driving licence were 53%

less likely to be involved in a crash than those without. Greater than median Normlessness scores was associated with a significant reduction in collision crash of 42%. Participants who reported having cycled regularly for less than one year were at significantly greater risk of a collision crash than those with one to three or greater than ten years experience. A reported journey length greater than the median was associated with a significantly higher risk of a collision crash (p=0.03).

Those involved in collision crashes were almost twice as likely to have been riding a mountain or racing bicycle than one designed for commuting (p=0.03). Weather conditions were not significantly associated with collision crash risk but travelling during dawn or dusk or in darkness compared with daylight was associated with a significant reduction in risk of collision crash.

There was a significant negative relationship between the amount of bicycle traffic observed along the participant's route and the risk of collision crash. For every 100 extra cyclists a day, there was an estimated 12% reduction in risk of collision crash (odds ratio per 100 extra cyclists 0.86; 95% CI 0.8 to 0.98). A significant positive relationship between collision crash risk and the number of recorded bicycle injury crashes along the chosen route was also found. Each extra bicycle injury crash appeared to increase the risk for participants in this sample by 4%. The route risk variable which estimates exposure to traffic danger was found to be a significant predictor of crash risk in the study sample. The estimated number of cycle crashes per 100 million kilometres travelled on each route was associated with a 19% increase in crash risk (odds ratio per 100 extra crashes 1.19; 95% CI 1.06 to 1.33).

There was no significant association between reporting having had cycle proficiency training whilst at school and risk of a crash. The numbers having received cycle training as adults were too small to permit a comparison. Participants who reported having been involved in a previous bicycle crash resulting in injury in the previous three years had a non-significantly reduced collision crash risk.

Greater than median Sensation Seeking score was not associated with a reduction in collision crash risk. There was no significant difference in the risk of collision crash between helmet wearers and non-wearers. There was no difference between the least experienced group and those with four to ten years experience. The number of bicycle trips taken in the prior seven days was not associated with raised odds of crash but participants whose route was greater

than the median were at significantly greater risk of collision crash involement than those with a shorter reported route.

Familiarity with the reported route was not associated with odds of collision crash. There was no association between alcohol use prior to the journey and subsequent crash risk although the numbers reporting using alcohol within 8 hours of their journey were small.

Table 14 Univariate Matched Associations Of Confounders With Risk OfCollision Or Evasion Crash

Characteristic	Unit / Category	odds ratio	95% Co Inte	nfidence rval	р
			Lower	Upper	
Age	per Year	0.96	0.94	0.99	0.003
Female	vs Male	0.52	0.28	0.94	0.03
Index of Multiple Deprivation	Per unit score	1.025	1.007	1.044	0.006
Driving Licence	Yes vs No	0.47	0.25	0.89	0.02
Cycle Training During Childhood*	Yes vs No	0.81	0.47	1.39	0.45
Injury Cycle Crash in the previous three years	Yes vs No	0.63	0.34	1.18	0.15
Sensation Seeking Score > Median	Yes vs No	0.83	0.49	1.42	0.5
Normlessness Score > Median	Yes vs No	0.6	0.35	1.03	0.07
Helmet Wearing	Yes vs No	0.79	0.46	1.38	0.41
	<1 Year	1	-	-	-
Regular cycling	1 - 3 Years	0.35	0.13	0.94	0.037
	4 - 10 Years	0.98	0.38	2.50	0.97
	> 10 Years	0.34	0.15	0.74	0.007
Distance Cycled in the Previous Seven Days	Per Km	1.004	0.99	1.008	0.12
Number of Bicycle Trips in the Previous Week	Per Trip	1.03	0.98	1.08	0.26
Type of Bicycle Used	Commuter or Folder	1	-	-	-
	Mountain or Racing	1.87	1.05	3.32	0.03

	Good	1	-	-	-
Weather During Journey	Moderate	1.51	0.67	3.36	0.33
	Poor	0.28	0.08	1.05	0.06
	Daylight	1	-	-	-
Light Level During Journey Familiarity With Route	Overcast	0.23	0.09	0.54	0.001
	Dawn or Dusk	0.17	0.04	0.66	0.01
	Darkness**	0.54	0.14	2.18	0.39
	> Once per month	1	-	-	-
	< Once per Month	0.53	0.11	2.63	0.44
Route Length > Median	Yes vs No	1.85	1.05	3.26	0.03
Alcohol consumed within eight hours of the journey	Yes vs No	0.24	0.03	1.9	0.18
Annual Average Daily Bicycle Traffic Along Chosen Route	Per 100 cyclists	0.86	0.82	0.98	0.02
Three Year Cycle Crash Reports Along Chosen Route	Per Injury Crash	1.04	1.005	1.07	0.03
Route Risk (estimated crashes per 100, 000,000 kms cycled along each participant route)	Per 100 extra crashes	1.19	1.06	1.33	0.002

* Cycle training as an adult reported by less than 5% of cases and controls

** Street-lighting and no street-lighting combined due to small numbers in each cell

3.8 The Use of Conspicuity Aids By Case-Control Status

The following section reports the self-recorded use of conspicuity aids such as fluorescent or reflective garments or equipment by participants in this study (table 15). Cases were more likely to report using any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment than controls although this difference was not significant. Similarly there was no significant difference in the proportions wearing a combination of fluorescent and reflective items between the outcome groups. Use of fluorescent items was similar between the groups but reflective item use was higher amongst cases.

The numbers overall wearing fluorescent helmets was low but significantly higher amongst cases. Many participants reported having reflective areas on

their helmets with similar proprtions in the case and control groups. This finding contradicts the independent observations recorded by the researcher.

Fluorescent clothing was most commonly worn above the waist with similar proportions of cases and controls reporting doing so. Very few participants had fluourescent lower body clothing in either group. Reflective clothing was worn above the waist by similar proportions of cases and controls but cases were roughly twice as likely to report wearing reflective materials below the waist.

Controls were more likely to wear fluorescent ankle bands or clips but cases to wear reflective ones. Neither difference was significant. After adjustment for multiple comparisons only the large difference in the proportions wearing fluorescent helmets remains significant and the absolute numbers using them suggest they are not commonly worn.

The questionnaire included a free text area for the participant to describe the upper body, lower body clothing and a section for reporting the use of other safety equipment. No items designed to enhance conspicuity which were not already specified in the questionnaire, were recorded by participants.

	Control (%)	Case (%)	Total (%)	P value			
		n=76	n=348				
	n=272						
Fluorescent and Reflective Clothing and Equipment Use							
Any Fluorescent or Reflective	178 (65.4)	53 (69.7)	231 (66.4)	0.48			
Any Fluorescent and Reflective	101 (37.1)	31 (40.8)	132 (37.9)	0.56			
Any Fluorescent	119 (43.8)	33 (43.4)	152 (43.7)	0.96			
Any Reflective	160 (58.8)	51 (67.1)	211 (60.6)	0.19			
By Body Region							
Fluorescent Helmet	6 (2.2)	12 (15.8)	18 (5.2)	p<0.001			
Fluorescent Upper Body*	93 (34.2)	24 (31.6)	117 (33.6)	0.67			
Fluorescent Lower Body	1 (0.4)	2 (2.6)	3 (0.86)	0.06			
Reflective helmet	88 (32.4)	26(34.2)	114 (32.8)	0.76			
Reflective Upper Body	113 (41.5)	39 (51.3)	152 (43.7)	0.13			
Reflective Lower Body	29 (10.7)	17 (22.4)	46 (13.2)	0.008			
Ankle Bands or Cycle Clips							
Fluorescent	41 (15.1)	6 (7.9)	47 (13.5)	0.11			
Reflective	25 (9.2)	9 (11.8)	34 (9.8)	0.49			

Table 15 Conspicuity Aid Use By Case-Control Status

* Modelled as secondary exposure below

3.8.1 Bicycle-Mounted Conspicuity Aid Use By Case-Control Status

Study participants were asked to record the prescence or otherwise of reflectors and lights mounted on their bicycles. The results are given in table 16.

Reflectors set into bicycle pedals have been mandatory on all bicycles sold in the UK since 1987. In this sample over two thirds of respondents reported that they were present.. Similarly high proportions reported having fixed reflectors on their bicycles with a majority reporting them on both front and rear of the machine. A red rear reflector is mandatory on all bicycles ridden on the roads in the UK. Over half of the sample reported having spoke or wheel reflectors on the bicycle they were riding. Just under half of the sample had mounted lights fitted to their bicycles both front and rear which were not lit during the study journey. Approximately 20% did not have lights fitted. Similar proportions of cases and

controls reported having flashing lights with a slightly greater proportion in both groups using a flashing rear light. There were no significant differences in the use of any of these items of equipment by outcome group.

Conspicuity Aid	Control (%)	Case (%)	Total (%)	P Value
	n=272	n=76	n=348	
Pedal Reflectors	179 (65.8)	54 (71.1)	233 (67)	0.39
Fixed Reflectors				·
Front	171 (62.9)	55 (72.4)	226 (64.9)	0.13
Rear	204 (75)	57 (75)	261 (75)	1
Spoke or Wheel Reflectors	149 (54.8)	41 (54)	190 (54.6)	0.9
Front Light				0.58
Yes – Not Lit	132 (49.4)	33 (43.4)	165 (48.1)	
Yes – Flashing	31 (11.6)	13 (17.1)	44 (12.8)	
Yes – Lit	38 (14.2)	12 (15.8)	50 (14.6)	
Rear Light				0.61
Yes – Not Lit	133 (49.6)	32 (42.1)	165 (48)	
Yes – Flashing	51 (19)	19 (25)	70 (20.1)	1
Yes – Lit	22 (8.2)	7 (9.2)	29 (8.4)	

Table 16 Bicycle-Mounted Reflector And Light Use By Case-Control Status

3.8.2 Habitual Safety and Conspicuity Equipment Use By Case-Control Status

Participants were asked to record their habitual use of a subset of safety equipment and conspicuity aids. Reponses were categorised by pattern of use such as 'always used', 'never used' or 'occasionally used' i.e. only used in certain circumstances such as after dark or in heavy traffic. The categories of conditional use e.g. "in heavy traffic" were combined into 'occasional use'. Further results are given in Appendix 5.

Helmets were used for all cycling by the majority of both groups with less than a third saying they never wore one and only a small proportion wearing a helmet

depending on characteristics of their journey. Conspicuity aids worn above the waist appeared to be used on a more discretionary basis with nearly 40% of both groups saying that their use would depend on circumstances. Conspicuity aids worn below the waist were only worn by a minority of both groups with less than 10% wearing them for every journey. A similar pattern was observed for conspicuity enhancing ankle bands or clips.

Discretionary use of both front and rear lights was common with less than a quarter of respondents using lights at all times. Overall the two groups were similar in their patterns of use of such equipment with the only significant difference being for the different patterns of use of front lights between the case and control groups.

3.9 Unmatched Univariate Associations Of Confounders With Use Of Conspicuity Aids

The following section presents the univariate unmatched associations between the primary exposure (the use of any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment) and potential confounders. The results are presented in table 17.

Distance cycled in the previous seven days and helmet wearing were both associated with increased likelihood of using conspicuity aids. Those who reported wearing a helmet were over eight times more likely to report using conspicuity aids and this relationship remained significant after correction for multiple comparisons (with Bonferroni adjustment; p=0.002).

Increasing age, female gender, deprivation score, possession of a driving licence, childhood cycle training, psychometric scores, cycling experience, type of bicycle, weather and light levels, unfamiliar route, increasing number of trips in the previous week and previous bicycle crash involving injury were not associated with increased odds of wearing any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment. Cyclists travelling on routes with greater amounts of bicycle traffic were less likely to wear conspicuity aids (p=0.02). This association did not remain significant after adjustment for multiple comparisons. Participants cycling on routes with greater numbers of previous bicycle injury crashes were more likely to wear conspicuity aids (p<0.001). The likelihood of wearing conspicuity

aids was not related to the risk of bicycle crashes expressed as a rate per 100,000,000 kilometres of bicycle travel.

Table 17 Unmatched Univariate Associations Of Confounders With UseOf Conspicuity Aids

Characteristic	odds ratio	95% Confidence Interval		P value
		Lower	Upper	
Age	1.01	0.99	1.03	0.28
Female	1.35	0.84	2.19	0.22
Index of Multiple Deprivation	0.99	0.98	1.01	0.31
Driving Licence	1.48	0.85	2.56	0.17
Cycle Training During Childhood	1.01	0.64	1.58	0.98
Injurous Cycle Crash in the Previous 3 years	1.73	1.01	2.96	0.05
Sensation Seeking Score (>median)	0.64	0.4	1.03	0.064
Normlessness Score	0.70	0.49	1.00	0.05
Helmet Wearing	8.14	4.93	13.45	< 0.001
Regular cycling*	1	-	-	-
<1 year				
One to Three Years	0.91	0.40	2.07	0.83
Four to Ten Years	0.62	0.26	1.45	0.27
More Than Ten Years	0.99	0.50	1.96	0.98
Distance Cycled in the Previous Seven Days Greater Than Median**	1.75	1.1	2.78	0.02
Number of Bicycle Trips in the Previous Seven Days	0.99	0.95	1.04	0.57
Type of Bicycle Used: Commuting or Folding	1	-	-	-
Mountain or Racing Bicycle	0.73	0.46	1.16	0.18
Weather "Good"	1	-	-	-
"Moderate"	0.64	0.35	1.18	0.15
"Poor"	1.32	0.53	3.26	0.56
Light Level "Daylight"	1	-	-	-
"Overcast"	0.79	0.48	1.30	0.36

"Dawn or Dusk"	2.59	1	6.73	0.05
"Darkness"	3.45	1.57	7.62	0.002
Familiar With Route	1	-	-	-
Cycled Route Less than Once Per Month	0.64	0.23	1.77	0.39
Route Length > Median**	3.25	2.04	5.17	<0.001
Alcohol consumed within 8 hours of the journey	0.42	0.14	1.28	0.13
Annual Average Daily Bicycle Traffic Along Chosen Route	0.9990	0.9984	0.9998	0.015
Three Year Cycle Crash Reports Along Chosen Route >median (Police Data 2005-2007)	2.26	1.43	3.55	<0.001
Estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route	1.02	0.96	1.10	0.51
Estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route > median***	1.21	0.77	1.89	0.41

* Adjusted for age

** Outliers >200kms excluded (median = 48.2 kms)

*** Route Risk dichotomised around the median as no linear association with conspicuity aid use

3.10 Unmatched Univariate Associations Of Use Of Conspicuity Aids With Use Of Other Safety Equipment

Table 18 gives the results of an unmatched analysis of the use of conspicuity aids and other conspicuity enhancing equipment. Conspicuity aid use was significantly associated with increasing use of fixed reflectors and lights.

Table 18 Unmatched Univariate Associations Of Use Of Conspicuity AidsWith Use Of Other Safety Equipment

Equipment Used	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval		P Value	
		Lower	Upper	-	
Any Bike Reflectors	2.2	1.16	4.17	0.02	
Use of Any Lights*	3.88	1.46	10.29	0.006	
Fluorescent or Reflective	All users of ankle bands or clips were wearing some form of other				
Ankle Bands or Clips	conspicuity aid and so no contrast was possible				

* Adjusted for Light Levels

3.11 Univariate Matched Relationships Between Conspicuity Aid Use and Case-Control Status

The following section reports the univariate matched associations between conspicuity aid use and the risk of collision or evasion crash. Exposures are reported as combinations of conspicuity treatments to different body regions e.g. "any item of" and single material single body-area conspicuity treatments e.g. "reflective materials above the waist" as they were recorded in the study questionnaire in the table 19.

The primary exposure, use of any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment vs. none was associated with an increase in the odds of a collision or evasion crash but this is not statistically significant (p=0.55). The use of any fluorescent item of clothing or equipment was associated with an 11% reduction in the risk of collision crash but this is not statistically significant (p=0.69). The use of any item of reflective clothing or equipment (not including bicycle-mounted reflectors) was associated with a non-significant 49% increase in the risk of collision crash (p=0.18). Combinations of one or more items of fluorescent and reflective clothing or equipment were not associated with odds of collision crash (p=0.68).

The use of a fluorescent helmet was associated with a large and significant sixfold raised risk of collision crash although the low numbers using this aid meant that the estimate of the odds ratio lacked precision. The use of reflective clothing below the waist was associated with a significant increase in crash risk

but not after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Fluorescent clothing above the waist, fluorescent ankle bands or clips, bicycle-mounted and spoke or wheel reflector, reflective clothing above the waist, pedal reflectors, reflective ankle bands or clips and bicycle-mounted front or rear reflectors were not associated with increased odds of crash.

Table 19Unadjusted Odds Ratios, Wald Significance And 95%Confidence Intervals Of The Association Between Conspicuity Aid UseAnd Case-Control Status

Exposure	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval		P value
		Lower	Upper	1
Any Item of Fluorescent Or Reflective Clothing Or Equipment	1.2	0.66	2.17	0.55
Any Fluorescent Clothing Or Equipment	0.89	0.50	1.58	0.69
Any Reflective Clothing or Equipment	1.49	0.84	2.64	0.18
Combination of Fluorescent and Reflective Items	1.12	0.64	1.96	0.68
Fluorescent Helmet	6.65	2.4	18.44	<0.001
Fluorescent Clothing Above The Waist	0.78	0.43	1.42	0.4
Reflective Clothing Above The Waist	1.44	0.83	2.49	0.20
Reflective Clothing Below the Waist*	2.76	1.35	5.64	0.005
Pedal Reflectors	1.16	0.66	2.05	0.6
Fluorescent Ankle Bands or Clips	0.47	0.19	1.17	0.1
Reflective Ankle Bands or Clips	1.33	0.56	3.15	0.52
Fixed Front Reflectors	1.44	0.81	2.56	0.21
Fixed Rear Reflectors	0.91	0.49	1.68	0.77
Spoke or Wheel Reflectors	0.97	0.57	1.68	0.93
Use of Lights (Yes or No)	4.46	2.4	8.28	<0.001

* Data for values for "Fluorescent Clothing below the waist" are omitted owing to the small numbers observed
3.12 The Modelling Process

Agresti ²⁷⁷ has argued that creating more than one model can be justified and is often useful in correctly interpreting datasets. Two different approaches to modelling were adopted to adjust for confounding in the current dataset: a forwards stepwise approach and a backwards stepwise approach from a model with all possible confounders with a Wald p value of greater than 0.25 ²²⁷.

3.12.1 Forwards Stepwise With A Priori Confounders Forced Into The Model

Model one was generated by sequentially introducing confounder variables into a model already containing the two a priori confounders Age and Gender. Confounders were retained if they altered the odds ratio of the outcome by more than 10%. Once the model had been settled on all excluded confounders were reintroduced one by one to ensure that no significant alteration in the odds ratio occurred.

3.12.2 Backwards Stepwise Elimination From A "Saturated" Model

Model two was derived using a form of backwards stepwise elimination based on the process described by Hosmer and Lemeshow in Applied Logistic Regression (2nd ed. 2000). A "full" model was generated with all a priori confounders identified from the literature and all potential confounders pre-specified during the design stage of the study.

Variables were retained in the model if their Wald p value was equal to or less than 0.25. Hosmer and Lemeshow argue that a more stringent threshold used early in the modelling process may exclude important variables whose importance is only manifested in later more parsimonious stages of modelling.

Following this initial procedure each covariate was removed in turn. If a greater than 10% change in odds ratio was noted the covariate was retained in the final model. Finally the a priori confounders Age and Gender are returned to the model as their significant univariate association with the outcome and exposures

made them likely to be important confounders. Their reintroduction increased the odds ratio by greater than 10%. The linearity of continuous variables with the outcome was tested as described above. Further details are given in Appendix 6. Route Risk, Index of Multiple Deprivation, Normlessness and Age were entered as linear covariates. Sensation Seeking and Weekly distance were converted to a dichotomous and trichotomous variables respectively.

3.13 Adjusted Associations Of Conspicuity Aid Use And Risk Of Collision Or Evasion Crash

The following section describes the modelling of the primary pre-specified exposure for the study using two approaches which are labelled as Models one and two. The full details of these models are given in Appendix 9. Table 20 gives the results of the modelling of the primary exposure.

The primary conspicuity exposure was associated with raised odds of crash after adjustment for age, gender, index of multiple deprivation score, cycling experience, helmet use and the estimate of route risk (Model 1). There was a 77% increase in risk of collision or evasion crash (adjusted odds ratio 1.77; 95% CI 0.75 to 4.25; p=0.2) although this was not significant at the 0.05 alpha level. The primary exposure was associated with a doubling of the odds of crash after adjustment for age, gender, estimated route risk, deprivation and reported involvement in a bicycle injury crash in the previous three years (adjusted OR 2.43; 95% CI 1.06 to 5.59; p=0.04). Model 2 is not significant if the Wald pvalue is adjusted for multiple comparisons during the modelling process.

Models 1 and 2 were re-estimated without adjustment for estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route owing to the proportion of cases and controls without a value for this variable and the resulting loss of participants from the model. Removal of this confounder from model 1 resulted in a 20% increase in the odds of a crash over the model with the variable. For model 2 the change in odds was negative with a reduction of the odds of a crash for cases relative to controls.

Table 20 Adjusted Associations of Conspicuity Aid Use And Risk ofCollision or Evasion Crash

Conspicuity Aid Use	Adjusted odds ratio	95% Confidence Interval		P value
		Lower	Upper	
Model 1: Any Fluorescent or Reflective Clothing or Equipment*	1.77	0.74	4.25	0.20
Model 2: Any Fluorescent or Reflective Clothing or Equipment * *	2.43	1.06	5.59	0.04
Model 1a: Any Fluorescent or Reflective Clothing or Equipment ***	1.97	0.93	4.18	0.08
Model 2a: Any Fluorescent or Reflective Clothing or Equipment ****	1.48	0.76	2.88	0.25

* Adjusted for Age, Gender, Index Of Multiple Deprivation, Level of Cycling Experience, Helmet use, estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route n=251

** Adjusted for Age, Gender, estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route, Index Of Multiple Deprivation, History of Previous Bicycle Crash n=240

*** Model 1 without estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route n=337

**** Model 2 without estimated bicycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along participant's route n=320

3.13.1 The Effect Of Each Confounder On The Odds Ratio For The Primary Exposure Estimated Using A Matched Analysis

Table 21 below gives the odds ratio of a collision or evasion crash when using conspicuity aids unadjusted and after adjustment for each potential confounder in turn giving odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals, Wald p-values and the numbers of observations included in each estimate. Deprivation score, cycling experience, helmet wearing and route risk all showed a greater than 10% increase in the odds of crash when using conspicuity aids.

Table 21 Matched Analysis Of The Risk Of Collision Or Evasion CrashWhen Using Any Conspicuity Aids With Adjustment For Each IndividualPotential Confounder In Turn.

Model and confounder adjustment	Odds ratio	95% Confidence Interval		P value	n
		Lower	Upper		
Unadjusted Odds Ratio	1.20	0.66	2.17	0.55	348
Age (per year)	1.32	0.71	2.42	0.38	346
Gender (Female)	1.24	0.68	2.26	0.49	347
Index of Multiple Deprivation Score (per unit score)	1.35	0.74	2.50	0.33	342
Childhood Cycle Training (Yes)	1.19	0.65	2.20	0.57	333
Greater than Median Normlessness Score (Yes)	1.17	0.64	2.14	0.61	346
Greater than Median Sensation Seeking Score (Yes)	1.18	0.65	2.14	0.60	346
Cycling Experience	1.43	0.78	2.64	0.25	346
Possession of a Driving Licence (Yes)	1.27	0.69	2.33	0.45	348
Wearing a helmet (Yes)	1.40	0.73	2.71	0.31	348
Previous Crash (Yes)	1.12	0.60	2.04	0.74	329
Unfamiliar Route (Yes)	1.23	0.27	2.23	0.51	346
Drank alcohol within 8 hours of journey (Yes)	1.19	0.65	2.17	0.57	348
Light Level	1.26	0.67	2.35	0.48	347
Weather	1.20	0.65	2.21	0.56	340
Route Risk (per 100 extra cycle crashes per 100 million kms cycled along the participant route)	1.64	0.82	3.28	0.16	258
Lights Used (Yes)	1.10	0.60	2.01	0.77	343
Fixed Reflectors used (Yes)	1.23	0.67	2.25	0.50	348
Racing or Mountain Bicycle (Yes)	1.30	0.71	2.38	0.39	325
Route Length (kms) >median	1.07	0.57	2.00	0.83	323

3.14 Interactions

Tables 22 and 23 give the results of likelihood ratio tests of the effect of introducing interaction terms in to the two adjusted models. None of the two-way interactions were significant. All of the possible two-way interactions with the primary exposure variable in models one and two appeared to be clinically

plausible on the available evidence e.g. that the association of conspicuity aid use and crash risk might be different for males than females. Potential interactions were introduced into each model and a likelihood ratio test was used to assess their effect on the model fit (Stata Version 10 "Irtest"). No significant interactions were found between any of the variables included in the models and the exposure of interest.

Table 22 Two-Way Interactions Of Confounding Variables With ThePrimary Exposure Model 1

Model 1 Interaction terms	Likelihood ratio test probability
PE x Age	0.37
PE x Gender	0.17
PE x Index Of Multiple Deprivation	0.82
PE x Route Risk	0.11
PE x Helmet use	0.39
PE and Cycling Experience	0.49

Table 23 Two-Way Interactions Of Confounding Variables With ThePrimary Exposure Model 2

Model 2 Interaction terms	Likelihood ratio test probability
PE x Age	0.21
PE x route risk	0.05
PE x Gender	0.29
PE x Index Of Multiple Deprivation	0.92
PE x Previous Cycle Crash	Incalculable

3.15 Model Fit and Post-Estimation Diagnostic Plots

A link test was used to test each model for misspecification and missing covariates. The squared leverage term was not significant when compared to the

observed values suggesting that there is no misspecification of the logistic link function nor that a significant predictor or interaction was missing from either model. The results of these tests along with plots of diagnostic statistics are given in Appendix 9.

3.15.1 Model One

Scatter plots of standardised residuals for Model One revealed three cases with residuals of greater than three standard deviations from the predicted values (ID 016; 100; 302). Examining the modelled variable values for these cases individually there were no reason found for excluding them as all the values were plausible. Rerunning Model One without each matched group in turn showed that there was less than 10% change in the odds ratio of the primary exposure when each was excluded in turn. For Model One the expected leverage is given by (8+1)/251 = 0.036.

No leverage value for observations in Model one exceeds 0.16 showing a low level of influence for each individual observation included in this model. The plot of leverage values indicated that control "496/06" was an outlier with a value of around 0.15 but again, removing this observation left the estimate of the adjusted odds ratio unchanged.

3.15.2 Model Two

Model two contained fewer observations with poor fit than model one. A plot of the standardised Pearson residuals showed that case "391'' is an outlier with poor fit of the observed values with those predicted by the model (greater than four standard deviations from the predicted value). Removing this case-control set from the analysis alters the odds ratio from 2.40 to 3.05 and increases the significance of the primary exposure. However examination of the values for the case compared to the matched controls revealed only that the case had a longer route length (7.4 kilometres) and had cycled more (45 kilometres) than controls in the previous week. As neither value is extreme there were no grounds for removing the case from the analysis. The estimated leverage for model two is (7+1)/240= 0.03.

Two observations from one group, case "496" and control "496/06" had leverage values between 0.10 and 0.15.

Removing group "496" from Model Two does not alter the odds ratio by more than 5% compared to the original estimate. Two observations in Model Two with high delta beta influence scores are cases "016" and "063". Again there appear to be no implausible values associated with these participants and removal of the case-control sets did not alter the model odds ratio by more than 10% in either case.

3.15.3 Multicollinearity

The set of modelled variables was examined for multicollinearity. Multicollinearity is present where two or more variable are closely correlated. This decreases the precision of model estimates giving widened confidence intervals of the odds ratio and large standard errors. Multicollinearity should be suspected if the Variance Inflation Factor $(1/(1-R^2))$ is greater than 4. Variance Inflation Factors were calculated for all the modelled variables. The results are given in the Appendix 9. The highest value was 3.36 (Light Level=Darkness) and this was not a confounder in either model. There was no evidence of significant multicollinearity within this dataset.

3.15.4 R-Squared

The square of the correlation between the actual observations and those predicted by the model can be compared to assess how well the model explains the variance in the dataset 227 . It has been claimed that more than one estimation of R-Squared should be used to compare models derived from the same data as a single estimate is unlikely to be informative 278 .

Both of the measures of R^2 used here are designed to quantify the amount of variance within the data explained by the models. The results are shown in table 24. Model two does not differ greatly from model one on these estimates but appears to explain less of the variation within the data on both measures. Both models are comparable on a number of measures of fit and explanatory power.

Model	Maximum Likelihood R ²	Cragg & Uhler's R ²
Model One	0.502	0.537
Model Two	0.45	0.48

Table 24 Measures of R-Squared For Each Model

3.16 Modelling Of Secondary Exposure Variables

Further modelling was undertaken to reassess the relationship between conspicuity and odds of crash using the component conspicuity aid variables.

3.16.1 Fluorescent Clothing Above The Waist

There were considerable differences between the inter-rater reliability of the various component exposure categories. The self-reported component variable with the highest level of agreement with corresponding independent data was the use of "mainly fluorescent materials above the waist which included fluorescent jackets and tabards (kappa 0.71; 95% CI 0.61 to 0.81; table 37).

The numbers of cases and controls who reported wearing mainly fluorescent clothing above the waist are given in Table 15. This variable was modelled to assess its association with the outcome of interest.

The unadjusted odds of collision crash when using fluorescent clothing above the waist was 0.77 (95% CI 0.43 to 1.42). After adjustment for possession of a driving licence, risk of chosen route, use of a mountain or racing bike and involvement in a previous bicycle crash the OR was 1.47 (95% CI 0.69 to 3.13). A similar large positive change in the OR after the introduction of the route risk variable was seen as with the other multivariate models estimated further supporting the importance of this factor in affecting the odds of collision crash in this sample.

3.16.2 Ordinal Measure Of Conspicuity Aid Use

A further model was developed using an ordinal measure of the number of conspicuity aids used as reported by the participants. Figure 13 below shows the number of reported conspicuity aids employed by participants by outcome excluding fixed reflectors and lights.

Figure 13 The Number Of Conspicuity Aids Reported By Case / Control Status



The unadjusted odds ratios of a collision crash when wearing from one to six conspicuity aids is shown in Table 25.

Table 25 Unadjusted And Adjusted Odds Of Collision Crash When Using	J
From 1 to 6 Conspicuity Aids Vs. None	

Number of Conspicuity Aids Used (ref=0)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI) adjusted for Index of Multiple Deprivation Score and Route Risk
1	0.95 (0.43 to 2.09)	1.11 (0.41 to 3.02)
2	1.22 (0.55 to 2.72)	1.91 (0.71 to 5.14)
3	0.88 (0.37 to 2.14)	1.59 (0.59 to 4.33)
4	1.22 (0.39 to 3.82)	3.14 (0.67 to 14.79)
5	7.77 (1.77 to 34.17)	25.89 (2.74 to 244.59)
6	1.02 (0.08 to 13.56)	3.58 (0.27 to 46.72)

There appeared to be no linear relationship to crash risk through the ordered categories. The Likelihood ratio test of a model with ordered categories was not a significant improvement on a model with the variable introduced as a continuous measure (p=0.25).

3.17 Conspicuity Aid Use Of The Cycling Population Observed Within The Study Catchment Area

Observations of conspicuity aid use were conducted alongside recording of numbers of cyclists at randomly selected cyclist crash sites as described in the Methods Section. Table 26 gives the number and characteristics of the sites selected for observation.

Table 26 Frequencies And Percentages Of Characteristics Of ObservationSites

Observation Sites (n=64)	n	%
30 mph	51	80
40 mph	11	17
50 mph	1	2
60 mph	1	2
Segregated Cycle Lanes	14	22
Non-Segregated Cycle Lanes	18	28
Advanced Stop Lines	11	17
Cycle Path Shared With Pedestrians	15	23
Traffic Calming (Cushions, Humps or "Build-outs")	9	14

The results of the traffic observations of cyclist numbers and conspicuity aid use in the source population are given in table 27. There were 9208 cyclists observed at the 64 observation sites. The numbers of cyclists observed during peak hours (07:30 to 09:30 or 16:30 to 18:30 on weekdays) was twice that at off peak hours (09:30 to 16:30 on weekdays). This is consistent with the two daily peaks in cyclist crash involvement reported in the literature (e.g. ⁹⁴).

The numbers cycling at different sites varied dramatically across the study area (Annual Average Daily Cycle Traffic minimum 35 cyclists per day; maximum 2242 cyclists per day). Observations were adjusted for seasonal variation prior to calculation of the route risk variable values.

The proportion of cyclists observed using conspicuity aids was higher during peak hours compared to off peak and helmet use also varied greatly between these periods. There were no more than half of all cyclists using conspicuity aids at any site observed although helmet use was greater than two thirds in some places. The proportion of cyclists observed using segregated cycle lanes or the pavement was higher off-peak than during peak hours which may reflect different sub-groups travelling at those times.

The proportions of cyclists observed using conspicuity aids at the 64 sites were analysed to examine the concurrent use of conspicuity aids within the study population during the recruitment period. Participants in the case-control study were twice as likely as this independently observed population to report use of

conspicuity aids. The unadjusted numbers of cyclists observed during peak and off-peak hours and their use of conspicuity aids and Helmets are given in table 27. The number of cyclists travelling during peak hours was twice that travelling at other times. The proportion of cyclists observing using conspicuity aids and helmets was higher during peak hours. A similar difference was observed for helmet use between peak and off-peak periods.

Characteristic	n	% (95% CI)	P value
Peak Hours Cyclists	6273	68	
Off-Peak Hours Cyclists	2935	32	
Total Cyclists Observed Over 64x4 hour observations	9208	100	
	•		
Peak Hours conspicuity aid use	1624	26 (25 to 27)	
Off-Peak Hours conspicuity aid use	498	17 (16 to 18)	
Total	2122	23 (22 to 24)	
Difference 9%			0.0002
Peak Hours Helmet Use	1505	24 (23 to 25)	
Off-Peak Hours Helmet Use	524	18 (16 to 19)	
Total	2029	22 (21 to 23)	
Difference 6.6%			0.0002

Table 27	Population	Observations	At Peak	And Of	ff-Peak	Periods
----------	------------	--------------	---------	--------	---------	---------

The proportions observed using conspicuity aids were compared between "summer" months (May to October) and "winter" months (November to April). The comparisons at peak and off-peak times are illustrated in Figures 14 and 15 below. Summer months were defined as those with greater than the annual mean bicycle use and winter with less than the annual mean bicycle as reported in a monthly breakdown of Department for Transport statistics derived from the National Travel Survey ⁴³. No data for conspicuity aid use for the catchment area are available from other sources for comparison with the observations presented here.

During peak hours there was a significant difference in the numbers of conspicuity aid using cyclists observed by season. Sites observed in the winter months had significantly more conspicuity aid users than sites observed in the

summer months (Mann-Whitney-U; p=0.0004). There was no significant difference in the numbers of users during off-peak periods for summer vs. winter observations at the same sites (Mann-Whitney-U; p=0.19). There was no significant seasonal variation in helmet use between sites observed in summer and winter whether at peak or off-peak times (Mann-Whitney U; peak periods p=0.67 and off-peak periods p=0.15). The results show that conspicuity aid use is associated with season of travel. The matching of cases and controls by season of travel removes confounding from this source in the current study.

Figure 14 The Variation In The Proportion Of Cyclists Using Conspicuity Aids During Peak Hours In "High" And "Low" Cycling Seasons.



Figure 15 The Variation In The Proportion Of Cyclists Using Conspicuity Aids During Off-Peak Hours In "High" And "Low" Cycling Seasons.



3.18 Exposure-Related Selection Bias

Independent exposure data for cases and control responders and nonresponders collected in the current study was used to estimate probability of responding when exposed and not exposed for cases and controls..

The probability of responding for cases if independently observed using conspicuity aids was 1 (5 exposed cases responded of 5 observed; 95% CI 0.57 to 1.00) and if not wearing conspicuity aids was 0.3 (3 unexposed cases responded of 10 observed; 95% CI 0.11 to 0.60).

The probability of responding for controls if exposed was 0.79 (83 exposed controls responded of 105 observed; 95% CI0.700.86) and if not exposed was 0.57 (151 unexposed controls responded of 264 observed: 95% CI 0.51 to 0.63).

Applying a response bias factor using these observed probabilities gave a corrected estimate of the source population unadjusted unmatched odds ratio of

0.51 or a 49% reduction in crash risk for those using any conspicuity aids vs. none.

3.19 Stratification Of Crash Risk And Conspicuity Aid Exposures By Light Levels, Weather Conditions And Injury Severity

The following sections examine variation in the use of conspicuity aids by cases and controls in different visibility conditions. The final section assesses the effect of conspicuity aid use on injury severity scores for cases.

3.19.1 Light Levels

The proportions of cases and controls using any conspicuity aids whilst travelling in differing lighting conditions are given in table 28. The light level responses were collapsed into four ordered categories owing to the relatively small numbers travelling at night in places without street lighting. There was no improvement in model fit when an interaction term for the effect on the use of conspicuity aids by light level was entered (likelihood ratio test p=0.67) into models.

There is no significant difference in the proportions of cases and controls using any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment in daylight, overcast conditions, dawn or dusk or in darkness.

Rates of conspicuity aid use were high when respondents were travelling in less than optimal light conditions and were almost universal after dark. The number wearing fluorescent, reflective or light-coloured items of clothing or equipment was high and similarly so for both cases and controls (82% and 80% respectively). In low lighting conditions the proportions of cases and controls with high conspicuity was 90% and 86% respectively. The proportion of controls reporting wearing no fluorescent, reflective or light-coloured items of clothing or equipment during twilight and darkness was twice as high as for cases (28% and 13% respectively).

Light Level	Control n (%)		Case n (%)		P Value	
	Conspicuity Aids Used				-	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	-	
Daylight	59 (63.4)	34 (36.6)	23 (60.5)	15 (39.5)	0.75	
Overcast	58 (54.7)	48 (45.3)	12 (70.6)	5 (29.4)	0.22	
Dawn or Dusk	22 (81.5)	5 (18.5)	4 (80.0)	1 (20.0)	0.94	
Darkness (with and without street lighting)	38 (84.4)	7 (15.6)	14 (87.5)	2 (12.5)	0.77	

Table 28 Conspicuity Aid Use By Case-Control Status Stratified By LightLevel

There were insufficient numbers of cyclists travelling at dawn and dusk to allow stratification of the odds ratio for crash risk and conspicuity aid use and the numbers travelling after dark were also small and so the categories were again collapsed. A dichotomous variable for light level was created. "Daylight" combines "Sunny" and "Overcast" categories and "reduced light" combines "Dawn or dusk", "Darkness with street lighting" and "Darkness without street lighting". The unadjusted conditional odds ratio for collision crash when using conspicuity aids in daylight vs reduced light are given in table 29. Crashes were more likely to occur in daylight than under low light conditions. Although the numbers of crashes in darkness are low this may merely reflect the relatively low levels of cycling after dark.

Table 29 Unadjusted Crash Risk When Using Conspicuity Aids StratifiedBy Light Level

Crash Risk	odds ratio	95% CI	P value
Daylight	1.38	0.70 to 2.71	0.35
Reduced Light	0.86	0.14 to 5.19	0.87

The association between light level and conspicuity aid use was examined and the results are presented in table 30. The likelihood of participants using any item of fluorescent clothing is higher in low light conditions than in daylight. Table 30 Likelihood Of Use Of Any Fluorescent Conspicuity Aid By LightLevel For Cases And Controls Combined (Unconditional LogisticRegression n=347)

Light Level and Exposure	Unadjusted Odds Ratio	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper	P value
	Fluorescent Item Us	se		_
Daylight	1	-	-	-
Overcast	1.03	0.62	1.72	0.913
Dawn / Dusk	3.53	1.56	7.95	0.002
Darkness	3.52	1.86	6.66	<0.00 1
	Reflective Item Us	e		
Daylight	1	-	-	-
Overcast	0.86	0.53	1.41	0.56
Dawn / Dusk	2.38	1	5.7	0.05
Darkness	3.61	1.73	7.56	0.001

3.19.2 Weather Conditions

The odds ratios of collision crash and for the use of conspicuity aid use in different weather conditions are give in table 31. Very few responder journeys were undertaken in poor weather. This reflects the much lower levels of cycling in these conditions and consequent reduced number of crashes. Owing to the low cell values the weather variable was collapsed into three ordered categories of "Good Weather", "Moderate Weather" and "Poor Weather".

There was no apparent protective effect of using any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment in moderate or poor weather compared to good weather conditions. Data were too sparse to permit adjustment of odds ratios for confounding.

Table 31 Odds Ratios Of Collision Crash Risk Stratified By WeatherConditions And Odds Ratios Of Collision Crash Risk And Use OfFluorescent Or Reflective Clothing Stratified By Weather Conditions.

	Odds Ratio	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper	P Value		
Crash Risk (n=347)						
Good Weather	1	-	-	-		
Light Rain	0.97	0.48	1.95	0.93		
Heavy Precipitation or Fog	0.73	0.06	8.84	0.81		
Any Conspicuity Aid Use (n=34	47)			•		
Good Weather	1	-	-	-		
Light Rain	0.64	0.35	1.18	0.15		
Heavy Precipitation or Fog	1.32	0.53	3.26	0.55		
Fluorescent Item Use (n=347)						
Good Weather	1	-	-	-		
Light Rain	0.77	0.42	1.43	0.41		
Heavy Precipitation or Fog	1.77	0.78	4	0.17		
Reflective Item Use (n=346)						
Good Weather	1	-	-	-		
Light Rain	0.77	0.43	1.43	0.42		
Heavy Precipitation or Fog	1.44	0.6	3.43	0.41		

3.19.3 The Use Of Conspicuity Aids And Their Effect On Injury Severity Scores

Conspicuity aids may increase detection and recognition distances for uses as suggested in the literature reviewed above. Where this effect is insufficient to prevent a collision there may be an effect from lower impact speeds which could reduce the severity of the resulting injuries.

There was no significant difference between the injury severity score of those in collision or evasion crashes for users of conspicuity aids vs non-users (Mann Whitney U; p=0.95. The median injury severity score was 1 (IQR 1 to 4) and 2 (IQR 1 to 4) for conspicuity aid users vs non-users respectively.

3.20 The Effect of Missing Data

There were missing values for a number of the covariates used in modelling. Bias due to missing observations can affect observational studies where the missing data are not missing at random or missing completely at random.

A relatively large proportion of the sample had missing data for the estimated bicycle crash rate along each route (15 cases and 35 controls were missing data for this variable). The conditional logistic regression procedure was used to assess the degree of bias introduced by failing to include participants with missing data on this variable. The unadjusted odds ratio for the association of conspicuity aid use with crash risk was 1.48 when observations were restricted to those with a value for the route risk variable (95% CI 0.75-3.28; n=258; 50 records dropped because of missing data and a further 40 records because all matched participants were or were not using conspicuity aids and could not be compared).

A single imputation process was used to replace all missing values with estimated values based on a regression of each variable with the primary outcome. Table 32 shows the odds ratios obtained using conditional logistic regression where all available participant data is included to remove bias from this source. Inclusion of the missing cases and controls reduced the odds ratio estimated by model one by less than 10%. However the inclusion of all cases and controls into models by the use of imputed data reduced the OR for model two and this was no longer statistically significant. Model one was more robust to the loss of participant data caused by missing values.

Table 32 Conditional Multivariate Logistic Regression Using All CasesAnd Controls (n=348)

Outcome	Odds Ratio	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper	P value
Primary Exposure (Model 1)	1.81	0.86	3.79	0.12
(original adjusted OR 1.77)				
Primary Exposure (Model 2)	1.62	0.82	3.23	0.17
(original adjusted OR 2.43)				

3.21 Independent Observations of Conspicuity Aid Use

The researcher collected conspicuity aid use data independently at the time of first approach to the case or control cyclists to enable a formal assessment of the validity of the self-reported exposure variables to be made. Table 33 shows the numbers of participants with independent data by case-control status. Table 34 shows the difference between self-reported and independently observed primary exposure observations for cases and controls.

Table 33 Independent Observations Of Exposures By Case ControlStatus (n=348)

Independent Observations Recorded	Control n(%)	Case n(%)	
Yes	224 (82.4)	4 (5.3)	
Νο	48 (17.7)	72 (94.7)	

Table 34 Comparison Of Self-Reported	d Conspicuity Aid Use By Outcome
--------------------------------------	----------------------------------

Self-Reported Conspicuity Aid Use	Independent Observation Of Conspicuity Aid Use n (%)				
	Con	trol	Case		
	Yes	No	Yes	No	
Yes	77 (34.4)	65 (29.0)	2 (50)	2 (50)	
Νο	5 (2.2)	77 (34.4)	0	0	

3.22 Sensitivity, Specificity And Inter-Rater Reliability Of Self-Reported Conspicuity Aid Use

Table 35 shows the estimates of sensitivity and specificity for the primary exposure, the use of any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing vs. none, using the independently collected data as a reference standard. The sensitivity of self-reports of conspicuity aid use was 94% (95% CI 0.86 to0.98). The specificity of self-reports of conspicuity aid use was 53% (95% CI 0.45 to 0.62).

There was insufficient independent data for cases preventing sensitivity and specificity being calculated separately by outcome status.

Table 35 Comparison Of Self-Reported Conspicuity Aid Use WithIndependent Observations (n=228)

Self-Reported Conspicuity Aid Use		Independently Observed Conspicuity Aid Use		
	Yes	No	Total	
Yes	79	67	146	
No	5	77	82	
Total	84	144	228	
	(95% CI)			
Prevalence of conspicuity aid use	0.37 (0.31 to 0.43)			
Sensitivity or the proportion of cyclists observed using conspicuity aids who self-reported that they were using them	0.94 (0.86 to 0.98)			
False Negative or the proportion of cyclists observed using conspicuity aids who self-reported that they were not using them	0.06			
Positive Predictive Value of self reports	0.54			
Specificity or the proportion of cyclists observed not using conspicuity aids who self-reported that they were not using them	0.53 (0.45 to 0.62)			
False Positive the proportion of cyclists observed not using conspicuity aids who self-reported that they were using them	0.47			
Negative Predictive Value of Self-reports		0.94		

The un-weighted Cohen Kappa coefficient represents the level of agreement between two independent observers greater than chance ²⁷⁹. A suggested interpretation of the kappa coefficient is reproduced below in table 36.

Table 36 Interpretation Of Kappa Statistics ²⁷⁹

Карра	Strength of Agreement		
<0.0	Poor		
0.0-0.2	Slight		
0.21-0.4	Fair		
0.41-0.6	Moderate		
0.61-0.8	Substantial		
0.81-1.0	Almost perfect		

Table 37 gives the kappa coefficient for participant and researcher agreement for each exposure classification recorded for the study. The proportion of responses where the participant and the independent observer agreed on the classification of the exposure is also reported.

Table 37 Kappa Coefficients And 95% Confidence Intervals ForConspicuity Aid And Helmet Use

Exposure Item	Agreement	Карра	95% CI	95% CI
	%		Lower	Upper
Helmet	95.5	0.9	0.85	0.96
Helmet Fluorescent	97.5	0.24	-0.16	0.64
Helmet Reflective	68.6	0.03	-0.01	0.08
Helmet Light Colour	83.9	0.45	0.31	0.6
Upper Body Clothing Fluorescent	87.6	0.71	0.61	0.81
Upper Body Clothing Reflective	74.4	0.39	0.28	0.5
Upper Body Clothing Light Colour	58.7	0.24	0.15	0.33
Fluorescent or Reflective Items (Primary Exposure)	68.6	0.42	0.32	0.51
Any Fluorescent Item	79.8	0.56	0.46	0.67
Any Reflective Item	59.1	0.23	0.16	0.33

3.23 Inter-Rater Reliability Of Researcher Observations

Researcher observations of external clothing conspicuity during field observations were validated by comparison with observations recorded by a second observer. The results are given in Appendix 7.

3.24 Results Summary

- The unadjusted odds ratio of collision or evasion crash for cyclists using any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment vs none was 1.2 (95% CI 0.70 to 2.20).
- The odds ratio of collision crash adjusted for age, gender, index of multiple deprivation score, estimated cycle crashes per 100 million kilometres cycled along the participant's chosen route, cycling experience and wearing a helmet was 1.77 (95% CI 0.74 to 4.25).
- The odds ratio of collision crash adjusted for age, gender, index of multiple deprivation score, estimated cycle crashes per 100 million kilometres cycled along the participant's chosen route and involvement in a previous bicycle crash causing injury was 2.4 (95% CI 1.06 to 5.59).
- Restricting models to participants with no missing data or imputing values for missing covariates reduced the odds ratios of models towards unity and none were significant at the 5% alpha level. Missing data, primarily for the route risk variable, appeared to have a greater effect on model two than model one.
- The response rate of cases was low (13% of all those approached and approximately 35% of eligible crashes) despite reminders and a financial incentive
- The response rate of controls was 54%

- Confounders with an effect on the odds ratio of >+/- 10% were included in models of the association between collision risk and exposure use.
- Both the models presented were affected by a small number of outliers but examination of the individual observations did not suggest that these cases and controls should be excluded.
- The self-reported use of conspicuity aids for both cases (70%) and controls (65%) was higher than that observed amongst the cycling population from which the participants were drawn whether observed during peak (26%) or off-peak (17%) commuting hours.
- Conspicuity aid use was more likely to be reported by participants travelling on routes with fewer cyclists (p=0.02) and with greater numbers of previous crashes (p=<0.001).
- Conspicuity aid use was associated with increased likelihood of wearing a helmet (p=<0.001) and of making a longer journey (p=<0.001) and of cycling further in the week prior to recruitment (p=0.02).
- Agreement of self-reports of the primary exposure when compared with independent researcher observations made at the time of approach was moderate (Kappa 0.41)
- Participants tended to overestimate their use of conspicuity aids by comparison to data collected by the researcher during recruitment

(sensitivity 94% specificity 53%). The positive predictive value of self-reported conspicuity aid use was 0.54.

- Potential cases and controls who were independently observed using conspicuity aids were more likely to respond to the study than nonusers. This difference was larger for cases than for controls.
- Cases and controls were similar in their self-reported consistency of use of conspicuity aids under differing conditions. Conspicuity aids were less likely to be used on all journeys than cycle helmets suggesting that cyclists assess their need for using conspicuity aids conditional on the characteristics of the journey they are planning to make.

4. Discussion Chapter

4.1 Principal Findings

This is the first population level observational study to attempt to understand the effect on the odds of collision crash of the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists travelling for commuting or utility purposes in an urban setting in the UK. The study uses an incidence-density sampled case-control design drawing cases from an emergency department and matched controls from amongst the population of cyclists in a typical urban environment in the UK.

Cases were younger than controls, lived in more deprived areas, more likely to be male and were travelling on roads with greater rates of bicycle crashes per 100 million kilometres cycled. The results show a raised odds ratio of collision or evasion crashes for cyclists who report using conspicuity aids. After adjustment for important confounders and for variations in traffic risk between participants' chosen routes, the association of conspicuity aid use with a collision crash outcome was counterintuitively increased.

The route risk variable appeared to increase the association between conspicuity aid use and crash outcome when introduced into models consistent with a cooperative suppressor effect. This effect was similar for models of the primary exposure (the use of any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing), the exposure with the highest inter-rater reliability (mainly fluorescent clothing on the upper body) or when the exposure was expressed as an ordinal variable (the number of conspicuity items reported).

Conspicuity aid use was more likely amongst participants who reported cycling on roads with fewer other cyclists and higher numbers of previous bicycle injury crashes. Those who had been involved in a bicycle injury crash in the preceding three years were more likely to use conspicuity aids. Conspicuity aid users also reported travelling further by bicycle in the previous week and the journey they recorded for the study was longer than that for non-users. Conspicuity aid users were over eight times more likely to wear a helmet than non-users but use of other safety equipment such as lights and reflectors was similar.

There was some evidence of response and information biases. Cases and controls over-estimated their use of conspicuity aids. Users were more likely

than non-users to return questionnaires. This latter difference was greater for cases than controls.

The sections below further discuss the strengths and limitations of this study, suggest some possible interpretations of the results and explore the likely implications for future research into collision crash prevention for cyclists.

4.2 Strengths Of The Study

The study builds on the limited number of previous studies into conspicuity aid use and crash risk. There study was designed to address a number of flaws in previous work.

4.2.1 Matching And Incidence-Density Recruitment Of Cases And Controls

Cases and controls were matched by time of day, day of week, season and geographical location of travel. Crash risk factors such as traffic volumes, vehicle mix, traffic control such as traffic light sequences and parking restrictions, pedestrian numbers and vehicle speeds all vary by time of day and day of week. These factors may in turn affect crash risk for cyclists and also their use of conspicuity aids leading to confounding of the association of interest. These risk factors could not be measured directly to allow for adjustment. The matching process is likely to have reduced the differences between the cases and control groups for these confounders.

Cases and controls were matched to season of travel by restricting control recruitment to within six weeks of each case crash. This incidence-density sampling method further reduced the confounding differences between cases and controls. Seasonal variations may affect not only the traffic characteristics listed above but may also be likely to change the population of cyclists available for recruitment. Bicycle use fluctuates greatly between winter and summer months. Differences between cyclists travelling at different times of the year may not have been adequately captured by the available self-recorded variables

such as demographics or cycling experience. Both crash risk and the use of conspicuity equipment are likely to be associated with such differences.

4.2.2 Adjustment For A Large Number Of Potential Confounders

The complex nature of bicycle crash aetiology suggests that confounding of the relationship between conspicuity aid use and collision crash involvement may come from a variety of sources. The study attempted to control for known confounders in the existing literature on bicycle safety and for additional characteristics such as previous cycle training, previous crash involvement, possession of a drivers licence and relative deprivation with potential to affect crash risk and conspicuity aid use.

4.2.3 Restriction of Recruitment To Relevant Crash Configurations And Severities

The study was designed to reduce bias arising from the inclusion of participants with irrelevant crash configurations i.e. 'single vehicle' or loss of control crashes. The case sample was restricted to cyclists involved in a crash where there was some direct or indirect involvement of another road user. This criterion was used to increase the external validity of the study given that there could be no causal effect of conspicuity aids where there was no encounter with other road users leading to a collision or near miss crash.

Such crashes have been included in previous work but in these instances any observed association between crash risk and conspicuity aid use must, by definition, arise from confounding perhaps from safer cycling amongst users which would favour conspicuity aid use and lower crash involvement rates.

Cases inclusion was restricted to cyclists with injuries of sufficient severity that the cyclist themselves or a referring health professional considered that they required assessment and treatment in the emergency department. The numbers of collision crashes which do not result in healthcare-seeking are not known but by definition such incidents result in less morbidity and healthcare resource use. A further advantage of the use of hospital records are that they provide independent verification of the crash incident and are thus less prone to recall bias than reliance on retrospective self-reported crash involvement.

4.2.4 Restriction Of Recruitment To A Defined Catchment Area

Recruitment was restricted to a defined geographical area around the study site emergency department. This had the effect of removing subtle and uncontrollable confounding from environmental factors such as differences in police enforcement, local authority policies, variations in provision and quality of cycling infrastructure or the effects of local cycling "cultures" on both crash risk and conspicuity aid use. This might occur for example if local campaigns to increase conspicuity aid use were to have occurred during the study period in one local authority but not another.

Socialisation of behaviour amongst cyclists in different areas could also have constituted a potentially important confounding factor as there is evidence that travel behaviour and mode choices are heavily influenced by social forces ²⁸⁰⁻²⁸² which may be very different in different localities.

4.2.5 Validation Of Self-Reported Exposures

Data on conspicuity exposures were collected independently by the researcher from participants when they were initially approached for recruitment. The data were used to measure the level of agreement between participant's self-reports and the researcher's observations. The data enabled the calculation of the sensitivity and specificity of self-reports with the independent observations as a reference standard.

In addition, the independently collected validation data provided some information on possible differential selection bias from non-response and possible misclassification by participants. There is little previous literature regarding the reliability of such data for cyclists. The technique used here to assess the sensitivity of the study to sources of bias is of great benefit in giving a valid basis for the interpretation of the counterintuitive findings ³³⁰. The detection and quantification of such bias in this study, though of limited

precision owing to missing independent data for cases, is nonetheless an important innovation. The considerable risk of bias from exposure-related selfselection in particular, has implications for future research in this area where such bias is likely to be a stubborn problem.

4.2.6 Population Level Exposure Measurement In The Study Catchment Area

Conspicuity aid exposure data were collected across the study recruitment area to estimate the population prevalence of conspicuity aid use during the study period. These data were used to assess the degree to which the study sample was representative of the target population. The data were collected at both peak and off-peak periods to assess the variation in conspicuity aid use as the study was restricted to commuter and utility cyclists.

These data give a valuable insight into variations in the prevalence of use of conspicuity aids by location and time of day as little is known about the use of conspicuity aids in the UK and only limited data have been collected by previous studies in other countries and in different populations. In addition the validity of these observations was assessed by collection of repeated observations of the same data by a second researcher. Previous work has shown that such observations may not have a high degree of reliability ¹⁹⁵.

4.2.7 Adjustment For Geographical Variations In Bicycle Crash Risk For Different Participants' Routes

The study sought to measure confounding from possible variations in the geographical distribution of traffic risk across the catchment area. This factor was estimated by combining observed levels of cycling from seasonally adjusted road-side counts along each route with previous police-recorded bicycle injury crash numbers for the three years preceding the study and the length of each participant's route. An estimate of the crash risk per 100 million kilometres cycled along each participant's chosen route was then estimated.

Crash risk is thought to vary with factors such as relative deprivation, road type, speed limits, cycle infrastructure and land use. In a large conurbation such as

the one studied here, these characteristics may vary greatly for different participants depending on their choice of route. It is likely that these differences influence both use of conspicuity aids and actual crash risk for participants and could therefore confound to results of the study. Previous studies have sought to control confounding from measures of risk but have previously relied on selfreports of exposures and matching by road type. The author is not aware of any previous research using previous crash numbers and prospective bicycle exposure data at the level of each participant route in this way.

4.3 Limitations Of The Study

The current study suffers from a number of limitations arising from bias, confounding and sampling errors. Conclusions based on case-control analyses are prone to two main sources of error which can reduce the validity of study findings: bias and confounding ²⁸³. Potential problems affecting the internal and external validity of observational research studies have been represented as a series of errors occurring at different stages of the process of data gathering and analysis. A diagrammatic representation adapted from Phillips is reproduced below in Figure 16. The following sections of the thesis examine the extent to which these errors are present in the current study, the degree to which they have been successfully overcome or minimised and the potential they represent for providing an alternative explanation of the main results id discussed.



Figure 16 Potential Sources And Sequence Of Error And Bias ²⁸⁴.

Disparities between observational studies and subsequent randomised trials of interventions have underlined the difficulty in producing valid results in observational research when biases and confounding can exceed the play of chance and the magnitude of real effects caused by an exposure ²⁸⁴.

Despite these caveats there is still a need to investigate marginal but widely prevalent risk factors because of the absolute burden of disease that may result in the large populations exposed. Similarly, the number of people using the bicycle even in the UK is large and there are considerable arguments for dramatically increasing this number. In such a context, even a small reduction in collision crashes could have an important effect.

Public health interventions are complex and contextual and thus observational studies may still add valuable information about efficacy despite these problems ²⁸⁵. The importance of errors in inference from observations of associations to policy and recommendations is therefore great.

4.4 Biases In The Study

Bias has been defined as 'systematic error in the design, conduct or analysis of a study that results in a mistaken estimate of an exposure's effect on the risk of disease ²²¹. Biases can only be addressed in the design and conduct stages of a study as no statistical adjustment for the effects of various sources of bias is

possible post hoc ²⁸³. Biases arise from many sources and can be different across comparison groups or affect them similarly. Non-differential biases between comparison groups may still permit internally valid estimates of odds ratios if the bias relates only to information and affects all participants uniformly regardless of outcome. The consequences of non-differential bias, such as misclassification of exposures, may still serve to obscure real differences and effects by artificially deflecting odds ratios towards the null ²²⁹. Non-differential selection bias that affects who is included in a study can reduce the generalisability of findings by narrowing the population the sample represents and which then may differ in important ways from the original population of interest. Biases are rarely addressed in detail in much published epidemiological research and there have been calls for biases to be more transparently analysed, quantified and reported ²⁸⁶.

4.4.1 Selection Bias

Selection bias occurs in a case-control study when some factor reduces the accuracy or completeness of identification and recruitment of eligible participants. Failure to include all available cases or controls may lead to the final sample not accurately representing the base population from which they arise. This limits generalisability but estimates of odds of outcome remain useful.

If a selection factor affects one outcome group to a greater extent than the other then the estimates of odds of the outcome may be biased as the two groups are not comparable on all characteristics save for outcome status as assumed. Cases may be available and therefore included for reasons such as local admission policies or propensity to seek treatment. These may differ between cases and controls if controls are recruited from urban areas with easy access to services when cases are not so restricted. Selection bias can be reduced by restricting inclusion to defined groups, by the application of well chosen exclusion criteria, by complete identification and recruitment of all relevant cases and by accurate selection of truly comparable controls.

The current study restricted inclusion to cyclists who were travelling by bicycle for commuter or utility purposes. This made recruitment of similar controls more likely as they could be more reliably identified at cycle parking whilst still conforming to the ethics committee requirement not to recruit cyclists whilst they were in the saddle.

Cyclists were excluded if they reported their crash was not a result of a collision with another road user so that irrelevant causal circumstances where conspicuity could have had no preventative effect, were not considered. Eligibility was restricted to cyclists travelling in a defined geographical area. This prevented bias being introduced by including cases cycling further from the study site being included after crashes. The study site was a regional centre for neurosurgery and other relevant specialties. Had non-local cases been included beyond the catchment area this may have been owing to their severity or type of injuries which in turn could have been related to the types of roads they were using and their likelihood of using conspicuity aids thus creating bias if compared to controls in the immediate suburban and urban area.

The current study benefitted from an effective and relatively efficient method of identifying cases. Cases were recruited from a single emergency department serving a discrete geographical area. This allowed efficient and consistent identification of injured cyclists. The researcher was not responsible for identifying cases which could have introduced a bias as this was done by reception staff based on information from ambulance personnel or the patient themselves. Such identification was apparently accurate as only two responders were excluded as their injury was not the result of a bicycle crash. The identification process did include a number of non-collision incidents which could not be screened out but this served to reduce efficiency whilst not introducing a bias. Thus the process of identifying eligible cyclists was sensitive (most eligible cases were correctly classified as such) but not specific (many ineligible cyclists are identified and therefore approached and later excluded). It is thought unlikely that significant loss of eligible cases occurred from failures of staff to correctly identify them. It was not possible to assess the numbers of cyclists incorrectly classified by staff and therefore not approached but this proportion is likely to have been too small to have affected the results.

In six instances the same individuals attended the study site emergency department on different occasions after cycling crashes and were identified successfully. This is indirect evidence of the effectiveness of the screening process. Two such cases completed both questionnaires and were included in the analysis as separate cases with separate matching controls. In three instances no responses were received despite reminders. In one further instance, only one

completed questionnaire regarding a single vehicle crash was received. There is no theoretical reason for excluding data derived from separate incidents involving the same individuals. All previously injured cyclists who return to cycling continue to represent person-time at risk in the target population. In addition these data only constitute a small proportion of the analysed incidents and it is therefore unlikely to have influenced the results.

Cyclists referred directly to an out-patient department via primary care could not be identified by the researcher. This weakness in the study is unlikely to have caused significant selection bias. Many acute trauma referrals are made through the emergency department including all for orthopaedic injuries as direct access to fracture clinic from primary care is not possible. There is no reason to suspect that controls would differ in their use of hospital services either in terms of referral routes or decisions to attend or not had they been injured. It is unlikely that treatment-seeking would be related to exposure. Unlike helmets, conspicuity aids provide no protection against injury. It is possible but impossible to quantify the effect of conspicuity aid use on injury severity. It is likely that use would reduce impact speeds and thus injury severity which could lead to underrepresentation of users in the case group but this would serve only to reduce the association with injury that was found.

Matched cases and controls were recruited on an "incidence-density" basis meaning that each unit of analysis consisted of a cyclist case and matched controls identified from the contemporary cycling population at risk of a crash. This ensured that access and availability of hospital services and ambulance transport criteria which may have altered over the whole course of the recruitment period did not introduce bias in the matched analysis arising from possible effects on injury severity from conspicuity aid use.

Exposures of interest can have an effect on the likelihood of a case or control being identified during a screening process ^{221 283}. Again the identification process was unaffected by the use of safety equipment. The automated system used by the research to identify potential cases further reduced the potential for researcher bias which may have occurred during an un-blinded hand-searching process.

The recruitment process was designed to minimise bias in the selection of controls to approach by the researcher. Controls were only approached by the researcher when they were seen with a bicycle either arriving or departing from the recruitment site. This ensured that they were not identified on the basis of

their use of safety equipment or conspicuity aids. This reduced the likelihood of selection bias favouring conspicuity aid users in control recruitment or the loss of potentially eligible control cyclists if they were wearing "everyday" clothing both of which would have resulted in over-representation of conspicuity aid users in the control sample.

Bias in the recruitment of controls may have occurred from the low numbers of available sites. Most control cyclists were recruited from a relatively restricted number of mainly large organisations. These cyclists may have differed in their exposure rates from the base population as a result of differences in acculturation as larger organisations may have encouraged or even supplied conspicuity aids to their work force. Demographic differences, particularly socioeconomic status may have led to the inclusion of more affluent cyclists who may differ in their adoption of safety practices such as conspicuity aid use and cautious cycling behaviours. The limited available information regarding conspicuity aid use and in particular, differences between users compared to non-users makes the degree of bias arising in this way difficult to estimate.

A further problem with the restricted selection of control recruitment sites was the potential for them to be located in parts of the catchment area which differed systematically from the areas giving rise to many cases. The difference in the levels of bicycle use between observation sites was dramatic. The larger numbers of cyclists in certain places may indicate conditions which made cycling more attractive in ways not accurately controlled for by the route-risk variable i.e. not directly concerned with safety. These could include such features as fewer hills and better facilities such as parking or more accessible local shopping. Areas with a "culture" of utility cycling could be associated with reduced conspicuity aid use. Any such association would have led to artificial underrepresentation of conspicuity aid users amongst the relatively larger numbers of controls recruited at such sites compared to cases recruited more often from areas lacking such a cycling culture.

4.4.2 Response Bias

Despite the effectiveness of the screening and recruitment processes there was a disappointing response rate particularly amongst cases despite the use of reminders and financial incentives. Low response rates in epidemiological
research are an important source of bias ^{287 288}. Studies of injury outcomes with a high proportion of low-severity injuries may present specific problems ²⁸⁹. In other patient groups with greater morbidity and long recovery phases, continued contact with health services gives greater access to potential participants by researchers. Greater contact with health services may prompt higher levels of participation from a sense of obligation or the desire to benefit others. In the case of injury studies this could lead to confounding from injury severity.

Responders have been shown to differ from non-responders in severity of injury but differences have also been found by gender and age with males and younger participants less likely to respond to initial invites or comply with follow-up studies after acute injury ⁶⁰. A study of outcomes in mild brain injury found that responders suffered more severe initial injuries and this biased the requirement for support services and other primary outcomes of interest in a follow-up study ²⁹⁰. A study of patients following whiplash injuries found differences in samples recruited via self-help groups an emergency department with self-help group members showing greater psycho-social disability ²⁹¹. Responders have been found to differ from non-responders in a home safety intervention study ²⁹². There was no difference in reported safety practices but self-reported equipment ownership differed for some items. In this study the analysis was restricted to participants who attended follow-up and were members of an intervention group which may have reduced differences between the responders and non-responders had all the latter been available for study.

In the current study injury severity could have been related to participation with the more severely injured perhaps more likely to respond. This cannot be assumed or confirmed but any effect would likely have been in the same direction by increasing the availability for inclusion of non-users as discussed above.

Propensity to respond may have been related to the extent to which potential participants "identified" themselves with cycling and therefore had a greater interest in the study. This may have been related to safety equipment use with the relatively high rate of conspicuity aid use amongst cases and controls compared to population observations tending to confirm this.

It seems likely that there was some difference in propensity for cyclists approached by the researcher to respond dependent on their use of conspicuity aids. It is also plausible that the fact of cases having been involved in a crash intensified this effect and resulted in differential bias. Non-user cases may have

felt more inclined to respond feeling that they were "less to blame" for their plight. Such social pressure would not have been felt so strongly by controls and could have led to inflation of the association of aid use with collision crash involvement.

The independently collected exposure data allowed for some exploration of these possible effects on response rates for cases and controls. The probability of response for exposed cases was greater than for those who were unexposed. This exposure-related difference in probability of response was greater amongst observed potential cases than potential controls. The effect of this differential bias on the odds ratio may have been large with exposed cases overrepresented in the final sample. When an odds ratio of collision crash was estimated and then corrected by applying a response bias factor based on these probabilities of response for the two groups, the positive association between conspicuity aid use and crash risk was reversed and a 49% reduction in crash risk was estimated. This represents a putative "true" effect of conspicuity aid use within the source population were no differential response bias to have occurred. The validity of this alternative finding is limited both by the lack of independent data for cases and the inability to adjust this estimate for confounding. Despite these problems the available independent data suggest that the study was highly sensitive to differential exposure-related response bias.

The staff at the study site were made aware of the study and asked to actively approach potential cases. This may have increased responses by lending some clinical authority to the approach process. The study was well-publicised within the department using posters in the waiting area and had received some limited media exposure in the early stages which may have served to encourage case and control volunteers.

Face to face recruitment was not possible for the majority of injured cyclists during their time in the emergency department. It is possible that face to face recruitment would have achieved higher response rates had the required resources been available. This may have contributed to the large difference in response rates between cases and controls. All controls were approached in person and the control response rate was higher although mode of approach may not have been the only important factor accounting for this difference. It is unlikely that these differences in recruitment had a large effect on exposurerelated response although face to face recruitment was more likely if a cyclist was admitted because of the resulting increase in availability. It is likely that

injury severity and thus admission would be increased amongst non-users and so any bias would have served to reduce the strength of the relationship between conspicuity aid use and odds of crash.

Many factors have been shown to increase the response rate to postal questionnaires and the successful techniques and effect sizes have been subject to systematic evidence review ²⁹³. A number of such tactics were employed to increase the response rate in the current study.

Study packs were sent out to potential cases by first class post. As well as increasing the likelihood of response this also served to reduce the time taken for cases to receive questionnaires and thus may have reduced recall bias. Use of first class post also increased the efficiency of control recruitment by decreasing the delay in arranging recruitment sessions within the six week time limit and further reduced the likely seasonal variation between case and control journeys.

Response rates may have been reduced by participant concerns about confidentiality and the misuse of their information. The confidential treatment of participant data was emphasised in the accompanying information, in the invitation letter and 'confidential' was stamped in red on the return envelopes to increase potential respondent's confidence that their information would be suitably protected. Nonetheless, cases who were actually, or who merely felt themselves to have been at fault or knew they were breaking the law at the time of their crash may have been less likely to respond. The "sensitivity" of data collected in surveys is related to response rates ²⁹³ and this factor could be applicable here. Legal infringements and culpability may have been associated with lower use of conspicuity aids in non-responders and could have increased the strength of the apparent association between exposure and crash risk.

A freepost envelope was included to reduce the "opportunity cost" to potential responders to boost response rates and a financial incentive was offered to cases on receipt of a completed questionnaire. The incentive was prominently high-lighted in the invitation letter to increase its effectiveness. Resource constraints meant that the incentive was relatively small and could not be offered to controls. However, the incentive is unlikely to have reduced responses and would have been of more interest to less affluent and younger participants who may have been less likely to be conspicuity aid users and so have reduced exposure-related non-response to some extent. Despite these factors the

response rate was much lower for cases than controls and may have been associated with the use of conspicuity aids.

Reminder contacts have been shown to increase response rates along with the inclusion of a second copy of the study instrument ²⁹³. All non-responder cases were sent a further personalised reminder letter reiterating the importance of the study and reemphasising the financial incentive along with a second questionnaire when no response was received at two weeks. Sending reminders to controls was not possible. No address information was collected from controls after the initial recruitment pilot as this caused apparent unease for cyclists who were otherwise happy to accept questionnaires and was therefore considered a threat to the efficiency of control recruitment. The moderate control response rate suggests that this may still have caused important response bias given the likelihood of important differences existing between responders and non-responders.

The restriction of the current study to emergency department attendees reduces the likelihood of bias from injury severity. The majority of responders had minor injuries but the most severely injured were excluded potentially leading to bias. The numbers lost in this way were, in fact, low. A protective effect of conspicuity aids, if real, could reduce the severity of injury of crash involved cyclists resulting in over-representation of non-users amongst emergency department attendees. A similar effect could be expected if non-users were more likely to seek health care after a crash. This seems not to have occurred given the relatively high rate of use by cases in this sample. Such high use could be partly explained by an opposite effect resulting from increased health-seeking behaviour by conspicuity aid users. This could occur if users were more likely to seek medical assessment to support claims for compensation for example.

The likelihood of an individual cyclist returning their questionnaire may have been related both to their use of conspicuity aids and their case-control status therefore reducing the validity of the findings. For example if cases who use conspicuity aids were thought to be 20% more likely to return their questionnaires than controls who use conspicuity aids this would obscure a protective effect even if it were true. The sensitivity analysis conducted in this study based on independent exposure data collected from both cases and controls at the point of recruitment appeared to show such a bias. Exposed cases were more likely to respond to than non-exposed and more likely than exposed or no-exposure controls. This could have led to a false association of conspicuity aid use and crash risk.

Cases who responded were older and less deprived than those who did not and case responders were more likely to be female than non-responders. All of these factors may be related to crash risk and exposure and other cofounders such as attitudes to risk and thus reduce the validity of the results.

The association between response and safety equipment use for both outcome groups may explain the high rates of conspicuity aid use found compared to population level observations. Again this reduces the external validity of the results and their generalisability to other, unobserved populations of cyclists.

Some factors associated with lower response are unlikely to have introduced differential biases. It is possible that difficulty in completing the maps may have contributed to the disappointing response rate but the relatively high response rate from controls with accurately completed maps suggested that this element of the study was not a major deterrent to response overall. The length of the questionnaire could also have been a factor in reducing response rates. Again this factor is unlikely to have been different across outcome groups.

It seems unlikely that using alternative sources of participants would have resulted in greater efficiency of case or control recruitment. Recruitment via advertisements asking for volunteers would have been inefficient, requiring repeated attempts to contact cyclists, costly and prevented matching by season as there would have been considerable delays in receiving responses. Using adverts could result in unpredictable selection biases depending on the media employed. Using police reports of cycle crashes to approach cases would have been inefficient owing to the under-reporting of cycle crashes in police records, may have led to selection bias related to exposures or risk-taking and raised issues of confidentiality.

Participants were not asked to record details of the crash incident itself beyond the time and location and whether the crash was the result of a collision or evasive manoeuvre. This was intended to reduce the length of the questionnaire and because such information could not be verified and was likely to be inaccurate in some cases. This may have meant that crashes were included where the behaviour of the cyclist or collision partner made a crash virtually inevitable regardless of conspicuity aid use. The proportion of such incidents is likely to be low as any increased risk caused by traffic violations or reckless

behaviour may still be ameliorated by the relative conspicuity of the cyclist involved.

Failure to include crash details may also have reduced response rates with some injured cyclists feeling this implied that the researcher 'blamed' the cyclist by focussing solely on their characteristics such as equipment use rather than driver behaviour or other factors.

Overall the study findings are undermined by the likelihood of significant selection and response biases. The lack of independent observations for cases means that differential exposure-related response rates between cases and controls cannot be ruled out as a cause of the apparent association with crash outcome. This factor may partly explain the counterintuitive finding of an association between conspicuity aid use and odds of a collision crash.

4.4.3 Information Bias

Information bias occurs when the measurement of outcomes, exposures or confounders, are systematically inaccurate and result in misclassification of individual participants and therefore bogus conclusions ²²⁹. Sources of such errors may include inaccuracies in self-reports or errors in independent measurements or their recording or processing. If information biases affect case and control groups similarly then such extra noise in a dataset still tends to obscure true association by reducing the apparent strength of a casual effects ²²⁹. The reproducibility of the study findings and generalisability to similar populations is reduced in such situations. Information or measurement errors which vary between outcome groups result in bias which reduces the internal and external validity of the study. Such differential misclassification can lead to unpredictable biases even in the presence of a true relationship ²⁷⁴.

Emphasis was placed in the participant information sheet on the confidentiality of the study. In both case and control questionnaires the respondent's name and address were recorded (to allow results to be disseminated if requested and facilitate attempts to clarify important missing or ambiguous responses) and this may have had the effect of reducing the apparent confidentiality of responses. Bland uses the example of a political polling study which showed wide differences in reported voting intentions between those asked 'face to face' and those completing a secret ballot ²⁸³. It is assumed that the likely consequence of

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 186

face to face recruitment would have been to reduce false responses because of the visibility of the requested information to the researcher.

Recruitment methods were the same for both cases and controls to reduce differences in the potential for influencing responses in this way. In practice most cases received the questionnaire by post whilst most controls were approached in person and this may have increased the accuracy of control vs. case exposure recording. In addition the researcher wore a 'high-visibility' tabard during face to face recruitment. This was mandated within the protocol for the safety of the researcher and was an explicit requirement whilst recruiting at some sites. Cases by contrast were approached within the emergency department or hospital ward by a researcher wearing a hospital uniform or normal clothing. As a result controls received a visual 'cue' which cases did not. However, few control participants completed questionnaires with the researcher still present and so this effect could be expected to be small.

The questionnaire instrument was developed specifically for the study as no suitable instruments existed. Apart from the for the inclusion of the crash details for cases, the order, structure and content of the questions eliciting exposure and confounder data was identical for cases and controls. The circumstances in which the data were collected were also similar for the majority of both groups. Little data was collected by telephone by the researcher apart from clarification of ambiguous or missing data in a small number of instances. In a small number of cases approached in person, researcher assisted in the recording of the data in the questionnaire when this was made problematic by injuries. Self-reports reports of exposures were restricted to a single specific journey. This was designed to increase the validity of the self-reported data and reduce the likelihood that participants would give answers influenced by their assumptions regarding the study hypotheses. These differences are unlikely to have resulted in significant bias.

In the majority of instances, cases and controls completed the questionnaires themselves. Self-reports are highly resource efficient and are capable of enabling the collection of complex and sometimes sensitive personal data that would otherwise not be available for analysis from large numbers of people in relatively short periods ²⁹⁴. Self-reports of exposure data can be inaccurate in a variety of settings and often lack reliability when tested by repeated application using the same subjects ²⁹⁵ or when compared to external data sources ²⁹⁴. It was not possible to assess the reliability of the questionnaire by repeated

completion of the instrument by participants at different times. However, the questionnaire was designed to be simple to complete. An explanatory statement was included in case and control questionnaires emphasising the need to complete the questions as a soon as possible after the journey and to specify the journey which the responses were to concern. Questions were grouped into a logical order and recording of exposures was broken down into component parts by body region, type of material and type of equipment. It is unlikely that systematic error resulted in greatly reduced the accuracy of the data collected or resulted in differential biases.

The direct measurement of the conspicuity of participants or their clothing was not possible as part of this study. Even in laboratory conditions no standard testing procedure or metric exists to quantify conspicuity directly ¹⁶⁷. Considerable variation in the accuracy of self-reports of exposures has been found in community based case-control research ²⁹⁵. A review of the literature has shown that accuracy of self-reports is dependent on a number of factors. Where reporting concerns industrial exposures to chemicals and other agents direct measurement of exposure and use of employment records can all improve accuracy of self-reports. Despite not requiring accurate recall of prolonged exposures over periods of time as in many of the studies reviewed, some elements of the recommendations are relevant to the current study.

Questionnaires that used familiar words and non-technical language elicited more valid responses and self-report accuracy was improved if a "benchmark" for exposure was included against which subjects could assess their own exposure ²⁹⁵. The questions concerning fluorescence and retro-reflectivity were supported by simple descriptions. It was not possible to include photographic examples of the relevant materials due to the prohibitive cost involved. The questionnaire for the current study was designed to be easy to comprehend. The questionnaire was assessed for readability during the pilot phase and a small number of questionnaires were completed whilst the researcher was present during the recruitment phase. Few respondents appeared to have difficulty interpreting the questionnaire or recording their responses.

In injury prevention research it is commonly thought that the occurrence of an injury may be likely to encourage reflection on the incident and therefore possible reinforcement of memories of safety equipment use ²⁸⁶. This may be

the result of questioning by family, health care workers or police or merely as a result of introspection after a crash. It is not possible to estimate the possible magnitude of such effects in this study. It would seem likely that difference in recall between cases and controls would bias the results towards the null by increasing the likelihood of cases remembering their use of safety equipment.

Structured questionnaires listing exposures from which respondents chose rather than using open-ended questions were found to be subject to lower rates of recall bias ²⁹⁵. A similar format was adopted in the current study. The questionnaire used a tick box scheme to allow recording of specified types and arrangements of conspicuity enhancing materials to increase the accuracy of the source data.

The use of a paper questionnaire with the requirement to return it by post may have been a disincentive to participation to some cases and controls. The use of physical questionnaires also increased the costs and potential for lost data over the use of web-based data collection tools, In addition, web-based tools remove errors in transcription and recording by participants. However, web-based instruments may cause significant selection bias towards higher socioeconomic groups and the length of the questionnaire and internet performance problems amongst other things may still adversely affect response rates (for example the Taupo study discussed earlier ⁸³). The use of paper maps to collect route data were also considered to be simpler and easier to use for a broad spectrum of potential participants than online alternatives even were they to be available.

The delay in completing questionnaires was longer for cases than controls (21 days vs. 9 days). The delay for cases includes the time taken to identify cases from ED attendance reports and to post out questionnaires. By contrast controls were handed questionnaires on the day of their journey. This difference may have created a bias in the accuracy of recall of exposures and other details although the relationship between this source of bias and that from involvement in a crash cannot be estimated with any certainty. Compared to much epidemiological research where exposures are protracted and disease latency may extend over decades, the current study had a very short delay between outcome and exposure estimation. This was primarily because of the incidence-density sampling method. It is therefore unlikely that there were significant differences in recall between the groups arising from the decay in memory for key exposures. The degree of habitual use of conspicuity aids reported also argues for greater reliance on the accuracy of recall for exposures.

Biases as a result of social expectation have been found in other safety research. For example one study found that self-reported seat belt use was between 2% and 5% higher than that actually observed across 49 US states in the early 1990s ²⁹⁶. A significant difference (self-report (9.4%; 95% CI 7.8, 11.0) vs. independent observation (5.9%; 95%CI 4.6, 7.2)) was reported by Eime for use of eye protectors by squash players ²⁹⁷. The positive predictive value of a variety of self-reported home safety practices by parents has been reported as relatively low (33% to 61%) but with negative predictive values much higher (83% to 100%) ²⁹⁸. A similar study found greater variation between different practices concluding that overall responses to these types of questions are reliable but item specific ²⁹⁹.

As with possibility of response bias considered above, it is likely that an element of social expectation in favour of reporting conspicuity aid use where a respondent was in fact unsure of the true classification, will have affected cases to a greater degree than controls. It is conceivable that the presumption in favour of use of conspicuity aids within the road safety literature and public education materials made reporting of compliance more likely. Overall, bias arising from the non-response rate of non-users remains a more plausible explanation for these results.

Overall the effect of recall bias and social expectation on the accuracy of reported exposures is likely to be small in this study compared to much epidemiological work where latent disease development may be related to cumulative exposure over many years.

4.5 Validity Of Exposure Data

Exposures were recorded by participants using self-reports of conspicuityenhancing materials on items of clothing or equipment. There is a risk of misclassification bias leading to false estimates of the association between exposure and outcome status.

The design of the recruitment process included provision for the collection of independent exposure data from cases and controls during face to face approaches. These data were as a reference standard to assess the accuracy of participant self-reports.

The level of agreement beyond chance (kappa) was estimated along with the proportional agreement for each conspicuity exposure and the use of cycle helmets. The level of agreement of the primary exposure was (0.42) commonly interpreted as "reasonable". The level of agreement over the categorisation of exposures was poor for the use of a reflective helmet, slight for the use of a fluorescent helmet or any item of reflective equipment but moderate to good for the other component conspicuity exposures. The potential for overestimation of conspicuity by responders includes considerable scope for bias to obscure the true effect of conspicuity aids in this study. The lack of apparent reliability reduces the generalisability of the study given that alternative explanations for the study findings include an overestimation of the presence of conspicuity aids by responders.

The degree of accuracy by comparison to the researcher recorded classification as a reference standard (sensitivity and specificity) was estimated. The researcher-recorded exposures were taken as a reasonable reference standard for assessment of the validity of self-reported exposures.

False negatives recorded by the researcher would be likely to occur where only small areas of conspicuity aiding materials were present or where they were obscured by other clothing or equipment. Inaccurate recording of reflective materials by the researcher may have been a greater risk as such materials require a focused external light source for their effect. These may have been difficult to detect in daylight when the majority of recruitment occurred.

Such errors in researcher ascertainment of exposures could account for some of the difference to self-reports but it is unlikely that the independent observations were inaccurate in terms of the study hypothesis. Small areas of conspicuity enhancing materials may have been missed by the researcher but would be unlikely to have a significant impact on overall conspicuity and therefore crash risk even given a true protective effect. This is less likely to hold for reflective materials where even a small item could have an important effect. Similarly the greater conspicuity afforded by bio-motion arrangements found by Kwan and Mapstone may have been underestimated or missed by the research recording exposures for a static person.

Further misclassification bias may have arisen if some participants could not accurately distinguish between materials with fluorescent or reflective properties and those without. During the design phase of the study informal questioning of cyclist and non-cyclists friends and colleagues revealed a high degree of

apparent agreement in the discrimination of these materials. Questions about exposures included extra explanatory detail whilst avoiding direct reference to the study hypothesis. The use of more colloquial terms such as "Hi-Viz" or "Safety" was avoided owing to their lack of clarity and their potential to influence responses. A response option of "light-coloured" was included to emphasise the distinction from true fluorescent or reflective materials but this may not have been effective in ensuring participants accurately recorded exposures in all cases.

The accuracy of self-reported and independent exposure estimations is also hampered by possible differences in performance of the many types of garments used by cyclists. Unlike many of the studies of conspicuity aid performance a population level study can provide no assurance of the performance of garments and aids in use. Searches of online retailers of cycling conspicuity equipment during the dosing of the study revealed many garments on sale with no estimate of relative performance. Products were often described as having "visibility" enhancing properties and specific performance claims were occasionally made e.g. "easily seen at 200 yards", "probably the most highly visible jacket on the but few appeared to be standard compliant. market" Poor conspicuity performance of some of the actual equipment in use or which resulted from the way in which items were used may have been factors in the failure of this study to detect a protective effect for the use of conspicuity aids as recorded by participants. The relative performance if cyclist conspicuity garments as they are actually used by cyclists is worthy of further study.

The relatively high rates of conspicuity aid use reported by participants compared to the population observations suggest that both cases and controls over-estimated their conspicuity aid use. This may not be differential between outcome groups and if so, cannot account for the resulting association between exposure and crash involvement. However, validation data were unavailable for a large majority of cases when compared to controls. This occurred for reasons arising from the different procedures for recruiting cases and controls. In the majority of instances the researcher was not available at the time of potential cases' arrival in ED owing to time constraints and the distribution of cyclist presentations across different times of the day and days of the week. Many cases did not attend the ED directly from the crash site and in some cases the delay in arriving was considerable. In most of these instances cases had changed their clothing meaning that direct observation of the clothing worn at the time of the crash was not possible. In some instances clothing was damaged and disposed of prior to arrival in the ED. The lack of independent observations

for cases means that differential misclassification cannot be ruled out as a contributory cause of the apparent association with crash outcome. The false negative rate for self-reports of conspicuity aid use was low at 6%. However the false positive rate was high at 47%. Overall, the researcher assessment of conspicuity aid use is likely to be more in accordance with the conspicuity effect actually achieved by conspicuity aid users than the self-reports used in the analysis given that what was conspicuous to the researcher would logically also be so to other road users. This suggests a degree of over-reporting by participants which may have differed by outcome.

A more important threat to the validity of the study comes from the possibility that recording of conspicuity aid use, whether by the researcher or the participants themselves, did not correlate well with actual conspicuity aid performance in vivo. Unfortunately no studies have assessed the ability of cyclists to accurately estimate the performance of conspicuity aids that they use and measurement of such performance was not possible as part of the study. The exposure data were re-categorised as a ordinal variable with each report of the use of an item of conspicuity clothing scoring one and a sum of these scores used as a secondary exposure. There were no significant differences in the scores between cases and controls. No linear association between increasing numbers of conspicuity aids used and reduced crash risk was detectable. This may have resulted from heterogeneous performance of aids used given that the number of aids is unlikely to equate to total treated surface area or necessarily be related to the conspicuity performance of different materials. The study was unable to measure any of these latter factors.

A further form of information bias could occur as a result of errors in the recording and transcription of source data by the researcher during the processes of storing and preparing data for analysis. All data were entered using electronic forms which followed the sequence of questions in the questionnaires. Where appropriate drop-down lists of possible responses, input masks and explanatory notes were included to increase accuracy.

Data cleaning was undertaken prior to the merging of datasets to identify and correct errors. Database queries and sorting procedures were used to identify errors in data entry in non-formatted or free text fields and outliers and inconsistent values were identified a checked against source data. Errors were identified and corrected as appropriate.

The error rate for data entry was calculated repeating the data entry of 50 questionnaires drawn at random from cases and control groups. There were 22 data entry errors identified by this process giving an error rate of 41 errors per 10 000 values (95% CI 24 to 59). It is unlikely that errors were differential across outcome groups given the similarity of the case and control questionnaires and the identical circumstances of data entry. No data errors identified affected the eligibility or primary exposures of cases or controls suggesting that such errors as there were would be unimportant for the outcome of the study.

A literature search revealed little evidence against which to benchmark the error rate. Data entry error rates published for other studies were generally low but there is a clear threat of publication bias in available information. Double data entry has been described as having little value when resource implications are considered ³⁰⁰. One study reported a significantly lower rate than the rate for the current study (15 errors per 10 000 values) ³⁰¹.

The measurements of the population use of conspicuity aids by the researcher may have been inaccurate. A small validation exercise was undertaken during which a second observer recorded the same exposures for the same cyclists. The agreement rates were excellent suggesting that the population exposure estimates were reliable. The inter-observer agreement of field observations of exposures deteriorated slightly in conditions of low light and differed between variables e.g. helmet wearing or gender. Rates of missing observations also increased at low light levels. The kappa coefficients calculated do not include observations with missing values. In addition as no double data entry was possible for the field observation data discrepancies some of which could have arisen from mistakes at this stage.

Overall the reliability of field observations was good although the deterioration at low light levels suggests that the accuracy of estimates of use of conspicuity aids at times when they are most effective may not be as valid.

4.6 Sources Of Confounding

Confounding occurs in observational research when an apparent association between an exposure and an outcome results, instead, from their mutual

association with a third factor which has an independent effect on the outcome and exposure ²²⁹. A further feature of a confounder is that it does not lie on a direct 'causal pathway' between the exposure of interest and the outcome i.e. the exposure of interest does not cause the confounder (which in turn causes the outcome) but rather, co-varies with it. Such variables may, or may not be measurable, and may, or may not be known prior to the study. Confounding can be controlled for by statistical techniques only where the source and magnitude of confounding can be completely accounted for and measured accurately ²⁸³.

The current study included a number of variables which could have confounded the outcome of interest. Some factors were identified from the literature whilst others were included to address potential uncontrolled confounding present in previous related research. This section discusses the main sources of confounding identified during the analysis, the degree to which the study design may have compensated for confounding by matching and adjustment and possible sources of residual confounding.

4.6.1 The Effect Of Matching To Reduce Confounding

Matching controls to cases on certain characteristics can increase the comparability of the two groups when it is thought that uncontrollable confounding may be present. As Schlesselman notes, the choice of matching over adjusting for relevant factors "typically requires more information than is available when a study is begun" ^{221 p 111}. Despite this there were clear candidates for potential confounding variables and some evidence from previous research to inform the decision over which characteristics to match upon. In the current study cases and controls were matched by journey time, day of the week, season and geographical location of travel. The "window" for recruiting matched controls was over a maximum of six weeks after each case crash.

A key confounding variable was considered to be changes in patterns of traffic (including bicycle traffic) such as speed and density (vehicles per unit of road length) which could vary over the day, week and season. These are likely to have affected both conspicuity aid use by participants as well as their risk of collision crashes and thus confounded the outcome of interest.

Matching by time and day of travel was intended to reduce confounding from changes in traffic conditions occurring at different times of day primarily the

differences between "rush hour" periods and other times. The recruitment plan allowed for up to a two hour difference in travel times between case crash time and any part of the control journey. It is possible that changes in traffic conditions occurred during within these periods reducing the effectiveness of the matching. Matching by day and time of travel was achieved with some loss of recruitment efficiency. It is likely that variations in traffic conditions across the week were adequately controlled for in the analysis.

Incidence –density sampling, with recruitment occurring in every month of the recruitment period, ensured that cases and controls were effectively matched by season. It is likely that this reduced the disparity between case and control groups in terms of variations in traffic conditions by time of year but also had the additional benefit of increasing the similarity of the case and control groups in other relevant ways.

Bicycle use is known to increase in the summer along with changes in prevailing weather and day length. These factors may alter crash risk between "summer" and "winter" journeys. Differences in trip lengths and conspicuity aid use may also occur from season to season. Finally seasonal changes may result in different cohorts of cyclists taking to the road as some may choose only to cycle in summer months for example. It is likely that matching for these longer-term changes successfully reduced differences between cases and matched controls which could not otherwise have been captured despite adjustment for cycling experience, age and gender.

It is possible that over-matching may have occurred due to the possibility that cyclists in both groups may have reacted similarly to the prevailing conditions with respect to their use of conspicuity aids at the time they were recruited. This may have resulted in case / control 'sets' with similar exposures leading to obscuring of the association with crash risk were it to be present and loss of power in the analysis from invariant case-control sets being dropped from models.

It was initially planned to match case to controls by journey purpose divided into three categories: commuter, utility and trip stage cycling. Control recruitment sites were then to be selected to give the best chance of recruiting similar cyclists. A distinction was to be made between "commuter" cycling and "utility" cycling. Commuter cycling was defined as travel to or from a workplace or place of education such as a college or university campus i.e. journeys that would be repeated many times with less variation in time or route. Utility cycling was

defined as cycling for a purpose such as shopping. Such cyclists may have more discretion than commuters in terms of journey timing or route. The final category was to include cyclists using public transport such as trains or trams prior to or after a trip "stage" completed by bicycle.

These differences in journey purpose may have been associated with changes in cycling behaviour or conspicuity aid use and therefore led to confounding. Using a bicycle for one or more stages of a public transport journey again may have influenced the use of safety equipment as well as both the exposures and outcome of interest in relevant ways which could not be otherwise captured and controlled for.

Permission was gained to recruit at transport interchanges such as bus stations and tram stops. In practice, despite the provision of considerable cycle parking at tram stops, observations of two of these facilities (The Forest and Wilkinson Street) revealed very low rates of cycle parking use and recruitment at these sites was abandoned early on in the study period for reasons of efficiency. There was found to be very limited cycle parking at the two main bus and coach stations in Nottingham meaning that these could not be used to recruit participants. The cycle parking facilities at the main railway station in Nottingham were well used and proved a fruitful ground for recruitment. However recruitment at a smaller outlying station (Beeston) was less successful.

There was a serious effect on recruitment efficiency from the attempt to match by journey purpose and it was therefore abandoned early in the recruitment period. It is possible that residual confounding remains from this source as a result.

It was considered likely that the size of the organisation to or from which participants were travelling would have an influence on important characteristics of the cyclists and their likely behaviour and conspicuity aid use. It was considered possible that larger companies might differ by location, socioeconomic characteristics of the employees, provision of cycle facilities such as parking and showering facilities, have explicit travel policies, might offer or encourage employees to take up cycle training or might 'encourage' cycling by other means. These factors could result in such employers having proportionally larger numbers of cycling employees and could affect the behaviour of cyclists through peer pressure. All of these factors might have an effect on both the use of conspicuity aids and the collision crash risk of the case and control cyclists recruited at these sites which might cause them to differ from cyclists employed

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 197

by smaller companies. More directly, the number of cyclists in an area is thought to be associated with the crash risk for individual cyclists ¹⁶⁰. The greater numbers of cyclists in the locality of a larger such employers could in principle, improve the safety of cyclists recruited there for at least part of their journey, by comparison to other cyclists.

The categories chosen were "small" with less than 50 employees, "medium" with 50-250 employees and "large" with greater than 250 employees. Participants were asked for the number of employees at the organisation to facilitate matching where the journey started or finished at a workplace college or university. This information was also used to identify further potential control recruitment sites. Despite the inability to match on company size the information on employer size was used in modelling but was not found to be a significant confounder. It is possible that this was insensitive owing to the small numbers of cyclists in the small, and medium company categories.

The catchment area exclusion criterion was applied to decrease the dissimilarities between cyclists cycling in differing areas by excluding rural cyclists as far as possible. The exclusion criterion was an approximation reliant on the judgement of the researcher in its application using maps and satellite images. This could have led to errors affecting a small number of cases and controls at the peripheries of the recruitment area where some of the reported journey was undertaken. The confirmation of eligibility was carried out prior to the recording of exposure data by the researcher although they were not formally blinded to outcome status. This is unlikely to have created a significant bias of the findings. Only seven cases were excluded because either their crash or the majority of their reported journey, occurred outside the catchment area. The effect on recruitment efficiency was minimal.

4.6.2 Traffic Risk Measurements: "Route Risk"

The 'riskiness' of a participant's route is likely to affect the likelihood of a crash and potentially influence the use of conspicuity aids. Previous related studies have used adjustment for environmental risk such a signed-posted speed limits ²¹³ or a self-reported scale of risk exposure to hazardous traffic conditions ²³⁰ to attempt to adjust for confounding from such sources. The current study used an estimate of cycling crash risk as a proxy for confounding risk from this source. A

combination of historical bicycle crash records, observations of bicycle use and journey length was used to generate an estimate of relative route risk. These variables were combined to give an estimate of the numbers of cycling collisions that might be expected each participant's route per 100 million kilometres cycled. The author is not aware of any published research using such independent sources of data to estimate confounding risk in this way.

It was found that this "route risk" variable was significantly associated with the odds of collision crash. Two of the component exposure variables were also significantly associated the odds of collision crash. The amount of cycling along case routes was significantly less and the number of reported crashes significantly greater. On these measures, case journeys were comparatively "risky" compared to controls. This suggests that the association of the primary exposure and the outcome was confounded by environmental crash risk i.e. that risk of collision for conspicuity aid users was higher than for non-users after controlling for "external" risk factors. As discussed above, route choice may be influenced by a cyclist's estimate of the risk presented by a route, their level of experience or self-estimated skill or other factors such as convenience and these factors may concurrently, influence conspicuity aid use. The combination of characteristics used in the estimation of this proxy measure, are likely to have successfully captured some "stable" aspects of this confounding effect. The additive effect of increasing odds ratios in models after adjustment for route risk suggests that this confounding relationship is not straightforward. The large proportion of missing data on this variable may have introduced bias by altering the representation of conspicuity aid users in the case and control groups within the models.

There may have been random errors in estimation of the bicycle traffic levels used in the traffic risk estimate owing to limited resources available for extensive sampling of bicycle traffic volumes. Traffic census data were collected by the researcher over the whole course of the recruitment period necessitating some adjustment to counts to allow for seasonal variation. Time series data on which to base such adjustments was limited. The only data available was collected over one year (2008) and at only six sites and so may have been unreliable. Re-sampling to assess the reliability or variance of the counts was not possible owing to resource limitations. The practice of local authority traffic surveys was followed using standard definitions of peak and off-peak periods. The author could find no guidance regarding the extrapolation of such small samples to give Average Annual Daily Traffic flows save for that from work in

Manchester cited in the methods. Detailed cycle censuses are rare and tend to focus on new infrastructure to estimate take-up (Sustrans Monitoring Unit – private correspondence). Despite these caveats the sampling and count processes were identical for case and control routes and therefore differential bias is unlikely.

There may have been some inaccuracy in the self-reporting of participant routes. The schematic maps included almost the entire major and minor road network. Participants were encouraged to customise maps to increase the accuracy of representation of their route where roads were not illustrated by the map. The maps appeared to perform well. The vast majority of routes were illustrated as lying on roads or paths following the road layout given in the schema. There is no reason to think that errors in map completion differed by outcome group. Transcription of the routes using the GIS system was uncomplicated and likely to have been more accurate than rival methods.

There were 50 participants with missing data on route risk. In the majority of instances the route data was available for the participant but no traffic observations could be completed. This reduces but does not eliminate the risk that 'missingness' was related to some characteristic of the cyclist. It is likely that non-observed routes were amongst the less travelled by cyclists and were therefore likely to have yielded higher route risk scores owing to the lower number of cyclists. This may have introduced bias as these observations were then dropped from models including this variable because regression methods require complete data on all covariates. The proportion of cases with missing route data was higher for cases than for controls (20% vs. 13%) and this was the largest proportion of missing values for any covariate in the models.

Estimates of the primary association between the outcome and conspicuity aid use were restricted to participants with route risk data. The odds ratio was increased from 1.20 to 1.48 suggesting that relatively more exposed cases than controls were excluded from the models because of missing data. However the odds ratio was still increased by more than 10% when adjustment was made for route risk (OR 1.65) in this restricted sample suggested a continued confounding effect. Models including all responders using imputed data for missing values, was undertaken to assess the effect of this bias. The odds ratio was reduced towards unity but including these observations did not eliminate or alter the direction of the association of the outcome with the exposure. Missing data for this variable are unlikely to have been a source of important differential bias. Another source of inaccuracy of the route risk variable may have been the number of recorded crashes along the route. This data was derived from Police traffic crash reports for the three years preceding the study. Police crash reports are known to under-report bicycle crashes. It is likely that collision crashes are better captured than all crash types combined as they are more likely to be reported and to involve serious injury ⁶⁹. Non-injury crashes are not recorded in these data. These differences affected case and control routes similarly and did not introduce bias but if conspicuity aid use also varied geographically and affected reporting rates by reducing the numbers of injuries this could have confounded this association.

Police reports, which were the numerator for the route risk calculation, do not include crashes which occur on dedicated cycle infrastructure segregated from the carriageway i.e. collisions between cyclists and pedestrians or other cyclists. The route risk variable did not capture confounding risk from these types of incidents. There is a possibility that some such incidents could be prevented by the use of conspicuity aids although this is unlikely to be a significant effect owing to the far lower speeds involved which drastically reduce the required stopping distances and make evasion manoeuvres possible in the majority of cases. It is not known if such crashes are a significant contributor to the burden of cycling injury in the UK but were included in this study. This may have led to an artificially lower estimation of route risk for those participants using cycle infrastructure. Choosing segregated infrastructure could also affect conspicuity aid use and thus confound the study findings. The numbers of collision crashes in the study which occurred away from the carriageway was less than 10% and so this effect is likely to be small in the current study.

The police bicycle crash data was only available for the three years prior to the recruitment period. It is not known whether the geospatial distribution of bicycle crashes changed in the catchment area in this time. This may have reduced the accuracy of the estimate of environmental traffic risk. It is likely that patterns of commuter or utility cycle use and crash occurrence are relatively stable and so the data are a valid comparison. Such variations would be non-differential between outcome groups.

The route risk variable may not have captured all relevant features of the participant's chosen route allowing for residual confounding. Characteristics such as motorised traffic volume, composition and speed and other relevant characteristics of the catchment area such as amount and quality of cycle

infrastructure and maintenance standards may all affect crash risk for cyclists ²³¹. Such data were not available for the study participants. This meant that the route risk variable may have been insensitive to such factors. However, the route risk variable was an estimation of the rate of bicycle crashes per unit distance of cycling. By definition, if the unmeasured factors such traffic speeds had an effect on crash risk then this would have resulted in increases in this measure even if not all crashes were recorded by police. The development of an efficiently estimable, reliable and externally valid scale to capture the external road risk faced by cyclists would be of great potential benefit for future cycle crash prevention research. The incidence-density sampling process and matching on journey times were designed to reduce confounding from this source given that much variation in traffic volumes and composition is time dependent.

The aim of estimating cyclist numbers and therefore route risk over a wide range of sites across the entire catchment area was achieved for the majority of both cases and controls. This is likely to have reduced the confounding effect of some elements of traffic risk on the odds of collision crash.

4.6.3 Previous Cycle Crash Involvement

Cyclists' self-reported involvement in previous crashes was recorded and the relationship with outcome and other exposures was examined. Controls more frequently reported being involved in a crash within the previous three years although the difference was not significant (p=0.27). Conspicuity aid use was more likely by those who reported a previous crash amongst cases and controls (OR 1.73; 95% CI 1.01 to 2.96) and the odds ratio was altered such that the variable was retained in model two. It is likely therefore that adjustment for this factor reduced confounding from this source.

If there was a true protective effect of conspicuity aid use, the higher rates of use in those involved in previous crashes could represent a "survivor effect". A higher-proportion of non-users would be involved in crashes over time and some of these cyclists may stop cycling leading to relative under-representation of non-users in the available base population. In addition, previous crash involvement could lead some cyclists to increase their use of conspicuity aids on their return to cycling. The recruitment of cases and controls matched as

travelling within six weeks of each other is likely to have reduced this effect by eliminating the effect of incremental changes within the source population which would occur if controls and cases were recruited during different time periods.

It is possible that, given a true association between conspicuity aid use and increased collision risk, the observed association between use and previous crashes was to some extent "protopathic" i.e. the outcome was made more likely by the existing behaviour of the cyclists which resulted in crashes and near misses further resulting in increased adoption of conspicuity aids. The possibility of such risk compensation is discussed in the section on residual confounding below.

4.6.4 Index Of Multiple Deprivation

Cases home addresses were situated in more deprived areas when compared to controls. Conspicuity aid use was not significantly associated with deprivation in this sample but non-users may have been artificially under-represented owing to selection bias as discussed above. Index of multiple deprivation scores were found to have an effect on the odds ratios in both multivariate models and so were retained to adjust for confounding from this source. This suggests that those from deprived areas may have been at greater risk of collision involvement and could represent a propensity to risk taking or reluctance to use safety equipment.

The short distances travelled by bicycle and the restriction of the study to commuter journeys, suggests another explanation of this association. It may be that this relationship reflects the greater risk of traffic injury to vulnerable road users found in more deprived areas and that this is where the participant's cycling exposure is most likely to have occurred on commuter trips. A study of the deprivation of crash locations adjusted for the relative deprivation of the cyclist themselves would be required to reduce confounding from this source and could not be undertaken in the current study.

4.6.5 Age

The average age of cases was over four years less than that of controls. Age was associated with a reduction in risk of collision crash of 4% per additional year of life (p=0.003). Contrary to this finding, age is generally associated with increased vulnerability to injury after accidents. This should increase the likelihood of inclusion of older cyclists in a case sample derived from an emergency department and thus a positive association with crash risk is more likely. Older cyclists may travel more slowly, limit their own exposure to traffic, be more cautious in their interactions with other road users or benefit from greater experience in their encounters with them all exerting protective effects. This may have been confounded by response bias with older cyclists being more likely to reply.

There was no significant association of age with conspicuity aid use in the univariate unmatched analysis although the addition of age to the matched analysis resulted in a 10% increase in the odds ratio of collision crash and was retained in both models to adjust for confounding. The differences in affluence noted between cases and controls may also be age-related to some extent as controls were recruited from larger companies with older and more affluent work forces.

4.6.6 Gender

Female respondents were less likely than males to be involved in a collision crash (odds ratio 0.52; 95% CI 0.28 to 0.94) although gender was not a predictor of conspicuity aid use. Gender was included in the models because of the likelihood of confounding from risk aversion relative to males suggested by previous research into risk-taking and accident involvement in general.

4.6.7 Use Of A Cycle Helmet

The use of a cycle crash helmet was included as a confounding variable as it was thought likely to be associated with reduced risk taking behaviour, potentially

acting as a proxy for risk-aversion or "safety-consciousness". Use of a helmet could also affect crash risk directly by increasing the apparent height of wearers and therefore make them more conspicuous to other road users. A further confounding effect could arise from the reduction in injury resulting on lower rates of attendance at the study site and thus lower availability for inclusion.

Helmet use was not associated with collision crash (controls 65% vs. cases 58% p=0.23). Helmet use was significantly associated with conspicuity aid use (p < 0.001) but not with route risk (p=0.94). This suggests that helmet use may be associated with other safety behaviours and possibly unmeasured confounders such as safer behaviour in traffic. Helmet use was not a good indicator of increased risk tolerance in terms of route choice. The lack of association with crash risk and the association with other safety behaviour in cyclists. The inclusion of helmet wearing in model one is likely to have reduced the effect of confounding by cautious cycling behaviour in wearers or alteration in other road users behaviour discussed below (6.5.9).

4.6.8 Cycling Experience

Participants reporting less than one year's cycling experience were at greater risk of collision than more experienced cyclists. Controls were more experienced cyclists than cases in all categories except for between 4 and 10 years experience. The relationship between experience and odds of crash was not significant in any experience category nor was there an apparent dose response.

This distribution may be due to sampling error owing to the small sample size. It is not known whether and how cycling experience is related to ability or behaviours that could have an effect on crash risk. It is plausible that there may be a threshold effect. Above a certain level of experience, road behaviour and ability to control a bicycle may cease to improve and hence the relationship to crash risk is weakened or confounded by other factors. Experience was not an independent predictor of conspicuity aid use although those with less than one year's experience of cycling were the more likely to report use than those with any greater level of experience.

Cyclists with greater cycling experience may be more likely to have responded to the survey as they may "identify" themselves as a cyclist in a way that a relative

novice may not a factor which could also be related to conspicuity aid use. Cycling may be more likely a mode of choice rather than necessity in older respondents because of differences in income and the relative costs of car ownership increasing the degree to which more experienced cyclists were overrepresented in the sample. Experience levels may conceal great differences in amount and type of cycle exposure and so may be a crude measure of ability or other latent characteristics with important confounding effects.

4.7 Residual Confounding

The current study used psychological trait scoring, demographic proxies and objectively observed measures of environmental traffic risk to adjust for confounding of the relationship between conspicuity aid use and collision crash involvement from other sources of increased crash risk. Despite these efforts there are factors related to the aetiology of bicycle collision crashes which are not clearly captured by these data. The modelling of confounders showed that only a small number of these factors altered the odds of crash in this sample and yet a significant association emerged after multivariate modelling. It is possible that such an association was driven by uncontrolled confounding.

Despite efforts to collect data on a wide range of confounding variables it is likely that a degree of residual confounding remains and could account for the finding of an increase in crash risk associated with conspicuity aid use. The estimate of traffic risk used to adjust for confounding from this source did not yield any information about the actual cycling behaviour of individual cyclists beyond their choice of route. Such behaviour could include differences in speed of travel, tolerance of close interactions with traffic, propensity to cycle within the traffic stream rather than close to the curb or alter the negotiation of junctions by different cyclists.

There was an increase in the strength of association between conspicuity aid use and crash risk after the introduction of route risk into the multivariate model (the OR adjusted for age, gender, deprivation and previous crash involvement increased from 1.5 to 2.4 after further adjustment for risk arising from route choice). The variable representing traffic risk may create a "suppressor" effect, altering the association between conspicuity aid use and crash risk by revealing the importance of behavioural adaptations to the use of conspicuity aids.

Suppressor variables have been studied for many years in linear regression contexts with a classification system having been proposed ³³¹ and they are known to affect logistic models ³³². Given the association between route risk and the outcome and the increase in odds of the primary predictor in the presence of the route risk variable this study may demonstrate a cooperative suppressor effect where the suppressor serves to reduce the variance in another predictor that is not related to the outcome and so increases the latter's beta weight ³³¹. This effect may extend to unmeasured confounders such as road behaviour in the present study. It is possible that the protopathic effect of conspicuity aid use both increases the tolerated level of risk in route choice and also in road behaviour. Controlling for the former may have enhanced the importance of the effect of the latter causing the counterintuitive rise in the apparent harmful effect of conspicuity aid use. A confident conspicuity aid user may be more at risk than a diffident non-user whether on safe or dangerous road circumstances owing to their over-estimation of the safety premium afforded by conspicuity aids. This interpretation is vulnerable to the potential bias introduced by the level of missing data for the route risk variable as discussed above.

4.7.1 Risk Homeostasis Theory And Risk "Compensation"

Confounding of the relationship between crash risk and conspicuity aid use may be said to have occurred if the use of such equipment leads to alterations in cyclists' behaviour. This could then be a 'real' effect of conspicuity aids and might have led to the findings presented here. Risk homeostasis theory, which predicts risk 'compensation' as a response to safety interventions, has been developed to account for such behavioural adaptations to safety interventions in an attempt to account for the lack of demonstrable reductions in injury rates despite the introduction of safety interventions. The theory suggests for example, that the safety benefit from helmet wearing may be converted to performance gains by wearers, by permitting greater speed to be achieved "safely" on a given journey ³⁰². The theory proposes that each individual has a predetermined tolerance for risk in the circumstances in which they undertake an activity ³⁰³. Changes in circumstances which affect a person's perception of their own safety during the activity lead to behavioural adaptations. These adaptations, it is assumed, are generally intended both to improve the performance of the activity and leave the level of risk experienced unaltered. This is termed "risk

compensation". The existence of risk compensation remains controversial (for examples see ^{53 304-310} and its application to road safety problems equally so. Peltzman ³¹¹ famously suggested in 1975 that automobile safety regulations aimed at increasing the safety of occupants had, in fact, made no difference to car occupant deaths in the US. At the same time he suggested they had had an effect on the safety of vulnerable road users such as pedestrians and cyclists because of the increased speeds adopted by many drivers compensating for their perception of their own increased safety.

The idea that safety interventions might lead to compensatory behaviours and a consequent transfer of risk to other road users was further developed by Wilde ³¹²⁻³¹⁴. It has been suggested that the improvements in vehicle occupant safety seen over the past half century have led directly to the massive declines in active travel amongst adults and children in highly motorised countries because of risk transfer from motor vehicle occupants to non-occupants and that this is an unintended consequence of policies and regulations designed to reduce the injury toll for motor vehicle occupants ^{41 134}.

Risk homeostasis could have a direct bearing on the results reported for the current study. One of the main proponents of the theory has claimed that;

"There is no evidence that fluorescent or reflective clothing has reduced child road collision deaths, nor of evidence of its effect on behaviour. However, risk compensation suggests that cyclists and pedestrians, confident of being seen, might cycle or walk in places and in ways in which they would not otherwise if they felt invisible to motorists. It also suggests that, as such clothing becomes more widely used and more widely anticipated by motorists, those without it will be placed in relatively greater danger" (J Adams in ³¹⁵ p53).

This quote nicely demonstrates the potential for the theory to lead to a variety of possible interpretations. The theory can be taken to implicitly predict little or no net safety benefit of conspicuity aid use if compensation by users is accurate and proportionate. This is because the overall crash risk is predicted to return to the prior level because use of conspicuity aids "encourage" the user to travel in more dangerous circumstances. This is however, of benefit in terms of freedom

and convenience to bicycle users and efforts to alter this effect would be considered a disincentive to cycle. Such accurate compensation would not provide an alternative explanation for the increased crash risk for conspicuity aid users reported here. If however, conspicuity aid users over-estimate the benefit of conspicuity aid use their behavioural response to this perceived safety premium could be harmful.

Errors in compensation could arise if the conspicuity aids employed by users do not perform as well as their owners assume. Some cyclists may not understand their relative lack of conspicuity for drivers they encounter in different circumstances such as during daylight or in busy traffic conditions where there are a number of vehicle movements requiring a driver's attention or a complex background against which a cyclists must be detected and indentified.

The current study did not measure relative conspicuity directly. However the validation data comparisons suggest that users over estimated their use and circumstantial evidence of differences in cyclists estimation of their relative conspicuity compared to drivers suggested that this may also be a factor. As a result of some of the characteristics of conspicuity aids, it is possible they are likely to elicit a degree of behavioural compensation consistent with this alternative explanation of the study findings.

Hedlund provides a useful analysis of risk homeostasis and describes four factors governing the degree to which a given safety intervention might prompt compensatory behaviour from users ³⁰⁶. "Visibility" is the degree to which the user is conscious that the safety equipment is present and of its intended effect. In the case of conspiculty aids this is likely to be high given that use of the aids studied here must be a conscious decision for each trip undertaken. "Effect" is used to describe how the intervention affects a person physically and mentally in terms of comfort or appearance. Despite the wide choice available to cyclists over which aids to use the more effective aids tend to be require greater surface area and could therefore be uncomfortable in warmer weather or aesthetically unappealing leading to discretionary use. "Motivation" describes the influences on performance of the task for which safety equipment is being used. For conspicuity aid use by cyclists such influences could include the reward for increased performance or attitudes to the task such as the enjoyment delivered by risk taking. "Control" is taken to represent the degree to which an individual can consciously control the activity in question and manage their own exposure to risk. There is considerable scope for cyclists to manage their own exposure to

traffic danger. The presence of segregated infrastructure, whether designed for cyclists or not increases this level control of risk exposure for cyclists especially in high income countries and highly urbanised settings with greater availability of alternatives.

Hedlund suggests that a safety intervention scoring "highly" on any of these factors is likely to lead to compensatory behaviour adaptations and that the individual may "compensate partially, completely, or more than completely for the safety measure" (p88). As a consequence of the degree of conscious evaluation involved in the behavioural effects of risk homeostasis, a further factor is the degree to which the user believes a given intervention is effective. For example there is evidence that habitual users of cycle helmets exhibit greater compensatory behaviour by cycling faster when a helmet is worn by comparison to those who do not normally wear a helmet ³¹⁶. This apparently paradoxical aspect of the theory is nonetheless of importance, particularly for the threat it poses to the generalisability of the findings of observational research in this field.

For the reasons set out above, conspicuity aid use may be particularly likely to elicit compensatory behaviour changes in cyclist users. Risk homeostasis theory and the potential for risk compensation, have clear implications for the interpretation of the results of this study. The use of conspicuity aids may lead to changes in the user's subsequent behaviour such that some of any potential safety benefit is expended on performance gains. This may be through increased speed, choice of shorter but more dangerous routes with greater exposure to traffic danger or greater willingness to travel after dark or in poor weather.

For risk compensation to explain the increased in the odds of a collision crash for conspicuity aid user reported in this study the change in behaviour must lead to a net reduction in safety as the theory implies that the user intends their risk of injury to remain static. The study findings show a significant association between the use of conspicuity aids and travelling in darkness. Conspicuity aid use was also associated with travelling longer distances. In addition use of conspicuity aids was associated with cycling on routes with fewer cyclists and greater numbers of previous cycle crashes. These findings all suggest that conspicuity aid use was more likely in places and at times where proxy measures of traffic danger were higher.

Other types of compensatory behaviour may have occurred but were not captured by this study and so therefore represent residual confounding. One

potential source of compensatory confounding was cycling speed. Cycling at higher speeds could increase the risk of crashes by reducing the time available to participants and their collision partner to take evasive action in the event of a conflict. The evidence for the relationship of speed and crash risk is scant. The Taupo study reported that higher speed of cycling was in fact associated with a lower relative risk of crash ⁸³. This finding may result from confounding from increased skill in those travelling at higher speeds. The current study did not measure the speed of participants. The likelihood of error and recall bias was thought to be high particularly for cases who, of necessity, would be required to estimate their arrival time given that by definition they did not complete their journey safely. It was also likely that departure and arrival times may not have been accurately recalled by either group as they may be unknown to some participants especially if questionnaires were completed at some later time and therefore subject to some recall and estimation bias.

A further source of residual confounding, which may also be characterised as a form of risk compensation, could have occurred and contributed to the association between conspicuity aid use and the raised odds of a collision. It is possible that the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists altered the behaviour of drivers they encountered which by implication may have altered their risk of collision crash. This source of confounding would be difficult to measure and no suitable variables were collected in the current study to permit adjustment for confounding from this source. The aim of conspicuity aid use by cyclists is to increase the awareness of drivers of their presence and consequently alter the behaviour of drivers and other road users to avoid conflicts. There is evidence that the relationship between cyclists' use of safety equipment and its actual effects on drivers' behaviour may be not be straightforward. A recent study by Walker has suggested that drivers react differently to some behavioural and visual characteristics of cyclists ³¹⁷. Motor vehicle drivers were found to adjust their passing distance depending on the external appearance and road position of the model cyclist. On journeys when the cyclists was wearing a helmet there was a 40% increase in the odds of motor vehicles passing "near" as opposed to "far" from the cyclist (odds ratio = 1.41, 95% CI = 1.10-1.80, p = .007).

Walker suggests that the findings indicate that the use of safety equipment by cyclists might reduce the distance allowed by passing vehicles and have "implications for accident probability" (p.417). Walker hypothesises that this may be explained by the subjective judgement of the driver as to the likelihood that a helmet a) confers some protection and/or b) indicates competence and

therefore a reduced risk of taking an erratic line of travel requiring a lower margin for error. Although conspicuity aids were not tested as part of the study, the findings could apply to their use by cyclists. There is little relevant evidence for the effect of conspicuity aid use on driver behaviour although earlier work by Watts ³¹⁸ found that use of a fluorescent tabard conspicuity enhancing device did not increase the passing distances of vehicles whilst the two other devices tested which were fixed to a rear pannier frame and projected out to the off-side of the bicycle by approximately 50 centimetres did demonstrate significant increases in passing distances on both urban and rural roads. The fluorescent tabard did reduce the proportion of "near miss" events (defined as passes within 1 metre) significantly in one urban setting tested but not at the rural test sites. In general the tabard did not appear to affect the behaviour of passing motorists but the study lacked a control condition and failed to control for other variables such as the presence of oncoming traffic.

It is a weakness of the current study that more information about the crash circumstances was not recorded. This would have allowed for greater understanding of the possible contribution of conspicuity to each crash. Information on the direction of impact, relative vehicle manoeuvres and road layout could have been used to further assess the validity of the assumption that conspicuity was relevant to the crash and further ensured that only relevant crash configurations were analysed. Such data could not be verified without access to police data and in many cases no independent verification would have been possible. The increase in the length of the questionnaire could have further depressed response rates and may have exacerbated response biases.

Relative lack of driver expectation of encountering a cyclist may have an effect on crash risk and is thought to underpin the "safety in numbers" effect found in some crash studies ¹⁶⁰. Such lack of expectation and preparedness of motor vehicle drivers may reduce the benefit gained from cyclists wearing conspicuity aids. The current study provides some support for such an effect. Estimates of the number of cyclists observed were lower at observation sites located on case compared to control journeys and this approached significance (equality of medians test p=0.06). The total number of crashes recorded along the route was significantly higher for cases than controls (equality of medians test p=0.002). Case cyclists could therefore be cycling in places where motor vehicle driver expectation of encountering cyclists is lower and consequently risk of a collision higher.

The differences in collision risk for conspicuity aid users cannot easily be explained by differences in cycling exposure. The amount of cycling, whether expressed as the distance cycled in the seven days prior to recruitment or the number of bicycle trips in the same period did not differ significantly between cases and controls. There was a significant difference in the length of each participant's route between cases and controls but confounding from this difference is likely to have been controlled for in this analysis by the inclusion of route length in the overall estimation of route risk. Nonetheless the difference in this variable by outcome status and its further significant association with use of conspicuity aids is further evidence for a risk compensation effect amongst users.

Other aspects of environmental risk were not measured and could have constituted a residual confounding effect. The amount, type and quality of dedicated infrastructure for cyclists was not directly captured by the route risk estimate. However, the use of long sections of off-road or segregated infrastructure would have reduced the relative previous crash count as these sections had no police recorded crashes along them as police reporting is restricted to crashes occurring on the carriageway. The route risk estimate was unable to capture important details such as junction or roundabout frequency nor the relative frequency of required manoeuvres known to carry higher risks such as right turns across traffic flows. These factors may have differed for case and control groups and the accuracy of penitential adjustment for them relies on the assumption that this extra risk is entirely captured by relative numbers of historical crash records. Without independent validation of the route risk variable this cannot be established conclusively.

Other aspects of "environmental" traffic risk to cyclists were also lacking from the estimate of route risk. Traffic speeds (whether from direct measurement or via the proxy of sign-posted speed limits on various road segments) was not available owing to the prohibitive cost of such data. The volume and composition of motorised traffic was another factor which could not be measured directly but may have made a significant contribution to estimations of risk posed to cyclists. Despite this it remains plausible that past risk, as represented by previous numbers of cycle crashes, may indicate future risk for cyclists in the same settings. Despite these flaws the route risk variable calculation represents a resource efficient and plausible proxy for the differences in traffic danger arising from relatively stable features of the environment encountered by cyclists such as traffic flows and speeds. Further evidence of residual confounding comes from the apparent association between conspicuity aid use and cycling exposure. The use of conspicuity aids was positively associated with amount of cycling on the participants' route and the number of reported accidents as well as the reported route length and the weekly cycle exposure although there was no significant association with the summary measure of route risk used for modelling calculated by combining these variables. These relationships suggest a pattern of associations between traffic danger, cycling exposure and conspicuity aid use which is indicative of considerable residual confounding and which was not completely accounted for in the composite measure used.

It is not known the degree to which cyclists correctly estimate the increase in conspicuity achieved by choosing to wear conspicuity aids. It is likely that a subjective assessment of the likely benefit is dependent on other factors such as self-perceived ability but may also be related to experience levels and possibility motor vehicle driving experience and training. Recently Wood et al compared cyclists' and drivers' assessments of the conspicuity of cyclists using various active and passive conspicuity aids in different light conditions ³¹⁹. The cyclist responders were also asked about the distance they felt a cyclist could be seen whilst wearing their own typical cycling equipment.

Cyclists appeared to over-estimate the visibility cyclists using conspicuity enhancing clothing when compared to drivers. The biggest differences were for the use of lights with drivers giving a significantly lower visibility rating for the use of lights in daylight and at night (p< 0.001). Cyclists by contrast underestimated the visibility of cyclists using passive conspicuity aids although this difference was only significant for night time use (p = 0.001). In addition the study reported low rates of use of passive conspicuity aids by cyclist participants in low-light or night conditions. The proportion reporting that they "always use" an item was 20% for fluorescent clothing and 20% for reflective clothing. Light use in low light or dark conditions was 83% for front and 90% for rear lights. The authors did not record whether any participants were both drivers and cyclists (personal correspondence 2011) which may have shed light on the effect of driving or cycling experience when using the other mode. This tendency to over-estimate conspicuity when wearing conspicuity aids has been confirmed in another group of vulnerable road occupants ²¹⁰. Interviews were conducted with "road workers" such as traffic police officers and ambulance paramedics, and a qualitative analysis of their understanding and beliefs regarding their own visibility and the performance of conspicuity aids, was undertaken. The findings

suggest a degree of over-estimation of conspicuity on the part of these groups and the authors suggest that these attitudes may lead to inappropriate risk behaviours in traffic situations.

One secondary aim of the study was to examine the consistency of use of some of the component exposures. The use of most cycling safety equipment use is discretionary and thus prone to compensatory behaviour in a way not shared by other modes of transport. For example most safety features of cars are engineered in and cannot be waived by the driver. By contrast it is possible that cyclists adopt safety measures to some degree by reference to characteristics of their intended journey, or environmental factors such as exposure to traffic or weather conditions on certain journeys. Consistency of use of safety equipment was similar for both cases and controls. Conditional use of conspicuity aids was relatively high. This opens the possibility of considerable risk compensation with many respondents saying they only used conspicuity aids in heavy traffic or at night. This may mean that such aids are not being widely used in all the circumstances in which they might provide some protection or only in situations where crash risk is already increased and the safety benefit is inadequate to actually prevent a proportion of collision crashes.

In summary if the 'amount' of risk compensation, i.e. the sum of the effects of the changes in behaviour of the cyclist as a result of conspicuity aid use, were to equal the safety premium conferred by that use then this would lead to an increase in odds of crash for cases relative to controls. If the true safety benefit was smaller than the increase in risk prompted by the conspicuity aid use this could account for odds ratio seen in this study.

4.8 Lack Of Precision And Type I And II Error

The power calculation performed suggested that 218 cases and 872 controls were needed to give an 80% power to detect an odds ratio of 0.63 at a 5% significance level, similar to that reported by Wells for conspicuity aid use by motorcyclists 213 .

The recruitment rate for the study was low compared to the accrual projections and the required sample size could not be recruited in the available time period. Some amendments to the original Research Ethics Service approval were

negotiated to improve accrual rates. These marginally increased the efficiency of recruitment but not sufficiently to attain the sample size required in the available time. The study is therefore at risk of a type I error where the null hypothesis, that there is no difference in the comparison drawn, is retained owing to a lack of power to detect a small but real difference in crash risk. The study found no significant difference in the unadjusted odds of collision crash between the use of conspicuity aids by cases and controls. By contrast the study found a statistically significant difference in odds of collision crash between cases and controls. This does not rule out the possibility that random variation accounts for the results but quantifies it at a level below the commonly accepted threshold of and alpha of less than 5%.

The small sample size reduced the power of the study to detect potentially important differences between subgroups. It was not therefore possible to assess whether the effects of conspicuity aids were more pronounced in reduced lighting conditions, at night or in poor weather. In these differing circumstances changes in the likely effects of fluorescent vs. retro reflective materials (the former effective only in reduced light conditions the latter only at twilight or after dark in the presence of an external light sources) may have affected crash risk for individuals. Very large samples would be required for these comparisons given that the majority of individuals in the study reported the use of a mixture of fluorescent and reflective equipment and many were using lights and fixed reflectors rendering such comparisons prone to multiple sources of confounding.

A further risk of error comes when multiple comparisons are made or sub groups are defined and analysed after the study design is complete. The analyses reported here were planned in the original protocol but analyses of subgroups defined by component conspicuity measures are not significant after such adjustment.

Wells' study of motorcyclists suggested that the protective effect of conspicuity aids was greater in reduced light conditions as might be expected although the estimates were imprecise owing to the small numbers involved ²¹³. The current study was under-powered to deliver precise estimates of odds ratios when the crash risk was stratified by light levels or weather conditions as initially planned in the protocol. The vast majority of crashes occurred in daylight consistent with previous studies e.g. Stone and Broughton (see Epidemiology chapter) leaving the possibility that a true protective effect in reduced light conditions was not found by this study. More than 80% of cases and controls reported using
conspicuity aids in low light or darkness. These contrasts were underpowered owing to the small numbers of cases and controls recruited who were travelling in low-light and poor weather conditions. The numbers in the study wearing no conspicuity aids in low light conditions was consistent with recent Department for Transport research showing that of all fatal, serious and slight injury crashes, only 10%, 5% and 4% of cyclists respectively had "wearing dark clothing at night" recorded as a contributory factor in their collision ³²⁰.

A post hoc power calculation was conducted and showed that the study sample had 86% power (alpha 5%) to detect a 20% difference in exposure (50% of cases exposed vs. 70% of controls) which equates to an odds ratio of 0.43. Assuming an unbiased sample was recruited (and this is unlikely to have been the case as shown above) this suggests that if conspicuity aids had an effect on crash incidence in this sample it is therefore likely to have been of a smaller magnitude than this. This is compatible with a protective effect of conspicuity aids occurring in a small subset of crashes where conspicuity may be important relative to other factors such a vehicle speeds or cyclist error. Had a larger sample been obtained the possibility of a type I and type II errors would have been minimised. This would not reduce the threat of systematic bias from the errors in selection of participants or misclassification of exposures discussed above ²⁷⁵. The sample size also reduced the ability to examine interactions and further subgroups given the much greater chance of failing to detect real effects should they be present. Plausible interactions between conspicuity aid effectiveness and light levels or weather conditions would require far larger numbers of participants to estimate with any precision.

There was no detectable difference in injury severity between collision cases wearing conspicuity aids and those who were not. The small sample size makes it unlikely that anything but a large difference in injury severity could have been detected. Conspicuity aid use could be associated with reduced injury severity by increasing recognition distances and therefore reducing impact speeds in motor vehicle / cyclist collision. It is known that impact speed is positively correlated with fatality risk in pedestrians hit by motor vehicles ^{321 322}. For example the risk of a pedestrian being fatally injured if hit at 50km/h is 5 times higher than that at 30km/h ³²³. It is thought that an association between impact speed and fatality is also found for cyclists ^{95 192}. The study findings cannot be explained by such an effect. Were conspicuity aids to reduce injury severity and thus health-seeking behaviour, this would have reduced the proportion of conspicuity aids users in the case group and reduced the association with crash involvement.

4.9 Comparisons With Previous Work

There is little previous work examining the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists. The Taupo Bicycle Study attempts to examine conspicuity aid use in a cohort of cyclists registering for a leisure cycle event in New Zealand. The study had a higher response rate than the current work but >50% of the cyclists originally screened were not invited to take part as they did not supply a contact email address suggesting a degree of potential bias in that more affluent participants may have been over-represented (over half were educated to degree level for example). The study included all types of cyclists and cycling and therefore a potentially large component of leisure cycling which was specifically excluded from the current study. In addition the amount of cycling per week was far higher in the Taupo sample suggesting a bias toward leisure and sports cycling and a selection bias in the responders meaning that the results may not generalise to commuter or utility cyclists.

The study found an eight-fold increase in rates of crash injury resulting in days off work for participants who reported "never" wearing fluorescent clothing vs. those who "always" wore such clothing (Incidence Rate Ratio of 8.33 (95% CI 2.59 to 26.74). Reflective clothing was not associated with reduced crash risk but no figures are given.

Participants were not asked to record whether crashes were the result of a collision or loss of control. A proportion of the observed association may therefore result from some unmeasured factor such as variation in behaviour amongst traffic possibly as a result of greater caution leading to both fluorescent clothing use and cautious riding style as conspicuity effect is absent by definition. Comparison with the results presented for the present study suggests that these factors undermine the author's assertion of a direct link between fluorescent clothing use and crash risk.

As described above a case-control approach was used by Wells et al to investigate the association of the odds of crash and conspicuity aid use in motorcyclists. This study provided a model for the current work although again, non-collision crashes were included in the final analysis without comment or disaggregation. The authors suggest that only "around 30%" of crashes involved the motorcyclist losing control ²¹⁴ and that an analysis excluding these did not affect the resulting odds ratios. A further weakness was the use of only the

colour of the front of the motorcyclists in classifying the exposure. Although by comparison to cyclists fewer rear-end collisions may occur, they are unlikely to be rare and as with side impacts are likely to have made up a considerable proportion of the incidents analysed.

As with the Taupo study which also included non-collision crashes, the results of these previous studies suggest a considerable confounding effect from an association between conspicuity aid use and cycling and riding behaviours which were likely to independently affect the likelihood of crash involvement. These design flaws constitute a serious threat to the external validity of the findings in these papers given the lack of a plausible preventative effect of conspicuity aids in loss of control incidents.

4.10 Implications Of These Results For Road Safety Policy And Future Research

The failure of this study to find a protective effect from the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists may be explained by biases and residual confounding as discussed above. Despite this there are a number of factors illustrated by this study that warrant further investigation.

The population observations of conspicuity aid use provide good evidence that the use of conspicuity aids in the recruitment area was lower, even at peak commuting times, than that reported by participants included in the matched analysis. Data gathered on both the study journey and habitual use by participants do suggest that amongst both case and control cyclists some potentially useful conspicuity aids such as ankle bands or cycle clips are relatively rarely used regardless of the circumstances of a journey. The importance of "bio-motion" in increasing recognition and detection distances suggests that these aids could be valuable in increasing cyclists' conspicuity. The study was too small to differentiate a protective effect from bio-motion but the evidence from previous research appears to suggest that it can provide further increases in recognition and detection distances beyond those achieved by static conspicuity aids. Data on the use of lights by participants reported here shows the majority of cases and controls do not use lights in all conditions but light use after dark is high amongst both groups as is conspicuity aid use. Daylight light use may be protective especially in low-light conditions but may be

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 219

thought unnecessary by some participants as the existing literature and road safety information focuses on conspicuity after dark. A further factor of interest is that discretionary use of conspicuity aids is relatively high compared to discretionary helmet use. This may indicate a belief amongst some cyclists that their conspicuity is adequate without aids in daylight conditions. There may be scope for promoting the increased use of fluorescent aids by cyclists in daylight as the majority of crashes occur in these conditions and fluorescent colours could have a protective effect.

The equivocal findings of this study give no reason to overturn the accepted wisdom that increasing conspicuity of cyclists could protect against collision crashes in some circumstances. The low opportunity cost of adoption of conspicuity aids by cyclists argues for their use even if the potential protective factor is marginal in all but a subset of potential crash situations.

There are a number of reasons why cyclists may not use conspicuity aids. For economically disadvantaged cyclists adoption may be governed by cost with some specialist cycling clothing being relatively expensive. Other factors may affect the choice to use conspicuity aids by some such as the availability of easy storage at work or simple personal preferences such as comfort or aesthetic considerations. Exploration of such factors is beyond the scope of this study but should be important considerations when planning interventions to promote the adoption of conspicuity aids.

Self-reported use of conspicuity aids was common amongst cases and controls. This contrasts with the lower levels of population use observed at crash sites during the study period. Observations, even those conducted at peak periods when the proportion of commuter cyclists may have been comparable to the study sample showed a low level of use amongst the target population. Proportions observed using conspicuity aids were generally highest at peak commuting times and lower at off-peak times. They also varied considerably across different sites. These findings all suggest that conspicuity aid use by cyclists varies across sub-groups some of which may have been excluded from this cohort. However, even at peak times when the proportion of cyclists commuting and thus eligible for the current study was likely to be high, conspicuity aid use observed in the target population was still far lower suggesting both that the sample in this study was unrepresentative and that there is considerable scope to increase the level of conspicuity aid use in this population.

The risk of compensatory behaviour reducing the safety benefit of conspicuity aid use may be relatively high amongst cyclists for the reasons set out above. The risk that such compensation is inappropriate and may lead to increases in crashes is compounded by the possibility that there are important performance differences between types of conspicuity aids and modes of use. Some cyclists may be using poorly performing or inappropriate items at least for some portion of their journey particularly during the winter months when commuter times include transitions from light to dark conditions during even relatively short journeys. The two types of conspicuity materials studied here work optimally under differing conditions. Cyclists are unlikely to change apparel to suit variations in ambient light during a single journey. As a consequence it may be the case that cyclists using one or other material exclusively may be at a disadvantage in conditions where that material does not enhance conspicuity for example is using retro-reflective materials in daylight hours. This may account to some extent for the failure of the primary exposure, consisting of fluorescent or reflective materials, to show a protective effect. The study is too small to permit precise sub-group analysis to assess the protective effects of different materials under their respective optimum conditions.

In the univariate analyses, fluorescent items, with the exception of the small numbers using fluorescent helmets, were associated with non-significant reductions in crash risk whereas reflective items were associated with nonsignificant increases in crash risk. The uniform direction of these differences may be noteworthy. The majority of cycling is conducted in daylight in good weather and reflective materials have no conspicuity enhancing properties in these conditions. Fluorescent materials are designed to enhance conspicuity in daylight and increase the contrast of a treated object to its background. In the complex visual environments of urban road spaces it may be this factor that is exerting a small protective effect. Larger studies may be needed to assess the contribution of fluorescent materials in daylight conditions.

Conspicuity may have a limited effect in some crash circumstances. The behaviour of the cyclist or driver such as inappropriate speed, inattention or going through red lights may make some collisions unavoidable regardless of the cyclist's use of conspicuity aids. The proportion of collisions caused by cyclists' and drivers' traffic violations is unknown although the limited available evidence suggest this proportion is low ^{145 199}. Attribution of fault in crashes is difficult and inevitably subjective. The Czech study discussed elsewhere reported that in fatal cycle crashes, drivers were at fault in 63% of crashes and 56% where the cyclist

was severely injured ¹⁹². Excessive speed of the motor vehicle was a factor in the majority of these cases. No data were reported for cyclists' use of lights or conspicuity aids in this study although the authors recommend their use.

In a recent study of "contributory factors" recorded by the police in crashes to have a cyclist and a motor vehicle, cyclists aged 25 and over were at fault in fewer cases than the drivers in all age groups and at all severities whereas for under 25 year old cyclists this pattern was reversed ¹⁵⁸. Even where rider or driver error or law-breaking is concerned it is still plausible that greater conspicuity of cyclists could prevent some crashes by maximising the opportunities for evasive action.

It may be the case that factors such as inappropriate speed and road user error are more important than relative conspicuity in causing the majority of collision crashes involving cyclists. The relative rarity of cyclists and low driver expectation of encountering them may cancel out the protective effect of increased conspicuity. Motor vehicle driver error or inattention may also mean that cyclists were hit regardless of measures they took to make themselves more conspicuous. Errors by cyclists may also be important in some collisions and again reduce the protection afforded by conspicuity aids. The current study did not record detailed crash circumstances and so it is possible that many such crashes have been included. This would reduce and may reverse the apparent safety effect of conspicuity aids. Further research understanding the potential for adult cyclists training and education campaigns to increase driver awareness of cyclists may be required before conspicuity aids can significantly reduce collision crashes as they may only reduce collision crashes when these other factors are absent.

As discussed in the epidemiology chapter there is some evidence from the literature that cyclists may over-estimate the effect of conspicuity aids relative to car drivers. Many cyclist vs. motor vehicle collisions are characterised by the motor vehicle driver being unaware of the presence of the cyclists prior to the collision. Low conspicuity of the cyclists is only one of the many ways in which such detection failure could occur. Others could include the driver's view being obscured by other vehicles or street furniture, glare from headlights or low sunshine, in car distractions, visual impairments, weather conditions and the "busyness" of the visual scene in the modern urban setting. Conspicuity enhancement could ameliorate some of these factors but the results of this

study suggest that their efficacy may be limited. If cyclists are unaware of these limitations then their behaviour may be inappropriately risky.

It is unclear from the findings of this study how any variation in performance of the conspicuity aids as used, has affected the risk of collision crash for participants. The performance of the various conspicuity aids employed by cyclists could be affected by a number of factors. As the total surface area 'treated' with each type of material increases so does the conspicuity enhancement achieved and this was not measured. Materials may be obscured by other clothing or equipment. For example the effectiveness of a fluorescent tabard could be dramatically reduced by the use of a dark coloured rucksack and not provide protection against a rear-end collision. Anecdotally the researcher observed many instances of such suboptimal use and it is a weakness of the study that this could not be captured.

The total surface area of conspicuity material may also be related to the height and weight of the wearer and again these factors were not controlled for and constitute a source of residual bias of unknown magnitude. The performance of conspicuity materials can be reduced by the presence of dirt and such materials can be degraded by repeated cleaning. Safety standards test for the resilience of aids but much conspicuity aid equipment is not rigorously evaluated.

The arrangement of conspicuity aids is known to affect their performance with "bio-motion" arrays where aids are placed on the arms or legs and therefore move during walking or pedalling is known to increase relative conspicuity ⁹. Greater attention should be paid to the relative performance of available conspicuity aids. More rigorous testing of available garments should be undertaken and

The use of passive conspicuity aids by cyclists appears to be low leaving scope for interventions to increase use. However, to date there are only a small number of studies of interventions to increase conspicuity aid use. Ferguson could not demonstrate an increase in the use of cycle lights after a promotional campaign in college students in New Zealand ¹⁹¹. A study in UK school children did demonstrate a significant increase in observed use of conspicuity aids for up to eight weeks after they were distributed for free as part of a road safety education intervention ³²⁴. In Christchurch, New Zealand Ferguson and Blampied studied the use of cycle lights by students before and after a promotional campaign ¹⁹¹. The proportions of cyclists using both front and rear lights after dark at various locations remained unchanged at between 60% and

70%. The use of passive conspicuity aids of any kind was not recorded and so confounding from this source is possible. Blomberg collected data on the acceptability of adopting conspicuity enhancement measures and found that they were popular below a certain cost threshold ¹⁶⁶.

It is also possible that the current lack of evidence of a demonstrable protective effect may itself inhibit take-up. Evidence of the effectiveness of visibility aids for cyclists could act as a driver of uptake and stimulate investment in interventions to increase the use of these easily adopted, low-cost measures. Achieving significant reductions in crashes and the resulting burden of injury amongst cyclists is a vital first step in delivering the potential public health benefits of this mode of active travel.

The results of the current study should be reported with caution given the counterintuitive nature of the findings. It is important that due weight is given to the sources of bias and confounding discussed above.

The equivocal results of the current study do not provide sufficient evidence to support the introduction of regulations or penalties in respect of the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists. The effects on safety of regulations to mandate use may be paradoxical. There is some evidence that compensatory increasing in risk-taking in response to safety equipment use is greater in those who are convinced of a significant safety benefit. If true, enforcement could lead to uncompensated safety gains. Cyclists wearing conspicuity aids because of the threat of sanctions might on average be less convinced of their efficacy and thus not so inclined to compensate by changes in cycling behaviour. Legislation risks increasing the proportions using safety equipment such as helmets only at the expense of a possible reduction in cycling ⁶⁴. Current techniques for the detection of safety gains e.g. case-control analyses of hospital attendees ^{237 239} may inflate apparent effectiveness in the absence of adequate controlling for exposure or risk compensation. Given the potential for increasing risk to individual cyclists of reduction in participation, the impact of legislation to increase conspicuity aid use may not result in net benefits to health at the population level. Mandatory use may lead to harms. Non-adopters may suffer penalties when there is no good evidence they are taking large extras risks if they already comply with existing legislation regarding lights and safe road behaviour. Some people may be discouraged from cycling which would otherwise have improved their health. Non-adoption may lead to increases in claims of contributory negligence in personal injuries cases against drivers who cause

injury as has occurred with helmet use. Finally driver expectation may alter such that non-users may be at increased risk. Conspicuity aid use should remain discretionary and the potential benefits should not be overstated.

As discussed above, conspiculty aid use as an intervention seems likely to result in some degree of compensatory behaviour. The current study suggests that this may result in increased risk for users compared to non-users if use leads to the adoption of behaviours involving greater exposure to traffic risk or travel in lowlight conditions than would otherwise be the case. Risk homeostasis theory implies that altering the net safety of a given situation is dependent on resetting the internal 'risk meter' each person has in relation to a given task or situation. In the current context that would imply making cyclists more aware of the risk they run when cycling in traffic. This could have a similar effect as mandatory use in reducing further the attractiveness of cycling. Again any potential reduction in participation could lead to increased net risk. Clearly given the weight of evidence in favour of the positive benefits on health of regular cycling even after consideration of current levels of traffic danger and the negative results of the current study, the promotion of conspicuity aid use if undertaken at all should proceed by persuasion rather than compulsion unless it is to have negative overall consequences for public health.

4.10.1 Implications For Future Research

Alternative research designs such as a randomised study of the effect of conspicuity aid use on crash risk are not feasible. The current study suffers from a number of flaws that should be addressed to enable an accurate and unbiased assessment of any true effect.

Geographical variation in a measure of external risk to cyclists from motorised traffic was found to be related to crash outcome in this study. There is increasing interest in the use of geographical information systems to understand crash distributions and identify candidate sites for remedial engineering or crash preventions initiatives ^{96 325 326}. Much cycling safety is hampered by lack of good quality exposure data but the variation in risk reported here suggests that collection of exposure in terms of distance alone may not adequately capture variation in risk exposure for cyclists in different environments. A study using GPS data from cyclists and detailed geographical data on traffic speed, density

along with information on cycle infrastructure and other confounding factors would be required to reduce confounding from this source.

Residual confounding from the failure to measure variations in cycling behaviours in traffic is a plausible rival explanation of the findings of this study. One possible tactic for capturing such confounding would be to estimate a propensity to risky behaviours in cyclists. One such tool has been developed by McCoy in response to this gap in the literature. Using a 'descriptive correlational design' (p440) McCoy examined both 'knowledge' of cycling and traffic regulations and 'beliefs' regarding cycling in an attempt to capture some features of crash risk for cyclists. Clearly these are actually proxy measures of actual behaviour in traffic and are open to the same objections as say, the use of age or gender. Further it is not clear that rigorous adherence to road regulations actually reduces crash risk for cyclists. Specific features of road design such as advance stop lines appear necessary to improve safety at junctions for example rather than relying on conventional traffic control alone. Therefore any apparent association between beliefs and safety would be confounded by risk behaviour and beg the original question. The possibility of directly measuring traffic behaviour is discussed in another section of this chapter. Development of a specific tool for measuring the risk propensity of cyclists was beyond the scope of this project.

One approach to further understand the role of rider behaviour in crash risk would be develop objective measures of riding behaviour using tri-axial accelerometer data to examine cyclists' behaviour in on real journeys. Characteristic patterns of braking acceleration and cornering could point to subtle changes in behaviour in real traffic environments Data could be integrated with route characteristics and conspicuity aid exposure to control for hitherto unmeasured confounding from risk taking. The ability to accurately discriminate between classes of behaviours from such data has been demonstrated in other research domains ³²⁷. The author could find no such work in cycle crash research. Recently published research has suggested that objective measures of riding behaviour and risk perception are related to safety equipment use and has yielded some intriguing associations suggestive of variations in risk compensation given prior behaviours ³¹⁶.

Outcome measures could be defined using accelerometry data. Comparing travel diary records of "near-miss" events and sudden braking or swerving patterns in acceleration could be used to develop outcome variables to assess the effect of

conspicuity aid use in traffic environments and allow adjustment for individual riding behaviours using a run-in or calibration period. Near-misses are likely to be much more frequent then crash outcomes and can dramatically increase study efficiency ³²⁸. The subjectivity of "near-miss" recording could be reduced by the adoption of an instrumental approach and use of outcome measures of greater frequency could make randomisation of conspicuity measures within reasonable time periods.

As part of the development of this project the author made an informal study of conspicuity aids. There appeared to be great differences between the performance, cost and availability of conspicuity aid clothing marketed to cyclists and that designed for workplace use. Retail websites were searched and accessed over a two week period in 2008 which sold clothing and accessories aimed at cyclists. Few items were found that were compliant with safety standards governing conspicuity aid performance. By contrast, compliant equipment designed for workplace use is widely available and may have delivered greater performance at lower cost. Only a small proportion of the cyclists observed during this study appeared to be using workplace aids which were EU standard compliant. Any future study should seek to measure current cyclist conspicuity and better understand cyclist beliefs regarding their own conspicuity and conspicuity aid use would yield valuable information about current low uptake and apparent variation in conspicuity of cyclists. This work would be a prerequisite for the development of interventions to increase cyclist conspicuity aid use.

The current study failed to achieve the required sample size to yield suitably precise estimates or reduce exposure-related selection bias to acceptable levels. More efficient case-control designs have been proposed for use in emergency department settings using routine injury surveillance data in a recent paper ³²⁹. Hagel suggests that valid adjusted odds ratios can be calculated in two stages. Exposure and outcome data are collected from all cases and population controls but detailed covariate data on confounding is only required for cases and a proportional sample of controls reducing costs. Despite achieving greater precision with fewer resources and reducing selection bias the difficulty of measuring exposures and acquiring exposure data on all cases using hospital information remain. Response bias from ascertaining exposure data and the problem of this strategy to the current research question. Nonetheless, if complete exposure data were available from a complete anonymised case

sample and by direct observation of community controls suitably sampled, a significant reduction in the levels of bias could be achieved with sufficient resources.

Standardised exposure measurement by ambulance or emergency department staff would serve to reduce biased estimates of exposure from self-reports seen in this study. Objective and reliable measure of the exposures of interest are necessary to understand the potential effect of conspicuity aids as they are actually used by cyclists. Researcher-collected exposure data were difficult to obtain from cases and complete capture of this data would require significant increases in researcher time. Further development of an independent observational scale of conspicuity such as that proposed by Hagel may increase the reliability and external validity of exposure estimation but requires independent trained observers to achieve even moderate reliability. Extension of current 'contributory factor' reporting by police officers or large scale collection of anonymised conspicuity aid data by hospital or paramedic staff could both provide complete exposure data free from selection biases. This might meet the approval of the National Information Governance Board obviating the need for informed consent and the consequent risk of self-selection. The current study suggests that this combined with a limited set of well chosen confounding variables such as age, gender and detailed traffic risk data at crash and control observation sites would be sufficient to control for many of the main sources of confounding.

Using EU standard compliance or some other objective criteria to rate garments and equipment could reduce misclassification bias but would require similar data for all garments. Many 'non-compliant' garments could yield similar conspicuity performance to compliant garments. A threshold effect for conspicuity effectiveness may operate with apparently lower performance garments still having a protective effect in certain circumstances. Developing reliable and simple to apply measures would require considerable developmental and validation work. The use of photographic equipment to record images for analysis objective analysis of conspicuity characteristics would be relatively easy to implement. Collecting images would however be resource-intensive and unlikely to meet participant and ethics committee objections.

The effects of cyclist training could not be examined in the current study owing to the small numbers reporting having undergone such training in the sample. The author could find no published evaluations of adult cycle training on crash

risk or any other outcome. Information regarding and evaluation of the effect of training on subsequent cycling has been collected but is of a relatively low methodological standard. By contrast, driver training is widespread amongst cyclists as suggested by the rate of licence possession reported by participants reported in the current study. This data suggests that the possession of a driving license was associated with a greater than 50% reduction in crash risk (odds ratio 0.47 95% CI 0.25 to 0.89) although this was attenuated after adjustment for age and deprivation score (odds ratio 0.56 95% CI 0.29 to 1.09). In addition work has been done which is suggestive of differences in cyclists' versus drivers' perceptions of conspicuity ³¹⁹. It is possible that driver training could have a protective effect. Further study of the differences in safety and cycling behaviours between driving and non-driving cyclists could give valuable insights into the effect of different road experiences. Such evidence could help inform the development of training interventions to increase cycle-safety behaviours in non-and pre-licensed cyclists.

4.11 Conclusion

This thesis reports the results of a case-control study to assess the relationship between the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists and their subsequent odds of involvement in a collision crash by comparison with matched controls derived from the same population of commuter and utility cyclists. The results show a weak positive association between the use of conspicuity aids by cyclists and the risk of a collision crash. After adjustment for potential confounding, the strength of this association was increased although this was not a significant finding in most of the models generated. The most likely explanation for this counterintuitive finding is the effect of selection bias arising from exposed cases' greater propensity to respond than those unexposed. This effect may have been considerably greater than for controls although all responders appeared to overestimate their conspicuity aid use when compared to both the source population and independent exposure measurements collected by the researcher.

Overall the study did not find firm evidence that conspicuity aid use reduced the risk of collisions with other road users. This finding runs counter to the expected reduction in crash involvement suggested both by a body of randomised

controlled trial evidence of the performance of conspicuity aids under a variety of conditions and the limited evidence available from observational studies.

The results should be interpreted with caution for a number of reasons. Selection bias may have occurred such that the case and control samples do not accurately represent the "base" population from which they are drawn. Both outcome groups were more likely to use conspicuity aids than cyclists observed in the catchment area. In addition this appears to have affected cases to a greater extent than controls given the greater exposure-related probability of response for cases estimated using independent validation data collected during recruitment. Correcting bias from this source using a deterministic process showed that there may have been a protective effect of conspicuity aid use in the target population which was obscured by non-users failing to respond to the survey. The numbers of cases with independent validation data was too small to draw such a conclusion with confidence. The study employed a novel approach to estimation of external traffic risk and restricted cases to collision crashes to reduce residual confounding seen in previous studies which included loss of control incidents where no conspicuity effect could have occurred. However, the large proportion of participants for whom route risk data was not available reduces the ability to control for confounding from this source.

There was considerable difficulty in adequately measuring the relative conspicuity of participants owing to possible inaccuracy with which exposures were recorded by participants, heterogeneity of the conspicuity aids used and consequent variation in their performance *in vivo*. Such information biases may have led to a bias in estimating true differences between cases and controls.

The precision of the study was low because of the small numbers responding to the study invite and so adequately powered analysis of sub-groups and possible interactions was not possible. Residual confounding from unobserved differences in behaviour of conspicuity aid users in traffic, which may have been accentuated by controlling for objective sources of crash risk, could also account for these results with conspicuity aid users overestimating their safety in encounters with other road users. Less plausibly, it is possible that changes in the behaviour of motorists when encountering cyclists using conspicuity aids such as closer passing distances, may have accounted for the association. Even if present such effects are unlikely to have outweighed the likely safety benefits of conspicuity aid use given the weight of evidence for increases in recognition and detection distances found in previous experimental work. Despite the failure to control or eliminate all the possible sources of bias and error, this study clearly serves to highlight a number of important topics for future research into interventions to prevent bicycle collision crashes. More objective measures of conspicuity, increased control of confounding particularly from cyclists' behaviour, larger samples of cyclists and methods to increase the representativeness of participants are all required before a valid answer to this research question can be put proposed.

The potential benefits of cycling, for public and individual health and in reductions in transport carbon intensity and congestion levels, are not currently being realised in many high income countries. In low income countries where cycling does make a greater contribution to transport, the burden of injury is high and increasing as rapid motorisation occurs. The findings of this study suggest that the effect of enhancing the conspicuity of cyclists may be more modest or in some circumstances the reverse of that indicated by previous research. More effective measures to control motorised traffic speeds and volumes and limit the exposure of active travellers to danger from motorised vehicles may be needed if large increases in bicycle use are to be achieved safely.

4.12 Recommendations

- Routine independent safety equipment exposure data collection from vulnerable road users involved in crashes should be incorporated into existing police crash enquiring processes and "contributory factors" assessments.
- Investment should be targeted towards more detailed and consistent injury surveillance by paramedic personnel and in Emergency Departments and minor injuries units to increase the available data on traffic crashes and injuries amongst vulnerable road users.
- Educational campaigns to encourage safer cycling should incorporate efforts to enable cyclists, particularly those with little driving experience, to understand the role of relative conspicuity in protecting them from collision crashes.
- Conspicuity equipment marketed to cyclists should be tested for compliance with current safety standards and non-compliant equipment should be labelled as such.
- Educational campaigns to encourage conspicuity aid use should make reference to the potential differences in performance of different conspicuity aids and the relatively low cost of standard complaint equipment.
- Safety standard compliant equipment should be exempt from VAT as with standard complaint cycle helmets currently.
- Measures to enforce and reduce urban traffic speed limits should be extended so that conspicuity enhancement strategies can more effectively ensure safe stopping of motor vehicles once a driver becomes aware of a cyclist in a conflict situation given that stopping distances at sign-posted speeds are greater than the detection and recognition distances achieved by many conspicuity enhancing materials.
- The geographical distribution of bicycle collision risk should be further investigated and its relationships to the relative deprivation of victims, quality of infrastructure, motorised and non-motorised traffic volumes and speeds better understood.
- Targets for bicycle collision crash reduction should be framed in terms of crashes per unit distance and disaggregated by local authority area to enable comparisons of crash reduction investment strategies and programmes.

• Research is required to understand the possible role of risk compensation in reducing the effectiveness of conspicuity aids as a result of changes in behaviour of cyclist users and others they encounter on the roads.

5. Appendices

5.1 Appendix 1 – Historical Crash Data

A dataset containing the grid references for all police-recorded injury crashes involving a cyclist was published in February 2009 on the "Direct Gov / Innovate" website (http://innovate.direct.gov.uk/) by the department for Transport. This dataset consisted of eight-figure grid references for all pedal cycle crashes recorded in the "STATS 19" police crash reports for the years 2005, 2006 and 2007 (the three years immediately preceding the commencement of this study) for England, Wales and Northern Ireland. The author downloaded a version of this dataset converted into `.kml', a format developed by Google Inc. for the display of geospatial data in the publicly available Google Earth (http://earth.google.co.uk/) geographical information system. The conversion script was written by a volunteer, Tom Taylor and was used with his permission (http://scraplab.net/2009/03/11/pedal-cycle-incident-data-in-kml.html). А sample of the data was compared visually using with the same police records displayed publicly by the NOMAD GIS system published online by Nottinghamshire County Council to assess their accuracy.

There were 541 crash sites recorded within the study catchment area. The data for Nottinghamshire was checked for accuracy and labelled with the number of cycle crashes at the location and a six-figure grid reference of the format 'SK *** ***') using the Multi-Agency Geographic Information for the Countryside geographical information service available online (MaGIc http://www.magic.gov.uk/).

5.2 Appendix 2 - Coding Structure And Variable Definitions

Table 38 lists all the variables used in modelling and analysis describing their coding structure and giving calculations and details of derivation where required.

Variable	Stata Variable Name	Values / Measuremen	Coding
		t Level	
Contact Number	contact_id	xxx/xx	
Grouping Variable	group_id		gen group_id = regexs(0) if regexm(contact_id, "^[0-9]+")
Outcome	A_status	case=1 control=0	
Age	A_age	Interval	
Gender	A_sex	Male=0; Female=1	
Route Identifier	route_id	XXX	Grouping variable for traffic observations
Route length in kms	route_length_k ms	Continuous	Measured using Goggle Earth to 0.1km from each participant's maps of route illustrating control or crash journey as applicable.
Independent Observations obtained at time of recruitment	ind_obs	yes=1 no=0	
Questionnaire received	response	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing a cycle helmet	io_helmet	yes=1 no=0	Researcher collected data at time of recruitment
Observed wearing a cycle helmet mostly fluorescent	io_helmet_fluor	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing a cycle helmet with reflective areas	io_helmet_refl	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing a light coloured cycle helmet	io_helmet_lc	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing fluorescent clothing above the waist	io_aw_fluor	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing reflective clothing above the waist	io_aw_refl	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing light coloured clothing above the waist	io_aw_lc	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing fluorescent clothing below the waist	io_bw_fluor	yes=1 no=0	
Observed wearing reflective clothing below the waist	io_bw_refl	yes=1 no=0	

Observed wearing	io_bw_lc	yes=1 no=0	
light coloured			
clothing below the			
Index of Multiple	Index of	Continuous	Using home postcode: data via
Deprivation	Multiple	continuous	GeoConvert; Latest values available=
	Deprivation_200		Aug 2007
	709aug		-
Purpose of journey		"Commuting";	Originally matching criterion but unable
	journey_purpos	"Utility"	to recruit
Employer provides	e A cycle chang	ves = 1 no = 0	
changing facilities	A_cycic_chang	yes=1110=0	
Employer provides	A_cycle_park	yes=1 no=0	
cycle parking		-	
Employer	A_cycle_encour	yes=1 no=0	
encourages cycling		<50-1:50	"Don't Know" "Not Applicable" recoded
employees	A_employin	250=1, 50=	to missing
employees		>250=2,	Originally matching criterion but unable
			to recruit into matching strata
Crash involved a	collision_crash	yes=1 no=0	
collision with			
Crash occurred	ovasion crach		
when evading	evasion_crash	yes-1 10=0	
another road user			
Crash location	A_crashloc	Main Road=1	Recoded from Crash_location_type and
		Side Road=2	Crash_location_other
		Segregated	
		Cycle Path=3	
		Carriageway=	
		4	
Crash within 20ms		yes=1 no=0	
of a junction	at_junction_20		
Speed limit of road	ms speed limit	30 mph: 40	
on which crash	speed_mm	mph: 50 mph:	
occurred		60 mph; 70	
		mph; Not on	
		road;	
		llnknown	
E - mailie with a suith	A routo famil	at least ance	Decoded from 4 lovel veriable
Familiarity with	A_route_famil	at least once	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route	A_route_famil	at least once per month=0 less than once	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route	A_route_famil	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route	A_route_famil	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route	A_route_famil	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed	A_route_famil recent_alcohol	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey	A_route_famil recent_alcohol	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0	Recoded from 4 level variable
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate;
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overest=2;	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn /	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4;	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without lighting)=5 Sunny=1:	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels Light level (Darkness with	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level A_lightlev4	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without lighting)=5 Sunny=1; Overcast=2	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor Recoded from other variable above
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels Light levels	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level A_lightlev4	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without lighting)=5 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn /	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor Recoded from other variable above
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels Light levels (Darkness with and without street lighting combined)	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level A_lightlev4	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without lighting)=5 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3;	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor Recoded from other variable above
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels Light levels (Darkness with and without street lighting combined)	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level A_lightlev4	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without lighting)=5 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark=4	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor Recoded from other variable above
Familiarity with route Alcohol consumed less than 8 hours prior to journey Weather conditions Light levels Light levels (Darkness with and without street lighting combined) Type of bicycle	A_route_famil recent_alcohol A_weather A_light_level A_lightlev4 A_bike_type	at least once per month=0 less than once per month or never before=1 yes=1 no=0 Good=1 Moderate=2 Poor=3 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark (with lighting)=4; Dark (without lighting)=5 Sunny=1; Overcast=2; Dawn / Dusk=3; Dark=4 Commuter /	Recoded from 4 level variable Good=Good; Light Rain=Moderate; Snow/Hail/Ice/Heavy Rain=Poor Recoded from other variable above Touring bike coded as 0; Recliners and

		Folder=0;	Dichotomised from categorical variable
		Racing /	5
		Mountain /	
		Sports=1	
Helmet worn	helmet	yes=1 no=0	
Helmet mainly fluorescent	helmet_fluor	yes=1 no=0	
Helmet with	helmet_ref	yes=1 no=0	
reflective areas	holmot la	voc-1 po-0	
light coloured	heimet_ic	yes=110=0	
Outer clothing	oc_aw_fluor	yes=1 no=0	
above the waist			
Mainly fluorescent			
above the waist	oc_aw_rei	yes=1 no=0	
with reflective			
areas			
Outer clothing	A_aw_lc	yes=1 no=0	Yes if oc_aw_lc==1 and
above the waist			oc_aw_fluor==0 else No
mainly light			
coloured			Ineretore strongly collinear with
Outer clothing	oc by fluor	voc-1 po-0	corresponding fluorescent vars
below the waist		yes=1 no=0	
mainly fluorescent			
Outer clothing	oc bw ref	yes=1 no=0	
below the waist		,	
with reflective			
areas			
Outer clothing	A_bw_lc	yes=1 no=0	"Yes" if oc_bw_lc==1 and
Delow the walst			oc_bw_fluor==0 else "No"
			Therefore strongly collinear with
			corresponding fluorescent vars
Pedal reflectors	pedal_ref	yes=1 no=0	
Fluorescent ankle	abc_fluor	yes=1 no=0	
bands or bicycle			
Reflective ankle	abc ref	ves=1 no=0	
bands or bicycle		yes=1 110=0	
clips			
Front Reflector	front_ref	yes=1 no=0	
Rear Reflector	rear_ref	yes=1 no=0	
Used			
Any fixed	A_DIKE_ref	yes=1 no=0	Recoded from variables above
(nedal, wheel,			
front or rear)			
Front Light Used	front_light	"No" "Yes-Not	
		Lit" "Yes-	
		Flashing"	
Pear Light Lload	roar light	"No" "Voc Not	
Real Light Used	i cai_iiyiit	lit" "Yes-	
		Flashina"	
		"Yes-Lit	
Any bike lights	A_lights_yn	yes=1 no=0	Recoded from other variable
fitted and lit			
auring journey	A av-1		No lineau peopliciticus thus all a last t
Years of regular	A_cycle_exper	<1 year=1; 1-	No linear association through categories
(one or more		10 years=3.	
journeys per week		>10 years=4:	
on average)		Ordinal	
Years of regular	cyclexp_dich	< 4 years=1;	
cycling as an adult		> 4 years=0	
(one or more	l	1	

journeys per week on average;			
dichomised)			
Cycle training during school years	child_cycle_trai n	"Yes"; "No"; "Don't Know"	
Cycle training after leaving school	adult_cycle_trai n	"Yes"; "No"; "Don't Know"	
Previous cycle crash resulting in injury in the past 3 years	A_prev_crash	yes=1 no=0	"Don't Know" recoded to missing
Number of cycle trips in the previous 7 days	cycle_trips	continuous	
Distance cycled in the previous 7 days in kms	weeklydist_km	continuous	Derived from values self-recorded as miles or kms
Distance cycled in the previous 7 days (tertiles)	weekdisttert		Non-linear relationship to outcome – linear through tertiles but not quintiles
Number of cycle injury cycle crashes recorded by the police along	route_sum_pca	Interval	Department for Transport Data released for public use. Adapted for display in Google Earth.
the journey (2005- 07)	AADT		Total calculated from Access data using route grouping variable
Average number of cyclists observed at sites along recorded journey	AADT	continuous	((peak n*2)+(off-peak r*4)*1.4) calculated from Access data using route grouping variable Seasonally adjusted using NCC data (2008). Note this measure is far less robust when extrapolated from small numbers of observations than the conventional measure which is annual traffic counts divided by 365.
Risk of crash per 100 000 000 kms cycled along recorded journey	route_risk	continuous	route_risk = (route_sum_pca/(AADT*1095*route_le ngth_kms))*100 000 000
Proportion of Non- Carriageway cycling during peak hours	NCW_peakprop	percentage	gen NCW_peakprop= (adj_peak_NCW_count/ tot_peak)*100
Proportion of Non- Carriageway cycling during off- peak hours	NCW_offpeakpr op	percentage	gen NCW_offpeakprop= (adj_offpeak_NCW_count/ tot_offpeak)*100
Normlessness Scale	A_mean_norm	Normlessness score >median for the sample=1 else=0	Normlessness roughly linear in the logit; increasing Normlessness associated with non-significantly decreased crash risk
Sensation Seeking Scale (Dichotomised)	A_dich_ss	Sensation Seeking score >median for the sample=1 else=0	Sensation Seeking not linear in the logit
Any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment	A_anyflref	yes=1 no=0	Primary Exposure Variable
Any item of fluorescent or reflective clothing (excluding reflective helmet)	A_exhelref	yes=1 no=0	Helmet reflectivity has poor agreement with independent observations

Any item of	A_anyfluor	yes=1 no=0		
fluorescent				
clothing or				
equipment vs none				
Any item of	A anvref	ves=1 no=0		
reflective clothing	/ <u>uny</u> en	,00 1110 0		
or equipment vs				
nono				
Any item of light	A poulo			
Any item of light-	A_anyic	yes=1 no=0		
coloured clothing				
or equipment vs				
none				
Independently	io_anyflref	yes=1 no=0		
observed use of				
any item of				
fluorescent or				
reflective clothing				
or equipment vs				
none				
Independently	io anyflref exhe	ves=1 no=0		
observed use of	Iref	,		
any item of	-			
fluorescent				
clothing or				
equipment (eycl				
Helmet ref) ve				
nemet rei) vs				
Independently	io apufluor	$v_{0} = 1 p_{0} = 0$		
independenciy	lo_aliyiluor	yes=1 110=0		
observed use of				
any item of				
fluorescent				
clothing or				
equipment vs none				
Independently	io_anyref	yes=1 no=0		
observed use of				
any item of				
reflective clothing				
or equipment vs				
none				
Alternative	alt status	CEC=1 Non-	Alternative analysis using loss of control	
outcome CEC vs		CEC=0	crashes as non-matched controls)	
non-CEC			·····,	
Iniury Severity	ISS	interval	viz Osler sum of squares of the highest	
Score			3 abbreviated injury scores	
			cf ISS sum of squares of the highest	
			AIS in three separate body areas	
Disposal on	Destination	strina		
discharge from				
Emergency				
Department				
Admitted As	Admit	ves=1 no=0		
Innatient From	Admit	yc3=1 110=0		
Emergency				
Department				
Helmet use	Helmet Pocordi	Wearing': 'Not	Extracted from free toxt EDIS record	
recorded in ED		Wearing, NUL		
record	ing ing	Recorded'		
International			ist injured in colligion with redestries are	
		viu= Pedal Cycl	ist injured in collision with pedestrian or	
	ICD_IO_EC_COD	animal;	int internel in collision with a three solutions	
Disease External	е	vii= Pedal cycl	ist injured in collision with other pedal	
cause Code		cycle;		
		V12= Pedal cyclist injured in collision with two- or three-		
		wheeled motor vehicle;		
		V13=Pedal cycli	st injured in collision with car, pick-up	
		truck or van;		
		V14= Pedal cyclist injured in collision with heavy		
		transport vehicle or bus;		
		V15= Pedal cyclist injured in collision with railway train or		
		railway vehicle;		
		V16= Pedal cyclist injured in collision with other non-		
1		motor vehicle;		

V17= Pedal cyclist injured in collision with fixed or
stationary object;
V18= Pedal cyclist injured in non-collision transport
accident;
V19= Pedal cyclist injured in other and unspecified
transport accidents

5.3 Appendix 3 - Crash Characteristics And Injuries

5.3.1 Further Information Regarding The Case Crashes

Table 39 shows the characteristics of the case crash sites.

Table 39 Characteristics Of Crash Locations

Characteristic of crash	Frequency (%)	Missing (%)			
Within 20ms of a junction					
Yes	132 (66.0)	5 (2.4)			
Speed Limit					
30 mph or less	120 (82.2)	59 (29.7)*			
40 mph or more	20 (13.7)				

* Includes non-carriageway crashes

Junctions present the most risky components of cycle journeys ³²⁰ owing to the likelihood of conflicts with traffic which is confirmed in this sample of accidents

The vast majority of crashes occurred in urban areas with 30mph posted speed limits (table 40). Collisions were more likely to occur on main roads with higher traffic flows regardless of posted speed limit.

Table 40 Crash Location And Speed Limit

Crash Location By Speed Limit (self-report)					
	Crash Location				
Speed Limit	Segregated Cycle Lane	Main Road	Side Road	Non- Carriageway	
15	0	0	1	0	
20	3	6	2	3	
30	6	69	27	3	
40	2	8	0	1	
50	0	1	0	0	
60	0	6	2	0	
Not Applicable or missing	21	12	6	17	

Table 41 shows the self-reported crash configuration by comparison with the crash history recorded in the patient record by medical or nursing staff. In three cases the hospital record suggests that the casualty was injured after a collision

with a pedestrian (2) or animal (1) whilst the respondent recorded their crash as not involving another road user. In three cases the hospital record suggests that the crash involved a fixed or stationary object (including parked vehicles) whereas the self-report suggested another "road user" was involved. In 23 cases the self-reported crash configuration was collision or evasion crash whereas the hospital record suggested that a non-collision transport crash had occurred. Overall the degree of misclassification of crash-type appears moderate but could represent some error on the part of hospital staff in recording the crash circumstances as this information is not systematically recorded at the study site.

ICD-10 External Cause Code (coded from medical record*)		CEC (self- report)	
	Yes	No	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with pedestrian or animal	3	2	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with other pedal cycle	0	1	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with two- or three-wheeled motor vehicle	2	0	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with car, pick-up truck or van	84	0	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with heavy transport vehicle or bus	4	0	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with railway train or railway vehicle	0	0	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with other non-motor vehicle	0	0	
Pedal cyclist injured in collision with fixed or stationary object	3	7	
Pedal cyclist injured in non-collision transport accident	23	56	
Pedal cyclist injured in other and unspecified transport accidents	9	3	

Table 41 Validation Of Self-Reported Crash Configuration

* Taken from free text of medical/ nursing notes. Missing=9

5.3.2 Injury Details

Table 42 shows the eventual destination of all the cases cyclists returning completed questionnaires including those injured in loss of control crashes not included in the case-control analysis.

Hospital activity data for this sample of cases show that bicycle crashes account for a considerable use of hospital resources despite the overall low Injury

severity score involved. An economic analysis of associated costs is beyond the scope of this study.

Destination	Freq.	Percent
Did Not Wait	2	1.0
Dentist	1	0.5
Discharge	105	53.6
ED Short Stay	9	4.6
Fracture Clinic	54	27.6
Hand Surgery	2	1.2
ОРА	6	3.1
Ortho	12	6.1
Physio	1	0.5
Refused Treatment	1	0.5
Spinal	3	1.5

 Table 42 Hospital Disposal (All Cases With Available Data)

5.4 Appendix 4 - Recruitment Pilot

A pilot exercise was undertaken to test the feasibility of recruitment of controls form public and workplace cycle parking. Sixty three cyclists were approached during the control recruitment pilot. Of those, 50 (79%; 95% CI 67% to 86%) said that they would be willing to complete such an instrument if offered it in similar circumstances. This positive response was not uniform across different sites. Cyclists approached at public cycle facilities were less likely to respond positively to an offer of a study pack. Recruitment of controls from public cycling parking proved more successful than this initial work suggested.

The face to face recruitment procedure (i.e. for both cases and controls) was trialled amongst students and staff within the university and hospital campuses to refine both the process and the collection of independent observations. Questionnaires were accepted by 44 cyclists. Thirty six percent of questionnaires (36%; n=44) were returned within four weeks of being distributed. Most elements of the questionnaire and map were completed successfully and only minor amendments were required. The return rate overall for the main study was similar although after the application of exclusion criteria, particularly the collision or evasion crash requirement, eventual accrual was very low for cases.

5.5 Appendix 5 - Habitual Safety Equipment Use

Further information on the habitual use by participants of various items of safety equipment is given in table 43.

Table 43 Habitual Safety And Conspicuity Equipment Use By Case-Control Status

Conspicuity Aid	Control (%)	Case (%)	Total (%)	P Value
Helmet				0.48
Always	166 (61.7)	41 (54)	205 (59.4)	
Occasionally	35 (13)	12 (15.8)	47 (13.6)	
Never	68 (25.3)	23 (30.3)	91 (26.4)	
Missing	3 (1.1)	0	3 (0.9)	
Fluorescent or Re	flective Materials	Above The Waist		0.77
Always	89 (33)	23 (30.7)	112 (32.5)	
Occasionally	106 (39.3)	28 (37.3)	134 (38.8)	
Never	75 (27.8)	24 (32)	99 (28.7)	
Missing	2 (0.7)	1 (1.4)	3 (0.9)	
Fluorescent or Re	flective Materials I	Below The Waist		0.17
Always	12 (4.5)	6 (8.1)	18 (5.3)	
Occasionally	41 (15.4)	16 (21.6)	57 (16.7)	
Never	214 (80.2)	52 (70.3)	266 (78)	
Missing	5 (1.8)	2 (2.6)	7 (2)	
Fluorescent or Re	flective Ankle Ban	ds or Clips		0.66
Always	29 (10.9)	7 (9.3)	36 (10.5)	
Occasionally	53 (19.9)	12 (16)	65 (19)	
Never	185 (69.3)	56 (74.7)	241 (70.5)	
Missing	5 (1.8)	1 (1.3)	6 (1.7)	
Front Light				0.01
Always	48 (17.8)	17 (22.4)	65 (18.8)	
Occasionally	211 (78.4)	50 (65.8)	261 (75.7)	
Never	10 (3.7)	9 (11.8)	19 (5.5)	
Missing	3 (1.1)	0	3 (0.9)	
Rear Light	0.05			
Always	49 (18.2)	19 (25)	68 (19.7)	
Occasionally	210 (78.8)	50 (65.8)	260 (75.4)	
Never	10 (3.7)	7 (9.2)	17 (4.9)	
Missing	3 (1.1)	0	3 (0.9)	

5.6 Appendix 6 - Tests Of Linearity Of Continuous Variables

5.6.1 Weekly Distance Cycled

The weekly distance variable was plotted against the logit and is shown in Figure 17 below and does not appear linear. A squared term was added to the model but a likelihood ratio test did not show a significant improvement (p= 0.23). The fractional polynomial routine in Stata was used to generate and test the two best transformations of this variable. Neither transformation is a significant improvement on the untransformed covariate. There was a linear relationship through tertiles but not quintiles so this categorisation of the data is used in model building.

Figure 17 Lowess Smoother Plot Of The Weekly Distance Cycled (Kms) Against The Logit Of Outcome



5.6.2 Age

The age of participants was plotted against the logit and is shown in Figure 18 below. The relationship appears broadly linear with increasing age associate with a lower likelihood of crash outcome. Adding the square of age as a covariate did not result in a better fit (likelihood ratio test p=0.8505). The fractional polynomial routine in Stata was used to generate and test the best powers of the age variable (-2 & 3.0). Neither shows a significant improvement on age entered as a linear covariate as so this was used in modelling.

Figure 1816 Lowess Smoother Plot Of Age Against The Logit Of Outcome



5.6.3 Route Risk

The route risk variable was plotted against the logit and is shown in Figure 19 below and appears to be linear with higher route risk associated with increased risk of crash outcome even below 4000 where most observations were concentrated. Fractional polynomial routine in Stata generated best powers of route risk variable (-2 & 0.5) but only one was a significant improvement on the original variable (p=0.003) and did not appear linear when plotted in figure 20 below. One aim of using a fractional polynomial transformation is to see whether it reproduces the shape of the original variable and offers both a clinical and statistical improvement on it ²²⁷ (p111). The transformed variable appears less linear than the original on visual inspection. A likelihood ratio test for model with the addition of a square of was non-significant (p= 0.6695) suggesting that the linear term could be used in modelling.

Figure 1917 Lowess Smoother Plot Of Route Risk Against The Logit Of Outcome



Figure 20 Lowess Smoother Plot Of The Fractional Polynomial Transformation Of Route Risk Against The Logit Of Outcome



5.6.4 Index Of Multiple Deprivation

The index of multiple deprivation score of participants was plotted against the logit and is shown in figure 21 below. The relationship appears broadly linear with increasing score associated with a higher likelihood of crash outcome. A likelihood ratio test for a model with the addition of a square of the index of multiple deprivation is non-significant (p=0.4274). Using the fractional polynomial routine in Stata to generate best powers of index of multiple deprivation score showed that neither transformation is a significant improvement on the linear term so this was used in modelling.

Figure 21 Lowess Smoother Plot Of Index Of Multiple Deprivation Against The Logit Of Outcome



5.6.5 Sensation Seeking Score

The mean "Sensation Seeking" variable does not appear to be linear on the plot shown in figure 22 below. A likelihood ratio test for the model with the addition of a squared term was non-significant (p= 0.0712). The fractional polynomial routine in Stata generated the two best powers of the mean score (3 & 3) and both transformations are a significant improvement on the original variable. However there is no reason to suspect that this variable or either transformation presents a plausible proxy for risky road behaviour owing to its u-shaped

relationship to the logit. The values were categorised as either above or below the median and this was used in modelling.

Figure 22 Lowess Smoothed Graph Of Logit Of Use Of Conspicuity Aids And Mean Sensation Seeking Score



5.6.6 Normlessness Score

The visual appearance of the Normlessness scores plotted against the logit of the outcome appears broadly linear with a negative association with crash risk in figure 23 below. The fractional polynomial routine in Stata generated the best powers of the variable (-2 & 3). Neither transformation was a significant improvement over the original score and so it was introduced into models as a linear covariate.

Figure 23 Smoothed Graph Of Logit Of Use Of Conspicuity Aids And Mean Normlessness Score



5.7 Appendix 7 - Reliability Of Researcher Field Observations

A second observer concurrently observed a subset of cyclists in the study area to assess the reliability of the population level data on conspicuity aid use. The number and light levels of the observations are given in table 44. The assessment of overall conspicuity was based on clothing and equipment use excluding any fixed lights and reflectors.

Table 44 Number And Light Level Conditions For Inter-Observer FieldExposure Observations

Light Level Condition	Frequency n (%)
Daylight	190 (52.2)
Dawn / Dusk	114 (31.3)
Darkness	60 (16.5)
Total Observations	364

Inter-observer agreement was good to excellent for the external exposures and helmet use variables. The Kappa coefficient was calculated along with the absolute proportion of agreement. Table 45 gives the Kappa coefficients and the absolute proportional agreement under three light-level conditions for each of the observed exposure categories. The light level category was assessed using published tables of twilight and sunset times for Nottinghamshire from publically available data. The second observer was unaware of the transition times to reduce the risk of bias. There were insufficient records of conspicuity aid use on the lower body to calculate a kappa coefficient.
Table 45 Inter-Observer Agreement For Exposure Categories StratifiedBy Light Level

Observation Item	Agreement %	Карра	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper
Gender				
Overall Agreement	97.2	0.91	0.85	0.97
Daylight	98.4	0.96	0.91	1
Twilight	97.2	0.89	0.76	1
Darkness	93.1	0.71	0.45	0.98
Helmet Use				
Overall Agreement	95.1	0.90	0.85	0.95
Daylight	96.8	0.94	0.89	0.99
Twilight	96.6	0.91	0.84	0.99
Darkness	88.3	0.75	0.57	0.92
Fluorescent Clothing Upper Body				
Overall Agreement	97.3	0.94	0.90	0.98
Daylight	97.4	0.94	0.89	0.99
Twilight	98.2	0.97	0.92	1
Darkness	95.0	0.89	0.76	1
Reflective Clothing Upper Body				
Overall Agreement	91.5	0.78	0.71	0.86
Daylight	95.3	0.86	0.77	0.95
Twilight	90.4	0.78	0.66	0.91
Darkness	81.7	0.57	0.35	0.78
Light-Coloured Clothing Upper Boo	dy			
Overall Agreement	92.9	0.85	0.80	0.91
Daylight	95.8	0.91	0.85	0.97
Twilight	94.7	0.90	0.81	0.98
Darkness	80.0	0.60	0.39	0.81
Dichotomous Conspicuity Rating (Conspicuous vs	. Inconspi	cuous)	
Overall Agreement	98.1	0.96	0.93	0.99
Daylight	98.9	0.98	0.94	1
Twilight	97.4	0.95	0.89	1
Darkness	96.7	0.93	0.83	1

5.8 Appendix 8 - Double Data Entry

A subset of 50 cases and control questionnaires was randomly selected and the data was re-entered into a duplicate database. This data was then imported into Stata and the "compare files" command was used to generate reports of discrepancies. No errors were detected which would have altered eligibility decisions or outcome status. Each discrepancy identified was then examined using the original questionnaire as a reference. An error rate for each data entry exercise was calculated along with the number of occasions on which the source document itself appeared ambiguous. The rates are given below converted to a rate per 10 000 fields in table 46.

Table 46 Error Rates Estimated For A Random Selection Of Records ForWhich Data Were Re-Entered

Data Source	Estimated Error rate per 10000 values	95% Confidence Interval
Original Record	50.9	31.7-70.1
Second Data Entry	45.3	27.2-63.3
Error Rate 1 – "Ambiguous In		
Source Document"	39.6	22.7-56.5
Errors Affecting Inclusion Criteria Or	0	-
Outcome		

There is little literature available detailing data entry error rates as the results of double data entry if it is undertaken at all are routinely excluded from published papers. The error rate found within this dataset is comparable to that published for a large clinical trial ³⁰¹. It has been noted in another paper that serious data entry errors those with potential analytical consequences, will often be uncovered as outliers and rectified during data cleaning reducing further the necessity of routine double data entry ³⁰⁰.

The process described here is of less value as the second data entry was carried out by the same person. It does not exclude the possibility that any particular datum may have been entered erroneously on both occasions. It is unlikely that such errors were common.

5.9 Appendix 9 - Post-Estimation Diagnostic Tests

Link test assessing the likelihood that the logistic link function has been misspecified (i.e. logistic regression is an inappropriate modelling strategy) or that there are one or more important variables missing from the model (http://www.ats.ucla.edu/stat/stata/webbooks/logistic/chapter3/statalog3.htm). The test works by comparing the linear predicted value of the model to its square. The squared term should not be an improvement unless the model is mis-specified. Neither squared term for model one or two was a significant when compared to the predicted values (model one p=0.26 and model two p=0.34) suggesting that the models were not mis-specified

The figures 24 to 31 to below show plots of the Pearson Standardised Residuals, Delta-Beta Influence Statistic, Lack of Fit Diagnostic values and Leverage values for each model as discussed in the section on modelling in the results chapter.



Figure 24 Standardised Pearson Residuals Predicted For Model 1

Figure 25 Delta Beta Influence Values For Observations In Model 1



Figure 26 Lack Fit Diagnostic Values For Model 1



Figure 27 Leverage Values For Model 1



Figure 28 Standardised Pearson Residuals Predicted For Model 2



Figure 29 Delta Beta Influence Values For Observations In Model 2



Figure 30 Lack Fit Diagnostic Values For Model 2



Figure 31 Leverage Values For Model 2



5.10 Appendix 10 – Study Questionnaire

Questionnaires were sent out with two accompanying maps for respondents to illustrate their journey. The case questionnaire, shown below, contained identical questions to that sent controls but with the addition of questions regarding the circumstances of the case crash to enable eligibility to be assessed.

Nottingham Bicycle Accident Study

Thank you for taking part in this research project. As you will have seen from the information provided in this pack the study is an investigation of factors which may affect the risk of having a bicycle accident.

We would like you to complete the questionnaire and journey map and return them to us in the stamped, addressed envelope provided. It is important that you fill in the questionnaire as soon as you feel able to so that you can accurately recall things as they were on the day you had your accident. The questionnaire should take no longer than 10 minutes to complete.

Please remember that this is a research project and not connected to your hospital treatment. Because of this we would like you to sign the consent form to say that we can use your information. This can be found on the final page of this booklet.

Completing this questionnaire and returning it in the stamped address envelope is all that you will be asked to do to support this project. You will not be contacted again unless you require different maps to draw your journey or request a summary of the results.

If you would like to receive a summary of the results of this research please tick the box on the consent form at the end of the questionnaire.

If you require any further information, please contact the study organiser;

Phil Miller PhD student researcher School of Community Health Sciences Room 1401, The Tower University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD

0115 8230576

mcxpdm@nottingham.ac.uk

Study ID (Office Use Only)	
Name:	
Home Address:	
Postcode:	
Contact telephone:	

QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR ACCIDENT JOURNEY

Please answer the following questions about your accident journey

 What time did your accident happen?
 _____: ____ (24 hour clock)

What was the date of your accident? ____ / ____ / ____ (DD/MM/YYYY)

Where did you start your accident journey (full address and postcode if known)? If this is a workplace please include the company or organisation name.

Please tick ONE only

Is this

(a) a public place (e.g. shops, libraries, a cycle trail etc)?	
(b) a workplace, college or university?	
(c) a private address (e.g. your home or a friend's house etc)?	
(d) cycle parking at transport facilities (e.g. train station, park and	
ride etc) ?	
(e) other place (please describe)?	

Where were you intending to finish your journey (full address and postcode if known)? If this is a workplace please include the company or organisation name.

Please tick ONE only

Is this (a) a public place (e.g. shops, libraries, a cycle trail, etc)?	
(b) a workplace, college or university?	
(c) a private address (e.g. your home or a friend's house etc)?	
d) cycle parking at transport facilities (e.g. train station, park and	
ride etc) ?	
(e) other place (please describe) ?	

What was the purpose of the journey during which you had your accident?

(for example travelling to work or college, shopping, visiting a friend, leisure ride etc)

Please draw on the map provided the complete journey you would have made had you not had your accident. Please put a cross at the spot where your accident happened.

If you need different maps I will send you ones including your start and finish points. Even if you need different maps, please fill in the rest of this questionnaire.

Please send me maps including these start and finish points

Please describe the location of the accident as clearly as possible - include any details you are aware of like nearby shops or landmarks (e.g. "I was cycling along the road through the pelican crossing on Huntingdon Street near the Victoria Centre car park exit")

If you started or intended to finish your journey at a workplace, college, university or transport facility

Yes No Don't Not

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 264

Are cycle changing facilities			know	Applicable	
and lockers provided at this location?					
Are cycle parking facilities e.g. Sheffield hoops provided at this location?	Yes	No 🗆	Don't know	Not Applicable	
Do you feel that this organisation actively encourages you to cycle?	Yes	No 🗆	Don't know	Not Applicable	

If you journey was to or from a workplace

How many employees does your company have?

Less	50.1	More						
than	50 to	than		Don't		N/A		
50	250	250		KIIOW				

QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR ACCIDENT

Did your accident involve a collision with another road user (e.g. car, motorcycle, cyclist, bus, heavy goods vehicle, tram or			
pedestrian)?	Yes	No	
Was your accident caused when trying to avoid a collision with another road user (e.g. car, motorcycle, cyclist, bus, heavy			
goods vehicle, tram or pedestrian)?	Yes	No	

Where were you when the accident happened e.g. on the pavement or cycle path or on the road?

Please tick ONE only

Foot path / pavement

Cycle path (separate from the road but including paths shared wit pedestrians)	h
Side road / residential street (including cycle lanes on the road)	
Main road / through road (including cycle lanes on the road)	
Other (please describe)	

Were you at or within 20 metres (60 feet) of a junction e.g. cycle			
path joining a road or a roundabout or a T-junction?	Yes	No	

What was the speed limit of the road where your accident occurred (mph)?

Please tick ONE box

						Not	Don't	
20	30	40	50	60	70	on a	know	
						road	KIIUW	

How often have you cycled on this route in the past 6 months?

Please tick ONE box

More than 2 times a week?	Between two and eight times a month?	Less than once a month?	Never before?	

Had you drunk any alcohol in the 8 hours prior to this journey? Yes \Box No \Box

How would you describe the weather conditions at the time of your accident?

Please tick (ONE box	K							
Good weather		Light rain		Heavy rain		Fog/mist		Snow/hail	
How would	you des	cribe the light l	evels	at the time	of your a	accident?			
Please tick (ONE box	¢							
Sunny 🛛	Ove	ercast 🛛	Daw dusk	n/	Dark (i lights)	no street	Dark light	s)	
What type o	of bicycle	e were you ridi	ng wh	en you had	your acc	cident?			
Please tick (ONE box	ĸ							
Commuter of city bike	or `hybri	id' or	Moui `off r	ntain or ·oad' bike		Road or racing bike		Folding bike	
If you used	another	type of bike p	lease (describe it ir	n the spa	ace below			

QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR CYCLING EQUIPMENT AND CLOTHING

The following questions are about what equipment you were using, what you were carrying and what you were wearing when you had your accident

Were you wearing a CYCLE HELMET?	Yes	No	
If yes, was most of the helmet made from FLUORESCENT materials?	Yes	No	
(usually bright orange, yellow or lime green)			

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller March 2012 267

	Yes	No	
Is your helmet a LIGHT COLOUR (e.g. white or yellow)?			
Does your helmet have any REFLECTIVE areas e.g. panels or edging?	Yes	No	
(usually white or silver)			
Please describe the OUTER clothing you were wearing ABOVE THE WAIST			
in the space below (e.g. tabard or jacket)			
Was most or all of this garment LIGHT COLOURED?	Yes	No	
Was most or all of this garment made from FLUORESCENT materials?	Yes	No	
(usually bright orange, yellow or lime green)			
Did this garment have any REFLECTIVE areas e.g. panels or edging?	Yes	No	
(usually white or silver)			
Please describe the OUTER clothing you were wearing BELOW THE WAIST			
in the space below (e.g. trousers or shorts)			
Was most or all of this garment LIGHT COLOURED?	Yes	No	
Was most of this garment made from FLUORESCENT materials?	Yes	No	
(usually bright orange, yellow or lime green)			
Did this garment have any REFLECTIVE areas e.g. panels or edging?	Yes	No	
(usually white or silver)			

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller March 2012 268

Did you have PEDAL REFLECTORS?	Yes	No	
Did you have FLUORESCENT ankle bands or bicycle clips?	Yes	No	
Did you have REFLECTIVE ankle bands or bicycle clips?	Yes	No	
Did you have a FRONT FACING REFLECTOR(s)?	Yes	No	
Did you have a REAR FACING REFLECTOR(s)?	Yes	No	
(including on panniers or saddle bag)			
Did you have SPOKE odds ratio WHEEL REFLECTORS?	Yes	No	

Did you have a FRONT FACING LIGHT(s)?	Yes, it was lit	Yes, it was flashing	Yes, but it was not lit	No	
Did you have a REAR FACING LIGHT(s)?	Yes, it was lit	Yes, it was flashing	Yes, but it was not lit	No	

Please describe any other safety equipment you were using on the day of your accident that has not been mentioned, in the space below

QUESTIONS ABOUT YOU

The following questions are about you



What is your ethnic group? (choose ONE from section A to E then tick the appropriate box)





Bangladeshi 🛛	
ten More than ten years?	
Don't	
Yes No know	
t at	
!?	
, t	ten More than ten years?

Have you had a bicycle accident in which you were injured within the past 3 years involving a collision or 'near miss' with another road \Box \Box \Box user?



QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR ATTITUDES

The following questions are about your attitudes in everyday life. These answers will help us to interpret the rest of the information you have given by filling in this survey.

Please try and answer them in a way which best reflects your own feelings and opinions – try not to think about them for too long – give the first answer that occurs to you.



It is OK to get round			
laws and rules as long as you don't break them directly			
If something works it is less important whether it is right or wrong			
Some things can be wrong to do even though they are legal			
I like to explore strange places			
I like to do frightening things			
I like new and exciting experiences, even if I have to break the rules			
I prefer friends who are exciting and unpredictable.			

QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR EVERYDAY USE OF CLOTHING AND CYCLE EQUIPMENT

The following questions are about your usual use of safety equipment and in what circumstances you normally use each item

Please tick all the times you use each type of equipment (e.g. if you use a front light after dark AND on long journeys tick BOTH of the boxes below these responses)

	ั อัลอ N Tick ALL	er weath er weath that app	K After dark	long journ evs	, fast roads	heavy traffic	Alway s
When do you normally wear a CYCLE HELMET?							
Do you wear any fluorescent or reflective clothing ABOVE THE WAIST e.g. tabard or jacket							
Do you wear any fluorescent or reflective clothing BELOW THE WAIST? e.g. cycling shorts or leggings							
Do you use fluorescent odds ratio reflective ANKLE BANDS, WRAPS odds ratio BICYCLE CLIPS							
Do you use a FRONT FACING LIGHT?							
Do you use a REAR FACING LIGHT?							

Do you use any other cycling safety equipment we have not mentioned?

Please write the item in below and use the boxes to indicate when you use this item

עלע	weath er	After dark	long journ eys	fast roads	heavy traffic	Alway s

Thank you for completing this questionnaire. All information you provide will be treated confidentially and kept securely at the University of Nottingham. It will only be used for the purposes described in the information sheet.

Please complete the consent form on the next page as a record that you agree to take part. When this is done please return the complete form using the stamped addressed envelope provided for you.

Would you like to make any comments or give any further information? Please use the space below

CONSENT

Study Number: 07/H0407/81

Name of Researcher: Phil Miller

Title of Project: Nottingham Bicycle Accident Study

Please initial

each box

I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet (case) dated 10/09/2008 Version 3.1 for this study.

I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason.

I understand that parts of my emergency department clinical record will be accessed by members of staff from Nottingham University Hospitals and the University of Nottingham.

I agree to take part in this study.

Your Name

Date

Signature

Researcher	Date	Signature

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire – please return it in the stamped addressed envelope provided. A copy of this consent form will be sent to you and another placed in your medical records.

Phil Miller

Would you like to receive a summary of the results of this research? Yes 🛛 No 🗆

Study ID

5.11 Appendix 11 - Lay Summary Of The Study For Participants

A results summary was sent out to all participants who indicated that they would like to receive one. Personal details were stored for those individuals to enable this. The author encouraged participants to send feedback regarding their views on any aspect of the research and a number of interesting and sometimes detailed replies were received.

Results Summary

Thank you for agreeing to take part in the Nottingham Bicycle Crash Study. The data you submitted were entered into a database and your personal information (name etc) was removed before further analysis was undertaken. Your personal details were stored electronically only to permit the sending out of this summary of the results and have now been deleted. The questionnaire you returned will be stored securely for approximately seven years to comply with University of Nottingham data archiving regulations after which time it too will be destroyed.

What was the study about?

The aim of the study was to examine whether using fluorescent or reflective clothing or equipment ("Hi-Viz") was related to the likelihood of a cyclist having a crash. Only accidents where there was a collision or near-miss with another road user were included because only in these circumstances could Hi-Viz clothing have been likely to help prevent a crash. The information sent back by people who did not have a collision is still very useful and we hope to publish some of this additional information later.

Why did we do the study in the way we did?

In much medical research groups of patients are randomly (e.g. by flipping a coin) given one or other treatment for their illness or injury normally without either the patient or the doctors being aware of who has received which treatment. The results under the two treatments are then compared. Because no one chooses who gets which treatment it can be assumed that the only important difference between the groups are the treatments themselves and that this alone accounts for differences in recovery rates.

In the case of much accident research it is not treatments but possible ways of preventing accidents or injuries that are of interest. Here a randomised experiment is not normally possible. In the case of

cycling crashes and "Hi-Viz" clothing it is clearly impractical and unethical to try to get people to use or not use these types of clothing. Another problem is that cycling accidents are quite rare and many hundreds of people would have to monitored over a very long period for enough accidents to occur to show any differences between the groups.

There is another option to try and understand accidents which is not really an experiment at all. The idea here is to identify people after they have had an accident and match them to other cyclists cycling at around the same time who have not had an accident. The idea is to see if any differences between them could account for the crashes. This study design is called a matched "case-control" study and this is the type of study you were involved in.

What were we looking for?

Often there is a theory about crashes which can guide what factors to examine. In this study we wondered if using Hi-Viz equipment might make cyclists less likely to have collisions. Clearly other differences between the groups could also affect crash risk. Although all efforts were made to make sure the two groups of cyclists were similar, important differences can still remain which could account for some or even all of the difference in crash risk. These are things like using lights or being on a safer road. This is why you were asked about these things. Statistical techniques are used to "adjust" the odds ratio to try and give a "level playing field. A full description of the actual study is published and available for free here http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2835683/).

What did we find?

There were 76 cyclists who had had accidents ("cases") and 272 matched cyclists who had not had accidents ("controls"). Comparing the cases and controls it appears that there is about a 20% increased risk of being in the crash group if the cyclist was using any item of Hi-Viz clothing. To understand what this means imagine if 1000 cyclists cycled for a year with some of them wearing Hi-Viz clothing. During this time there were 20 collision crashes. If they had all being wearing Hi-Viz gear instead then using these results there would a have been 24 crashes (i.e. 4 more) in the same period. After adjusting for other differences between the groups (age, sex, the riskiness of each route, demographic differences and history of previous crash) it still appears that using Hi-Viz gear means you are more likely to have a crash.

How accurate is this result?

A 20% increase in risk is quite small. Because the study is quite small it is possible that this size of effect could have been observed by chance i.e. is not "statistically significant" (by comparison smokers are about 14 times more likely to get lung cancer than non-smokers; that is a 1400% increased risk!).

Does this mean that wearing Hi-Viz gear actually makes crashes more likely?

Not directly but it may be that people who wear "Hi-Viz" clothing believe they are more visible to drivers and therefore cycle less "defensively". That is not a statement about the individuals themselves but may be true on average across a large group like the one we studied. As in the case of smoking, research tells us that smokers are more likely to have heart attacks. Research cannot tell us which smokers will actually go on to have heart attacks though.

There is plenty of research showing that fluorescent and reflective materials make people more visible in a variety of settings including when cycling (although no one has tried to relate this to actual crashes which is why we did this study). Fluorescent materials work best in low lighting conditions by making some of the ultraviolet light in sunlight visible to the naked eye. Reflective materials work when bright lights shine on them like car headlights in darkness by reflecting light directly back at the source. So this result does not mean that Hi-Viz gear makes cyclists less visible only that in this study we couldn't find a reduction in the risk of a crash and instead found a small increase.

Is this result likely to be true?

It is possible that this result could have come about because of bias. This would occur if people who had crashes whilst wearing Hi-Viz gear were more likely to send their questionnaires back than those who were wearing normal clothes. This is possible and it doesn't take much of a difference to change the results of this study so they must be viewed with caution.

Were there any other differences between people who had crashes and "controls"?

The results show that on average people who had crashes were cycling in places where there had been more bicycle crashes before and where there were often fewer cyclists too. Other research has shown that where there are fewer cyclists each cyclist is at more risk of a crash. We did not find that on average people cycling on more dangerous roads were more likely to use Hi-Viz gear so that cannot be an explanation of these results.

So what does this mean in practice? Have we discovered anything useful about cycling crashes?

Well one thing that can be said for certain is that there are clearly many other causes of bicycle crashes and simply being visible is not always enough. We found that over 60% of the people who

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

March 2012 281

had crashes at night were wearing at least one item of fluorescent or reflective clothing (not to mention most also using lights and reflectors). Another finding was that most of the crashes happened in daylight. Fluorescent materials are still effective in daylight although many cyclists choose not to wear them.

In short, it may be that to reduce the numbers of cycle crashes will require traffic volumes and particularly traffic speeds to be lower and inconsiderate and inattentive driving reduced if safety equipment for cyclists is to have a bigger effect. The visibility or otherwise of cyclists does not appear to be the only or even the main cause of bicycle crashes involving other road users.

Final thoughts.

Apologies to those of you that were hoping for a simple "answer" – I was hoping for one too; it would be easier to get published!

At this point I should declare an interest. I cycle daily and always wear a Hi-Viz tabard so I am not biased against them and I think they are protective despite these results. I think we should aim to make our roads safer for everyone.

I hope this summary of the study has been interesting.

Phil Miller

University of Nottingham

mcxpdm@nottingham.ac.uk

2011

5.12 Appendix 12 - Performance Standards For Conspicuity Enhancing Clothing

The quality and performance characteristics of conspicuity enhancing clothing and accessories ('High-Visibility Warning Clothing') are governed by a set of standards defined by the British Standards Institute allowing the use of the European Union "CE" mark to advertise compliance. In the case of conspicuity aids the standards specify the performance of component materials, the design of products using those materials (e.g. their arrangement and surface area), the durability of products and their performance under certain environmental conditions. The two relevant standards for conspicuity aids for cycling are the EU standard for personal protective equipment for leisure (EN 1150:2001) and professional or workplace use (EN 471:2003).

The author performed a non-systematic survey of internet retailers during the development phase of the project. Only one commercial website offered a range of CE compliant clothing and accessories marketed specifically at cyclists (http://www.beseenonabike.co.uk/ last accessed 13/03/2011). A further two retailers were advertising one single product which conformed to EN 1150:2001 but none which complied with EN 471:2003. A recent repeat of the search above did find a greater number of standard compliant products available from cycle equipment retailers but the number of compliant products aimed specifically at cyclists remains small.

The Cyclists Touring Club website carries a section on the standards relevant to cycling but makes no mention of conspicuity aid standards at all (<u>http://www.ctc.org.uk/DesktopDefault.aspx?TabID=4074</u> last accessed 12/03/2011).

5.13 Appendix 13 – Example Of Completed Map Showing Participant Representation Of Chosen Route



made on the day you were given the study pack. If you use paths or roads not included on the map please

5.14 Appendix 14 – Independent Exposure Validation Data Record Sheet

The sheet reproduced below was used to collect details and exposure

Date	
Time	
Location	
Case / Control ID	/

CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY

Above waist	Fluorescent
	Reflective
	Mainly light colour
Below Waist	Fluorescent
	Reflective
	Mainly light colour
Helmet	Fluorescent
	Reflective
	Light colour
	No Helmet
UNABLE TO RECORD	

Name	
Address	
Postcode	
Extra maps?	

5.15 Appendix 15 – Study Catchment Area And Control Recruitment Sites

The map in figure 32 below shows the boundaries of the study catchment area within which cases undertook their crash journey and matched control recruitment sites were located.



Figure 32 Study Catchment Area Boundary

The map in figure 33 below shows the control recruitment sites (blue icons) across the catchment area.



Figure 33 Control Recruitment Sites Across The Catchment Area

6. References & Bibliography

- Oja P, Titze S, Bauman A, de Geus B, Krenn P, Reger-Nash B, et al. Health benefits of cycling: a systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine* & Science in Sports 2011;21(4):496-509.
- 2. Cycling England. Cycling and Health: a Strategy for 2005 2008 and Action Plan for 2005-6: Cycling England, 2006:1-7.
- 3. Club CT. Barriers to cycling: Perspectives from existing and potential cyclists. 1997.
- Atkinson R. A survey of attitudes, deterrents and incentives to cycling to work at the Queen's Medical Centre in the context of health and exercise. UNiversity of Nottingham, 1996.
- Davies D, Halliday M, Pocock R. Attitudes to cycling: a qualitative study and conceptual framework. In: Ltd T, editor. Crowthorne: Transport Research Laboratory, 1997.
- 6. Department for Transport. Attitudes to Walking and Cycling. 2003.
- 7. Stone M, Gosling R. Attitudes to cycling. In: London Tf, editor. London: Transport for London, 2008.
- 8. Unwin NC. Promoting the public health benefits of cycling. *Public Health* 1995;109(1):41-46.
- Kwan I, Mapstone J. Interventions for increasing pedestrian and cyclist visibility for the prevention of death and injuries. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003438. (Updated 17 May 2009)
- Andersen LB, Schnohr P, Schroll M, Hein HO. All-Cause Mortality Associated With Physical Activity During Leisure Time, Work, Sports, and Cycling to Work. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(11):1621-28.
- 11. Bucksch J. Physical activity of moderate intensity in leisure time and the risk of all cause mortality. *Br J Sports Med* 2005;39(9):632-38.
- Matthews CE, Jurj AL, Shu X-o, Li H-L, Yang G, Li Q, et al. Influence of Exercise, Walking, Cycling, and Overall Nonexercise Physical Activity on Mortality in Chinese Women. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 2007;165(12):1343-50.
- Paffenbarger R, Hyde R, Wing A, Hsieh C. Physical activity, all-cause mortality and longevity in college alumni. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1986;314:605-13.
- 14. Tuxworth W, Nevill A, White C, Jenkins C. Health, fitness, physical activity and morbidity of middle-aged factory workers *British Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1986;43:733-75.
- 15. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal.* 2006;174(6):801-09.
- 16. World Health Organisation. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. In: WHO, editor. Geneva: WHO, 2010.
- 17. Hu G, Tuomilehto J, Borodulin K, Jousilahti P. The joint associations of occupational, commuting, and leisure-time physical activity, and the Framingham risk score on the 10-year risk of coronary heart disease. *Eur Heart J* 2007;28(4):492-98.
- Pucher J, Buehler R, Bassett D, Dannenberg A. Walking and Cycling to Health: A Comparative Analysis of City, State, and International Data. *Am J Public Health* 2010.
- 19. WHO. Physical activity through transport as part of daily activities including a special focus on children and older people. 2002.
- 20. Bauman A, Titze S, Rissel C, Oja P. Changing gears: bicycling as the panacea for physical inactivity? *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2011.
- 21. Cavill N, A D. Cycling And Health: What's The Evidence. In: England C, editor. London: Cycle England, 2007.
- Cavill N, Kahlmeier S, Rutter H, Racioppi F, Oja P. Economic analyses of transport infrastructure and policies including health effects related to cycling and walking: A systematic review. *Transport Policy* 2008;15(5):291-304.
- 23. Ming Wen L, Rissel C. Inverse associations between cycling to work, public transport, and overweight and obesity: Findings from a population based study in Australia. *Preventive Medicine* 2008;46(1):29-32.
- 24. Huy C, Becker S, Gomolinsky U, Klein T, Thiel A. Health, Medical Risk Factors, and Bicycle Use in Everyday Life in the Over-50 Population. *J. Aging Phys. Act.* 2008;16(4):454-64.
- 25. Hou L, Ji BT, Blair A, Dai Q, Gao YT, Chow WH. Commuting physical activity and risk of colon cancer in Shanghai, China. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004;160(9):860-67.
- 26. de Geus B, Joncheere J, Meeusen R. Commuter cycling: effect on physical performance in untrained men and women in Flanders: minimum dose to improve indexes of fitness. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports* 2009;19(2):179-87.

- 27. de Hartog J, Boogaard H, Nijland H, Hoek G. Do The Health Benefits Of Cycling Outweigh The Risks? *Environ Health Perspect* 2010.
- 28. SQW Consultants. Valuing the Benefits of Cycling. In: SQW, editor. London: Cycle England, 2007.
- 29. Carnall D. Cycling and health promotion. *British Medical Journal* 2000;320(7239):888-.
- Ogilvie D, Bull F, Powell J, Cooper AR, Brand C, Mutrie N, et al. An Applied Ecological Framework for Evaluating Infrastructure to Promote Walking and Cycling: The iConnect Study. *Am J Public Health* 2011;101(3):473-81.
- 31. Editorial. The bicycle-Can we all benefit? *Public Health* 1992;106(4):251-79.
- 32. de Nazelle A, Nieuwenhuijsen M. Integrated health impact assessment of cycling. *Br J Ind Med* 2009:oem.2009.050054.
- 33. Rojas-Rueda D, de Nazelle A, Tainio M, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ. The health risks and benefits of cycling in urban environments compared with car use: health impact assessment study. *BMJ* 2011;343.
- 34. Fishman E. Benefits of public bicycle schemes must be evaluated carefully. BMJ 2011;343.
- 35. Oja P, Vuori I, Paronen O. Daily walking and cycling to work: their utility as health-enhancing physical activity. *Patient Education and Counseling* 1998;33(Supplement 1):S87-S94.
- 36. Department for Transport. Delivery of the National Cycling Strategy: A Review. London, 2005.
- 37. Department for Transport. The Future of Transport. In: DfT, editor. London, 2004.
- 38. Department for Transport. Evaluation of the cycling city and towns programme: Interim Report. In: DfT, editor. London, 2011.
- 39. World Health Organisation. World report on road traffic injury prevention Geneva: WHO/World Bank, 2004.
- 40. World Health Organisation. Physical activity through transport as part of daily activities including a special focus on children and older people In: Europe WHO, editor, 2002.
- Wittink R. Promotion of mobility and safety of vulnerable road users: final report of the European research project PROMISING (Promotion of Measures for Vulnerable Road Users). *Promising*. Leidschendam: SWOV, 2001.

- Pucher J, Dijkstra L. Promoting Safe Walking and Cycling to Improve Public Health: Lessons from The Netherlands and Germany. *American Journal of Public Health* 2003;93(9):1509-16.
- 43. Department for Transport. Cycling in Great Britain: DfT, 2002.
- Department for Transport. Transport Statistics for Great Britain: Modal Comparisons. In: DfT, editor. *Transport Statistics for Great Britain*. London, 2010.
- 45. Commission For Integrated Transport. Are We There Yet? A Comparison of Transport In Europe. London: Commision For Integrated Transport, 2001.
- 46. Department for Transport. Transport Trends: 2007. In: Transport Df, editor, 2007.
- 47. Department for Transport. National Travel Survey: 2010. In: DfT, editor. London: TSO, 2011.
- 48. Mayor Of London. Travel in London. 2009;1:1 224.
- 49. Jacobsen PL. Safety in numbers: more walkers and bicyclists, safer walking and bicycling. *Inj Prev* 2003;9(3):205-09.
- Jacobsen PL, Racioppi F, Rutter H. Who owns the roads? How motorised traffic discourages walking and bicycling. *Injury Prevention* 2009;15(6):369-73.
- 51. Dickinson JE, Kingham S, Copsey S, Hougie DJP. Employer travel plans, cycling and gender: will travel plan measures improve the outlook for cycling to work in the UK? *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 2003;8(1):53-67.
- 52. Garrard J. Healthy Revolutions: promoting cycling among women. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia* 2003;14(3):213-15.
- Noland R. Perceived risk and modal choice: Risk compensation in transportation systems. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1995;27(4):503-21.
- 54. Department for Transport. Attitudes to Walking and Cycling. In: transport Df, editor: HMSO, 2003.
- 55. de Geus B, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Jannes C, Meeusen R. Psychosocial and environmental factors associated with cycling for transport among a working population. *Health Educ. Res.* 2008;23(4):697-708.
- 56. Hillman M. *Cycling: towards health and safety*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- 57. Barnard P. Perceived bicycle safety and community use: Results from the ATDATAS study. *Bikesafe 86*. Newcastle, Australia: Federal Office of Raod Safety, 1987:605-06.

- Boyd H, Hillman M, Nevill A, Pearce A, Tuxworth W. Health effects of regular cycling on a sample of previous non-exercisers: resume of main findings. In: DfT, editor, 1998.
- 59. Department for Transport. Cycling for better health. In: DfT, editor. *Traffic Advisory Leaflets*, 1999.
- 60. Mayou R, Bryant B. Consequences of road traffic accidents for different types of road user. *Injury* 2003;34(3):197-202.
- 61. Jeavons S. Predicting who suffers psychological trauma in the first year after a road accident. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2000;38:499-508.
- OECD. SAFETY OF VULNERABLE ROAD USERS. In: (RS7) SEGotSoVRU, editor. Paris: OECD, 1998.
- 63. Department for Transport. A Safer Way: Consultation on Making Britain's Roads the Safest in the World. In: Transport Df, editor. London, 2009.
- 64. Curnow WJ. Bicycle helmets and public health in Australia. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia* 2008;19(1):10-15.
- 65. Ferguson HH. Road accidents; pedestrians' beliefs regarding visibility at night. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 1944;28(2):109-16.
- 66. European Road Safety Observatory. Pedestrians and Cyclists. In: Observatory ERS, editor, 2006.
- 67. Hynd D, Cuerden R, Reid S, Adams A. The potential for cycle helmets to prevent injury. In: Ltd T, editor. London: TRL, 2009.
- Department for Transport. Road Casualties in Great Britain 2007: Annual Report. In: Transport Df, editor: TSO Publications, 2008.
- Ward H, Lyons R, Thoreau R. Under-reporting of Road Casualties Phase 1. Road Safety Research Report. London: DfT, 2006.
- 70. Mills P. Pedal Cycle Accidents A Hospital Based Study. Wokingham: Transport and Road research Laboratory, 1989.
- 71. Luoto R, Latikka P, Pukkala E, Hakulinen T, Vihko V. The effect of physical activity on breast cancer risk: a cohort study of 30,548 women. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2000;16(10):973-80.
- 72. Langley JD, Dow N, Stephenson S, Kypri K. Missing cyclists. *Inj Prev* 2003;9(4):376-79.
- Simpson H. Comparison of hospital and police casualty data: a national study. Wokingham: Transport Research Laboratory, 1996.
- 74. Agran PF, Castillo DN, Winn DG. Limitations of data compiled from police reports on pediatric pedestrian and bicycle motor vehicle events. Accident Analysis & amp; Prevention 1990;22(4):361-70.

- 75. Gill M, Goldacre MJ, Yeates DGR. Changes in safety on England's roads: analysis of hospital statistics. *British Medical Journal* 2006;333(7558):73-.
- 76. Maas MW, Harris S. Police recording of road accident in-patients: Investigation into the completeness, representativity and reliability of police records of hospitalized traffic victims. *Accident Analysis & amp; Prevention* 1984;16(3):167-84.
- Stone M, Broughton J. Getting off your bike: cycling accidents in Great Britain in 1990-1999. Accident Analysis and Prevention 2003;35(4):549-56.
- 78. Leonard PA, Beattie TF, Gorman DR. Under representation of morbidity from paediatric bicycle accidents by official statistics--a need for data collection in the accident and emergency department. *Inj Prev* 1999;5(4):303-04.
- 79. Department for Transport. Road accident statistics in Great Britain: Levels of reporting, 2007.
- 80. Tunridge R. The use of linked transport-health road casualty data. Wokingham: Transport and Road Research Laboratory, 1987.
- Ward H, Robertson S, Lester T, Peddler A. Reporting of Road Traffic Accidents in London: Matching Police STATS19 Data with Hospital Accident and Emergency Department Data. 2002:1 - 67.
- 82. Kiburz D, Jacobs R, Reckling F, Mason J. Bicycle accidents and injuries among cyclists. *American Journal of Sports Medicine* 1986;14:416-19.
- 83. Thornley S, Woodward A, Langley J, Ameratunga S, Rodgers A. Conspicuity and bicycle crashes: preliminary findings of the Taupo bicycle study. *Injury Prevention* 2008;14:11-18.
- 84. Thompson DC, Thompson RS, Rivara FP. Incidence of bicycle-related injuries in a defined population. *Am J Public Health* 1990;80(11):1388-90.
- 85. Douglas MJ, Watkins SJ, Gorman DR, Higgins M. Are cars the new tobacco? Journal of Public Health 2011;33(2):160-69.
- 86. Naci H, Chisholm D, Baker TD. Distribution of road traffic deaths by road user group: a global comparison. *Injury Prevention* 2009;15(1):55-59.
- 87. World Health Organisation. Global Status Report On Road Safety: Time For Action. Geneva: WHO, 2009.
- European Road Safety Observatory. Traffic Safety: Basic Facts 2007 -Bicycles. Annual Statistical Report: SafetyNet, 2007.
- 89. Tin Tin S, Woodward A, Ameratunga S. Injuries to pedal cyclists on New Zealand roads, 1988-2007. *BMC Public Health* 2010;10(1):655.
- 90. Rivara F, Sattin R. Preventing bicycle-related injuries: next steps. *Inj Prev* 2011;17(3):215.

- 91. NHTSA. Traffic Safety Facts 2007: Bicyclists and other cyclists. In: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration USDoT, editor. Washington: NHTSA National Centre for Statistics and Analysis, 2007.
- 92. Department for Transport. Road Casualties in Great Britain 2007: Annual Report. In: DfT, editor. London: DfT, 2007.
- 93. Rojas-Rueda D, de Nazelle A, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ. Authors' reply to Fishman and Soutter. *BMJ* 2011;343.
- 94. Department for Transport. Road Accident Statistics Fact Sheet: Pedal Cyclist Casualties In Road Accidents: 2007 In: Transport Df, editor. London: HMSO, 2007.
- Richter M, D. O, C. H, K. K, C. P, J. W, et al. The current injury situation of bicyclists - A medical and technical crash analysis. 2007:May 2007.
- 96. Jones AP, Haynes R, Kennedy V, Harvey IM, Jewell T, Lea D. Geographical variations in mortality and morbidity from road traffic accidents in England and Wales. *Health & Place* 2008;14(3):519-35.
- 97. Bailey TC, Hewson PJ. Simultaneous modelling of multiple traffic safety performance indicators by using a multivariate generalized linear mixed model. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)* 2004;167(3):501-17.
- 98. Priyantha Wedagama DM, Bird RN, Metcalfe AV. The influence of urban landuse on non-motorised transport casualties. Accident Analysis & Prevention 2006;38(6):1049-57.
- 99. Hels T, Orozova-Bekkevold I. The effect of roundabout design features on cyclist accident rate. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(2):300-07.
- 100. Harris MA, Reynolds CCO, Winters M, Chipman M, Cripton PA, Cusimano MD, et al. The Bicyclists' Injuries and the Cycling Environment study: a protocol to tackle methodological issues facing studies of bicycling safety. *Injury Prevention* 2011.
- 101. Arnett J. Sensation seeking: A new conceptualization and a new scale. *Personality and Individual Differences* 1994;16(2):289-96.
- 102. Arnett J. Still crazy after all these years: Reckless behaviour among young adults aged 23-27. *Personality and Individual Differences* 1991;12(12):1305-13.
- 103. Turner C, McClure R. Quantifying the role of risk-taking behaviour in causation of serious road crash-related injury. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2004;36:383-89.

- 104. Ryb GE, Dischinger PC, Kufera JA, Read KM. Risk perception and impulsivity: association with risky behaviors and substance abuse disorders. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2006;38(3):567-73.
- 105. Factor R, Mahalel D, Yair G. The social accident: a theoretical model and a research agenda for studying the influence of social and cultural characteristics on motor vehicle accidents. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(5):914-21.
- 106. Bina M, Graziano F, Bonino S. Risky driving and lifestyles in adolescence. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2006;38(3):472-81.
- 107. Rundmo T, Iversen H. Risk perception and driving behaviour among adolescents in two Norwegian counties before and after a traffic safety campaign. Safety Science 2004;42(1):1-21.
- 108. Feenstra H, Ruiter R, Kok G. Social-cognitive correlates of risky adolescent cycling behavior. *BMC Public Health* 2010;10(1):408.
- 109. Thuen F. Injury-related behaviours and sensation seeking: an empirical study of a group of 14 year old Norwegian school children. *Health Education Research* 1994;9(4):464-72.
- 110. Vassallo S, Smart D, Sanson A, Harrison W, Harris A, Cockfield S, et al. Risky driving among young Australian drivers: Trends, precursors and correlates. Accident Analysis and Prevention 2007;39:444-58.
- 111. Beck LF, Dellinger AM, O'Neil ME. Motor Vehicle Crash Injury Rates by Mode of Travel, United States: Using Exposure-Based Methods to Quantify Differences. Am. J. Epidemiol. 2007;166(2):212-18.
- 112. Brown D, Groeger J. Risk perception and decision taking during the transition between novice and experienced driver status. *Ergonomics* 1988;31(4):585-97.
- 113. Rodgers GB. Factors Associated with the Crash Risk of Adult Bicyclists. Journal of Safety Research 1997;28(4):233-41.
- 114. Maring W, van Schagen I. Age dependence of attitudes and knowledge in cyclists. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 1990;22(2):127-36.
- 115. Hawley DA, M.A. C, J.E. P. Fatalities involving bicycles: A non-random population. 1995:1995.
- 116. Moller M, Hels T. Cyclists' perception of risk in roundabouts. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2008;40(3):1055 - 62.
- 117. Lardelli-Claret P, Jimenez-Moleon JJ, de Dios Luna-del-Castillo J, Garcia-Martin M, Bueno-Cavanillas A, Galvez-Vargas R. Driver dependent factors and the risk of causing a collision for two wheeled motor vehicles. *Injury Prevention* 2005;11(4):225-31.

- 118. Amoros E, Chiron M, Thelot B, Ndiaye A, Laumon B. Cyclists' injury epidemiology based on a road trauma registry. *Injury Prevention* 2010;16(Suppl 1):A204.
- 119. Byrnes JP, Miller DC, Schafer WD. Gender Differences in Risk Taking: A Meta-Analysis. *Psychological Bulletin* 1999;125(3):367-83.
- 120. Rodgers G. Factors Associated with the Crash Risk of Adult Bicyclists. Journal of Safety Research 1997;28(4):233 - 41.
- 121. Rodgers GB. The characteristics and use patterns of bicycle riders in the United States. *Journal of Safety Research* 1994;25(2):83-96.
- 122. Howard C, Burns E. Cycling to Work in Phoenix: Route Choice, Travel Behavior, and Commuter Characteristics. *Transportation Research Record* 2001;1773(-1):39-46.
- 123. Winters M, Friesen MC, Koehoorn M, Teschke K. Utilitarian Bicycling: A Multilevel Analysis of Climate and Personal Influences. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine 2007;32(1):52-58.
- 124. Strohm P, Südkamp N, Zwingmann J, El Saman A, Köstler W. Polytrauma In Cyclists. *Der Unfallchirurg* 2005;108(12):1022-28.
- 125. McCarthy M, Gilbert K. Cyclist road deaths in London 1985-1992: Drivers, vehicles, manoeuvres and injuries. Accident Analysis & Prevention 1996;28(2):275-79.
- 126. Colwell J, Culverwell A. An examination of the relationship between cycle training, cycle accidents, attitudes and cycling behaviour among children. *Ergonomics* 2002;45(9):640-48.
- 127. Rasanen M, Summala H. Attention and expectation problems in bicycle-car collisions: an in-depth study. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 1998;30(5):657 66.
- 128. Wood J, Lacherez P, Marszalek R, King M. Drivers' and cyclists' experiences of sharing the road: Incidents, attitudes and perceptions of visibility. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2009;41(4):772 - 76.
- 129. Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents. The effectiveness of cyclist training. In: RoSPA, editor. *Warwickshire County Council Cyclists Training Conference*, 2000.
- 130. Carlin JB, Taylor P, Nolan T. School based bicycle safety education and bicycle injuries in children: a case-control study. *Inj Prev* 1998;4(1):22-27.
- 131. Duperrex O, Bunn F, Roberts I. Safety education of pedestrians for injury prevention: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *British Medical Journal* 2002;324(7346):1129-.

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

- 132. Laflamme L, Diderichsen F. Social differences in traffic injury risks in childhood and youth—a literature review and a research agenda. *Injury Prevention* 2000;6(4):293-98.
- 133. Department of Health. Preventing Accidental Injury Priorities for Action. In: H Do, editor: TSO, 2002.
- 134. Hillman M, Adams J, Whitelegg J. *One False Move: A study of children's independent mobility*. London: PSI, 1990.
- 135. Noland RB, Quddus MA. A spatially disaggregate analysis of road casualties in England. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2004;36(6):973-84.
- 136. Rodgers G. Bicyclist deths and fatality risk patterns. *Accident Analysis* & *Prevention* 1995;27(2):215-23.
- 137. Haileyesus T, Annest JL, Dellinger AM. Cyclists injured while sharing the road with motor vehicles. *Inj Prev* 2007;13(3):202-06.
- 138. Eilert-Petersson E, Schelp L. An epidemiological study of bicycle-related injuries. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1997;29(3):363-72.
- 139. Bostrom L, B. N. A review of serious injuries and deaths from bicycle accidents in Sweden from 1987 to 1994. 2001:2001.
- 140. Hoque M. An analysis of fatal bicycle accidents in victoria (Australia) with a special reference to nighttime accidents. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 1990;22(1):1-11.
- 141. Sikic M, Mikocka-Walus A, Gabbe B, McDermot F, Cameron P. Bicyle Injuries and Mortality in Victoria, 2001-2006. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2009;190:353-56.
- 142. Kim J, Kim S, Ulfarsson G, Porrello L. Bicyclist injury severities in biycle motor vehicle accidents. *accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39:238-51.
- 143. Meuleners L, Lee A, Haworth C. Road environment, crash type and hospitalisation of bicyclists and motorcyclists presented to emergency departments in Western Australia. Accid Anal Prev 2007;39(6):1222 - 25.
- 144. Aultman-Hall L, Hall F. Ottawa-Carleton commuter cyclist on- and off-road incident rates. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1998;30(1):29-43.
- 145. Rowe B, Rowe A. Bicyclist and environmental factors associated with fatal bicycle-related trauma in Ontario. *Journal of the Canadian Medical Association* 1995;152(1):45-53.
- 146. Langley J, Dow N, Stephenson S, Kypri K. Missing cyclists. *Inj Prev* 2003;9(4):376 79.
- 147. Rivara F, Thompson D, Thompson R. Epidemilogy of bicycle injuries and risk factors for serious injury. *Inj Prev* 1997;3.

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

- 148. Rosenkranz KM, Sheridan RL. Trauma to adult bicyclists: A growing problem in the urban environment. *Injury* 2003;34(11):825-29.
- 149. Missoni E, Kern J. Fatality Risk Factors for Bicyclists in Croatia. *Croatian Medical Journal* 2003;44(5):610-13.
- 150. Noordzij P. Cycling in the dark: An analysis of fatal cycling accidents in the Netherlands. *Journal of Safety Research* 1976;8:73-76.
- 151. Gilbert K, McCarthy M. Deaths of cyclists in London 1985-92: the hazards of road traffic. *British Medical Journal* 1994;308:1534-7.
- 152. Munkholm J, A.H. T, N. L. Fatal bicycle accidents involving right turning heavy goods vehicles - Forensic pathological findings. 2007:15 Jan 2007.
- 153. Maimaris C, summers C, Browning C, Palmer C. Injury patterns in cycllists attending an accident and emergency department: a comparison of helmet wearers and non-wearers. *British Medical Journal* 1994;308(6943):1537-40.
- 154. Manson J, Cooper S, West A, Foster E, Cole E, Tai N. Major trauma and urban cyclists: physiological status and injury profile. *Emerg Med J* 2012.
- 155. Department for Transport. Reported Road Casualties in Great Britain: Quarterly Provisional Estimates Q3 2011. In: DfT, editor. London: DfT, 2012.
- 156. Department for Transport. Transport Statisitcs for Great Britain 2006 edition In: Transport Df, editor: HMSO, 2006.
- 157. Department for Transport. Reported Road Casualties In Great Britain: Quarterly Provisional Estimates 2010. London: DfT, 2011.
- 158. Knowles J. Collisions Involving Cyclists on Britain's Roads: Establishing the Causes. In: Transport Df, editor. London, 2010.
- 159. Department for Transport. Reported Road Casualties In Great Britain: Annual Report 2010. London: DfT, 2011.
- 160. Jacobsen P. Safety in numbers: more walkers and bicyclists, safer walking and bicycling. *Injury Prevention* 2003;9(3):205 09.
- 161. Schepers P. Does more cycling also reduce the risk of single-bicycle crashes? *Injury Prevention* 2011.
- 162. Morgan A, Dale H, Lee W, Edwards P. Deaths of cyclists in london: trends from 1992 to 2006. BMC Public Health 2010;10(1):699.
- 163. Robinson D. No clear evidence from countries that have enforced the wearing of helmets. *BMJ* 2006;332:722 25.
- 164. Komanoff C. Safety in numbers? A new dimension to the bicycle helmet controversy. *Injury Prevention* 2001;7(4):343-44.

- 165. Elvik R. The non-linearity of risk and the promotion of environmentally sustainable transport. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2009;41(4):849-55.
- 166. Blomberg R, Hale A, Pruesser D. Conspicuity For Pedestrians And Bicyclists: Definition Of The Problem, Development And Test Of Countermeasures. Washington: U.S. Department of Transportation National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 1984.
- 167. Wertheim AH. Visual conspicuity: A new simple standard, its reliability, validity and applicability. *Ergonomics* 2010;53(3):421 42.
- 168. Langham MP, Moberly NJ. Pedestrian Conspicuity Research: A Review. *Ergonomics* 2003;46(4):345 63.
- 169. Langham M, Moberly N. Pedestrian conspicuity research: a review. *Ergonomics* 2003;46(4):345-63.
- 170. Moberly NJ, Langham MP. Pedestrian Conspicuity at Night: Failure to Observe a Biological Motion Advantage in a High-Clutter Environment. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* 2002;16(4):477 - 85.
- 171. Hole GJ, Tyrrell L, Langham M. Some factors affecting motorcyclists' conspicuity. *Ergonomics* 1996;39(7):946 65.
- 172. Sayer JR, Buonarosa ML. The roles of garment design and scene complexity in the daytime conspicuity of high-visibility safety apparel. *Journal of Safety Research* 2008;39(3):281-86.
- 173. Wallace B. Driver Distraction by Advertising: Genuine Risk or Urban Myth? *Municipal Engineer* 2003 156.
- 174. Cole B, Jenkins S. The nature and measurement of conspicuity. *Australian Road and Research Board Proceedings* 1980;10(4):99-107.
- 175. Rumar K. The basic driver error: late detection. *Ergonomics* 1990;33(10-11):1281-90.
- 176. Koustanai A, Boloix E, Elslande Pv, Bastien C. Statistical analysis of "lookbut-failed-to-see" accidents: Hightlighting the involvement of two distinct mechanisms. Accident Analysis & Prevention 2008;40:461-69.
- 177. Herslund M-B, Jørgensen NO. Looked-but-failed-to-see-errors in traffic. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2003;35(6):885-91.
- 178. Summala H, Pasanen E, Räsänen M, Sievänen J. Bicycle accidents and drivers' visual search at left and right turns. Accident Analysis & Prevention 1996;28(2):147-53.
- 179. Fuller R. A conceptualization of driving behaviour as threat avoidance. *Ergonomics* 1984;27(11):1139-55.
- 180. SWOV. Measures to promote cyclist safety and mobility. In: SWOV, editor.Espoo: VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, 2001.

- 181. Niewoehner W, Berg F. Endangerment of pedestrians and bicyclists at intersections by right turning trucks. *Statistics*:1 15.
- 182. Green J. *Bicycle Accident Reconstruction For The Forensic Engineer*. Victoria: Trafford Publishing, 2001.
- 183. Sayer JR, Mefford ML. High Visibility Safety Apparel and Nighttime Conspicuity of Pedestrians in Work Zones. *Journal of Safety Research* 2004;35(5):537 - 46.
- 184. Kim J-K, Kim S, Ulfarsson GF, Porrello LA. Bicyclist injury severities in bicycle-motor vehicle accidents. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(2):238-51.
- 185. Johnston I. Reducing injury from speed related road crashes. *Injury Prevention* 2004;10(5):257-59.
- 186. Plainis S, Murray IJ, Pallikaris IG. Road traffic casualties: understanding the night-time death toll. *Inj Prev* 2006;12(2):125-38.
- 187. Ferguson SA, Preusser DF, Lund AK, Zador PL, Ulmer RG. Daylight saving time and motor vehicle crashes: the reduction in pedestrian and vehicle occupant fatalities. *Am J Public Health* 1995;85(1):92-95.
- 188. Sullivan J, Flannagan M. The Role of Ambient Light Level in Fatal Crashes: Inferences from Daylight Saving Time Transisitions. Accident Analysis & Prevention 2002;34:487-98.
- 189. Broughton J, Hazelton M, Stone M. Influence of Light Level on the Incidence of Road Casualties and the Predicted Effect of Changing 'Summertime'. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series A (Statistics in Society)* 1999;162(2):137-75.
- 190. Tan C. Crash-type Manual For bicyclists. *Turner Fairbank Highway Research Center (TFHRC)*, 1996.
- 191. Ferguson B, Blampied NM. Unenlightened: An unsuccessful attempt to promote the use of cycle lights at night. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 1991;23(6):561-71.
- 192. Bíl M, Bílová M, Müller I. Critical factors in fatal collisions of adult cyclists with automobiles. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2010;42(6):1632-36.
- 193. Nankervis M. The effect of weather and climate on bicycle commuting. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 1999;33(6):417-31.
- 194. Osberg J, Stiles S, Asare O. Bicycle safety behaviour in Paris and Boston. Accident Analysis and Prevention 1998;30(5):679-87.
- 195. Hagel B, Lamy A, Rizkallah J, Belton K, Jhangri G, Cherry N, et al. The prevalence and reliability of visibility aid and other risk factor data for

uninjured cyclists and pedestrians in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(2):284 - 89.

- 196. Beyer F, Ker K. Street lighting for preventing road traffic injuries. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2009.
- 197. Rodgers G. Bicyclist deaths and fatality risk patterns. *Accident Analysis* & *Prevention* 1995;27(2):215 23.
- 198. Wanvik PO. Effects of road lighting: An analysis based on Dutch accident statistics 1987-2006. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2009;41(1):123-28.
- 199. Schramm A, Rakotonirainy A, Haworth N. How much does disregard of the road rules contribute to bicycle-vehicle collisions? *Joint ACRS-Travelsafe National Conference*. Brisbane, 2008.
- 200. Blomberg R, Hale A, Preusser D. Experimental Evaluation of Alternatuive Conspicuity-Enhancement Techniques for Pedestrians and Cyclists. *Journal of Safety Research* 1986;17:1 - 12.
- 201. Sayer JR, Buonarosa ML, Sayer JR, Buonarosa ML. The roles of garment design and scene complexity in the daytime conspicuity of high-visibility safety apparel. *Journal of Safety Research* 2008;39(3):281-6.
- 202. Department for Transport. Highway Code. In: Transport Df, editor, 2005.
- 203. Forbes T. Practical aspects of conspicuity principles. *transportation Research Circular* 1981(229):3-9.
- 204. Bloom R. Effectiveness of retroreflective treatments for pedestrians. In: Dunlap and Associates East I, editor. Minnesota: 3M company, 1976.
- 205. Wood JM, Tyrrell RA, Carberry TP. Limitations in Drivers' Ability to Recognize Pedestrians at Night. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society* 2005;47(3):644-53.
- 206. Turner J, Simmons C, Graham J. High-Visibility Clothing for Daytime Use in Work Zones. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 1997;1585(-1):1-8.
- 207. Kwan I, Mapstone J. Interventions for increasing pedestrian and cyclist visibility for the prevention of death and injuries (Review). *The Cochrane Collaboration* 2009(4):57.
- 208. Balk SA, Tyrrell RA, Brooks JO, Carpenter TL, Balk SA, Tyrrell RA, et al. Highlighting human form and motion information enhances the conspicuity of pedestrians at night. *Perception* 2008;37(8):1276-84.
- 209. Sayer J, Mefford M. Conspicuity of high-visibility safety apparel during civil twilight: Transportation Research Institute, 2006.

- 210. Helman S, Palmer M. Road Worker Conspicuity: Daytime and Nightime. In: Ltd T, editor. London: TRL Ltd, 2010.
- 211. McGuire L, Smith N. Cycling safety: injury prevention in Oxford cyclists. *Inj Prev* 2000;6(4):285-87.
- 212. Hagel BE, Lamy A, Rizkallah JW, Belton KL, Jhangri GS, Cherry N, et al. The prevalence and reliability of visibility aid and other risk factor data for uninjured cyclists and pedestrians in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(2):284-9.
- 213. Wells S, Mullin B, Norton R, Langley J, Connor J, Lay-Yee R, et al. Motorcycle rider conspicuity and crash related injury: case-control study. *British Medical Journal* 2004;328(7444):857.
- 214. Wells S. Author's Reply. BMJ Rapid Responses. London, 2004.
- 215. Wulf G, Hancock PA, Rahimi M. Motorcycle Conspicuity: An Evaluation and Synthesis of Influential Factors. *Journal of Safety Research* 1989;20(4):153 - 76.
- 216. Tyrrell RA, Wood JM, Carberry TP, Tyrrell RA, Wood JM, Carberry TP. Onroad measures of pedestrians' estimates of their own nighttime conspicuity. *Journal of Safety Research* 2004;35(5):483-90.
- 217. Jadad A. *Randomised Controlled Trials: A User's guide.* London: BMJ Books, 1998.
- 218. Johnson N, Lilford RJ, Brazier W. At what level of collective equipoise does a clinical trial become ethical? *J Med Ethics* 1991;17(1):30-34.
- 219. Kwan I, Mapstone J. Interventions for increasing pedestrian and cyclist visibility for the prevention of death and injuries. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006(4).
- 220. Torgerson D, Sibbald B. Understanding controlled trials: What is a patient preference trial? *BMJ* 1998;316(7128):360.
- 221. Schlesselman J. *Case-Control Studies: Design, Conduct, Analysis*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1982.
- 222. Cummings P, Koepsell T, Weiss N. Studying Injuries With Case-control Methods in the Emergency Department. Annals of Emergency Medicine 1998;31(1):99-105.
- 223. Rothman K. Epidemiology; An Introduction: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- 224. Robertson L. Injury Epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- 225. Hagel B, Boivin JF. Population preventable fraction of bicycle related head injuries. *Inj Prev* 2001;7(1):78-.
- 226. Hill J, Dodson E. 'On The Spot' Data Phase 1 and 2 Combined. In: Miller P, editor. Nottingham: Unpublished, 2006.

PhD Thesis For Submission - P Miller

- 227. Hosmer D, Lemeshow S. *Applied Logistic Regression*. Second ed. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 2000.
- 228. Streiner D, Norman G. *Health Measurement Scales: A practical guide to their development and use*. Third ed. New York: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- 229. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Bias and causal associations in observational research. *The Lancet* 2002;359(9302):248-52.
- 230. Goldenbeld C, Houtenbos M, Ehlers E, De Waard D. The use and risk of portable electronic devices while cycling among different age groups. *Journal of Safety Research* 2012;43(1):1-8.
- 231. Parkin J, Wardman M, Page M. Models of perceived cycling risk and route acceptability. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(2):364-71.
- 232. Stinson M, Bhat C. An Comparison of Commuter Bicyclist Route Choice Using a Stated Preference Survey. 2004.
- 233. Aultman-Hall L, Hall F, Baetz B. Analysis of Bicycle Commuter Routes Using Geographic Information Systems: Implications for Bicycle Planning. *Transportation Research Record* 1997;1578(-1):102-10.
- 234. Nguyen T, Williams B. Measuring the incidence of injury among bicycle commuters on cycle networks and open roads: A pilot study. *Health Education Journal* 2001;60:293.
- 235. Lardelli CP, de DLdCJ, Jiménez MJJ, García MM, Bueno CA, Gálvez VR. An assessment of the effect of helmet use among cyclists and the risk of head injury and death in Spain, 1990 to 1999. *Medicina Clinica* 2003;120(3):85-88.
- 236. Thompson DC, Patterson MQ. Cycle helmets and the prevention of injuries. Recommendations for competitive sport. *Sports Medicine* 1998;25(4):213-19.
- 237. Thompson DC, Rivara FP, Thompson RS. Effectiveness of bicycle safety helmets in preventing head injuries: A case-control study. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1996;276(24):1968-73.
- 238. Thompson D, Rivara F, Thompson R. Helmets for preventing head and facial injuries in bicyclists. *The Cochrane Library* 2006;2006(1).
- 239. Thompson R, Rivara F, Thompson D. A Case-Control Study of the Effectiveness of Bicycle Safety Helmets. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 1989;320(21).
- 240. Spaite D, Murphy M, Criss E, Valenzuela T, Meislin H. A Prospective Analysis of Injury Severity Among Helmeted and Nonhelmeted Bicyclists

Involved in Collisions with Motor Vehicles. *Journal of Trauma - Injury, Infection and Critical Care* 1991;31(11):1510-16.

- 241. Farris C, Spaite DW, Criss EA, Valenzuela TD, Meislin HW. Observational Evaluation of Compliance With Traffic Regulations Among Helmeted and Nonhelmeted Bicyclists. *Annals of Emergency Medicine* 1997;29(5):625-29.
- 242. Iversen H, Rundmo T. Personality, risky driving and accident involvement among Norwegian drivers. *Personality and Individual Differences* 2002;33(8):1251-63.
- 243. Lund J, Aaro LE. Accident prevention. Presentation of a model placing emphasis on human, structural and cultural factors. *Safety Science* 2004;42(4):271-324.
- 244. Turner C, McClure R, Pirozzo S. Injury and risk-taking behavior--a systematic review. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2004;36(1):93-101.
- 245. McCoy CA. Development and Pilot testing of a Bicycle Safety Questionnaire for Adult Bicyclists. *Public Health Nursing* 2002;19(6):440-50.
- 246. Zuckerman M. The sensation seeking scale V (SSS-V): Still reliable and valid. *Personality and Individual Differences* 2007;43(5):1303-05.
- 247. Hoyle R, Stephenson M, Palmgreen P, Lorch E, Donohew R. Reliability and Validity of a brief measure of sensation seeking. *Personality and Individual Differences* 2002;32:401-14.
- 248. Ulleberg P, Rundmo T. Personality, attitudes and risk perception as predictors of risky driving behaviour among young drivers. *Safety Science* 2003;41:427-43.
- 249. Burian SE, Liguori A, Robinson JH. Effects of alcohol on risk-taking during simulated driving. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental* 2002;17(3):141-50.
- 250. Evans L. The fraction of traffic fatalities attributable to alcohol. *Accident Analysis & amp; Prevention* 1990;22(6):587-602.
- 251. McMillen DL, Pang MG, Wells-Parker E, Anderson BJ. Alcohol, personality traits, and high risk driving: A comparison of young, drinking driver groups. *Addictive Behaviors* 1992;17(6):525-32.
- 252. Zakletskaia LI, Mundt MP, Balousek SL, Wilson EL, Fleming MF. Alcoholimpaired driving behavior and sensation-seeking disposition in a college population receiving routine care at campus health services centers. *Accident Analysis & amp; Prevention* 2009;41(3):380-86.
- 253. Horwood LJ, Fergusson DM. Drink driving and traffic accidents in young people. *Accident Analysis & amp; Prevention* 2000;32(6):805-14.

- 254. Laursen B, Moller H, Frimodt MB. Bicycle accidents: Differences between one-vehicle accidents and accidents involving two or more vehicles. *Ugeskrift for Laeger* 2002;164(44):5112-15.
- 255. Li G, Baker SP, Sterling S, Smialek JE, Dischinger PC, Soderstrom CA. A comparative analysis of alcohol in fatal and nonfatal bicycling injuries. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 1996;20(9):1553-59.
- 256. Sugo N, Nemoto M, T K, H M, J N, K Y, et al. Alcohol-related head injury in solitary bicycle accidents. 2005:Nov 2005.
- 257. Andersson A-L, Bunketorp O. Cycling and alcohol. *Injury* 2002;33(6):467-71.
- Begg DJ, Langley JD, Williams SM. Validity of self reported crashes and injuries in a longitudinal study of young adults. *Inj Prev* 1999;5(2):142-44.
- 259. Roberts SE, Vingilis E, Wilk P, Seeley J. A comparison of self-reported motor vehicle collision injuries compared with official collision data: An analysis of age and sex trends using the Canadian National Population Health Survey and Transport Canada data. Accident Analysis & Prevention 2008;40(2):559-66.
- 260. Gabbe BJ, Finch CF, Bennell KL, Wajswelner H. How valid is a self reported 12 month sports injury history? *Br J Sports Med* 2003;37(6):545-47.
- 261. Cleary J, McClintock H. Evaluation of the Cycle Challenge project: a case study of the Nottingham Cycle-Friendly Employers' project. *Transport Policy* 2000;7(2):117-25.
- 262. Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medicine. *The Abbreviated Injury Scale: 2005 Revision*. Update 2008 ed. Barrington, Illinois, 2005.
- 263. Department of Health. Hospital Episode Staitstics: External Cause: The Information Centre, 2005.
- 264. Osler T, Baker S, Long W. A Modification of the Injury Severity Score That Both Improves Accuracy and Simplifies Scoring. *The journal of Trauma* 1997;43(6):922-26.
- 265. Larsen LB. The abbreviated injury scale as measurement of bicyclists minor injuries. *Journal of Traffic Medicine* 1995:1995.
- 266. Maldonado G, Greenland S. Simulation Study of Confounder-Selection Strategies. *Am J Epidemiol* 1993;138(11):923-36.
- 267. Lemeshow S, Hosmer D. A review of goodness of fit statistics for use in the development of logistic regression models. *Am J Epidemiol* 1982;115(1):92-106.

- 268. Hamilton L. Statistics with Stata: updated for version 10: Cengage Learning 2008.
- 269. O'brien R. A Caution Regarding Rules of Thumb for Variance Inflation Factors. *Quality & Quantity* 2007;41(5):673-90.
- 270. Stata Web Books. Chapter 3: Logistic Regression Diagnostics. *Logistic Regression With Stata*: UCLA Academic Technology Services.
- 271. Veall MR, Zimmermann KF. Pseudo-R2 measures for some common lmited dependent variable models. *Journal of Economic Surveys* 1996;10(3):241-59.
- 272. Greenland S, Finkle WD. A Critical Look at Methods for Handling Missing Covariates in Epidemiologic Regression Analyses. *Am J Epidemiol* 1995;142(12):1255-64.
- 273. Groenwold RHH, Nelson DB, Nichol KL, Hoes AW, Hak E. Sensitivity analyses to estimate the potential impact of unmeasured confounding in causal research. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 2010;39(1):107-17.
- 274. Greenland S. Basic Methods for Sensitivity Analysis of Biases. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 1996;25(6):1107-a-16.
- 275. Phillips C. Quantifying And Reporting Uncertainty From Systematic Errors. *Epidemiology* 2003;14:459 - 66.
- 276. National Audit Office. Major Trauma Care In England. In: NAO, editor. London, 2010.
- 277. Agresti A, Finaly B. *Statistical Methods For The Social Sciences*. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall, 1997.
- 278. Stata Web Books. FAQ: What are psuedo R-squareds? In: Services UAT, editor, 2012.
- 279. Landis JR, Koch GG. The Measurement of Observer Agreement for Categorical Data. *Biometrics* 1977;33(1):159-74.
- 280. Rietveld P, Daniel V. Determinants of bicycle use: do municipal policies matter? *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 2004;38(7):531-50.
- 281. Parkin J, Wardman M, Page M. Estimation of the determinants of bicycle mode share for the journey to work using census data. *Transportation* 2007;35(1):93-109.
- 282. Dill J, Carr T. Bicycle Commuting and Facilities in Major U.S. Cities: If You Build Them, Commuters Will Use Them. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2003;1828(-1):116-23.
- 283. Bland M. *An Introduction To Medical Statistics* 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.

- 284. Phillips CV. Quantifying and Reporting Uncertainty from Systematic Errors. *Epidemiology* 2003;14(4):459-66.
- 285. Rychetnik L, Frommer M, Hawe P, Shiell A. Criteria for evaluating evidence on public health interventions. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* 2002;56(2):119-27.
- 286. Phillips C. Quantified Uncertainty and High-Cost Public Health Decisions: The Case of Phenylpropanolamine. Abstract of presentation at 35rd Annual Meeting of the Society for Epidemiologic Research, Palm Desert, June 2002. Am J Epidemiol 2002;155(11):S69.
- 287. Kopec JA, Esdaile JM. Bias in case-control studies. A review. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 1990;44(3):179-86.
- 288. Austin M, CriquiI M, Barratt-Connor E, Holdbrook M. The effect of response bias on the odds ratio. *Am J Epidemiol* 1981;114(1):137-43.
- 289. Kendrick D, Lyons R, Christie N, Towner E, Benger J, Groom L, et al. Recruiting participants for injury studies in emergency departments.[comment]. *Injury Prevention* 2007;13(2):75-7.
- 290. McCullagh S, Feinstein A. Outcome after mild traumatic brain injury: an examination of recruitment bias. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry* 2003;74(1):39-43.
- 291. Nijs J, Inghelbrecht E, Daenen L, Hachimi-Idrissi S, Hens L, Willems B, et al. Recruitment bias in chronic pain research: whiplash as a model. *Clinical Rheumatology* 2011;30(11):1481-89.
- 292. Kendrick D, Hapgood R, Marsh P. Do safety practices differ between responders and non-responders to a safety questionnaire? *Injury Prevention* 2001;7:100-03.
- 293. Edwards P, Roberts I, Clarke M, DiGuiseppi C, Wentz R, Kwan I, et al. Methods to increase response rates to postal questionnaires. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: Reviews 2007* 2007(2).
- 294. Zhu K, McKnight B, Stergachis A, Daling JR, Levine RS. Comparison of selfreport data and medical records data: results from a case-control study on prostate cancer. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1999;28(3):409-17.
- 295. Teschke K, Olshan AF, Daniels JL, De Roos AJ, Parks CG, Schulz M, et al. Occupational exposure assessment in case–control studies: opportunities for improvement. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 2002;59(9):575-94.

- 296. Nelson DE. Validity of self reported data on injury prevention behavior: lessons from observational and self reported surveys of safety belt use in the US. *Inj Prev* 1996;2(1):67-69.
- 297. Eime R, Finch C, Owen N, McCarty C. Do squash players accurately report use of appropriate protective eyewear? *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2005;8(3):352-56.
- 298. Chen L-H, Gielen AC, McDonald EM. Validity of self reported home safety practices. *Inj Prev* 2003;9(1):73-75.
- 299. Robertson AS, Rivara FP, Ebel BE, Lymp JF, Christakis DA. Validation of parent self reported home safety practices. *Inj Prev* 2005;11(4):209-12.
- 300. Day BS, Fayers BP, Harvey BD. Double Data Entry: What Value, What Price? *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1998;19(1):15-24.
- Gibson D, Harvey AJ, Everett V, Parmar MKB. Is double data entry necessary? The CHART trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1994;15(6):482-88.
- 302. Adams J, Hillman M, Godefrooij T, Jacobsen P, Wardlaw MJ, Jeys L, et al. Bicycle helmets: Risk taking is influenced by people's perception of safety and danger (7). *British Medical Journal* 2001;322(7293):1063-65.
- 303. Adams J. Risk. London: UCL Press, 1995.
- 304. Assum T, Bjørnskau T, Fosser S, Sagberg F. Risk compensation--the case of road lighting. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 1999;31(5):545-53.
- 305. Braun C, Fouts J. Behavioral Response to the Presence of Personal Protective Equipment: Implications for Risk Compensation. Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting Proceedings 1998;42:1058-62.
- 306. Hedlund J. Risky business: safety regulations, risk compensation and individual behaviour. *Injury Prevention* 2000;6 82-89.
- 307. McCarthy P, Talley WK. Evidence on risk compensation and safety behaviour. *Economics Letters* 1999;62(1):91-96.
- 308. Morrongiello BA, Walpole B, Lasenby J. Understanding children's injury-risk behavior: wearing safety gear can lead to increased risk taking. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2007;39(3):618-23.
- 309. Phillips R, Fyhri A, Sagberg F. Risk Compensation and Bicycle Helmets. *Risk Anal* 2011.
- 310. Thompson D, Thompson R, Rivara F. Risk compensation theory should be subject to systematic reviews of the scientific evidence. *Inj Prev* 2001;7:86-88.

- 311. Peltzman S. The Effects of Automobile Safety Regulation. *Journal of Political Economy* 1975;83(4):677-725.
- 312. Wilde GJS. Risk homeostasis theory: an overview. *Injury Prevention* 1998;4(2):89-91.
- 313. Wilde GJS. The Theory of Risk Homeostasis: Implications for Safety and Health. *Risk Analysis* 1982;2(4):209-25.
- 314. Wilde G, Robertson L. Does risk homeostasis theory have implications for road safety. *British Medical Journal* 2002;324:1149-52.
- 315. Hillman M, editor. *Children, Transport and the Quality of Life* London: PSI, 1993.
- 316. Phillips RO, Fyhri A, Sagberg F. Risk Compensation and Bicycle Helmets. *Risk Analysis* 2011:no-no.
- 317. Walker I. Drivers overtaking bicyclists: Objective data on the effects of riding position, helmet use, vehicle type and apparent gender. Accident Analysis & Prevention 2007;39:417-25.
- 318. Watts G. Bicycle safety devices-effects on vehicle passing distances. In: TRRL, editor. Crowthorne: TRRL, 1979.
- 319. Wood JM, Lacherez PF, Marszalek RP, King MJ. Drivers' and cyclists' experiences of sharing the road: Incidents, attitudes and perceptions of visibility. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2009;41(4):772-76.
- 320. Knowles J, Adams S, Cuerden R, Savill T, Reid S, Tight M. Collisions involving cyclists on Britain's roads: establishing the causes. In: Ltd T, editor: TRL Ltd, 2009.
- 321. Gårder PE. The impact of speed and other variables on pedestrian safety in Maine. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2004;36(4):533-42.
- 322. Anderson RWG, McLean AJ, Farmer MJB, Lee BH, Brooks CG. Vehicle travel speeds and the incidence of fatal pedestrian crashes. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 1997;29(5):667-74.
- 323. Rosén E, Sander U. Pedestrian fatality risk as a function of car impact speed. *Accident Analysis & amp; Prevention* 2009;41(3):536-42.
- 324. Mulvaney CA, Kendrick D, Watson MC, Coupland CAC. Increasing child pedestrian and cyclist visibility: cluster randomised controlled trial. J Epidemiol Community Health 2006;60(4):311-15.
- 325. Ekman R, Engström K, Welander G, LaFlamme L. Geographic differences in traffic-injury risks: A study of a Swedish municipality. *Journal of Traffic Medicine* 2000;28(3-4):62-66.
- 326. Austin K, Tight M, Kirby H. The use of geographical information systems to enhance road safety analysis: Taylor & amp; Francis, 1997:249 66.

- 327. Moreau M, Siebert S, Buerkert A, Schlecht E. Use of a tri-axial accelerometer for automated recording and classification of goats' grazing behaviour. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 2009;119(3-4):158-70.
- 328. Joshi MS, Senior V, Smith GP. A diary study of the risk perceptions of road users. *Health, Risk and Society* 2001;3(3):261-79.
- 329. Hagel BE. Emergency department injury surveillance and aetiological research: bridging the gap with the two-stage case-control study design. *Injury Prevention* 2011.
- 330.Orsini N, Bellocco R, Bottai M, Wolk A, Greenland S A tool for deterministic and probabilistic sensitivity analysis of epidemiological studies. *The Stata Journal* 2008; 8: 29-48.
- 331.Krus D, Wilkinson S. Demonstration of properties of a suppressor variable. Behaviour Research Methods, Instruments and Computers 1986; 18 (1), 21-24.
- 332. Lynn H. Suppression and confounding in action. *The American Statistician* 2003; 57 (1), 58-61.
- 333. Moritz W, Adult Bicyclists in the United States: Characteristics and Riding Experience in 1996. *Transportation Research Record* 1998 1636; 1-7.
- 334. Daniels S, Nuyts E, Wets G: The effects of roundabouts on traffic safety for bicyclists: an observational study. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*. 2008, 40:518-526.
- 335. Kuster F, Laurence C, Geffen R. Halving injury and fatality rates for cyclists by 2020: ECF road safety charter. European Cyclists Federation 2010 http://www.ecf.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/ECF_Road_safety_charter.pdf (last accessed 25 /08/2012).
- 336. Turner C, McClure R, Pirozzo S. Injury and risk-taking behaviour a systematic review. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 2004, 36(1); 93-101
- 337. Deery H. Hazard and risk perception among young novice drivers. *Journal of Safety Research* 1999 30(4): 225-236.
- 338. Department for Transport. Reported road casualties by class of road user: Great Britain 2002 –2012. <u>http://www.dft.gov.uk/statistics/tables/ras45008/</u> (last accessed 12/09/2012).
- 339. Heino A, van der Molen, Wilde G. Risk perception, risk taking, accident involvement and the need for stimulation. *Safety Science* 1996, 22(1-3): 35-48.